New Frontiers in Regional Science: Asian Perspectives 14

Mitsuyoshi Yanagihara Minoru Kunizaki *Editors*

The The OpenationOf Dig OpenationOligoopolyPrivatization, Transboundary Activities,
and Their Applications



New Frontiers in Regional Science: Asian Perspectives

Volume 14

Editor in Chief

Yoshiro Higano, University of Tsukuba

Managing Editors

Makoto Tawada (General Managing Editor), Aichi Gakuin University Kiyoko Hagihara, Bukkyo University Lily Kiminami, Niigata University

Editorial Board

Sakai Yasuhiro (Advisor Chief Japan), Shiga University Yasuhide Okuyama, University of Kitakyushu Zheng Wang, Chinese Academy of Sciences Yuzuru Miyata, Toyohashi University of Technology Hiroyuki Shibusawa, Toyohashi University of Technology Saburo Saito, Fukuoka University Makoto Okamura, Hiroshima University Moriki Hosoe, Kumamoto Gakuen University Budy Prasetyo Resosudarmo, Crawford School of Public Policy, ANU Shin-Kun Peng, Academia Sinica Geoffrey John Dennis Hewings, University of Illinois Euijune Kim, Seoul National University Srijit Mishra, Indira Gandhi Institute of Development Research Amitrajeet A. Batabyal, Rochester Institute of Technology Yizhi Wang, Shanghai Academy of Social Sciences Daniel Shefer, Technion - Israel Institute of Technology Akira Kiminami, The University of Tokyo

Advisory Board

Peter Nijkamp (Chair, Ex Officio Member of Editorial Board), Free University Amsterdam Rachel S. Franklin, Brown University Mark D. Partridge, Ohio State University Jacques Poot, University of Waikato Aura Reggiani, University of Bologna

New Frontiers in Regional Science: Asian Perspectives

This series is a constellation of works by scholars in the field of regional science and in related disciplines specifically focusing on dynamism in Asia.

Asia is the most dynamic part of the world. Japan, Korea, Taiwan, and Singapore experienced rapid and miracle economic growth in the 1970s. Malaysia, Indonesia, and Thailand followed in the 1980s. China, India, and Vietnam are now rising countries in Asia and are even leading the world economy. Due to their rapid economic development and growth, Asian countries continue to face a variety of urgent issues including regional and institutional unbalanced growth, environmental problems, poverty amidst prosperity, an ageing society, the collapse of the bubble economy, and deflation, among others.

Asian countries are diversified as they have their own cultural, historical, and geographical as well as political conditions. Due to this fact, scholars specializing in regional science as an inter- and multidiscipline have taken leading roles in providing mitigating policy proposals based on robust interdisciplinary analysis of multifaceted regional issues and subjects in Asia. This series not only will present unique research results from Asia that are unfamiliar in other parts of the world because of language barriers, but also will publish advanced research results from those regions that have focused on regional and urban issues in Asia from different perspectives.

The series aims to expand the frontiers of regional science through diffusion of intrinsically developed and advanced modern regional science methodologies in Asia and other areas of the world. Readers will be inspired to realize that regional and urban issues in the world are so vast that their established methodologies still have space for development and refinement, and to understand the importance of the interdisciplinary and multidisciplinary approach that is inherent in regional science for analyzing and resolving urgent regional and urban issues in Asia.

Topics under consideration in this series include the theory of social cost and benefit analysis and criteria of public investments, socioeconomic vulnerability against disasters, food security and policy, agro-food systems in China, industrial clustering in Asia, comprehensive management of water environment and resources in a river basin, the international trade bloc and food security, migration and labor market in Asia, land policy and local property tax, information and communication technology planning, consumer "shop-around" movements, and regeneration of downtowns, among others.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/13039

Mitsuyoshi Yanagihara • Minoru Kunizaki Editors

The Theory of Mixed Oligopoly

Privatization, Transboundary Activities, and Their Applications



Editors Mitsuyoshi Yanagihara Graduate School of Economics Nagoya University Nagoya, Japan

Minoru Kunizaki Faculty of Economics Aichi University Nagoya, Japan

 ISSN 2199-5974
 ISSN 2199-5982 (electronic)

 New Frontiers in Regional Science: Asian Perspectives
 ISBN 978-4-431-55632-9

 ISBN 978-4-431-55633-6
 ISBN 978-4-431-55633-6 (eBook)

 DOI 10.1007/978-4-431-55633-6
 ISBN 978-4-431-55633-6

Library of Congress Control Number: 2016952627

© Springer Japan 2017

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer Japan KK

Preface

The purpose of this book is to provide a theoretical explanation of mixed oligopolies under different situations. In general, competition among public and private firms in a market can be viewed as a unique example of an oligopoly. However, the roles and the inferences of the public firm can have various implications or effects on the economy. The aim of this book is to therefore serve as a resource and to present recent developments regarding the mixed oligopoly.

When we look at the roles of public firms and the mixed oligopoly, we see the following features in the various fields of economics. First, the history of economic theory recognizes that most of the countries that have experienced the takeoff stage of economic development have adopted incubation policies for new industries. The governments of such countries first established main industries and market activities.

Via these policies, governments attempted to transition from traditional economies to market economies. Similar phenomena are also observed in emerging economies that require the creation of modern industrial sectors. These countries aim to develop their economies and to realize rapid growth. For this purpose, public firms have contributed to industrialization and have captured new technology to enhance economic growth.

With the expansion of the market economy, the role of public firms has changed from market creation to ensuring efficient resource allocation. The public firm is regarded as a policy instrument to restore market failure. When the market faces entry barriers, there are little or no firms to produce goods and occupy the market. The economic analysis of public firms shows how the public firm affects and determines the price level of the market.

Stemming from discussions on the implications of public firms, the theory of public firms has been applied to oligopolistic markets where new private firms enter a market monopolized by a public firm. This type of market is recognized as a "mixed oligopoly," where public and private firms compete in the same market. Public economics investigates how the public firm adjusts the distortion resulting from private firms. In this sense, the public firm is justified as a policy instrument to achieve efficient resource allocation.

Furthermore, the expansion of the market economy enhances the entry of new private firms equipped with new production technology. The production cost of such firms is superior to the cost of the public firm. Accordingly, the gap between the production cost of public and private firms becomes significantly larger, and this gap then introduces a further distortion of resource allocation.

The discussion of the privatization of public firms is based on this difference of efficiency between public and private firms. Therefore, the theory of public firms has been expanded to include a new field of industrial organization. In most developed countries, public firms operate under considerable deficit, and thus, privatization is used to alleviate fiscal pressure.

Moreover, the significance of the public firm appears in strategic trade policies, and the mixed oligopoly model is discussed in the field of international economics. Within these studies, the public firm is considered a policy tool to protect the domestic market or social welfare from foreign firms. However, the noncooperative policy games of public firms can result in international conflict, and the coordination of privatization for an open market system becomes a key issue in free trade agreements.

The mixed oligopoly model is appropriate for many economic issues, and in this book, we attempt to consider the mixed oligopoly from several aspects. This book consists of three parts and 13 chapters. We briefly summarize these chapters and present how each chapter investigates the mixed oligopoly and presents analysis results.

Part I introduces the basic framework of a mixed oligopoly. Chapter 1 briefly discusses previous studies and summarizes the properties of a mixed oligopoly. This chapter presents an overview of a mixed oligopoly model and describes the fundamental characteristics of government intervention in an oligopoly.

Chapter 2 provides a graphical explanation of a mixed oligopoly model in which private firms maximize their own profits and the public firm maximizes social welfare. This chapter shows the adjustment process where both firms react against the supply of other firms to reach equilibrium.

Chapter 3 examines the case where the Stackelberg position of a public firm is maintained. Meanwhile, when a public firm acts as a Stackelberg leader before and after privatization, privatization necessarily decreases social welfare irrespective of the number of private firms. Furthermore, when a public firm acts as a Stackelberg follower before and after privatization, privatization decreases social welfare if the number of private firms is relatively small.

Chapter 4 investigates the effect of capital accumulation on partial privatization in a dynamic oligopoly model. It is shown that when the steady state is characterized by a demand-driven equilibrium, partial privatization is adopted and the privatization rate corresponds perfectly to the static model. Furthermore, when a public firm produces Ramsey output, the level of social welfare in a steady state does not depend on the privatization rate and the government adopts a full nationalization policy. Chapter 5 outlines the basic properties of an international mixed oligopoly and considers the policy implications of privatization in the context of a strategic trade policy. This chapter presents the relationship between the strategic trade policy (i.e., import tariffs) and the degree of privatization and develops an integrated explanation of corporative privatization policy in a two-country mixed oligopoly model.

Part II examines policies on a mixed oligopoly. Chapter 6 considers the optimal privatization policy in an international mixed oligopoly. Allowing for partial privatization and cost asymmetry, this chapter analyzes optimal policies under various tax regimes: arbitrary taxation, origin principle, destination principle, import tariff, and a combination of tax and import tariffs.

Chapter 7 investigates the privatization neutrality theorem when a public firm has an objective other than social welfare maximization. The privatization neutrality theorem claims that when the government provides an optimal subsidy to both public and private firms, social welfare is exactly the same before and after privatization. This chapter considers the validity and limitations of the neutrality theorem in several cases.

Chapter 8 analyzes the effect of domestic lobbying on the optimal degree of privatization and social surplus in a closed, mixed oligopoly model and in an extended two-country model. This chapter shows that lobbying activity leads to overprivatization in a closed economy and may improve social surplus in a two-country economy.

Chapter 9 analyzes how the government's preference affects merger activity between a public firm and a private firm. This chapter shows whether a merger occurs depends on the shareholding ratio of the merged firm and the government's preference for tax revenue. If the government puts a large weight on tax revenue, public and private firms do not merge.

Part III considers further applications of the theory of mixed oligopoly to various economic circumstances. Chapter 10 analyzes a mixed oligopoly model with two asymmetric regions in which the population, the number of private firms, and the individual's shareholding ratios in private firms are different. This chapter shows that social welfare in the case of state ownership is greater than that in local ownership. The effects of distribution of the regional population are also examined.

Chapter 11 investigates a duopolistic long-term care market with uncertainty using a Hotelling-type spatial competition model where care providers decide the quality of the care to attract patients. Three types of competition structures are investigated: duopoly with private nonprofit (NP) providers, a mixed duopoly with an NP provider and a private for-profit (FP) provider, and a duopoly with FP providers. This chapter shows that the equilibrium levels of quality in a mixed duopolistic market are higher than those in an NP duopoly and lower than those in an FP duopoly.

Chapter 12 analyzes how the existence of a corporate social responsibility (CSR) private firm influences the privatization of a public firm in a mixed duopoly model. This chapter concludes that replacing a pure private firm with a CSR private firm increases the consumer surplus, but lowers the privatization ratio of the public firm.

Finally, Chap. 13 considers the market expansion tool of advertising in the mixed oligopoly model. This chapter shows how advertising affects the level of production of both public and private firms. It also illustrates that the public firm plays a critical role in expanding market demand.

These chapters cover a wide range of considerations and discuss various theoretical analyses of the mixed oligopoly. However, some important issues remain unresolved. For example, the presence of public firms prevents entry of private firms. In addition, an empirical investigation of this effect is required when a decision is made to privatize the public firm. Empirical research is also necessary to examine international aspects and quality competition. In addition, various game configurations should be studied to further understand how the first-mover advantage affects the degree of the entry barrier and the number of private firms. Thus, these issues require further analysis and are important to evaluate the existence of the public firm.

The preparation of this book has been made possible by JSPS KAKENHI Grant Number 26380360. We thank Professor Yoshiro Higano, editor in chief of the series *New Frontiers in Regional Science: Asian Perspectives*, for his support and for accepting our book for publication in this series. We are also deeply grateful for the aid and support of Professor Makoto Tawada. Finally, thanks go to Yutaka Hirachi of Springer Tokyo for his encouragement and patience.

Nagoya, Japan

Mitsuyoshi Yanagihara Minoru Kunizaki

Contents

Part I Basic Frameworks

1	Basic Properties of a Mixed Oligopoly Model Tsuyoshi Shinozaki and Minoru Kunizaki	3
2	Equilibrium and the Adjustment Process in a Mixed Oligopoly:A Graphical ExplanationSuzuka Okuyama	13
3	Privatization in a Stackelberg Mixed Oligopoly	27
4	Physical Capital Accumulation and Partial Privatization Tsuyoshi Shinozaki, Hideya Kato, and Mitsuyoshi Yanagihara	45
5	International Mixed Oligopoly Tsuyoshi Shinozaki, Minoru Kunizaki, and Kazuyuki Nakamura	57
Par	t II Policies	
6	Optimal Partial Privatization in an International Mixed Oligopoly Under Various Tax Principles	73
	Minoru Kunizaki, Tsuyosni Sninozaki, and Kazuyuki Nakamura	
7	Privatization Neutrality Theorem When a Public Firm Maximizes Objectives Other than Social Welfare	95
8	Political Economic Analysis of Privatization	121
	1 suyosin onnozaki, 1sidoro Mazza, and Minora Kunizaki	

Part III Further Applications

10	Regional Differences and Privatization	149
11	Competition and Quality in a Mixed Duopolistic Long-Term Care Market Kota Sugahara and Minoru Kunizaki	165
12	Privatization with a CSR Private Firm	181
13	Market Expansion by Advertising and a Mixed Oligopoly Minoru Kunizaki and Mitsuyoshi Yanagihara	191
Ind	ex	207

Part I Basic Frameworks

Chapter 1 Basic Properties of a Mixed Oligopoly Model

Tsuyoshi Shinozaki and Minoru Kunizaki

Abstract In this chapter, we discuss previous studies and summarize the properties of a mixed oligopoly. With our overview of a mixed oligopoly model, we attempt to understand the fundamental characteristics of government intervention within an oligopoly. We consider the partial privatization problem in relation to the Stackelberg leader solution. The second-best outcome can be achieved by partial privatization. We also show that full privatization is not optimal if private firms can enter the oligopolistic market. In a free-entry equilibrium, the government can control excessive entry by imposing an entry tax.

1.1 Introduction

"When we talk about public and private firms, we think of firms which pursue different objectives, the pudding of a private firm is not baked with any social welfare ingredient, whereas social welfare should ultimately be the very raison d'etre of a public firm" (De Fraja and Delbono 1989).

Thus, they explored mixed oligopolies and found that social welfare is higher in a pure private oligopoly than when public firms attempt to maximize social welfare. That result suggests that the privatization of public firms is beneficial if there are more private firms in the market. De Fraja and Delbono (1989, 1990) compared a pure private oligopoly and a mixed oligopoly where the public firm is fully owned by the government. These two situations represent two extremes: whether the public firm is fully privatized or not. Furthermore, the government can control firms through the partial ownership of the public firm or by purchasing a share of the private firm.

Matsumura (1998) went further and explicitly considered the possibility of partial privatization in which the public firm is jointly owned by private and public shareholders to optimize social welfare. Matsumura and Kanda (2005) extended the

T. Shinozaki (🖂)

Tohoku Gakuin University, Sendai, Japan e-mail: shinozaki@mail.tohoku-gakuin.ac.jp

M. Kunizaki Aichi University, Nagoya, Japan

partial privatization model developed by Fershtman (1990) and then illustrated that partial privatization ensures short-run optimal conditions but that full nationalization becomes optimal in a long-run free-entry equilibrium. The differences between these short-run and long-run results occur because of the excessive entry of private firms. Mankiw and Winston (1986) and Suzumura and Kiyono (1987) pointed out that the number of firms exceeds the optimal level in a free-entry equilibrium and that a decrease in private firms improves social welfare, known as the excess entry theorem. Matsumura and Kanda (2005) consequently suggested that a fully nationalized firm can be used as an instrument to restrict entry into the market. Previous studies have largely focused on government interventions in oligopolistic markets and what form public firms should take. As a result, a mixed oligopoly is supported when the number of private firms is small and public firms can restrict the entry of private firms.

In this chapter, we discuss previous research and summarize the properties of a mixed oligopoly. In our overview of a mixed oligopoly model, we attempt to understand the fundamental characteristics of government intervention in an oligopoly. The chapter is structured as follows. In Sect. 1.2, we present the basic model of a mixed oligopoly and its main properties. In Sect. 1.3, we investigate the properties of partial privatization that replicate the Stackelberg leader solution from a short-run perspective. In Sect. 1.4, we derive the optimal form of a public firm in a long-run, free-entry equilibrium. We also show that full nationalization does not ensure a second-best solution. In Sect. 1.5, we consider entry tax as a policy tool, and then the second-best solution is ensured if the government can use privatization and entry tax. Finally, Sect. 1.6 provides a summary and offers a brief outline of the following chapters.

1.2 Basic Mixed Oligopoly Model

To illustrate a mixed oligopoly, we use a simple oligopoly model in which there exist *n* private symmetric firms and one public firm. Each private firm, $i = 1, \dots, n$, behaves as a Nash competitor to produce its output, q_i , with the given public firm output, q_0 , and the number of firms, *n*. The profit of the private firms is as follows:

$$\pi_i = pq_i - c(q_i). \tag{1.1}$$

where p represents the price and relates to the total output, Q, via the inverse demand function, p = p(Q), and $c(q_i)$ is the cost function. For simplicity, we assume that public and private firms have the same cost functions, even though De Fraja (1993) addressed the cost difference between public and private firms. By maximizing (1.1), the first-order condition can be obtained as $p + p'q_i - c'(q_i) = 0$. We also impose $p' + q_ip'' < 0$ and p' - c'' < 0. These assumptions ensure the stability of the Nash equilibrium among private firms. Because we assume all

private firms are identical, the output level of each private firm, $q = q_i$, can be obtained as $q = q(q_0, n)$, with

$$rac{\partial q}{\partial q_0} = -rac{1}{n+k} < 0, \ rac{\partial q}{\partial n} = -rac{q}{n+k} < 0,$$

where $k = \frac{p'-c''}{p'+p''q}$. In this model, the market is the same as a pure private oligopoly, with the exception of q_0 . Social welfare can be written as follows:

$$W = \int_{0}^{Q} p(s)ds - pQ + \pi_0 + n\pi = G(Q) - c(q_0) - nc(q), \qquad (1.2)$$

where $G(Q) = \int_{0}^{Q} p(s) ds$ and $\pi_0 = pq_0 - c(q_0)$ are the profit of the public firm.

Because the outputs of the private firms are the function of q_0 and n, social welfare changes with the output of the public firm and the number of public firms:

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial q_0} = [p - c'(q_0)] + n[p - c'(q)] \frac{\partial q}{\partial q_0}, \qquad (1.3)$$

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial n} = [pq - c'(q_0)] + n[p - c'(q)]\frac{\partial q}{\partial n}.$$
(1.4)

Next, we obtain the second-best solution with respect to q_0 and n by setting the above equations to zero. In the short run, n is fixed. The second-best condition shows that because an increase in the output of the public firm decreases the outputs of the private firms and p - c'(q) = -p'q > 0, the optimal output of the public firm must be smaller than the output of the marginal pricing (MP) level. It also suggests that the public firm is more profitable if the number of private firms is large enough. This point will be discussed in the latter part of this section in our comparison of a mixed oligopoly and a pure private oligopoly. In addition, an increase in the number of private firms are sufficiently profitable. However, the entry of a private firm may harm social welfare if the profit of the private firm were small where the number of firms is large enough.

We now analyze the behavior of the public firm. We assume that the purpose of the public firm is determined by the government and the government cannot directly control the output of the public firm. In this case, the firm is fully nationalized and the output level is set to maximize social welfare as given private outputs. The optimization problem of the public firm is as follows:

$$q_0 = \operatorname{argmax} W.$$

The first-order condition is

$$G' - c'(q_0) = p - c'(q_0) = 0.$$

In this case, the public firm behaves as a Nash competitor, and the output level is equal to the MP level. The public firm is a more aggressive producer than the private firms. Using comparative statics, we see that the total output with a fully nationalized firm exceeds the second-best level, and social welfare within a mixed oligopoly is lower than the second-best level because the marginal cost is equal to the market price.

If the public firm is fully privatized, it maximizes its own profit instead of social welfare. This case is the same as a pure private oligopoly. We can compare pure and mixed oligopolies regarding social welfare. From (1.3), a fully mixed oligopoly is superior to a pure private oligopoly where the number of private firms is small. De Fraja and Delbono (1989), however, demonstrated that social welfare in a mixed oligopoly may not be higher than in a pure private oligopoly. We can interpret their result from (1.3), where the MP level harms social welfare. Furthermore, total social welfare may improve if the number of private firms is large enough and if the private firm is still profitable. Thus, the second-best solution is not realized if the public firm behaves as a Nash competitor and is fully nationalized. Although the effect of full privatization on social welfare is ambiguous, it may be superior to a mixed oligopoly if the private firms are highly incubated.

1.3 Partial Privatization

In this section, we assume that the government can partially own a private firm or it can sell some of its equity in a public firm. Such a firm is regarded as a partially privatized firm, and its objective typically combines both public and private interests. To simplify, we assume that the partial public firm considers both social welfare and its own profit and that the weight on both objectives depends on the level of government ownership. This type of firm faces the following optimization problem:

$$q_0 = \operatorname{argmax} \theta \pi_0 + (1 - \theta) W. \tag{1.5}$$

The first-order condition is

$$\begin{aligned} &(1-\theta)[p-c'(q_0)] + \theta[p+p'q_0-c'(q_0)] \\ &= [p-c'(q_0)] + \theta p'q_0 = 0, \end{aligned}$$
 (1.6)

where θ is the government's shareholding ratio of the public firm or the privatization ratio. If the firm is fully privatized, θ is equal to unity, and it is zero when the firm is fully nationalized. Given θ , the output reaches an intermediate level (between pure private and fully nationalized levels) if the firm is partially owned by the government.

We know that a mixed oligopoly is beneficial when the number of private firms is small. However, can partial privatization replicate the second-best solution? The answer is yes. Using (1.3) and (1.6),

$$\theta = \frac{nq}{(n+k)q_0} > 0. \tag{1.7}$$

We call this condition the optimal privatization ratio, which achieves the secondbest level of output. The properties of this ratio depend on the number of private firms. We have discussed the above short-run results via a comparison of previous research and have identified several properties of a mixed oligopoly.

We now consider government intervention in a mixed oligopoly. In this section, full nationalization and full privatization do not ensure a second-best solution under a fixed number of private firms. If the government indirectly controls the output of the public firm via partial ownership, the output level is delivered to the optimal level. However, partial privatization is only justified with a fixed number of private firms. De Fraja and Delbono (1989) focused on optimal privatization and showed that a mixed oligopoly is not superior to a Stackelberg leader solution where the government directly sets the output and acts as the leader. We too find similar results for optimal partial privatization. In addition, an increase in the number of private firms promotes the total output if the output of the public firm is fixed. In such a case, the output of the public firm must decrease to ensure a second-best solution. The government then enforces the privatization of the firm because entry restrictions must be loosened.

In this section, we showed the existence of the optimal privatization ratio and its implications related to previous studies. We now consider the long-run situation in which new firms enter the market and explain the limitations of the privatization policy.

1.4 Free-Entry Equilibrium and the Privatization Problem

We now turn to the long-run situation of a mixed oligopoly. From a long-run perspective, new firms may enter the market until the profit becomes zero. In this case, the zero profit condition determines the number of private firms regardless of whether the public firm is fully nationalized or privatized. However, because the degree of privatization affects the output of the public firm, the number of private firms also depends on the privatization policy. Regarding the long-run equilibrium,

the number of private firms can be written as a function of the output of the public firm using a zero profit condition:

$$\pi = pq - c(q) = 0, \text{ or } p = \frac{c(q)}{q},$$
 (1.8)

$$n^* = n(q_0), \ \frac{\partial n^*}{\partial q_0} = -\frac{1}{q}.$$
 (1.9)

where * denotes the long-run equilibrium variables.

The property of the number of private firms is characterized by the privatization policy. The number becomes larger if privatization is accelerated. Because privatization brings about a decrease in the output of the privatized firm, a new firm can enter the market. In other words, nationalization can be interpreted as a tool to restrict entry.

The free-entry equilibrium in a pure private oligopoly results in inefficient resource allocation. This was shown by Mankiw and Winston (1986) and Suzumura and Kiyono (1987) and is known as the excess entry theorem. This theorem states that the number of firms reaches a certain level depending on the cost function and that each firm produces an output at a higher average cost. Thus, a decrease in the number of firms can lower sunk costs and decrease the average cost. Therefore, government entry restrictions may improve social welfare and restore more efficient resource allocation. If we apply the excess entry theorem to the mixed oligopoly, nationalization or partial privatization can be interpreted as an instrument of entry restriction.

Next, we consider the output and market price in a free-entry equilibrium. Matsumura and Kanda (2005) commented that private output and total output are independent of the output of the public firm. We call such properties the neutrality theorem of privatization. Using comparative statics of the long-run number of private firms, we can check the neutrality theorem as follows:

$$q^* = q^* (q_0, n^*(q_0)), \qquad (1.10)$$

$$\frac{dq^*}{dq_0} = 0, \tag{1.11}$$

$$Q^* = q_0 + n^* q^* (q_0, n^*), \qquad (1.12)$$

$$dQ^* = \left(1 + q^* \frac{\partial n^*}{\partial q_0}\right) dq_0 = 0.$$
(1.13)

We now consider the privatization problem from a long-run perspective and investigate whether the government can maximize social welfare using the output of the public firm. The answer is no because the government only chooses the privatization ratio. We can check this using the following maximization problem:

1 Basic Properties of a Mixed Oligopoly Model

$$\max_{q_0} W = \int_0^Q p(s) ds - pQ + \pi_0 + n\pi = G(Q) - c(q_0) - nc(q),$$

The first-order condition is

$$-c'(q_0) - c(q)\frac{\partial n^*}{\partial q_0} = \frac{c(q)}{q} - c'(q_0) = p - c'(q_0) = 0.$$
(1.14)

In this case, if the government only uses the output of the public firm as a policy instrument, then such a condition can only be satisfied when the public firm is fully nationalized because a fully nationalized firm always provides the MP level of output.

However, with (1.3) and (1.4), full nationalization cannot achieve the secondbest solution because the number of firms still exceeds the optimal level. Even though the public firm restricts the number of private firms, the MP level of output of the public firm is still too high. This depends on the number of policy instruments because the government has to control the output of the public firm and the number of private firms to satisfy the second-best situation. The government needs to use another policy instrument to restrict the number of private firms. In the following section, we consider how the government reaches the second-best solution and what type of policy instrument is appropriate.

1.5 Entry Restriction and Partial Privatization

As mentioned above, the second-best solution cannot be realized through a privatization policy because by itself it is not enough. In this section, we introduce an entry tax as an additional policy instrument and analyze the policy effects and social welfare implications.

The profit function is rewritten if the government imposes an entry tax to each firm. We also assume that the entry tax is imposed as a lump sum. The entry tax does not change the output level of the private firm in the short run. However, it affects the number of private firms in the long run.

$$\pi = pq - c(q) - T, \qquad (1.15)$$

$$n^* = n^*(q_0, T), \ \frac{\partial n^*}{\partial q_0} = -\frac{1}{q}, \ \frac{\partial n^*}{\partial T} = \frac{n^* + k}{p' q^2 (1+k)} < 0,$$
 (1.16)

$$\frac{dq}{dT} = -\frac{1}{p'q(1+k)} > 0, \ \frac{dQ}{dT} = \frac{k}{p'q(1+k)} < 0.$$
(1.17)

The entry tax has some interesting effects not only regarding the number of firms but also on output levels from a long-run perspective. This enables the government to control both levels. The government now faces the following maximization problem:

$$W = G(Q) - c(q_0) - n^* c(q).$$
(1.18)

The first-order conditions are

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial q_0} = -c'(q_0) + \frac{c(q)}{q} = p - \frac{T}{q} - c'(q_0) = 0, \qquad (1.19)$$

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial T} = p \left(n^* \frac{\partial q}{\partial T} + q \frac{\partial n^*}{\partial T} \right) - n^* c'(q) \frac{\partial q}{\partial T} - c(q) \frac{\partial n^*}{\partial T} = T \frac{\partial n^*}{\partial T} - n^* p' q \frac{\partial q}{\partial T}$$

$$= 0. \qquad (1.20)$$

In this case, the second-best solution does not require the MP level output of the public firm. Moreover, the entry tax is a positive value as follows:

$$p - c'(q_0) > 0,$$
 (1.21)

$$T^* = -\frac{n^* p' q^2}{n^* + k} > 0.$$
(1.22)

Because the public firm provides less than the MP level of output if the firm is partially privatized, the second-best condition requires partial privatization, not full nationalization. This is in contrast to when the government only uses a privatization policy. The optimal entry tax is always positive, regardless of whether the public firm is privatized or nationalized. Thus, the government now separately and fully controls the number of firms and the output of the public firm.

De Fraja and Delbono (1989) considered a similar situation, although they did not introduce partial privatization and entry tax. They stated that the government can maximize social welfare if it controls the output of the public firm and the number of private firms like a Stackelberg leader. Because the free-entry equilibrium always exceeds the optimal level, any entry restriction may improve social welfare, and full privatization results in overprovision. However, if the government cannot use the number of private firms and the output of public firms, it is difficult to bring a market solution to second-best level. Our case highlights their replication using an entry tax and partial privatization. We have also shown that a second-best solution cannot be achieved if the government adopts either an entry tax or a partial privatization policy.

Finally, we mentioned several properties of a mixed oligopoly from both shortand long-run perspectives, with reference to previous research including De Fraja and Delbono (1989) and Matsumura and Kanda (2005). The policy implications from our analysis of a mixed oligopoly are broad, taking into account market size and market composition. From a short-run view, a privatization policy is more likely to be effective, but in the long run, the government needs other policy instruments to restrict the entry of firms.

Thus, privatization is regarded as a government intervention in an oligopolistic market. Although privatization affects the market structure and restores social welfare, there are some limitations to improving social welfare via a privatization policy. For instance, the public firm alone is not a strong enough policy instrument to restrict the entry of new firms. Thus, government intervention via a public firm cannot fully restrict the number of private firms, and a further policy tool is necessary to ensure the efficient allocation of resources. We introduced an entry tax to resolve this problem. As a result, a second-best solution is found via an entry tax and a privatization policy.

1.6 Concluding Remarks

In this section, we highlight some remaining issues and discuss the intended extension of the mixed oligopoly model. First, domestic firms sometimes compete with foreign firms. Foreign firms aim to maximize their own profit, and these profits are usually forwarded to the firms' home countries. Because such an erosion of profits harms domestic social welfare, the domestic government has an incentive to use the public firm to prevent such erosions. In this case, Fjell and Pal (1996) considered that the public firm not only acts to restore social welfare but also behaves as a protection tool against foreign firms. This situation is known as an international mixed oligopoly. Traditionally, the import tariff has been recognized as a protection instrument in such cases. If we have such a protection tool, we need to consider whether the tariff rate and privatization are compatible. This problem is worth considering when composing relevant policy in an international economy.

Second, the public firm can be seen as an entry barrier to private firms and prevents private firms' capital accumulation. Furthermore, a disincentive for capital accumulation may harm economic growth. To analyze this situation, we need an intertemporal model of a mixed oligopoly to investigate the causality between a mixed oligopoly and economic growth, as in Futagami et al. (2011). The capital accumulation process relates to the entry of firms in the market, as new firms always bring new capital. The number of firms can then be used as a proxy of capital accumulation. Therefore, both the entry process and privatization policies are related to economic growth.

Third, the present chapter assumed that the government maximizes social welfare or acts as a benevolent agent. In reality, private firms often approach the government to derive more favorite policies via campaign contributions to politicians. In this case, the government has its own payoff function (not maximizing social welfare), which means it is a non-benevolent agent. This political bias via campaign contributions may change the level of privatization, and thus, the market

outcomes differ from a benevolent case. A question remains unanswered: which case brings about higher social welfare?

If we consider political bias in an international mixed oligopoly, the intuitive explanation becomes more complex. Domestic firms wish to increase import tariffs to reduce the presence of foreign firms. They also try to privatize public firms via campaign contributions because privatization brings a market share to private firms. This incentive with campaign contributions can also distort domestic social welfare. Thus, further investigations are required to determine the effect of political bias on social welfare.

When oligopolistic markets are considered, Cournot quantity-setting models and Bertrand price-setting models are commonly used as analytical tools. However, the price in both models is determined by the market, even though the market is a pure private or mixed oligopoly. Furthermore, sometimes a public firm competes against a private firm in a market in which the price is restricted. For example, national universities in Japan compete with private universities, and the tuition fees of both are restricted by government regulations. In the healthcare market, both public and private hospitals share patients, but the payments from national health insurance are standardized by the government. Thus, this non-price mixed oligopoly may represent different definitions of privatization and government intervention.

To encompass the various policy implications of privatization, we investigate several extensions of the mixed oligopoly model in the following chapters. Each chapter will show how privatization policy relates to the individual subject. Throughout this book, we seek to identify the significance of privatization and its related meanings.

References

De Fraja G (1993) Productive efficiency in public and private firms. J Pub Econ 50(1):15-30

- De Fraja G, Delbono F (1989) Alternative strategies of a public enterprise in oligopoly. Oxford Econ Pap 41(1):302–311
- De Fraja G, Delbono F (1990) Game theoretic models of mixed oligopoly. J Econ Surv 4(1):1-17
- Fershtman C (1990) The interdependence between ownership status and market structure: the case of privatization. Economica 57(227):319–328
- Fjell K, Pal D (1996) A mixed oligopoly in the presence of foreign private firms. Can J Econ 29 (3):737–743
- Futagami K, Iwaisako T, Okamura M (2011) Welfare analysis of free entry in a dynamic general equilibrium model. Osaka University, Graduate School of Economics and Osaka School of International Public Policy (OSIPP) Discussion Papers in Economics and Business, pp 11–20

Mankiw N, Whinston M (1986) Free entry and social inefficiency. Rand J Econ 17(1):48-58

Matsumura T (1998) Partial privatization in mixed duopoly. J Pub Econ 70(3):473-483

Matsumura T, Kanda O (2005) Mixed oligopoly at free entry markets. J Econ 84(1):27-48

Suzumura K, Kiyono K (1987) Entry barriers and economic welfare. Rev Econ Stud 54 (1):157–167

Chapter 2 Equilibrium and the Adjustment Process in a Mixed Oligopoly: A Graphical Explanation

Suzuka Okuyama

Abstract This chapter provides a graphical explanation of a mixed oligopoly model in which private firms maximize their own profits and a public firm maximizes the sum of both the consumer and producer surpluses. In every period, the marginal revenue curve and the after-tax marginal cost curve play important roles in describing the behavior of the private firm. Furthermore, the marginal social benefit curve and the after-tax marginal cost curve contribute to the behavior of the public firm. Both firms react against the supply of other firms in turn in an adjustment process. Finally, the economy reaches equilibrium.

2.1 Introduction

The purpose of this chapter is to present a graphical explanation of a mixed oligopoly, that is, a Cournot–Nash game involving profit-maximizing firms and a social welfare-maximizing firm. Assuming the entry of private firms into a publicly monopolistic market, we depict the equilibrium and the adjustment process to the equilibrium. Although a number of studies have previously addressed mixed oligopolies, few have used graphs, which are helpful for understanding mixed oligopolies.

Over the past few decades, privatization has been brought to the public's attention, and many attempts have been made by scholars to explain this subject. Politically, since the 1980s, many countries have privatized a significant number of public firms to reconstruct public finance. In the United Kingdom, the Thatcher government privatized a wide range of companies, including a public gas company and the waterworks bureau. Similarly, in Japan, the government privatized the Japan Tobacco and Salt Public Company in 1985, the Japanese Railway Company in 1987, and, recently, the Japan Post in 2007. De Fraja (1991) discussed privatization and established the baseline used in this field, following the mixed oligopoly

S. Okuyama (🖂)

Osaka University, Osaka, Japan e-mail: ngp008os@student.econ.osaka-u.ac.jp

[©] Springer Japan 2017

M. Yanagihara, M. Kunizaki (eds.), *The Theory of Mixed Oligopoly*, New Frontiers in Regional Science: Asian Perspectives 14, DOI 10.1007/978-4-431-55633-6_2

model developed by De Fraja and Delbono (1989). Since then, many researchers have extended De Fraja's research on privatization. For example, Matsumura (1998) examined a mixed duopoly containing private firms and a privatized firm shared by both the public and private sectors. White (1996) investigated the effect of subsidies in a mixed oligopoly model and clarified that subsidies have a cost distribution effect on production. Lee (2006) considered privatization in the tele-communication industry, where a public firm supplies an essential network service.

Whereas a large number of studies have investigated privatization, few have tried to explain graphically how equilibrium is achieved and how the adjustment process proceeds. Studies on privatization have compared the welfare levels of two situations, mixed and pure oligopolies. This implies that theories of privatization are based on the theories of pure and mixed oligopolies.

There are several studies (e.g., Baldwin 1987 and Nicholson 1972) that explain equilibrium and the adjustment process in a pure oligopoly. However, few studies have attempted to provide a graphical explanation for a mixed oligopoly. Applying the same techniques used by Baldwin (1987) and Nicholson (1972), we graphically depict an equilibrium and the adjustment process in a mixed oligopoly, as introduced in De Fraja (1991). In this setting, it is initially assumed that a public firm monopolistically supplies goods to the market and then private firms enter this market and determine their outputs based on the output of the public firm. The firms continue to play the game until equilibrium is attained.

Obtaining equilibrium in a mixed oligopoly requires two kinds of first-order conditions. One is derived from profit maximization and the other from social welfare maximization. The first-order condition of profit maximization consists of the marginal revenue and the after-tax marginal cost, which is the marginal cost plus the tax rate. As for the latter, that of social welfare maximization consists of the marginal social benefit and after-tax marginal cost. The tax income is used to finance the budget loss of the social welfare maximization firm.

To analyze the adjustment process and equilibrium graphically, we reinterpret first-order conditions as intersections of curves. First, the private firm's quantity is determined to be an intersection of the marginal revenue curve and the after-tax marginal cost curve. These curves have two variables, the private firm's offered price and quantity. Similarly, that of the public firm is determined to be an intersection of the marginal social benefit curve and the after-tax marginal cost curve. These curves also have two variables, the public firm's offered price and quantity.

Illustrating these curves on a plane (with a vertical axis of price and a horizontal axis of quantity) clearly shows the adjustment process and equilibrium in a mixed oligopoly. After entry, each firm repeats its offer of quantity until equilibrium is reached. The reoffering is illustrated as a leftward shift of the marginal revenue curve or the marginal social benefit curve. During the adjustment, incumbent firms decrease their quantities and entry firms increase theirs. When the prices offered by the two firms (public and private) are equal, equilibrium is achieved.

This chapter is organized as follows. Section 2.1 presents the fundamental model of a mixed oligopoly, based on De Fraja (1991). Section 2.2 explains both the

adjustment process to reach equilibrium and the equilibrium in a mixed duopoly. Section 2.3 extends the concept to a mixed oligopoly and focuses on the equilibrium, and Sect. 2.4 provides some concluding remarks.

2.2 The Model

We first review the mixed oligopoly model developed by De Fraja (1991). In this model, there are *n* private firms that maximize their profits and one public firm that maximizes social welfare, defined as the sum of consumer surplus and producer surplus. Let the private firm be firm i (i = 1, ..., n) and let the public firm be firm 0. These firms play a Cournot–Nash game in which each firm determines its output under the given levels of outputs supplied by the other firms.

These n + 1 firms supply their goods to the market, whose inverse demand function is given by

$$p = 1 - Q, \tag{2.1}$$

where p is the market price and Q is the total amount of goods. Assuming symmetry across the private firms and with q_i denoting the supply of firm i and q_0 as that of firm. Q can be expressed as

$$Q = q_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} q_i.$$
 (2.2)

In this model, it is assumed that the cost of a firm is composed of a fixed cost that does not change with the level of output and a variable cost that depends on the output. The fixed cost is the same for both the private firms and the public firm, while the variable cost is not.

We assume that variable costs, which have constant marginal costs, are

$$c_0 > c_1 = c_2 = \dots = c_n \equiv \widetilde{c}, \tag{2.3}$$

where subscripts represent the firms. The difference in the marginal costs implies that the productivity of the public firm is less efficient than those of the private firms. These marginal costs and the fixed cost provide the cost function of the public firm as follows:

$$c(q_0) = c_0 q_0 + F, (2.4)$$

where F is the fixed cost. Similarly, the cost function of the private firm is

$$c(\widetilde{q}) = \widetilde{c}\,\widetilde{q} + F. \tag{2.5}$$

From (2.1) and (2.5), the profit of the private firm is given by

$$\widetilde{\pi} = p\widetilde{q} - \widetilde{c}\,\widetilde{q} - F - t\widetilde{q},\tag{2.6}$$

where *t* represents a specific tax rate that is constant through all periods. As we will see later, because the public firm maximizes social welfare and not profit, there is a deficit that is equal to the fixed cost of the public firm in equilibrium. To finance this budget loss, the government levies a tax on the outputs supplied by all firms. The profit maximization problem of the private firm takes the following form:

$$\frac{\partial \widetilde{\pi}}{\partial \widetilde{q}} = \widetilde{MR} - \widetilde{TMC} = 0 \tag{2.7}$$

where

$$\widetilde{MR} = (1 - q_0 - \sum_{i=1}^n q_i) + (-q_i)$$
(2.8)

is the marginal revenue of firm *i* and

$$TMC = \tilde{c} + t \tag{2.9}$$

is the after-tax marginal cost of firm *i*. Regarding tax, an extra unit of production requires the marginal cost plus the tax rate, that is, the after-tax marginal cost.

The right-hand side of (2.8) can be interpreted as follows. First, $(1 - q_0 - \sum_{i=1}^{n} q_i)$ represents the positive effect of an increase in q_i on the revenue of firm *i*, which is equal to the price. Second, $(-q_i)$ represents the negative effect of a change (decrease) of price on the total revenue. Then, the condition of the profit maximization of (2.7) requires an equalization of (2.8) and (2.9).

The public firm determines its output depending not only on its own profit but also on the profit of the private firm and the consumer surplus. Because the inverse demand function is linear, as in (2.1), the consumer surplus is given by

$$CS = \frac{1}{2} \left(q_0 + \sum_{i=1}^n q_i \right)^2.$$
 (2.10)

As a result, from (2.4), (2.6), and (2.10), social welfare can be represented as follows:

$$S = SB - TTC_n = \left[\frac{1}{2}\left(q_0 + \sum_{i=1}^n q_i\right)^2 + \sum_{i=1}^n \pi_i + pq_0\right] - (c_0q_0 + F), \quad (2.11)$$

where S, SB, and TTC_0 represent social welfare, social benefit, and the after-tax cost of the public firm, respectively. SB is defined as social welfare excluding the after-tax marginal cost.

The first-order condition of social welfare maximization then becomes

2 Equilibrium and the Adjustment Process in a Mixed Oligopoly: A Graphical...

$$\frac{\partial S}{\partial q_0} = MSB - TMC_0 = 0, \qquad (2.12)$$

where

$$MSB = \left(q_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} q_i\right) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} q_i + \left[1 - \left(q_0 + \sum_{i=1}^{n} q_i\right) - q_0\right]$$
(2.13)

is the marginal social benefit that denotes the additional social benefit brought about by an increase in an incremental unit of output. Furthermore,

$$TMC_0 = c_0 + t$$
 (2.14)

is the after-tax marginal cost of the public firm. The right-hand side of (2.13) can be interpreted as follows. First, $(q_0 + \sum_{i=1}^n q_i)$ represents the effect of an increase in q_0 on the consumer surplus. Second, $-\sum_{i=1}^n q_i$ represents the effect of an increase in q_0 on the revenue of the private firm through the decrease in price. Finally, $[1 - (q_0 + \sum_{i=1}^n q_i) - q_0]$ represents the effects of an increase in q_0 on the revenue of the public firm, which is equal to the price, and a decrease in q_0 on the revenue of the public firm. It should be noted that the second term and part of the third term cancel the first term. This simply implies that an increase shifts the benefit from the producer surplus to the consumer surplus. As a result, this becomes equivalent to the inverse demand function given by (2.1).

Finally, solving (2.7) and (2.12), the Cournot–Nash equilibrium outputs of these firms can be obtained as follows:

$$q_i = c_0 - \tilde{c},\tag{2.15}$$

$$q_0 = 1 - (n+1)c_0 + n\tilde{c} - t \tag{2.16}$$

2.3 Graphical Explanation

In this section, we graphically represent the Cournot–Nash equilibrium given in (2.15) and (2.16). The merit of the graphical explanation given here is that it can satisfactorily express how equilibrium can be achieved through the adjustment process in a mixed oligopoly. Before turning to the explanation of the mixed oligopoly, it is helpful to consider a mixed duopoly model in which only one private firm (firm 1) and one public firm (firm 0) exist.

In the case of a duopoly, the adjustment process will proceed as follows: originally (or in the 0^{th} period), only the public firm existed in the market and supplied goods monopolistically. In the first period, a private firm enters this market

and determines its output by reacting to the output level of the public firm. In the second period, the public firm revises its output level by reacting to the output of the private firm. The behavior of the private firm in the first period and that of the public firm in the second period are defined as the first turn for these two firms, respectively. In the third period, the private firm revises its output, and then in the fourth period, the public firm revises its output. This behavior by the two firms can be defined as the second turn for each firm. The private firm revises its output in every odd-numbered period, and the public firm does so in every even-numbered period, and the public firm does so in every even-numbered period, and the public firm does not not be the turn in the 2m - 1th period, and the public firm determines its output in the mth turn in the 2mth period. The succeeding periods follow this procedure, and the economy finally achieves a Cournot–Nash equilibrium.

2.3.1 From the First to the Third Periods

Let us start with the circumstance in which the public firm dominates the market. The marginal social benefit of the public firm in the 0th period can be written as follows:

$$MSB_0^0 = 1 - q_0^0, \tag{2.13'}$$

where q_0^0 is the level of the output in the 0th period. The superscript denotes the number of turns.¹ From (2.13') and (2.14), the output of the public firm in the 0th turn can be obtained as

$$q_0^0 = 1 - c_0 - t. (2.17)$$

As shown in Fig. 2.1, with p as the vertical axis and Q as the horizontal axis, the marginal social benefit curve (DD') can be drawn by a straight line with a slope of -1 and an intercept of 1 on the vertical axis. The after-tax marginal cost curve TMC_0 is parallel to the horizontal axis. Therefore, q_0^0 is represented by OA, and the price offered by the public firm is represented by eO; cost curve (TMC_0) is parallel to the horizontal axis.² Therefore, q_0^0 is represented by OA, and the price offered by the public firm is represented by OA, and the price offered by the public firm is represented by OA, and the price offered by the public firm is represented by OA, and the price offered by the public firm is represented by OA, and the price offered by the public firm is represented by OA, and the price offered by the public firm is represented by OA, and the price offered by the public firm is represented by OA, and the price offered by the public firm is represented by OA, and the price offered by the public firm is represented by OA, and the price offered by the public firm is represented by OA, and the price offered by the public firm is represented by OA, and the price offered by the public firm is represented by OA, which corresponds to TMC_0 .

Next, let us consider the entry of the private firm in the first period. Because the after-tax marginal cost of the private firm is lower than that of the public firm, which is equal to the price offered by the public firm as assumed in (2.3), the private

¹ The behavior in the 0th turn is defined as the behavior of the public firm in the 0th period.

² The marginal social benefit curve in the 0th period is equivalent to the inverse demand function.



firm enters the market. The private firm faces its demand curve (ED'), which gives the following marginal revenue:

$$MR_1^1 = 1 - 2q_1^1 - q_0^0, (2.8')$$

as shown by MR_1^1 in Fig. 2.2 and the marginal cost as

$$TMC_1 = \tilde{c} + t. \tag{2.9'}$$

From (2.8') and (2.9'), the output of the private firm in the first turn q_1^1 , can be obtained as

$$q_1^1 = \frac{1}{2}(\tilde{c} - c_1). \tag{2.18}$$

In Fig. 2.2, the marginal revenue curve (MR_1^1) can be drawn by a straight line with a slope of -2 and an interception of DD' at E. The after-tax marginal cost curve (TMC_1) can be taken as parallel to the Q axis. The private firm chooses C, which is the intersection of the two curves, and determines its output as AB. Therefore, the price offered by the private firm becomes p_1^1 .

The outputs of the public firm given by (2.17) and of the private firm given by (2.18) cannot be consistent with the equilibrium outputs because the prices faced by each firm are different. Thus, the public firm should change its output by responding



to the outputs of the private firm obtained in (2.18), even though the after-tax marginal cost of the public firm represented by (2.17) is unchanged.

We now consider the behavior of the public firm in the second period. As mentioned above, in this period, the marginal social benefit curve changes in reaction to q_1^1 . From this new marginal social benefit curve obtained by substituting (2.18) into (2.13) and the after-tax marginal cost, the output of the public firm in the first turn can be obtained by

$$q_0^1 = (1 - c_0 - t) - \frac{1}{2}(c_0 - \tilde{c}).$$
(2.19)

The adjustment process of how the public firm changes its output is revealed in Fig. 2.3. Now, MR_1^1 in Fig. 2.2 corresponds to MR_1^1 in Fig. 2.3. The quantity *OB* in Fig. 2.3, which is *AB* in Fig. 2.2, has shifted left. This determines the length of the inverse demand curve that the public firm faces as *GD*', denoted by MSB_0^1 . As in the 0^{th} turn, the public firm determines its output as *BA* by choosing *E* as the intersection of MSB_0^1 and TMC_0 , and offers p_0^1 , which is unchanged from the 0^{th} period.

It should be noted that in comparison with (2.17), the output of the public firm decreases by $\frac{1}{2}(c_0 - c_1)$ in reaction to the output of the private firm, as given in (2.18). Furthermore, even though the output of the public firm is revised from q_0^0 to q_0^1 , the price offered by the public firm has not been altered. This implies that the private firm has an incentive to change the output level in response to the output level of the public firm in the second period given by (2.19).

The output of the private firm in the 3rd period (in the 2nd turn) is obtained by

Fig. 2.3 The public firm revises its output in the 1st turn. The public firm revises outputs q_0^1 (*AB*) at p_0^1 in the 1st turn given q_1^1 determined by the private firm in the previous period. In addition, the public firm supplies at TMC_0



The adjustment process that the private firm goes through to change its output in the second turn is shown in Fig. 2.4a. As MSB_0^1 shifts to the left, *BA* in Fig. 2.2 can be presented as *OA* in Fig. 2.4a. The inverse demand curve *GD*' faced by the private firm determines the marginal revenue curve as MR_1^2 . The private firm chooses *C*, which is represented by the intersection of MR_1^2 and TMC_1 , and determines its output as *AB*. The private firm offers is revised as p_1^2 .

Regarding the change in the output of the private firm, comparing (2.19) with (2.17), it increases by $\frac{1}{4}(c_0 - \tilde{c})$. This shows that the private firm gradually increases its share in the market as the public firm loses its market share. In fact, the output of the public firm in the 4th period (in the 2nd turn) becomes

$$q_0^2 = (1 - c_0 - t) - \frac{3}{4}(c_0 - \tilde{c})$$
(2.21)

which can be represented by *BA* in Fig. 2.4b. This output is less than (2.19) by just $\frac{1}{4}(c_0 - \tilde{c})$.

By the same procedure, we obtain the outputs of both firms in the 3rd turn as follows:

$$q_1^3 = \frac{7}{8}(c_0 - \tilde{c}), \qquad (2.22)$$

and



Fig. 2.4 The adjustment process of the 2nd turn. (a) The private firm determines its output in the 3rd period. (b) The public firm determines its output in the 4th period

$$q_0^3 = (1 - c_0 - t) - \frac{7}{8}(c_0 - c_1).$$
(2.23)

Again, it can be acknowledged that an increase in the output of the private firm and, in contrast, the decrease in that of the public firm are $\frac{1}{8}(c_0 - \tilde{c})$.

2.3.2 From the mth Period to Equilibrium

From the above procedure, we can obtain the outputs of both firms in the m^{th} turn by induction as

$$q_1^m = \frac{2^m - 1}{2^m} (c_0 - \widetilde{c}), \qquad (2.24)$$

and

$$q_0^m = (1 - c_0 - t) - \frac{2^m - 1}{2^m} (c_0 - \tilde{c}).$$
(2.25)

The adjustment process in which both firms determine their outputs in the m^{th} turn is in Fig. 2.5a, b. Figure 2.5a represents that the private firm determines q_1^m in the $2m - 1^{\text{th}}$ period. The private firm chooses *C*, which is the intersection of MR_1^m and TMC_1 , so that it determines its output as *AB* and offers p_1^m . Figure 2.5b represents that the public firm determines q_0^m in the $2m^{\text{th}}$ period. The public firm chooses *E*, which is an intersection of MSB_0^m and TMC_0 , the output becomes *BA*, and the price offered by the public firm is p_0 .

We now consider the equilibrium. Although the price offered by the private firm and the one offered by the public firm have not been equal (the public firm's price has been higher than that of the private firm), as m^{th} increases, the price offered by the private firm gradually increases to the (constant) price offered by the public firm. Finally, when the prices offered by both firms are equal, the economy reaches equilibrium. In equilibrium, the outputs of both firms are

$$q_1^* = c_0 - \widetilde{c},\tag{2.26}$$

and

$$q_0^* = (1 - c_0 - t) - (c_0 - \tilde{c})$$
(2.27)

as already obtained in (2.15) and (2.16). In Fig. 2.6, (2.26) and (2.27) are represented as to AB and OA, respectively. In this equilibrium, the prices of both firms are equal to p^* .

Because the outputs of both firms in the m^{th} turn can be obtained from (2.24) and (2.25), the total output in equilibrium can be obtained as

$$Q^* = q_1^m + q_0^m = \left[\frac{2^m - 1}{2^m}(c_0 - \tilde{c})\right] + \left[(1 - c_0 - t) - \frac{2^m - 1}{2^m}(c_0 - \tilde{c})\right]$$

= $(1 - c_0 - t).$ (2.28)

Because the budget deficit of the public firm is



Fig. 2.5 The adjustment process of the m^{th} turn. (a) The private firm determines its output in the $2m - 1^{\text{th}}$ period. (b) The public firm determines its output in the $2m^{\text{th}}$ period



Fig. 2.6 Equilibrium. At equilibrium, the total output is Q^* . The public firm supplies *OA* and the private firm supplies *AB*

$$F = tQ \tag{2.29}$$

the tax rate becomes constant in equilibrium and can be obtained as

$$t = \frac{1}{2} \left[1 - c_0 - \sqrt{(1 - c_0)^2 - 4F} \right].$$
 (2.30)

If c_0 decreases, (2.28) provides that the total output increases and then the consumer surplus also increases.

Furthermore, (2.26) means that a decrease in c_0 leads to a decrease in the output of the private firm. The equivalency of both firms' marginal costs makes the output of the private firm zero and its profit -F. Therefore, the private firm will exit the market. However, the equivalency of marginal costs maximizes the consumer surplus. This means an improvement of the public firm's efficiency is not required to maximize social welfare under the condition that privatization never occurs.

2.3.3 n Firms Case

We now turn to the mixed oligopoly in which a public firm and *n* private firms exist in the economy. We also assume that the public firm and the (group of) private firms determine their outputs in turn. Under these circumstances, the production of one

private firm among *n* firms becomes $\frac{1}{n}$ times that in a mixed duopoly. Therefore, the outputs of one private firm in the *m*th turn can be obtained as

$$\widetilde{q}^{m} = \frac{1}{n} \left[\frac{2^{m} - 1}{2^{m}} (c_{0} - \widetilde{c}) \right],$$
(2.31)

and that of the public firm in the m^{th} turn is

$$q_0^m = (1 - c_0 - t) - \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{1}{n} \left[\frac{2^m - 1}{2^m} (c_0 - \widetilde{c}) \right] = (1 - c_0 - t) - \frac{2^m - 1}{2^m} (c_0 - \widetilde{c}).$$
(2.32)

Finally, the output of a private firm and that of a public firm in equilibrium become

$$q^{\infty} = \frac{1}{n}(c_0 - \widetilde{c}), \qquad (2.33)$$

and

$$q_0^{\infty} = (1 - c_0 - t) - (c_0 - \tilde{c}).$$
(2.34)

As a result, the total output of the *n* private firms and the output of the public firm are identical with those in the case of mixed duopoly, seen in (2.26) and (2.27).

2.4 Concluding Remarks

This chapter depicted an equilibrium and the adjustment process in the mixed oligopoly described by De Fraja (1991). The adjustment process to equilibrium can be shown by utilizing the first-order conditions of private and public firms. Specifically, the first-order condition of the private firm is satisfied at the intersection of the marginal revenue curve and the after-tax marginal cost curve. Similarly, the first-order condition of the public firm is satisfied at the intersection of the marginal social benefit curve and the after-tax marginal cost curve. As time proceeds, under a fixed tax rate and marginal costs, the marginal revenue curves and the marginal social benefit curve will change.

By providing a graph that compares a pure oligopoly to a mixed oligopoly, we can understand how private and public firms behave, not only in equilibrium but also in the adjustment process to equilibrium. This graphical explanation contributes to clarifying the effects of the privatization of a public firm.

References

- Baldwin L (1987) Market power, competition, and antitrust policy. Irwin Publication in Economics, Homewood
- De Fraja G (1991) Efficiency and privatization in imperfectly competitive industries. J Ind Econ 39:311–321
- De Fraja G, Delbono F (1989) Alternative strategies of a public enterprise in oligopoly. Oxford Econ Pap 41:302–311
- Lee S (2006) Welfare-improving in the telecommunications industry. Contemp Econ Policy 24 (2):237–248
- Matsumura T (1998) Partial privatization in mixed duopoly. J Public Econ 70(3):473-483
- Nicholson M (1972) Oligopoly and conflict a dynamic approach. Liverpool University Press, Liverpool
- White D (1996) Mixed oligopoly, privatization and subsidization. Econ Lett 53:189-195
Chapter 3 Privatization in a Stackelberg Mixed Oligopoly

Kojun Hamada

Abstract This chapter examines whether privatization improves social welfare in a Stackelberg mixed oligopoly. Extending the pioneering study of De Fraja and Delbono (Oxf Econ Pap 41(1):302–311, 1989) to Stackelberg competitions between a public firm and private firms, we investigate whether privatization increases social welfare in a sequential-move game. We consider the different competitive environments in which even after privatization, a public firm's Stackelberg position is maintained. We demonstrate the following results: First, when a public firm acts as a Stackelberg leader before and after privatization, privatization necessarily decreases social welfare irrespective of the number of private firms. Second, even when a public firm acts as a Stackelberg follower before and after privatization, privatization decreases social welfare if the number of private firms is relatively small.

3.1 Introduction

Since the pioneering study of De Fraja and Delbono (1989) identified the possibility that privatization increases social welfare, numerous articles have investigated the effect of privatization on social welfare. Although the existing literature emphasizes that privatizing a public firm can result in a higher level of social welfare, many studies focus on examining the effect of privatization on social welfare within a framework of Cournot competition where both public and private firms choose their output simultaneously.

In this chapter, we examine whether privatization improves social welfare in a Stackelberg mixed oligopoly where a single public firm and a number of private firms engage in quantity competition through the sequential choice of production by both firms. As shown by De Fraja and Delbono (1989), it is a well-established result in a mixed oligopoly that privatizing a public firm can increase social welfare in Cournot competition. Moreover, De Fraja and Delbono (1989) also investigated the effect of privatization on social welfare in a Stackelberg competition and showed

K. Hamada (🖂)

Niigata University, Niigata, Japan e-mail: khamada@econ.niigata-u.ac.jp

[©] Springer Japan 2017

M. Yanagihara, M. Kunizaki (eds.), *The Theory of Mixed Oligopoly*, New Frontiers in Regional Science: Asian Perspectives 14, DOI 10.1007/978-4-431-55633-6_3

that privatization decreases social welfare when before privatization, a public firm acts as a Stackelberg leader. However, their social welfare comparison before and after privatization depends on the assumption that both the public and private firms engage in Cournot competition after privatization. In De Fraja and Delbono's (1989) setting, privatizing a public firm brings about two simultaneous but different changes to the public firm. One is the change of the public firm's objective to maximize to its own profit from social welfare. The other is the loss of the leadership position after privatizing. De Fraja and Delbono (1989) showed that both changes after privatization cause a decrease in social welfare. In contrast, we pay attention to Stackelberg competition in which a public firm continues to act as a Stackelberg leader or follower, irrespective of whether privatization occurs, and we compare the social welfare before and after privatization. Because we only wish to measure the effect of the change in the public firm's objective concerning social welfare, we adopt a different competitive environment in which Stackelberg leadership is maintained for a public firm, both before and after privatization. This assumption is in contrast with that in previous studies.¹

Relatively few articles have examined mixed oligopolies in Stackelberg competition. Although De Fraja and Delbono (1989) considered Stackelberg competition in which a public firm acts as a leader, they only compared social welfare in Stackelberg competition before privatization with that in Cournot competition after privatization. Another exception is Beato and Mas-Colell (1984), who examined a mixed oligopoly in which private and public firms compete in a market including both Cournot and Stackelberg competition. They demonstrated that when the timing of output choice is altered, the relative size of social welfare is also changed. However, they only focused on duopolistic competition between a public and private firm and did not compare the changes in social welfare resulting from privatization. Pal (1998) and Fjell and Heywood (2004) analyzed the endogenous timing of moves in a mixed oligopoly, but did not conduct a social welfare comparison. Furthermore, other studies have paid little attention to the link between the timing of decision-making and social welfare before and after privatization (e.g., Matsumura 2003a, b; Jacques 2004; Lu 2006, 2007).

We compare social welfare before and after privatization when a public firm behaves as a Stackelberg leader or follower irrespective of whether privatization occurs and show the following results. First, when a public firm acts as a Stackelberg leader before and after privatization, privatization necessarily reduces social welfare irrespective of the number of private firms. Second, even when a public firm acts as a Stackelberg follower before and after privatization, privatization decreases social welfare if the number of private firms is relatively small. These results are in stark contrast with those in a Cournot setting, where privatization can result in an increase in social welfare. The results suggest that when we

¹We omit the details of the survey on mixed oligopoly and privatization. De Fraja and Delbono (1990) reviewed various mixed oligopoly models including different move orders in oligopolistic games. For a recent survey on a mixed oligopoly, see Matsumura and Shimizu (2010).

extensively consider the sequential-move choice of production in oligopolistic competition, the situation in which privatization in a mixed oligopoly enhances social welfare is more limited. Although it has been argued that privatization is welfare enhancing and the reform of state-owned enterprises should occur, the privatization of public firms has not progressed strongly worldwide. However, as this chapter suggests, if privatizing public firms itself brings about a negative effect on social welfare, the lack of progression in moves to privatize public firms and actual resistance to such development might be justified from the viewpoint of national welfare.

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows. Section 3.2 describes the Stackelberg mixed oligopoly model wherein public and private firms compete in a homogeneous goods market. Section 3.3 compares social welfare before and after privatization when a public firm acts as a Stackelberg leader. Section 3.4 compares social welfare before and after privatization when a public firm acts as a Stackelberg follower. Section 3.5 compares social welfare before privatization in Cournot competition and two Stackelberg competitions. Section 3.6 presents concluding remarks. Proofs can be found in the Appendix.

3.2 The Model

The basic setting used in this study follows that of De Fraja and Delbono (1989). There are (n + 1) firms that have an identical production technology in a simple homogeneous product market. One firm is a public firm and the others are private firms. They engage in quantity competition in an oligopolistic market. The objective of the public firm is to maximize social welfare before privatizing and to maximize its own profit after privatizing. The objective of n private firms is to maximize their own firm's profit. The public firm is indexed by firm i = 0, private firms are indexed by firm $i = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$, and q denotes firm i's output. As we only focus on the symmetric equilibrium among private firms, the output of identical private firms is the same, i.e., $q \equiv q_i$, $i = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$. The inverse demand function is given by p = p(Q) = a - Q, a > 0, where p denotes the price and $Q \equiv q_0$ +nathe total output. The cost function of firms is denoted by $C = c(q_i) = F + (k/2)q_i^2$, $F \ge 0$, k > 0. For brevity, we assume that F = 0. The profit of firm *i* is denoted by $\pi_i = p(Q)q_i - (k/2)q_i^2$. We denote the profit of identical private firms as $\pi \equiv \pi_i$, $i = \{1, 2, \dots, n\}$. Consumer surplus and producer surplus are denoted by $CS \equiv \int_0^Q p(s)ds - p(Q)Q = (1/2)Q^2$ and $PS \equiv \pi_0 + n\pi = p(Q)Q - (k/2)\sum_{i=0}^n q_i^2$, respectively. Social welfare is defined as $W \equiv CS + p(Q)Q - (k/2)\sum_{i=0}^n q_i^2$. $PS = aQ - (1/2)Q^2 - (k/2)\sum_{i=0}^n q_i^2$. For brevity, we ignore the integer problem on the number of firms.

We classify the timing of output choice by the public firm and private firms as follows. Throughout this chapter, we do not deal with the endogenous timing of production to avoid the complexity of analysis. First, in Sect. 3.3, we investigate

Stackelberg competition in which a public firm acts as a leader before and after privatizing. Second, in Sect. 3.4, we proceed to investigate Stackelberg competition in which a public firm acts as a follower before and after privatizing. The equilibrium concept follows the subgame perfect Nash equilibrium (SPNE). We solve the equilibrium by inducing backward.

3.3 When a Public Firm Acts as a Stackelberg Leader

In this section, we derive the Stackelberg equilibrium before and after privatization when a public firm acts as a leader, irrespective of whether to privatize, and compare social welfare before and after privatization. De Fraja and Delbono (1989) previously compared social welfare before and after privatization where the public firm behaves as a Stackelberg leader before privatizing and with the privatized public firm engaging in Cournot competition with private firms. As mentioned in the introduction, when De Fraja and Delbono (1989) assumed that the public firm loses its Stackelberg leader position after privatizing, two key effects occur for the public firm. One is the change in its objective and the other is the loss of leadership position. De Fraja and Delbono (1989) showed that both effects bring about lower social welfare after privatization. However, it is necessary to distinguish between these two effects to focus on the change in the public firm's objective with privatization. Therefore, unlike the assumption in De Fraja and Delbono (1989), we assume that irrespective of whether a firm privatizes, the public firm remains a Stackelberg leader. In the following, we consider the situation in which the public firm's objective changes, from seeking to maximize social welfare before privatization to maximizing its own profit after privatization. The firm's position as a Stackelberg leader does not change. Thus, we focus on the effect of the change in the public firm's objective associated with privatization.

3.3.1 Before Privatization

In the second stage, irrespective of whether to privatize, a private firm maximizes its own profit given the output level of a public firm that has already been determined in the first stage. The first-order condition for a private firm is as follows:

3 Privatization in a Stackelberg Mixed Oligopoly

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \pi_i}{\partial q_i} &= a - Q - q_i - kq_i = 0\\ \Leftrightarrow q_i &= r_i(q_0, Q_{-i}) \equiv \frac{a - q_0 - Q_{-i}}{k + 2}, \ Q_{-i} \equiv \sum_{j \neq 0, i} q_j. \end{aligned}$$
(3.1)

As the private firms are identical and $q \equiv q_i$, we arrange the reaction function of the identical private firms (3.1) responding to q_0 as follows:

$$q = r(q_0) \equiv \frac{a - q_0}{n + k + 1}.$$
(3.2)

In the first stage, the public firm maximizes social welfare anticipating that the private firms' output in the second-stage subgame satisfies (3.2). The first-order condition for the public firm is as follows:

$$\frac{dW}{dq_0} = (a - Q)[1 + nr'(q_0)] - k[q_0 + nqr'(q_0)] = 0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow q_0 = \frac{\left[(k+1)^2 + nk\right]a}{(k+1)^2 + nk + k(n+k+1)^2}.$$
(3.3)

Substituting q_0 , which is obtained in (3.3), into (3.2), we obtain the private firms' output as follows:

$$\Leftrightarrow q = \frac{k(n+k+1)a}{(k+1)^2 + nk + k(n+k+1)^2}.$$
(3.4)

The SPNE variables when a public leader firm and private follower firms engage in Stackelberg competition before privatization are summarized in Table 3.1.²

3.3.2 After Privatization

Even after privatizing, the reaction function of private firms in the second stage (3.2) does not change at all. In the first stage, the public firm maximizes its profit by anticipating that the private firms' output in the second-stage subgame satisfies (3.2). The first-order condition for the public firm is as follows:

²Throughout this chapter, we denote the equilibrium variables when a public firm acts as a Stackelberg leader before and after privatization by the superscripts *LB* (leader before) and *LA* (leader after), respectively. Likewise, we use the superscripts *FB* (follower before) and *FA* (follower after) when a public firm acts as a follower before and after privatization, respectively. Superscript *C* denotes the Cournot equilibrium.

Table 3.1 SPNE before privatization when a public firm acts as a leader	Public firm's output	q_0^{LB}	$\frac{Xa}{X+kY^2}$
	Private firm's output	q^{LB}	$\frac{kYa}{X+kY^2}$
	Total output	Q^{LB}	$\frac{(nkY+X)a}{X+kY^2}$
	Price	p^{LB}	$\frac{k(k+1)Ya}{X+kY^2}$
	Public firm's profit	π_0^{LB}	$\frac{k[(k+1)^2Y^2-n^2]a^2}{(k+1)^2}$
			$2(X+kY^2)^2$
	Private firm's profit	π^{LB}	$\frac{k^2(k+2)Y^2a^2}{(k+2)^2}$
			$2(X+kY^2)$
	Social welfare	W^{LB}	$\frac{[X+nk(Y+1)]a^2}{2(X+kY^2)}$
	$\overline{(X \equiv (k+1)^2 + nk = k(Y+1) - k(Y+1))}$	$+1, Y \equiv n+k+$	- 1)

Table 3.2 SPNE after privatization when a public firm acts as a leader

Public firm's output	q_0^{LA}	$\frac{(k+1)a}{X+k+1}$
Private firm's output	q^{LA}	$\frac{Xa}{(X+k+1)Y}$
Total output	Q^{LA}	$\frac{[nX+(k+1)Y]a}{(X+k+1)Y}$
Price	p^{LA}	$\frac{(k+1)Xa}{(X+k+1)Y}$
Public firm's profit	π_0^{LA}	$\frac{(k+1)^2 a^2}{2(X+k+1)Y}$
Private firm's profit	π^{LA}	$\frac{X^2 a^2}{\left(X+k+1\right)^2 Y^2}$
Social welfare	W ^{LA}	$\frac{\left[nX^{2}(Y+1)+2(k+1)XY^{2}+(1-k)(k+1)^{2}Y^{2}\right]a^{2}}{2(X+k+1)^{2}Y^{2}}$

 $(X \equiv (k+1)^2 + nk = k(Y+1) + 1, Y \equiv n+k+1)$

$$\frac{\partial \pi_0}{\partial q_0} = a - Q - [1 + nr'(q_0)]q_0 - kq_0 = 0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow q_0 = \frac{(k+1)a}{2(k+1) + k(n+k+1)}.$$
 (3.5)

Substituting q_0 into (3.2), we obtain the private firms' output as follows:

$$q = \frac{\left[(k+1)^2 + nk \right] a}{(n+k+1)[2(k+1) + k(n+k+1)]}.$$
(3.6)

The SPNE variables when the privatized public leader firm and private follower firms engage in Stackelberg competition are summarized in Table $3.2.^3$

³By tedious calculation, W^{LA} is rearranged as follows: $W^{LA} = \frac{Za^2}{2(X+k+1)^2Y^2}$, where $Z \equiv k^2n^4 + k$ $(k+2)(3k+2)n^3 + (k+1)^2(3k^2 + 11k + 4)n^2 + (k+1)^3(k^2 + 7k + 8)n + (k+1)^4(k+3)$.

3.3.3 Social Welfare Comparison When a Public Firm Acts as a Leader

Now we compare social welfare in the SPNE before and after privatization. From Tables 3.1 and 3.2, we provide a social welfare comparison in the following proposition.

Proposition 3.1 Consider the situation in which a public firm acts as a Stackelberg leader before and after privatization. Social welfare before privatization is not lower than that after privatization, irrespective of the number of private firms. That is, $W^{LB} \ge W^{LA} \forall n \ge 1$.

Proposition 3.1 claims that if the public firm acts as a Stackelberg leader irrespective of whether privatization has occurred, privatization is not desirable from the viewpoint of social welfare improvement. When the public firm retains the leader position to make a decision on output, the change in the firm's maximized objective, from social welfare to profit, never increases the welfare. Thus, this proposition suggests that social welfare may not increase after privatization in a sequential-move game. As far as we consider the simultaneous-move game in Cournot competition, the possibility of social welfare increasing by privatizing only arises when the number of private firms is relatively large.

To explain why privatizing a public leader firm decreases social welfare in a Stackelberg mixed oligopoly, we show the reaction functions of both a public and private firm in Fig. 3.1. The reaction functions of a public firm before and after privatizing are obtained by solving the first-order condition to maximize social welfare and its profit, respectively, as follows:⁴

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial q_0} = a - Q - kq_0 = 0 \Leftrightarrow q_0 = r_0^B(q) \equiv \frac{a - nq}{k + 1}.$$
(3.7)

$$\frac{\partial \pi_0}{\partial q_0} = a - Q - q_0 - kq_0 = 0 \Leftrightarrow q_0 = r_0^A(q) \equiv \frac{a - nq}{k + 2}.$$
(3.8)

Arranging $q_0 = r_0^B(q)$ and $q_0 = r_0^A(q)$ with respect to q, the inverse reaction functions are inverted as $q = \rho^B(q_0) \equiv \frac{a - (k+1)q_0}{n}$ and $q = \rho^A(q_0) \equiv \frac{a - (k+2)q_0}{n}$, respectively. The reaction function of the identical private firms is denoted by (3.2). Furthermore, the iso-welfare curve is an oval shape, and the maximum social welfare is attained under the positive firm outputs, which are obtained by maximizing social welfare, $W(q_0, q) \equiv a(q_0 + nq) - (1/2)(q_0 + nq)^2 - (k/2)(q_0^2 + nq^2)$, with respect to (q_0, q) . The maximal solution (q_0^*, q^*) lies on the public firm's reaction function before privatizing.

⁴We distinguish the reaction functions before and after privatization with the inclusion of the superscripts *B* (before) and *A* (after).





LB: SPNE before privatization, LA: SPNE after privatization, CB: Cournot eq. before privatization

Before privatization, a public firm as a Stackelberg leader maximizes social welfare by anticipating the best response of the private firms as followers. Thus, in Fig. 3.1, SPNE before privatization lies on the point that the iso-welfare curve is tangent to the private firm's reaction function. However, after privatizing, the public firm (maximizing its profit) has a different best response from that before privatizing. The iso-profit curve for a public firm is an inverted U shape, and the vertexes are always on the privatized public firm's reaction function. SPNE after privatization lies on the point that the iso-profit curve is tangent to the private firm's reaction function. It should be noted that all the upper contour sets of the iso-welfare curves and those of the iso-profit curves are convex sets. Thus, as shown by the hyperplane separation theorem (which claims that if both disjoint convex sets are open, then there is a hyperplane between them), the private firm's reaction function can always separate the iso-welfare curve in the SPNE before privatization from the iso-profit curve in the SPNE after privatization. Moreover, as social welfare increases, the corresponding iso-welfare curve is located to the upper left, but as the public firm's profit increases, the corresponding iso-profit curve is located to the lower right. Thus, social welfare after privatization can never achieve the levels reached before privatization except in the accidental case where the iso-welfare curve is tangent to the private firm's reaction function and the iso-profit curve is also tangent at the exact same point.

3.4 When a Public Firm Acts as a Stackelberg Follower

In this section, we consider the opposite case to that analyzed in Sect. 3.3.2, where a public firm acts as a Stackelberg follower before and after privatization. It is often assumed that the public firm has an advantage over private firms with regard to the

timing of output choice. However, relevant research has yet to present an economically persuasive rationale as to why the public firm must act as a Stackelberg leader. On the contrary, the possibility that the public firm acts as a Stackelberg follower might exist because it has often been pointed out that public firms have slower decision-making capabilities than private firms. Furthermore and surprisingly, it is possible that social welfare before privatization (when the public firm acts as a Stackelberg follower) is greater than that when it competes in a Cournot fashion or even when it acts as a Stackelberg leader. We will show this result in Sect. 3.5.

Therefore, in this section, we examine social welfare when a public follower firm and private leader firms engage in Stackelberg competition before and after privatization. In the next section, we look at Stackelberg competition in which the public firm is a follower. We show that social welfare is higher when the public firm is a Stackelberg follower than when the public firm is a leader or under Cournot competition.

3.4.1 Before Privatization

In the second stage before privatizing, the public firm maximizes social welfare given the output levels of private firms that have already been determined in the first stage. The first-order condition for a public firm is as follows:

$$\frac{\partial W_0}{\partial q_0} = a - Q - kq_0 = 0 \Leftrightarrow q_0 = r_0^B \left(\{q_i\}_{i=1}^n \right) \equiv \frac{a - \sum_{i=1}^n q_i}{k+1}.$$
(3.9)

Note that $\frac{\partial r_0^B}{\partial q_i} = -\frac{1}{k+1}$.

In the first stage, each private firm maximizes its profit by anticipating that the public firm's output in the second-stage subgame satisfies (3.9). The first-order condition for a private firm is as follows:

$$\frac{\partial \pi_i}{\partial q_i} = a - Q - \left(1 + \frac{\partial r_0^B}{\partial q_i}\right) q_i - kq_i = 0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow q_i = \frac{a - Q_{-(0,i)}}{k+3}, \ Q_{-(0,i)} \equiv \sum_{j \neq 0,i} q_j.$$
(3.10)

As private firms are identical, we obtain the SPNE output of private firms as follows:

$$q = \frac{a}{n+k+2}.\tag{3.11}$$

Table 3.3 SPNE beforeprivatization when a public	Public firm's output	q_0^{FB}	$\frac{(k+2)a}{(k+1)(Y+1)}$
firm acts as a follower	Private firm's output	q^{FB}	$\frac{a}{Y+1}$
	Total output	Q^{FB}	$\frac{(Y+nk+1)a}{(k+1)(Y+1)}$
	Price	p^{FB}	$\frac{k(k+2)a}{(k+1)(Y+1)}$
	Public firm's profit	π_0^{FB}	$\frac{k(k+2)^2 a^2}{2(k+1)^2 (Y+1)^2}$
	Private firm's profit	π^{FB}	$\frac{k(k+3)a^2}{2(k+1)(Y+1)^2}$
	Social welfare	W ^{FB}	$\frac{\left[(k+1)n^2 + (k+1)(k+4)n + (k+2)^2\right]a^2}{2(k+1)(Y+1)^2}$
	$(Y \equiv n + k + 1)$		

Substituting q, which is obtained in (3.11), into (3.9), we obtain the public firm's output as follows:

$$q_0 = \frac{(k+2)a}{(k+1)(n+k+2)}.$$
(3.12)

The SPNE variables when private leader firms and a public follower firm engage in Stackelberg competition before privatization are summarized in Table 3.3.

3.4.2 After Privatization

In the second stage after privatizing, the reaction function of the public firm maximizing its profit changes as follows:

$$\frac{\partial \pi_0}{\partial q_0} = a - Q - q_0 - kq_0 = 0 \Leftrightarrow q_0 = r_0^A \left(\{q_i\}_{i=1}^n \right) \equiv \frac{a - \sum_{i=1}^n q_i}{k+2}.$$
 (3.13)

Note that $\frac{\partial r_0^A}{\partial q_i} = -\frac{1}{k+2}$.

In the first stage, each private firm maximizes its profit by anticipating that the public firm's output in the second-stage subgame satisfies (3.13). The first-order condition for a private firm is as follows:

$$\frac{\partial \pi_i}{\partial q_i} = a - Q - \left(1 + \frac{\partial r_0^A}{\partial q_i}\right) q_i - kq_i = 0 \Leftrightarrow q_i = \frac{(k+1)\left(a - Q_{-(0,i)}\right)}{k^2 + 4k + 2}.$$
 (3.14)

Substituting $q_i \equiv q$ into (3.14), we obtain identical SPNE outputs for the private firms:

Table 3.4 SPNE after privatization when a public firm acts as a follower	Public firm's output	q_0^{FA}	$\frac{\left(k^2+3k+1\right)a}{(k+2)(X+n+k)}$
	Private firm's output	q^{FA}	$\frac{(k+1)a}{X+n+k}$
	Total output	Q^{FA}	$\frac{\left[n(k+1)(k+2)+(k+1)^2+k\right]a}{(k+2)(X+n+k)}$
	Price	p^{FA}	$\frac{(k+1)(k^2+3k+1)a}{(k+2)(X+n+k)}$
	Public firm's profit	π_0^{FA}	$\frac{\left(k^2 + 3k + 1\right)^2 a^2}{2(k+2)(X+n+k)^2}$
	Private firm's profit	π^{FA}	$\frac{(k+1)^2 (k^2+4k+2) a^2}{2(k+2) (X+n+k)^2}$
	Social welfare	W ^{FA}	$\frac{Va^2}{2(k+2)^2(X+n+k)^2}$

 $(X \equiv (k+1)^2 + nk,$ $V \equiv (k+1)^2(k+2)^2n^2 + (k+1)(k+1)^2(k^2 + 5k + 2)n + (k+3)(k^2 + 3k + 1)^2)$

$$q = \frac{(k+1)a}{n(k+1) + k^2 + 3k + 1}.$$
(3.15)

Substituting q into (3.13), we obtain the public firm's output as follows:

$$q_0 = \frac{(k^2 + 3k + 1)a}{(k+2)[n(k+1) + k^2 + 3k + 1]}.$$
(3.16)

The SPNE variables when a privatized public follower firm and private leader firms engage in Stackelberg competition are summarized in Table 3.4.

3.4.3 Social Welfare Comparison When a Public Firm Acts as a Follower

Now we compare social welfare in SPNE before and after privatization. From Tables 3.3 and 3.4, we provide a social welfare comparison in the following proposition.

Proposition 3.2 Consider the situation in which a public firm acts as a Stackelberg follower before and after privatization. If the number of private firms is less than 12, social welfare before privatization is higher than that after privatization irrespective of the value of the cost coefficient k. That is, if $n = \{1, 2, \dots, 11\}$, $W^{FB} \ge W^{FA} \forall k > 0$.

Proposition 3.2 suggests the possibility that privatization decreases social welfare even though the public firm acts as a Stackelberg follower, irrespective of whether privatization occurs. In particular, when the number of private firms is relatively small ($n = \{1, 2, \dots, 11\}$), privatization certainly leads to a decrease in social welfare. If a public follower firm competes with a small number of private firms, as is usually presumed in a mixed oligopoly, it is unlikely that privatization is desirable from the perspective of social welfare improvement. However, unlike the case in which a public firm behaves as a Stackelberg leader, whether privatization increases social welfare depends on the number of private firms. If the number is sufficiently large, that is, larger than 12, privatization might improve social welfare although the exact result depends on the size of the cost coefficient, k.

This proposition suggests that the result that social welfare might increase after privatization is quite limited, even in a sequential-move game in which the public firm behaves as a Stackelberg follower. Furthermore, this result is similar to that when we consider the simultaneous-move game under Cournot competition—the possibility of social welfare improving by privatizing only occurs when the number of private firms is relatively large. Thus, when Stackelberg competition occurs in a mixed oligopoly, privatization decreases social welfare in many cases (especially when there are just a few private firms in the market), irrespective of whether the public firm acts as a leader or a follower.

To explain the reason why privatizing a public follower firm decreases social welfare in a Stackelberg mixed oligopoly when the number of private firms is small, we show the reaction functions of both a public and private firm in Fig. 3.2. The reaction functions of the public firm before and after privatizing are $q_0 = r_0^B(q)$ and $q_0 = r_0^A(q)$, respectively, which satisfy (3.7) and (3.8). The inverse reaction functions are inverted as $q = \rho^B(q_0) \equiv \frac{a-(k+1)q_0}{n}$ and $q = \rho^A(q_0) \equiv \frac{a-(k+2)q_0}{n}$. The reaction function of the identical private firms, $q = r(q_0)$, is denoted by (3.2).

Fig. 3.2 SPNE before and after privatization when a public firm is a follower



FB: SPNE before privatization, *FA*: SPNE after privatization *LB*: SPNE before privatization, *CB*: Cournot eq. before privatization

The iso-welfare curve is an oval shape and the maximum social welfare is attained under positive firm outputs. The maximal solution (q_0^*, q^*) lies on the public firm's reaction function before privatizing. Before privatization, identical private firms as Stackelberg leaders maximize their profits by anticipating the best response of the public firm as a follower. The iso-profit curve for a private firm is an inverted U shape along the vertical axis, and as the iso-profit curve approaches the vertical axis, the profit becomes larger. In Fig. 3.2, the SPNE before and after privatization lies on the point that an iso-profit curve is tangent to the public firm's reaction function before privatization. In contrast, after privatizing, the public firm maximizing its profit has a different best response from that before privatizing. As the slope of the reaction function after privatization is steeper than that before privatization, the private firm can attain a larger profit after privatizing than before.

It should be noted that as the number of private firms *n* becomes larger, the slopes of the reaction functions, $q = \rho^B(q_0)$, $q = \rho^A(q_0)$, and $q = r(q_0)$, become gentler, and the oval of the iso-welfare curve becomes flatter. Under the flat oval, it is possible that the social welfare after privatization is higher than that before privatization. However, when the iso-welfare oval is vertical, social welfare before privatization exceeds that after privatization.

3.5 Social Welfare Comparison Before Privatization

We compare social welfare before privatizing in the following three cases. The timing of output choice by the public firm and the private firms differs in each scenario. First, we consider the case where the public firm and private firms engage in Cournot competition. The reaction functions of the public firm and private firms, $q_0 = r_0^B(q_0)$ and $q = r(q_0)$, were presented earlier in (3.7) and (3.2) in Sect. 3.3, and as such we obtain the Cournot equilibrium outputs by solving the simultaneous equations (3.7) and (3.2) with respect to (q_0, q) . We summarize the Cournot equilibrium variables in Table 3.5.

Table 3.5 Cournot equilibrium before privatization			
	Public firm's output	q_0^{CB}	$\frac{(k+1)a}{X}$
	Private firm's output	q^{CB}	ka X
	Total output	Q^{CB}	$\frac{(nk+k+1)a}{X}$
	Price	p^{CB}	$\frac{k(k+1)a}{X}$
	Public firm's profit	π_0^{CB}	$\frac{k(k+1)^2a^2}{2X^2}$
	Private firm's profit	π^{CB}	$\frac{k^2(k+2)a^2}{2X^2}$
	Social welfare	W^{CB}	$\frac{\left[(k+1)^3 + nk\left(nk+k^2+4k+2\right)\right]a^2}{2k^2}$
		I	2X2
	2		

 $(X \equiv (k+1)^2 + nk)$

The SPNE before privatization with a public firm as a leader (follower) is shown above in Sect. 3.3.1 (Sect. 3.4.1). We compare the three kinds of social welfare in Cournot competition and two Stackelberg competition scenarios when the public firm is a leader or follower to obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 3.3 Compare social welfare before privatization when the public firm engages in Cournot competition and when it acts as a Stackelberg leader or follower. Social welfare before privatization when the public firm is a follower is higher than when it is a leader, and it is higher than when it faces Cournot competition. These results are satisfied irrespective of the number of private firms. That is, $W^{FB} > W^{LB} > W^{CB} \forall n \ge 1$.

In Proposition 3.3, it is perhaps surprising that when a public firm behaves as a follower, social welfare is higher than when it behaves as a leader. The reason why a public follower is preferred to a public leader from the viewpoint of social welfare is as follows: provided that all firms have quadratic cost functions, the difference in production between a public firm and private firms brings about production inefficiency. As the public firm usually produces more than private firms to enhance the consumer surplus, its production costs, which are higher than that of private firms, increase the total production costs and decrease the welfare. When the public firm is a follower, private firms reduces the public firm's output under strategic substitutes. The excess supply by the public firm is inhibited and leads to improved social welfare. See also Fig. 3.2, where $W^{FB} > W^{LB} > W^{CB}$ is confirmed in the iso-welfare curves.

As is usually expected, the public firm as a Stackelberg leader acquires a firstmover advantage by moving from the simultaneous choice of output to the firstmover choice. In this sense, it is appropriate that the existing literature assumes the public firm is the first mover. However, within mixed oligopolistic competition, unlike pure competition between private firms, the public firm as the Stackelberg follower can acquire higher social welfare than when it is the leader. The result that the public firm can enjoy the second-mover advantage is quite counterintuitive. The reason why this result arises is that the second-mover welfare maximizer is better at adjusting total quantity by observing the outputs of the first-mover private firms. Therefore, the result of Proposition 3.3 justifies our setting in which the public firm becomes a Stackelberg follower.

Thus, the difference in the results of Propositions 3.1 and 3.2 can be explained by the difference in advantageous moves before and after privatization. Before privatization, as shown in Proposition 3.3, there exists a second-mover advantage for the public firm. However, after privatization, pure private competition starts, and the public firm as a second mover loses its advantageous position because a first-mover advantage exists in quantity competition between profit-maximizing firms. When there are relatively few private firms in the market, the welfare loss associated with the loss of second-mover advantage becomes large.

3.6 Concluding Remarks

In this chapter, we extended the results of De Fraja and Delbono (1989) to the sequential-move game between a public firm and private firms before and after privatization, and we obtained some additional and novel results. We demonstrated that in many cases, privatization does not improve social welfare. We first showed that when a public firm acts as a Stackelberg leader before and also after privatization, privatization never improves social welfare (Proposition 3.1). Second, we demonstrated that even when a public firm remains a Stackelberg follower before and after privatization, welfare deterioration occurs with privatization if the number of private firms is relatively small (Proposition 3.2). Third, comparing social welfare before privatization when a public firm engages in Cournot competition and when it acts as a Stackelberg leader or a follower, we clarify that social welfare before privatization when the public firm is a follower is higher than when it is a leader, and it is higher than when it faces Cournot competition (Proposition 3.3).

Our results suggest that the possibility of improving social welfare by privatization might be more restricted than previously indicated in earlier studies, which emphasized the positive effect of privatization on social welfare in mixed oligopolistic Cournot competition. Thus, our results are partially compatible with the fact that there are still many public firms that have not been privatized in various countries around the world, including in developed capitalist countries. The existence of public firms can be justified if the transition to privatization brings about lower social welfare in mixed oligopolistic markets.

Finally, we conclude our chapter by discussing possible extensions. We did not consider the endogenization of the timing of output choice by firms in our study. There is a strong relation between a firm's timing of the decision-making and the firm's objective. If the public firm has a second-mover advantage and the private firms have a first-mover advantage, Stackelberg competition in which the public firm is a follower and private firms are the leader would be chosen endogenously. Therefore, future research should investigate the endogenized timing of output choice within a mixed oligopoly framework.

Acknowledgments This study was supported in part by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (KAKENHI, grant no. 16K03615 and 16H03612) from Japan Society for the Promotion of Science. The usual disclaimer applies.

Appendix

A.3.1 Proof of Proposition 3.1

By simple calculation, the following equation is satisfied:

$$\begin{split} W^{LB} &\geq W^{LA} \Leftrightarrow \frac{X + nk(Y+1)}{X + kY^2} \geq \frac{nX^2(Y+1) + 2(k+1)XY^2 + (1-k)(1+k)^2Y^2}{(X+k+1)^2Y^2} \\ &\Leftrightarrow (X+k+1)^2Y^2[X + nk(Y+1)](X+kY^2) \\ &\times \Big[nX^2(Y+1) + 2XY^2(k+1)(1-k)(k+1)^2Y^2\Big] \geq 0 \\ &\Leftrightarrow \Big[(k+1)^3 - n^2k\Big]^2 \geq 0. \text{ The equality holds only when } n = \Big(\frac{(k+1)^3}{k}\Big)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

A.3.2 Proof of Proposition 3.2

By direct calculation, the following relationship is satisfied: $W^{FB} \gtrless W^{FA} \Leftrightarrow$

$$\frac{(k+1)n^2 + (k+1)(k+4)n + (k+2)^2}{(k+1)(Y+1)^2}$$

$$\geq \frac{(k+1)^2(k+2)^2n^2 + (k+1)(k+2)^2(k^2+5k+2)n + (k+3)(k^2+3k+1)^2}{(k+2)^2(X+n+k)^2}$$

 $\Leftrightarrow D(n,k) \equiv (k+1)(k^3 + 2k^2 - k - 1)n^2 - (k+1)(k+2)(3k^2 + 8k + 2)n - (k+2)^2$ $(k^2+3k+1)^2 \leq 0.$ k⁺ denotes the positive real-valued solution of the cubic equation, $f(k) \equiv k^3 + 2k^2 - k - 1 = 0$, which is approximately 0.8019. When $k = k^+$, because $f(k^+) = 0$ holds, $D(n,k^+)$ is a linear function of n and $D(n,k^+) = -52.23n - 128.71 < 0 \forall n$. Thus, when $k = k^+$, it is necessarily satisfied that $W^{FB} > W^{FA}$. When $k \neq k^+$, i.e., $f(k) \neq 0$, D(n,k) is a quadratic equation of n. Denote two solutions of D(n,k) = 0 with respect to n as $n^+(k)$ and $n^-(k)$, where $n^{+}(k) > n^{-}(k)$.⁵ Note that $n^{-}(k) < 0$ for all k > 0. As f(k) < 0 holds when $k \in (0, k^{+})$. D(n,k) is a quadratic function of n in which the coefficient of the square of n is negative and $n^+(k) < 0$ also holds. Thus, when $k \in (0, k^+)$, D(n, k) is always negative for all n > 0 and $W^{FB} > W^{FA}$ holds. However, as f(k) > 0 holds when $k > k^+$, D(n,k)is a quadratic function of *n* in which the coefficient of the square of *n* is positive and $n^+(k) > 0$ holds. In this case, if $n \in (0, n^+(k))$, D(n, k) is negative and as a result, $W^{FB} > W^{FA}$ is satisfied; if $n > n^+(k)$, D(n,k) > 0 and $W^{FB} < W^{FA}$ is possible to occur. Note that $n^+(k)$ has the minimum value when $k > k^+$. When $k = k^{\min} \approx 3.489$, the

$${}^{5}n^{+}(k) \equiv \frac{(k+1)(k+2)\left(3k^{2}+8k+2\right)+\sqrt{Z(k)}}{2(k+1)\left(k^{3}+2k^{2}-k-1\right)} \text{ and } n^{-}(k) \equiv \frac{(k+1)(k+2)\left(3k^{2}+8k+2\right)-\sqrt{Z(k)}}{2(k+1)\left(k^{3}+2k^{2}-k-1\right)}, \text{ where } Z(k) \equiv (k+1)^{2} (k+2)^{2} \left(3k^{2}+8k+2\right)^{2}+4(k+1)\left(k^{3}+2k^{2}-k-1\right)(k+2)^{2} \left(k^{2}+3k+1\right)^{2}.$$

minimum value is $n^{+\min} \equiv n^+(k^{\min}) \approx 11.216$. Therefore, for all values of k, if $n = \{1, 2, \dots, 11\}$, it is necessarily satisfied that D(n,k) is negative, that is, $W^{FB} > W^{FA}$. When $n \ge 12$, $W^{FB} > W^{FA}$ if $n < n^+(k)$ and otherwise vice versa.

A.3.3 Proof of Proposition 3.3

By direct calculation, the following equations are satisfied: $W^{FB} > W^{LB}$ $\Leftrightarrow \frac{(k+1)n^2 + (k+1)(k+4)n + (k+2)^2}{(k+1)(Y+1)^2} > \frac{X+nk(Y+1)}{X+kY^2} \Leftrightarrow nk(n+2k+3) > 0 \text{ and } W^{LB} > W^{CB}$ $\Leftrightarrow \frac{X+nk(Y+1)}{X+kY^2} > \frac{(k+1)^3 + nk(nk+k^2+4k+2)}{X^2} \Leftrightarrow n^2k^2 > 0.$

References

- Beato P, Mas-Colell A (1984) The marginal cost pricing as a regulation mechanism in mixed markets. In: Marchand MG, Pestieau P, Tulkens H (eds) The performance of public enterprises: concepts and measurement. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 81–100
- De Fraja G, Delbono F (1989) Alternative strategies of a public enterprise in oligopoly. Oxford Econ Pap 41(1):302–311
- De Fraja G, Delbono F (1990) Game theoretic models of mixed oligopoly. J Econ Surv 4(1):1-17
- Fjell K, Heywood J (2004) Mixed oligopoly, subsidization and the order of firm's moves: the relevance of privatization. Econ Lett 83(3):411–416
- Jacques A (2004) Endogenous timing in a mixed oligopoly: a forgotten equilibrium. Econ Lett 83(2):147–148
- Lu Y (2006) Endogenous timing in a mixed oligopoly with foreign competitors: the linear demand case. J Econ 88(1):49–68
- Lu Y (2007) Endogenous timing in a mixed oligopoly: another forgotten equilibrium. Econ Lett 94(2):226–227
- Matsumura T (2003a) Endogenous role in mixed markets: a two-production-period model. South Econ J 70(2):403-413
- Matsumura T (2003b) Stackelberg mixed duopoly with a foreign competitor. Bull Econ Res 55 (3):275–287
- Matsumura T, Shimizu D (2010) Privatization waves. Manch Sch 78(6):609-625
- Pal D (1998) Endogenous timing in a mixed oligopoly. Econ Lett 61(2):181-185

Chapter 4 Physical Capital Accumulation and Partial Privatization

Tsuyoshi Shinozaki, Hideya Kato, and Mitsuyoshi Yanagihara

Abstract This chapter investigates the effect of capital accumulation on partial privatization. We extend the dynamic oligopoly model proposed by Cellini and Lambertini in 1998 to a dynamic mixed oligopoly model. We show that (i) when a steady state is characterized by a demand-driven (i.e., static) equilibrium, partial privatization is adopted and the privatization ratio perfectly corresponds to the static model; (ii) when a public firm produces Ramsey output, the level of social welfare in a steady state does not depend on the privatization ratio; and (iii) when a private firm produces Ramsey output, the government adopts a full nationalization policy. The results of (ii) and (iii) are in contrast with the static result that partial privatization is optimal.

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we investigate the effect of capital accumulation on privatization. Historically, governments in developed and developing countries protected infant industries in the process of industrialization. During the eighteenth century in the United Kingdom and the United States, governments protected industries by imposing high tariffs. The Japanese government offered protection via the selling of national factories to the private sector. For example, the Tomioka silk mill, which is now registered as a world heritage site, was founded in the process of modernization and auctioned to the private sector.

The relationship between privatization and economic growth has been extensively investigated from an empirical viewpoint rather than a theoretical perspective. Plane (1997) showed that privatization increases the economic growth rate using a sample of 35 developing countries from 1988 to 1992. Mackenzie (1998)

T. Shinozaki (🖂)

Tohoku Gakuin University, Sendai, Japan e-mail: shinozaki@mail.tohoku-gakuin.ac.jp

H. Kato Ryukoku University, Kyoto, Japan

M. Yanagihara Nagoya University, Nagoya, Japan also found that the reason for the increase in economic growth rate with privatization stems from the change of the composition of government expenditure.

From a theoretical perspective, there exist numerous studies about the relationship between capital accumulation and imperfect competition using a partial equilibrium model. Cellini and Lambertini (1998) proposed a dynamic capital accumulation game in a Cournot oligopoly with capital accumulation based on a Ramsey model. They demonstrated that two types of equilibrium exist. One is a demand-driven equilibrium, which corresponds to a static equilibrium, and the other is a Ramsey golden rule equilibrium, which corresponds to a dynamic equilibrium. They also compared the steady-state level of social welfare under a social planning solution with one under a decentralized solution.

This dynamic duopoly model has been extended to various economic situations. Baldini and Lambertini (2011) analyzed the effect of a profit tax as a domestic policy, and Calzolari and Lambertini (2006) investigated whether the tariff–quota equivalence theorem holds in international economics. Each proved that static results may not survive in a dynamic situation because of the capital accumulation process.

To our knowledge, no previous study has analyzed the relationship between capital accumulation and privatization. We extend the oligopoly model proposed by Cellini and Lambertini (1998) to a mixed oligopoly model. We show the following results: (i) when a steady state is characterized by a demand-driven (i.e., static) equilibrium, partial privatization is adopted and the privatization ratio perfectly corresponds to the static model; (ii) when a public firm produces a Ramsey golden rule equilibrium, the level of social welfare in the steady state does not depend on the privatization ratio; and (iii) when a private firm produces Ramsey output, the government adopts a fully nationalized policy. The results of (ii) and (iii) are in contrast to the static result that partial privatization is optimal.

The structure of this chapter is as follows. In the next section, we construct the basic model. In Sect. 4.3, we examine the properties of dynamic optimization and a steady-state solution. Section 4.4 illustrates the dynamic optimal privatization policy, and Sect. 4.5 discusses the possibility of the expanding the model in future research.

4.2 The Model

Consider a mixed duopoly market for a single homogeneous good where private and public firms compete in a Cournot market. Time starts in period t and lasts forever, $t \in [0, \infty)$. The structure of the game is as follows. In the first stage, the government chooses the privatization ratio in the leader's position, so as to maximize social welfare, under the follower's output decision. In the second stage, each firm strategically sets its output level.

4 Physical Capital Accumulation and Partial Privatization

As in Calzolari and Lambertini (2006, 2007), we assume a linear inverse demand function in period t as

$$p_t = a - q_{0,t} - q_{1,t}, \tag{4.1}$$

where p_t , $q_{0,t}$, and $q_{1,t}$ denote the price, the quantity sold by the public firm (or, equivalently, the quantity of demand for the public firm's output), and the one sold by the private firm, respectively.

Following Cellini and Lambertini (1998), we assume that each firm i = 0, 1 accumulates capital stock, $k_{i,t}$,

$$\frac{dk_{i,t}}{dt} = f(k_{i,t}) - q_{i,t} - \delta k_{i,t},$$
(4.2)

where $\delta \in (0, 1)$ denotes the capital depreciation rate. The output, $y_{i,t}$, is produced by the production function $y_{i,t} = f(k_{i,t})$ with the properties f' > 0 and f'' < 0. Thus, excess output is reinvested into this production process.

Each firm aims to maximize the discount value of instantaneous profit. The instantaneous profit function of a private firm in period *t* is $\pi_{1,t} = p_t q_{1,t} - c_1 q_{1,t}$, where $c_i > 0$ denotes the marginal cost of the production of firm *i*. Thus, the maximization problem of the private firm is

$$\max_{q_{1,t}} \Pi_{1,t} = \int_0^\infty e^{-\rho t} \pi_{1,t} dt$$
subject to
$$\frac{dk_{1,t}}{dt} = f(k_{1,t}) - q_{1,t} - \delta k_{1,t}.$$
(4.3)

The manager of the public firm maximizes the discounted value of the weighted average of the profit of both firms in period *t*, $\pi_{0,t} = p_t q_{0,t} - c_0 q_{0,t}$, and social welfare in period *t*, $W_t = CS_t + \pi_{0,t} + \pi_{1,t}$;

$$V_{t} = \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\rho t} [(1-\theta)(CS_{t} + \pi_{0,t} + \pi_{1,t}) + \theta \pi_{0,t}] dt,$$

subject to $\frac{dk_{0,t}}{dt} = f(k_{0,t}) - q_{0,t} - \delta k_{0,t},$ (4.4)

where $CS_t = \frac{(q_{0,t}+q_{1,t})^2}{2}$ represents the consumer surplus in period *t* and θ denotes the privatization ratio. For simplicity, we include the following assumption reflecting the real situation.

Assumption 4.1: Efficiency Condition Between Private and Public Firms The productivity of the private firm is more efficient than that of the public firm: $c_0 > c_1 = 0$.

4.3 Dynamic Optimization

This section considers the intertemporal maximization problem of both firms as an open-loop strategy and derives the stability condition of the dynamic system and both outputs in a steady state.

4.3.1 The Maximization Problem of the Private Firm

The Hamiltonian of the private firm is given by

$$H_{1,t} = e^{-\rho t} \left\{ \pi_{1,t} + \lambda_{1,t} \left[f(k_{1,t}) - q_{1,t} - \delta k_{1,t} \right] \right\}$$

where $\lambda_{1,t} = \mu_{1,t}e^{\rho t}$, and $\mu_{1,t}$ denotes the costate variable of capital stock in the present value. The first-order conditions of this problem are given by

$$\frac{\partial H_{1,t}}{\partial q_{1,t}} = e^{-\rho t} \left(a - q_{0,t} - 2q_{1,t} - \lambda_{1,t} \right) = 0, \tag{4.5}$$

$$\frac{\partial \lambda_{1,t}}{\partial t} = \left[(\delta + \rho) - f'(k_{1,t}) \right] \lambda_{1,t}, \qquad (4.6)$$
$$\frac{dk_{1,t}}{dt} = f(k_{1,t}) - q_{1,t} - \delta k_{1,t},$$

$$\lim_{t\to\infty}\mu_{1,t}k_{1,t}=0$$

where (4.5) implies that if there is net marginal revenue $a - q_{0,t} - 2q_{1,t} > 0$, the value of capital stock, $\lambda_{1,t}$, should increase. From (4.5) and (4.6), the Euler equation in terms of private firms' output becomes¹

$$\frac{\partial q_{1,t}}{\partial t} = -\frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{dq_{0,t}}{dt} + [\delta + \rho - f'(k_{1,t})] \left(a - q_{0,t} - 2q_{1,t} \right) \right\}.$$
(4.7)

The dynamic reaction function of the private firm has two effects: (i) the *net* marginal revenue effect, $[\delta + \rho - f'(k_{1,t})](a - q_{0,t} - 2q_{1,t})$, and (ii) the dynamic reaction effect, $\frac{dq_{0,t}}{dt}$. The net marginal revenue effect means that when the capital level satisfies dynamic efficiency, $\delta + \rho < f'(k_{1,t})$, the private firm tends to increase its output. The dynamic reaction effect means that when the public firm increases its output in period t, $\frac{dq_{0,t}}{dt} > 0$, the output of the private firm tends to decrease because the market share decreases.

¹See Appendix A.4.1 for the derivation.

4.3.2 The Maximization Problem of the Public Firm

The Hamiltonian of the public firm is given by

$$H_{0,t} = e^{-\rho t} \{ (1-\theta)(CS_t + \pi_{0,t} + \pi_{1,t}) + \theta \pi_{0,t} + \lambda_{0,t} [f(k_{0,t}) - q_{0,t} - \delta k_{0,t}] \}$$

where $\lambda_{0,t} = \mu_{0,t}e^{\rho t}$, and $\mu_{0,t}$ denotes the costate variable of the capital stock of the public firm in the present value. The first-order conditions of this problem are

$$\frac{\partial H_t}{\partial q_{0,t}} = e^{-\rho t} \left[a - c_0 - (1+\theta)q_{0,t} - q_{1,t} - \lambda_{0,t} \right] = 0, \tag{4.8}$$

$$\frac{\partial \lambda_{0,t}}{\partial t} = [(\delta + \rho) - f'(k_{0,t})]\lambda_{0,t},$$

$$\frac{dk_{0,t}}{dt} = f(k_{1,t}) - q_{0,t} - \delta k_{0,t},$$

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \mu_{0,t} k_{0,t} = 0,$$
(4.9)

where (4.8) implies that if there is a net marginal revenue, $a - c_0 - (1 + \theta)q_{0,t} - q_{1,t} > 0$, the value of capital stock, $\lambda_{0,t}$, should increase. From (4.8) and (4.9), the Euler equation in terms of public firms' output becomes²

$$\frac{\partial q_{0,t}}{\partial t} = -\frac{1}{1+\theta} \left\{ \frac{dq_{1,t}}{dt} + [\delta + \rho - f'(k_{0,t})][a - c_0 - (1+\theta)q_{0,t} - q_{1,t}] \right\}.$$
(4.10)

This dynamic reaction function produces the same effects as the private dynamic reaction function: (i) the *net marginal revenue effect*, when the capital level satisfies dynamic efficiency, $\delta + \rho < f'(k_{0,t})$, and there exists positive (negative) net marginal revenue, $a - [q_{1,t} + (1 + \theta)q_{0,t} + c_0] > (<)0$, then the public firm tends to increase (decrease) its output and (ii) the *dynamic reaction effect*, when the public firm tends to decrease because the market share decreases.

Note that the structure of the dynamic reaction of the public firm differs from that of the private firm. The reason for this is that the public firm cares about its own profit *and* social welfare. Thus, when the private firm increases its output, the output of the public firm decreases. Moreover, we find that the change in the privatization ratio has two opposite effects: if the government adopts a low privatization ratio corresponding to the nationalization policy, then (i) the net marginal revenue effect, $\frac{dq_{0,t}}{dt}$, weakens and (ii) the dynamic reaction effect strengthens.

²See Appendix A.4.2 for the derivation.

4.3.3 Local Stability

We now investigate the stability of this dynamic system. The dynamic system comprises four equations: the capital accumulation equation of both firms (4.2) and the Euler equations of both firms (4.7) and (4.10). Noting that this system is characterized by asymmetric dynamic equations regarding the outputs and capital stock of both firms, we linearize these dynamic equations for $q_{0,t}$, $q_{1,t}$, $k_{0,t}$, and $k_{1,t}$ around the neighborhood of the steady state as follows:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \frac{dq_{0,t}}{dt} \\ \frac{dq_{1,t}}{dt} \\ \frac{dk_{0,t}}{dt} \\ \frac{dk_{0,t}}{dt} \\ \frac{dk_{0,t}}{dt} \\ \frac{dk_{1,t}}{dt} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{2(1+\theta)\{f'(k_0^*) - (\delta+\rho)\}}{1+2\theta} & -\frac{2\{f'(k_0^*) - (\delta+\rho)\}}{1+2\theta} & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{(1+\theta)\{f'(k_1^*) - (\delta+\rho)\}}{2+4\theta} & \frac{2(1+\theta)\{f'(k_1^*) - (\delta+\rho)\}}{1+2\theta} f'(k_0) - \delta & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 & f'(k_1^*) - \delta \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} q_{0,t} - q_0^* \\ q_{1,t} - q_1^* \\ k_{0,t} - k_0^* \end{bmatrix}$$

The eigenvalues of this Jacobian are given by $\zeta_1 = \frac{1}{1+2\theta} [2(\delta + \rho) - f'(k_0) - f'(k_1) - \sqrt{D}, \zeta_2 = \frac{1}{1+2\theta} [2(\delta + \rho) - f'(k_0) - f'(k_1) + \sqrt{D}, \zeta_3 = f'(k_0) - \delta > 0$ and $\zeta_4 = f'(k_1) - \delta > 0$, where $D \equiv (\delta + \rho)^2 + (1 + \theta)^2 [f'(k_0)^2 + f'(k_1)^2] - (\delta + \rho)[f'(k_0) + f'(k_1)] + f'(k_0)f'(k_1)[1 + 2\theta(2 + \theta)] > 0$. Thus, when the former two eigenvalues, ζ_1 and ζ_2 , are both negative, the steady-state equilibrium of this system is characterized by saddle-point stability. We define the steady-state variables as q_0^*, q_1^*, k_0^* , and k_1^* , satisfying $\frac{dq_{0,t}}{dt} = \frac{dq_{1,t}}{dt} = \frac{dk_{0,t}}{dt} = \frac{dk_{1,t}}{dt} = 0$. Thus, starting from a given initial level of capital stock, this dynamic system converges to the steady state along with a saddle path.

Next, we see the properties of the outputs in the steady-state equilibrium. Substituting the condition of the steady state, $\frac{dq_{0,t}}{dt} = \frac{dq_{1,t}}{dt} = \frac{dk_{0,t}}{dt} = \frac{dk_{1,t}}{dt} = 0$, into (4.7) and (4.10), we find that there are two types of equilibrium, a demand-driven equilibrium and a Ramsey equilibrium, as demonstrated by Cellini and Lambertini (1998) and Calzolari and Lambertini (2006, 2007):

$$q_0^{d,*} = \frac{a - 2c_0}{1 + \theta} \text{ or } f'(k_0^{R,*}) = \delta + \rho,$$
 (4.11)

$$q_1^{d,*} = \frac{a\theta + c_0}{1+\theta} \text{ or } f'(k_1^{R,*}) = \delta + \rho,$$
 (4.12)

where $q_i^{d,*}$ denotes the steady-state output of the demand-driven equilibrium and $f'(k_i^{R,*}) = \delta + \rho$, (i = 0, 1) determines the steady-state level of capital at the Ramsey equilibrium. The former steady-state output of the demand-driven

equilibrium has the same properties of the static Cournot equilibrium solution in a mixed oligopoly model. Furthermore, an increase in the marginal cost of the public firm, c_0 , decreases the output of the public firm and increases the output of the private firm. Regarding θ , as the privatization process progresses, $q_0^{d,*}$ decreases.

Following Calzolari and Lambertini (2006), we can confine the discussion to the two types of output where the equilibrium solution satisfies $q_i^{R,*} = f(k_i^{R,*})$ or the demand-driven equilibrium, $q_i^{d,*}$. As a result, three kinds of steady-state equilibrium emerge.

The first is the demand-driven outputs of the public and private firms, $q_0^{d,*}$ and $q_1^{d,*}$, respectively. In this case, both firms do not produce at full capacity. The second case is the Ramsey output of the public firm and the demand-driven output of the private firm, $q_0^{R,*}$ and $q_1^{d,*}$, respectively. From (4.11) and (4.12), when the marginal cost of the public firm, c_0 , is small, the equilibrium output of the public firm may reach Ramsey equilibrium, while the equilibrium output of the private firm is in the demand-driven equilibrium because the output of the private firm decreases when c_0 becomes smaller. The third case is the Ramsey output of the private firm and the demand-driven output of the public firm, $q_1^{R,*}$ and $q_0^{d,*}$, respectively, because of a larger marginal cost, c_0 . Thus, in contrast with symmetric models such as Cellini and Lambertini (1998), there exist three types of equilibrium as in Lemma 4.1.

Lemma 4.1 In the steady state satisfying the demand-driven equilibrium or Ramsey equilibrium, the set of possible solutions is $\{q_0^{d,*}, q_1^{d,*}\}, \{q_0^{R,*}, q_1^{d,*}\}, and \{q_1^{R,*}, q_0^{d,*}\}, given the privatization ratio.$

4.4 Dynamic Optimal Privatization Ratio

We now investigate the optimal privatization ratio in the steady state corresponding to the three kinds of steady-state equilibria in Lemma 4.1. The objective function of the government is assumed to be a social welfare function that is evaluated in the steady state as follows:

$$W = CS + \pi_0 + \pi_1 = \frac{(q_0 + q_1)^2}{2} + (p - c_0)q_0 + pq_1.$$
(4.13)

Thus, the government maximizes (4.13) to choose the privatization ratio, θ , for each equilibrium in the steady state.

4.4.1 Demand-Driven Equilibrium

First, we investigate the optimal privatization ratio in the demand-driven equilibrium. The steady-state output of the public and private firms are $q_0^{d,*} = \frac{a-2c_0}{1+\theta}$ and $q_1^{d,*} = \frac{a\theta+c_0}{1+\theta}$, respectively. Thus, the maximization problem becomes

$$\max_{\theta} W^{d} = \frac{a^{2}(1+\theta)(1+3\theta) + c_{0}^{2}(2+8\theta) - 2a(c_{0}+3c_{0}\theta)}{2(1+2\theta)^{2}}$$

Therefore, we can derive the optimal privatization ratio as

$$\theta^{d,*} = \frac{c_0}{a - 4c_0}.\tag{4.14}$$

This optimal privatization ratio corresponds to the outcome obtained in the static models. That is, when the marginal cost of the public firm, c_0 , increases, the government promotes privatization. Substituting (4.14) into the objective function, W^d , we get the steady-state level of social welfare under the optimal privatization ratio:

$$W^{d,\theta} = \frac{a^2 - 2ac_0 + 4c_0^2}{2}$$

The optimal outputs of the public and private firms under the optimal privatization ratio become $q_0^{d,\theta} = a - 4c_0$ and $q_1^{d,\theta} = 2c_0$, respectively. To guarantee $q_0^{d,\theta} \ge 0$, we confirm the range of the parameters, $a \ge 4c_0$. The reason why the optimal privatization level corresponds to the static result is that both firms are unable to engage in full-capacity production in the steady state. This means that capital accumulation does not affect the privatization policy. Thus, the government has to set the privatization ratio to correspond to the static policy.

4.4.2 The Ramsey Output of the Public Firm

Second, we consider the case of the Ramsey output of the public firm and the demand-driven output of the private firm. In this case, the optimal output of the public and private firms become $q_0^{R0} = f(k_0^{R,*})$ and $q_1^{R0} = \frac{a-q_0^{R0}}{2}$, where q_0^{R0} and q_1^{R0} denote the output of the public and private firms, respectively, corresponding to the Ramsey output of public firm. Using the definitions of the consumer surplus and the profits of both firms, we obtain the steady-state level of social welfare, W^{R0} , corresponding to the Ramsey output of the Ramsey output of the public firm as

$$W^{R0} = \frac{3a^2 + 2aq_0^{R0} - q_0^{R0}(8c_0 + q_0^{R0})}{8}.$$
(4.15)

We find that steady-state level of welfare does not depend on the privatization ratio. The reason for this is that the public firm is not affected by any privatization policy because the public firm produces its output at a modified golden rule, $f'(k_0^{R,*}) = \delta + \rho$. The output level is Ramsey output, that is, this output level is on the edge of the capacity of production.³

4.4.3 Ramsey Output of the Private Firm

Finally, we consider the case of the demand-driven output of the public firm and the Ramsey output of the private firm. In this case, the optimal outputs of the public and the private firms become $q_0^{R1} = \frac{a-c_0-q_1^{R0}}{1+\theta}$ and $q_1^{R0} = f(k_1^{R,*})$, respectively, corresponding to the Ramsey output of the public firm. The steady-state level of social welfare becomes

$$W^{R0} = \frac{1}{2(1+\theta)^2} \Big\{ a^2 - 2ac_0 + c_0^2 + 2c_0 q_1^{R0} + 2\theta \Big[(a-c_0)^2 + 2c_0 q_1^{R0} \Big] + \theta^2 (a-c_0) q_1^{R0} \Big\}.$$
(4.16)

Maximizing (4.16), the government sets the privatization ratio, $\theta^{R_1} = 0$. The private firm produces an efficient level of output at $q_1^{R_1}$ in the steady state. Noting that the government is a Stackelberg leader, the government can control the public firm's behavior. Therefore, if the government adopts a full nationalization policy, $\theta^{R_1} = 0$, the public firm maximizes social welfare in the steady state.

The relationship between the level of social welfare in the steady state and the privatization ratio is depicted in Fig. 4.1, where we adopt a Cobb–Douglas production function, $q_1 = Ak_1^{\alpha}$. When the government adopts a full nationalization policy, consumer surplus is maximized and the profits of the private and public firms are minimized as in Fig. 4.2.⁴ The level of consumer surplus and the profits of the private and public firms under a full nationalization policy are, respectively,

 $^{^{3}}$ Of course, the public and private firms' output on the transitional path is affected by the privatization policy in (4.7) and (4.10).

⁴The parameter $c_0 = \frac{1}{30}, \delta = \frac{1}{7}, \rho = \frac{1}{8}, a = 12$ is used in Lambertini and Palestini (2009) and $A = 1, \alpha = \frac{1}{3}$ is used in Weil (2009). A is set to 1 for analytical convenience.



$$CS^{R0} = \frac{(a-c_0)^2}{8}, \ \pi^{R0} = 0, \ \text{and} \ \pi^{R0} = c_0 q_1^{R1},$$

The above discussion can be summarized as follows:

Proposition 4.1

In a dynamic mixed oligopoly model:

- (i) When the public and private firms produce demand-driven (i.e., static) outputs, the government adopts a partial privatization policy.
- (ii) When the public firm produces Ramsey output, the steady-state level of social welfare does not depend on the privatization ratio.
- (iii) When the private firm produces Ramsey output, the government adopts a full nationalization policy, $\theta^{R1} = 0$.

4.5 Discussion and Remaining Issues

In this chapter, we investigated the effect of capital accumulation on partial privatization. We found three main results. First, when a steady state is characterized by a demand-driven equilibrium, partial privatization is adopted and the privatization ratio corresponds to the static model. Second, when a public firm produces Ramsey output, the level of social welfare in a steady state does not depend on the privatization ratio. Third, when a private firm produces Ramsey output, the government adopts a full nationalization policy.

We now discuss the possibility of extending this model to various types of dynamic effects. First, we consider another kind of capital accumulation. Calzolari and Lambertini (2006, 2007) used the following dynamic equation of capital:

$$\frac{dk_{i,t}}{dt} = I_{i,t} - \delta k_{i,t},$$

where $I_{i,t}$ is the investment carried out by the firms in period *t*. This capital accumulation equation is referred to as a Nerlove and Arrow capital accumulation. In this case, even though the output converges to a demand-driven one, it may depend on the capital accumulation level. Therefore, the optimal privatization ratio obtained in this dynamic model also differs from the one derived by a static model.

Second, we should investigate the properties of the dynamic path under the optimal privatization ratio. In this chapter, we only focused on the properties of the privatization policy in a steady state. However, the dynamic path of the optimal privatization ratio may have important implications for economic policy in developing countries.

Third, we could also consider the dynamic general equilibrium model as shown in Futagami et al. (2011). If we analyze the optimal privatization problem within a general equilibrium framework, the implications of the optimal privatization ratio change because the economic agent should always satisfy the modified golden rule. Thus, there is scope for further research. These problems concerning the effect of the dynamics in a mixed oligopoly can be developed further.

Appendix

A.4.1 Derivation of the Reaction Function of Private Firms

From (4.5), the optimal reaction function, $q_{1,t}^r$, becomes

$$q_{1,t}^r = \frac{a - q_{0,t}^r - c_0 - \lambda_{1,t}}{2}.$$
 (A4.1)

Differentiating (A4.1) with respect to time, we obtain $\frac{dq_{1,t}^r}{dt} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{dq_{0,t}^r}{dt} + \frac{d\lambda_{1,t}}{dt} \right).$

Substituting (4.6) into this, we obtain $\frac{dq_{1,t}^r}{dt} = -\frac{1}{2} \left\{ \frac{dq_{0,t}^r}{dt} + \lambda_{1,t} [\delta + \rho - f'(k_{1,t})] \right\}.$ Using $\lambda_{1,t} = a - q_{0,t}^r - 2q_{1,t}^r - c_0$, we obtain (4.7).

A.4.2 Derivation of the Reaction Function of the Public Firm

From (4.8), an optimal reaction function becomes

$$q_{0,t}^{r} = \frac{a - q_{1,t}^{r} - c_{0} - \lambda_{1,t}}{1 + \theta}.$$
(A4.2)

Differentiating (A4.2) with respect to time, we obtain $\frac{dq_{0,t}^r}{dt} = -\frac{1}{1+\theta} \left(\frac{dq_{1,t}^r}{dt} + \frac{d\lambda_{0,t}}{dt} \right)$. Substituting (4.9) into this, we obtain $\frac{dq_{0,t}^r}{dt} = -\frac{1}{1+\theta} \left\{ \frac{dq_{1,t}^r}{dt} + \lambda_{0,t} [\delta + \rho - f'(k_{0,t})] \right\}$. Using $\lambda_{1,t} = a - (1+\theta)q_{0,t}^r - q_{1,t}^r - c_0$, we obtain (4.10).

References

- Baldini M, Lambertini L (2011) Profit taxation and capital accumulation in a dynamic oligopoly model. Jpn World Econ 23(1):13–18
- Cellini R, Lambertini L (1998) A dynamic model of differentiated oligopoly with capital accumulation. J Econ Theory 83(1):145–155
- Calzolari G, Lambertini L (2006) Tariffs vs quotas in a trade model with capital accumulation. Rev Int Econ 14(4):632–644
- Calzolari G, Lambertini L (2007) Export restraints in a model of trade with capital accumulation. J Econ Dyn Control 31(12):3822–3842
- Futagami K, Iwaisako T, Okamura M (2011) Welfare analysis of free entry in a dynamic general equilibrium model. Osaka University, Graduate School of Economics and Osaka School of International Public Policy (OSIPP) Discussion Papers in Economics and Business 11–20
- Lambertini L, Palestini A (2009) Dynamic advertising with spillovers: cartel vs competitive fringe. Optim Contr Appl Met 30(6):562–572
- Mackenzie A (1998) The macroeconomic impact of privatization. IMF Staff Pap 45(2):363–373

Plane P (1997) Privatization and economic growth: an empirical investigation from a sample of developing market economies. Appl Econ 29(2):161–178

Weil D (2009) Economic growth, 2nd edn. Pearson Education, Boston

Chapter 5 International Mixed Oligopoly

Tsuyoshi Shinozaki, Minoru Kunizaki, and Kazuyuki Nakamura

Abstract This chapter outlines the basic properties of an international mixed oligopoly and considers the policy implications of privatization in the context of a strategic trade policy. We show here that the government sets a low level of privatization to reduce the profit of foreign firms in a non-corporative equilibrium. In a free-entry equilibrium, the number of private firms affects the degree of privatization in an international mixed oligopoly model. We present the complimentary relationship between import tariffs and the degree of privatization. Furthermore, we consider a corporative privatization policy. Regarding a non-corporative equilibrium, a higher degree of privatization in both countries improves global welfare.

5.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we illustrate the basic properties of an international mixed oligopoly and consider the policy implications of privatization in the context of a strategic trade policy. There are numerous studies on privatization policies in an international oligopoly. For example, Fjell and Pal (1996) and Pal and White (1998) considered the welfare effects of privatization, comparing a fully nationalized firm with a fully privatized firm. They showed that the privatization of public firms improves welfare when the government optimally sets the production subsidy. In a domestic context, Matsumura (1998) and Matsumura and Kanda (2005) extended the mixed oligopoly, which can accommodate full privatization and nationalization, to a partial mixed oligopoly problem. In that case, the government seeks to maximize social welfare by sharing the ownership of the relevant firm with the private sector.

T. Shinozaki (🖂)

Tohoku Gakuin University, Sendai, Japan e-mail: shinozaki@mail.tohoku-gakuin.ac.jp

M. Kunizaki Faculty of Economics, Aichi University, Nagoya, Japan

K. Nakamura University of Toyama, Toyama, Japan

In an international context, the partial privatization model can also include a strategic trade policy problem. For example, Chao and Yu (2006) considered the relationship between a strategic trade policy and partial privatization. In such models, the public firm is a strategic policy instrument for trade protection because it slows the outflow of foreign profit. However, it is recognized that a fully nationalized firm is not satisfied with simply maximizing social welfare, representing the possibility of establishing a partially nationalized or partially privatized firm.

The partial privatization model is also applied to policy harmonization in a two-country mixed oligopoly. Han and Ogawa (2008) considered overnationalization stemming from a strategic policy game between two countries. They suggested that the corporative setting of privatization in both countries leads to higher welfare than a non-corporative equilibrium.

In this chapter, we summarize the basic results of previous studies on international mixed oligopolies and consider various policy implications of privatization. We present the relationship between a strategic trade policy (i.e., an import tariff) and the degree of privatization. We also develop an integrated explanation of a corporative privatization policy in the two-country mixed oligopoly model.

This chapter is organized as follows. Section 5.2 presents a simple international mixed oligopoly model comprising a public firm, n domestic private firms and mforeign private firms. We show that the fully nationalized firm is more aggressive than in a domestic-mixed oligopoly case. This results in friction and validates partial privatization. We also consider a free-entry equilibrium in comparison with a regulated market equilibrium where the number of firms is fixed. Section 5.3introduces import tariffs as a strategic policy instrument in a mixed oligopolistic market. We consider how the level of the import tariff affects the degree of privatization if the government can control both policy instruments. We also show that the degree of privatization is determined by the import tariff rate and that the public firm is overnationalized (undernationalized) if the tariff rate is set lower (higher) than the optimal tariff rate. Section 5.4 examines in detail a corporative privatization policy in a two-country mixed oligopoly. We try to develop a synthetic explanation of this problem and consider both integrated and segmented international markets. We show that the public firm is always overnationalized in a non-corporative equilibrium, whether the market is integrated or segmented. Section 5.5 summarizes the main results of the chapter and discusses future research directions.

5.2 The Model

Consider a domestic industry consisting of *n* domestic private firms, *m* foreign private firms, and one domestic public firm producing a homogeneous good. The output of the domestic private firm is denoted by $q_{d,i}$, $i = 1 \cdots n$, the output of the foreign private firm is denoted by $q_{f,j}$, $j = 1 \cdots m$, and that of the domestic public

5 International Mixed Oligopoly

firm is denoted by q_0 . Total output is $Q = q_0 + \sum_{i=1}^n q_{d,i} + \sum_{j=1}^m q_{f,j}$. The consumer's utility can be written as U = G(Q) + X, where X is the consumption of perfect competitive goods served as a numeraire and G(Q) is the subutility, which is assumed to be strictly concave. The consumer maximizes the utility subject to a budget constraint M = pQ + X, where M is income taken as given and p denotes the consumer price of Q. Thus, the inverse demand function is described as p(Q) = G'(Q).

The profit of the domestic private firms, $\pi_{d,i}$, and the foreign firms, $\pi_{f,i}$, can be written as follows:

$$\pi_{d,i} = p(Q)q_{d,i} - c(q_{d,i}), \quad i = 1 \cdots n,$$
(5.1)

$$\pi_{f,j} = p(Q)q_{f,j} - c(q_{f,j}), \ j = 1 \cdots m,$$
(5.2)

where $c(\cdot)$ is the common cost function of the private firms. We assume here that all private firms have the same cost function. The public firm also produces goods with the same cost function, $c(q_0)$. The profit of the public firm, π_0 , is denoted by

$$\pi_0 = p(Q)q_0 - c(q_0). \tag{5.3}$$

The social welfare of the domestic country, W, is written as follows:

$$W = G(Q) - \sum_{i=0}^{n} c(q_{d,i}) - p(Q) \sum_{j=1}^{m} q_{f,j}.$$
(5.4)

We consider a private Cournot–Nash game among private firms with the given output of the public firm. Each private firm chooses its output to maximize its profit. The first-order conditions are represented by

$$p(Q) + p'(Q)q_{d,i} - c'(q_{d,i}) = 0, \quad i = 1 \cdots n,$$
(5.5)

$$p(Q) + p'(Q)q_{f,j} - c'(q_{f,j}) = 0, \ j = 1 \cdots m.$$
 (5.6)

Here, (5.5) and (5.6) mean MR = MC. Because all private firms are identical, the output level of each private firm, $q = q_{d,i} = q_{f,j}$, can be obtained as

$$q = q(\widetilde{n}, q_0), \quad \widetilde{n} = n + m, \tag{5.7}$$

$$\frac{\partial q}{\partial q_0} = -\frac{1}{\widetilde{n}+g} < 0, \ \frac{\partial q}{\partial \widetilde{n}} = -\frac{q}{\widetilde{n}+g} < 0,$$
(5.8)

where $g = \frac{p'-c''}{p'+p''q}$. We assume g is positive. This condition ensures the stability of the private oligopoly market as a given output of the public firm.¹ In (5.8), $\frac{\partial q}{\partial q_0} < 0$

¹A similar condition is imposed in Seade (1980).

and $\frac{\partial q}{\partial n} < 0$ imply that the reaction function of the private firm has a negative slope with respect to the output of the public firm and the number of private firms.

5.2.1 Partial Privatization in a Regulated Market

We now consider the output level of the public firm. If the firm is fully privatized, the public firm maximizes its own profit (5.3). The first-order condition of the firm must be equal to that of the private firm:

$$p + p'q_0 - c'(q_0) = 0. (5.9)$$

If the public firm is fully nationalized, the public firm maximizes domestic social welfare (5.4). In this case, the first-order condition is changed as follows:

$$G' - c'(q_0) - mp'q = p - c'(q_0) - mp'q = 0,$$
(5.10)

where $p < c'(q_0)$. As we saw, the output of the public firm under full privatization is the same as that in a pure private oligopoly. In contrast, full nationalization brings about an aggressive output that exceeds the marginal cost pricing level. This implies that the public firm protects the outflow of foreign firms' profits.

To determine whether full privatization or full nationalization maximizes social welfare defined as (5.4), we derive the first-order condition of the public firm's socially optimal level of output as follows:

$$[p - c'(q_0) - mp'q] - p'q(n + \widetilde{n}m)\frac{\partial q}{\partial q_0} = 0, \qquad (5.11)$$

where $\frac{\partial q}{\partial q_0} < 0$. The terms in the squared bracket of (5.11), $p - c'(q_0) - mp'q$, must be positive because the latter terms, $-p'q(n + \tilde{n}m)\frac{\partial q}{\partial q_0}$, are negative. This means that the output level of the public firm is larger than that of the private firms, as the marginal cost is lower than the marginal revenue. However, the optimal output level is not larger than that under full nationalization. This tells us that full privatization or nationalization does not achieve social welfare maximization. Therefore, the government can change the privatization level to bring the public firm's output to the optimum level.

The optimal condition (5.11) must satisfy the following relation:

5 International Mixed Oligopoly

$$p - c'(q_0) \lessgtr 0 \Leftarrow gm - n \gtrless 0. \tag{5.12}$$

If the number of foreign firms, *m*, is large, the public firm produces a higher level of output to reduce the share of the foreign firms. In contrast, if the number of domestic firms, *n*, is sufficiently larger than the number of foreign firms, the output level of the public firm is less aggressive when its output does not exceed the marginal cost pricing level, $p = c'(q_0)p = c'(q_0)$. The optimal output level is lower than the output in the case of full nationalization.

If the government intervenes in the public firm via a share of ownership, the optimization problem of the public firm becomes

$$q_0^* = \operatorname{argmax} \theta \pi_0 + (1 - \theta) W,$$

where θ represents the share of government ownership in the public firm. If θ is equal to zero (unity), the government fully nationalizes (privatizes) the public firm. When the government can control the output level by setting θ , the first-order condition of public firm is as follows:

$$[p - c'(q_0) - mp'q] + \theta[p'q_0 + mp'q] = 0.$$
(5.13)

The former terms in the squared bracket, $p - c'(q_0) - mp'q$, must be positive, because the latter terms, $\theta[p'q_0 + mp'q]$, are always negative when $0 < \theta \le 1$. This means that the partially privatized firm produces an intermediate level of output between full privatization and full nationalization. Therefore, the government can achieve the optimal welfare level by setting the privatization level as

$$\theta^* = \frac{(n + \widetilde{n}m)}{\left(\frac{q_0}{q} + m\right)(\widetilde{n} + g)}.$$
(5.14)

It is obvious that the privatization ratio reaches the same level as in a domesticmixed oligopoly case if there are no foreign firms. Thus, partial privatization can be interpreted as the government achieving a Stackelberg leader solution to change the ownership share of the public firm.²

From the above discussion, we summarize that, first, full nationalization is too aggressive compared with partial privatization and, second, partial privatization is preferable if the government can control the output of the public firm via an ownership share in the public firm. In Chap. 1 on domestic-mixed oligopolies, it was shown that the free-entry equilibrium presents an alternative scenario in the privatization problem in which full nationalization is supported. We now examine a similar situation where firms have free entry into an international mixed oligopoly.

² Unfortunately, in the present study, we were unable to derive the relative difference of privatization levels between domestic and international cases.

5.2.2 Partial Privatization in a Free-Entry Equilibrium

To consider the number of firms, including domestic and foreign firms, we impose an additional assumption: domestic firms and foreign firms both have free entry into the market. Under this assumption, there are two cases; that is, $d\tilde{n} = dn$ or $d\tilde{n} = dm$ at $\pi = 0$. In both cases, the optimal solution of the public firm's output is as follows:

$$p - c'(q_0) = 0. (5.15)$$

This is a familiar marginal cost pricing setting. That is, a fully privatized firm and a nationalized firm cannot set the same level from (5.9) and (5.10). In this case, the government is only concerned with the level of the consumer surplus because the profit of the foreign firms is always zero at the free-entry equilibrium.

5.2.3 Excess Entry and Privatization

At the free-entry equilibrium, the public firm just concentrates on the output to achieve the marginal cost pricing level. However, does the number of firms exceed the optimal level? Matsumura and Kanda (2005) showed that the number of firms always exceeds the social optimal level at the free-entry equilibrium in a closed economy. This is similar to the excess entry theorem of Mankiw and Winston (1986) and Suzumura and Kiyono (1987).

In our model, if only the new entry of the domestic firm is allowed, there is the possibility of excess entry of private firms. There are two procedures for examining the excess entry problem. One directly evaluates social welfare and the number of firms, as used by Matsumura and Kanda (2005). The other uses an entry tax on private firms and evaluates the sign of the optimal entry tax. If the entry tax does not affect social welfare, the number of private firms does not exceed the optimal level. However, an excessive entry of firms occurs when the optimal entry tax becomes positive. We use the second procedure to evaluate the excessive entry problem.

We assume that the government imposes an entry tax, such as a lump sum tax, T, on existing firms in the market. In this case, the first-order condition of profit maximization does not change by the introduction of the entry tax. However, the profit level becomes lower, which leads to a decrease in the number of private firms. We describe these properties as follows:

$$\pi = pq - c(q) - T = 0. \tag{5.16}$$

From (5.16), we can solve the number of firms $\tilde{n}^* = \tilde{n}^*(q_0, T)$. Comparative statistics gives us

5 International Mixed Oligopoly

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial \widetilde{n}^*}{\partial q_0} &= -\frac{1}{q},\\ \frac{\partial \widetilde{n}^*}{\partial T} &= \frac{\widetilde{n}^* + g}{p' q^2 (1+g)} < 0,\\ \frac{dq}{dT} &= -\frac{1}{p' q (1+g)} > 0 \;, \end{split}$$

and

$$\frac{dQ}{dT} = \frac{k}{p'q(1+g)} < 0.$$

5.2.4 Optimal Entry Tax

We now turn to the optimal output of the public firm and the optimal entry tax. The social welfare function is equal to gross benefit minus total production cost:

$$W = G(Q) - c(q_0) - nc(q_d) - mpq_f + mT = G(Q) - c(q_0) - \tilde{n}^* c(q).$$
(5.17)

The optimal conditions of output and entry tax are written as follows:

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial q_0} = p - \frac{T}{q} - c'(q_0) = 0, \qquad (5.18)$$

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial T} = T \frac{\partial \tilde{n}^*}{\partial T} - \tilde{n}^* p' q \frac{\partial q}{\partial T} = 0, \qquad (5.19)$$

$$\theta^* = \frac{\widetilde{n}^* m + \widetilde{n}^* + gm}{(\widetilde{n}^* + g)\left(m + \frac{q_0}{q}\right)} \in (0, 1), \text{ and } T^* = -\frac{\widetilde{n}^* p' q^2}{\widetilde{n}^* + g} > 0.$$
(5.20)

The first-order condition of the public firm, (5.18), is modified from the marginal cost pricing level. As a result, the optimal entry tax becomes positive and reduces the number of private firms. Then the free-entry equilibrium without entry tax has an inefficient number of private firms. Under a positive entry tax, the public firm is privatized to a higher level to reduce its output rather than the marginal cost pricing level, as each private firm produces a higher output because of the entry tax. A fully nationalized firm must satisfy the output level of the marginal cost pricing level. However, (5.18) requires less output than the marginal cost pricing level. Thus, the government should privatize rather than fully nationalize. When the government
has two policy instruments, θ and *T*, the first-best solution can be achieved by controlling the number of firms and the output of the public firm.

5.3 Strategic Trade Policy and Privatization

In the previous section, foreign firms do not receive differential treatment from the domestic government. Thus, the foreign firm is only affected by the privatization policy. In reality, most foreign firms face differential treatment in the market. For example, the foreign firm exports their goods to the home country, and the domestic government imposes an import tariff on the goods of the foreign firms. Within the strategic trade policy problem, governments typically use a tariff to protect their own domestic market. A number of studies examine strategic trade policies in an international mixed oligopoly.

Chao and Yu (2006) showed the relationship between tariffs and the degree of privatization by changing the number of foreign firms. They demonstrated that the optimal tariff rate is lower at a low level of privatization and a large number of foreign firms. Lee et al. (2013) showed the optimal combination of tariff rate and degree of privatization. They illustrated that the optimal degree of privatization has a positive relation with the tariff rate and that a tariff rate reduction results in a lower level of privatization. Wang et al. (2014) considered a strategic trade policy in a free-entry equilibrium. They found that the privatization level and tariff rate at a free-entry equilibrium are lower than a short-run equilibrium.

The above studies highlighted the positive relation between the optimal tariff and degree of privatization. Thus, if the government uses a tariff rate as a protection against import levels, the tariff causes a weak incentive to nationalize public firms to intervene in the output of foreign firms. In this section, we describe such a relation between privatization and a strategic trade policy by referring to previous research.

We can then determine the effect of the import tariff on private firms. For simplicity, we assume a linear demand function, p = a - bQ, and a quadratic cost function, $c(q) = f + \frac{kq^2}{2}$ where *a*, *b*, *f*, and k > 0. Because the tariff, t > 0, is only imposed on the output of foreign firms, the profit function and the first-order condition of the foreign firm change as follows:³

³ The output of the private firms is obtained as follows:

$$\pi_f = pq_f - f - \frac{kq_f^2}{2} - tq_f,$$

$$p + p'q_f - kq_f - t = 0.$$

When the public firm is fully privatized, the profit function and the first-order condition are the same as for the domestic private firms. When the public firm is fully or partially nationalized, its objective function must change. Social welfare now includes tariff revenue, such as

$$W(n, m, t, q_0) = G(Q) - pQ + \pi_0 + n\pi_d + tmq_f = G(Q) - c(q_0) - nc(q_d) - mpq_f + tmq_f.$$

Differentiating social welfare of the domestic country by q_0 ,

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial q_0} = \left[p - kq_0 + mbq_f \right] + \left[n(p - kq_d) + mbq_f \right] \frac{\partial q_d}{\partial q_0} + mt \frac{\partial q_f}{\partial q_0} = 0.$$
(5.21)

If the tariff rate is zero, as we have already mentioned in the previous section, the optimal degree of nationalization is less than one. Therefore, imposing a tariff rate reduces (increases) the degree of nationalization (privatization). In this first-order condition (5.21), as the third term, $mt \frac{\partial q_f}{\partial q_0}$, is negative with a positive tariff rate, the output level of the public firm is lower than if the tariff is not imposed. Therefore, the import tariff stimulates privatization. A detailed discussion of optimal tariff and domestic taxes is given in Chap. 6.

5.4 Harmonization Problem

We now turn to the harmonization policy between the two countries. From the above discussion, each country sets underprivatization within a strategic privatization policy. Han and Ogawa (2008) considered this problem with a symmetric integrated market. They found that coordinated privatization brings Pareto improvement to both countries. As mentioned, domestic and foreign governments always try to prevent the erosion of profits from their own countries. Therefore, both governments choose underprivatization. We will next investigate in which direction a harmonization policy improves the welfare of both countries. Thus, we compare two cases: a segmented market and an integrated market. In this section, we show that in the symmetric case, the welfare of both countries always improves if both countries coordinate to achieve a higher level of privatization. Furthermore, in the asymmetric case, the welfare of both country seeks contrasting privatization policies; that is, one country adopts a higher level of privatization.

5.4.1 Segmented Market

We first consider the coordination problem with a segmented market in which each country has a separate market and both countries' firms compete within the market. For simplicity, in each market there is a domestic firm, a foreign firm, and a public firm. Both countries' social welfare functions are as follows:

$$W = W(q_0, q_0^*) = G(Q) - pQ + \pi_0 + \pi_d + \pi_d^*,$$

$$W^* = W^*(q_0, q_0^*) = G(Q^*) - p^*Q^* + \pi_0^* + \pi_f + \pi_f^*,$$

where * denotes the foreign country's variables. The total derivatives of both countries' welfare with the public firm outputs are as follows:

$$dW = A_1 dq_0 + A_2 dq_0^*,$$

 $dW^* = A_1^* dq_0 + A_2^* dq_0^*,$

where

$$\begin{split} A_{1} &= \left[p - c'(q_{d}) - p'q_{f} \right] \frac{\partial q_{h}}{\partial q_{0}} - p'q_{f} \frac{\partial q_{f}}{\partial q_{0}} + p - c'(q_{0}) - p'q_{f}, \\ A_{2} &= \left[p^{*} - c'\left(q_{d}^{*}\right) \right] \frac{\partial q_{d}^{*}}{\partial q_{0}^{*}} + p^{*'} \left[1 + \frac{\partial q_{d}^{*}}{\partial q_{0}^{*}} + \frac{\partial q_{f}^{*}}{\partial q_{0}^{*}} \right] < 0, \\ A_{1}^{*} &= \left[p - c'\left(q_{f}\right) \right] \frac{\partial q_{f}}{\partial q_{0}} + p' \left[1 + \frac{\partial q_{d}}{\partial q_{0}} + \frac{\partial q_{f}}{\partial q_{0}} \right] < 0, \end{split}$$

and

$$A_{2}^{*} = \left[p^{*} - c'\left(q_{f}^{*}\right) - p^{*'}q_{d}^{*}\right]\frac{\partial q_{f}^{*}}{\partial q_{0}} - p^{*'}q_{d}^{*}\frac{\partial q_{d}^{*}}{\partial q_{0}^{*}} + p^{*} - c'\left(q_{0}^{*}\right) - p^{*'}q_{d}^{*}.$$

The maximization problem of global welfare is

$$\max_{q_0,q_0^*}W+W^*.$$

Thus, the first-order conditions are given by

$$A_1 + A_1^* = 0, \quad A_2 + A_2^* = 0.$$

Instead of global welfare maximization, if both governments act as Nash players, each government sets the output of the public firm as $A_1 = A_2^* = 0$. This Nash equilibrium shows that the output level of the public firm is lower than the optimal

global level. This means that both countries adopt underprivatization rather than global optimization.

Regarding the Nash policy game, it is clear that cooperative privatization in both countries improves global welfare. At the policy equilibrium, $A_1 = A_2^* = 0$, $A_2 = \frac{dW}{dq_0^*} < 0$, and $A_1^* = \frac{dW^*}{dq_0} < 0$. This means that the non-corporative decision of privatization results in a higher level of nationalization because of attempts to prevent the erosion of foreign firms' profits. If both countries have nationalized firms, a different cooperative device or negotiation may result in a coordinated privatization policy.

In an asymmetric case, the resulting coordination of privatization is the same as in the symmetric case because $A_2 < 0$ and $A_1^* < 0$ must be satisfied in the asymmetric case. Regarding the Nash equilibrium, enhancing privatization in both countries always improves the welfare of both countries.

5.4.2 Integrated Market

We have focused on segmented markets, but a similar policy problem also exists in an integrated market where both countries' firms compete in the same market. To consider the privatization problem in an integrated market, we use the following model (e.g., Keen and Lahiri 1993). Domestic and foreign market demand and supply are expressed as follows:

$$D = a - bp, D^* = a^* - b^* p^*, Q = q_{0d} + q_d, Q^* = q_{0f} + q_f.$$

The market-clearing conditions of the integrated market are

$$D+D^*=Q+Q^*, \ \overline{p}=p=p^*.$$

Both countries face the world market price, \overline{p} , and the inverse demand function becomes

$$\overline{p} = \alpha - \beta (Q + Q^*), \quad \alpha = \frac{a + a^*}{b + b^*}, \quad \beta = \frac{1}{b + b^*}.$$

For simplicity, we assume a quadratic cost function, $c(q) = f + \frac{kq_i^2}{2}$, as before. The profit function of each firm becomes

$$\pi_i = \overline{p}q_i - f - \frac{kq_i^2}{2}.$$

The social welfare of both countries is defined as

$$W = G(\overline{p}) - \overline{p}D + \pi_0 + \pi,$$

$$W^* = G^*(\overline{p}) - \overline{p}D^* + \pi_0^* + \pi^*.$$

The changes of social welfare in each country are as follows:

$$dW = B_1 dq_0 + B_2 dq_0^*,$$

$$dW^* = B_1^* dq_0 + B_2^* dq_0^*,$$

where

$$B_{1} = \frac{b}{1+\gamma} \Big[(D-Q) - \frac{bq}{b+k} \Big] + (\overline{p} - kq_{0}),$$

$$B_{2} = \frac{b}{1+\gamma} \Big[(D-Q) - \frac{bq}{b+k} \Big],$$

$$B_{1}^{*} = \frac{b}{1+\gamma} \Big[(D^{*} - Q^{*}) - \frac{bq^{*}}{b+k} \Big]$$

and

$$B_{2}^{*} = \frac{b}{1+\gamma} \left[\left(D^{*} - Q^{*} \right) - \frac{bq^{*}}{b+k} \right] + \left(\overline{p} - kq_{0}^{*} \right).$$

The maximization of global welfare is

$$\max_{q_0, q_0^*} W + W^*$$

Thus, the first-order conditions are given by

$$B_1 + B_1^* = 0, B_2 + B_2^* = 0.$$

Instead of a segmented market, the privatization level is determined by the total effect of the welfare change of both countries in the integrated market. There is no reason to set the same privatization level in both countries. The reason for this is that if one country has a trade surplus and the other has a trade deficit, then the privatization level depends on the trade position. For example, if one country has a large trade surplus, it has to seek a high level of nationalization. In contrast, the other country faces a large trade deficit, which means that the public firm is subject to a higher level of privatization. However, in a symmetric case, $D - Q = D^* - Q^* = 0$, the result is the same as that in a segmented market.

We now consider the case where both countries act as Nash players. Each country sets the output of the public firm as $B_1 = B_2^* = 0$. In this case, global optimization is not possible. However, this Nash equilibrium shows that the output level of the public firm is lower or higher than the global optimization level, which depends on the trade position of each country.

5 International Mixed Oligopoly

Regarding the Nash policy game, to improve both countries' welfare, the country with the higher trade surplus must increase the privatization level, and the country with the trade deficit must increase the nationalization level. This is in contrast to a segmented market where privatization always improves the social welfare of both countries. Underprivatization in both countries only occurs in a symmetric case where there is no trade surplus and deficit. Therefore, coordinated privatization holds only in the symmetric case.

In the integrated market, various coordinated privatization policies could apply, and these depend on the trade position in both countries. Thus, coordinated privatization does not support global welfare. In this case, the country with the trade surplus (deficit) may become better (worse) off. Furthermore, it is difficult to adopt a simultaneous privatization policy because each country has a different payoff via the privatization policy. If both countries implement a privatization policy, we need to introduce a transfer from the country with the surplus to the country with the deficit to weaken the trade effect. However, we are unable to analyze such a complicated situation in our model.

5.5 Conclusion

In this chapter, we considered several aspects of a mixed oligopoly in an international setting. First, we illustrated the basic properties of an international mixed oligopoly. We also considered the differences between a short-run and long-run equilibrium in an international mixed oligopoly. In the long-run sense, even though the output level of the pubic firm satisfies the optimal level, the number of private firms still exceeds the optimal number. Thus, an entry tax is a powerful instrument to control the number of private firms. We also presented the relation between the strategic trade policy (i.e., import tariff) and the degree of privatization. Chapter 6 will analyze this issue in greater detail.

We also explained a corporative privatization policy in a two-country mixed oligopoly model. We found that corporative privatization policy only holds in a limited number of situations, including a symmetric case.

Of course, it is not enough to simply provide a comprehensive analysis of an international mixed oligopoly, even though we did consider several aspects of international mixed oligopolies. For example, we were unable to investigate the effects of a domestic tax/subsidy policy on privatization. It is recognized some tax instruments do not affect the output of fully nationalized firm; therefore, the government cannot control the output of the public firm. However, if the tax system adjusts the level of total output, the level of privatization may not matter. We need to investigate which tax instrument is more effective and how the privatization level is changed.

The international oligopoly model could also be extended, especially the two-country model, to consider several policy instruments. Our analysis only focused on the degree of privatization and identified those factors that result in overprivatization or underprivatization. If we introduce other policy instrument, it is unclear whether a privatization policy would be effective. These issues will be addressed in the following chapters, which provide a further analysis of privatization policies and other policy instruments.

References

- Chao C, Yu E (2006) Partial privatization, foreign competition, and optimum tariff. Rev Int Econ 14(1):87–92
- Fjell K, Pal D (1996) A mixed oligopoly in the presence of foreign private firms. Can J Econ 29(3): 737–743
- Han L, Ogawa H (2008) Economic integration and strategic privatization in an international mixed oligopoly. Finan Archiv 64(3):352–363
- Keen M, Lahiri S (1993) Domestic tax reform and international oligopoly. J Public Econ 51(1): 55–74
- Lee S, Xu L, Chen Z (2013) Competitive privatization and tariff policies in an international mixed duopoly. Manch Sch 81(5):763–779
- Mankiw N, Whinston M (1986) Free entry and social inefficiency. RAND J Econ 17(1):48-58
- Matsumura T (1998) Partial privatization in mixed duopoly. J Public Econ 70(3):473–483
- Matsumura T, Kanda O (2005) Mixed oligopoly at free entry markets. J Econ 84(1):27-48
- Pal D, White M (1998) Mixed oligopoly, privatization, and strategic trade policy. South Econ J 65(2):264–281
- Seade J (1980) On the effects of entry. Econometrica 4(2):479-490
- Suzumura K, Kiyono K (1987) Entry barriers and economic welfare. Rev Econ Stud 54(1): 157–167
- Wang L, Lee J, Hsu C (2014) Privatization, foreign competition, and social efficiency of free entry. Int Rev Econ Financ 31:138–147

Part II Policies

Chapter 6 Optimal Partial Privatization in an International Mixed Oligopoly Under Various Tax Principles

Minoru Kunizaki, Tsuyoshi Shinozaki, and Kazuyuki Nakamura

Abstract This chapter considers optimal privatization policy in an international mixed oligopoly. Allowing for partial privatization and cost asymmetry, we analyze the optimal policies under various tax regimes: arbitrary taxation, origin principle, destination principle, import tariffs, and a combination of tax and import tariffs. Our main results are as follows. First, when the government can arbitrarily levy taxes on a public firm's output, maximum welfare is independent of the degree of privatization as long as the public firm is at least partially privatized. Second, under tax schemes that restrict freedom of taxation, an optimal privatization policy depends on tax regimes and cost asymmetry. Third, the elimination of import tariffs and the privatization of public firms improve both domestic welfare and a foreign competitor's profit if a production subsidy is introduced in exchange for tariff elimination. Our results suggest that fiscal incentives such as tax and subsidies are superior in maximizing welfare when compared with managerial incentives such as public ownership.

6.1 Introduction

Mixed markets are widely observed in both developed and developing countries.¹ For example, postal services, financial institutions, and public utilities are often operated by government, while private firms produce similar goods and services in

¹ Kowalski et al. (2013) calculated the weighted share of public firms for sales, profits, assets, and market values among a country's top ten companies in 38 developed or developing countries. They pointed out that although the public enterprise sector in the OECD area has become significantly

M. Kunizaki Aichi University, Nagoya, Japan

T. Shinozaki Tohoku Gakuin University, Sendai, Japan

K. Nakamura (🖂) University of Toyama, Toyama, Japan e-mail: knakamur@eco.u-toyama.ac.jp

the market. In developing countries especially, public firms often compete with foreign rivals as well as domestic private firms.

In a market with international trade, the government has an incentive to use public firms as an instrument of strategic trade policy as well as other policy devices such as tariffs and subsidies. In contrast, the primary role of public firms in a closed economy is to mitigate allocative inefficiency caused by imperfect competition. Fjell and Pal (1996) argued that in an international mixed market, the outputs of public firms are at levels where their marginal costs exceed price. That is, the behavior of public firms has a similar effect to the rent shifting discussed in Brander and Spencer (1984).

Recently, arguments concerning free trade agreements and Economic Partnership Agreements (EPA) have focused on the preferential treatment given to public firms.² The OECD (2012) stresses fair treatment based on the concept of competitive neutrality, which implies that both public and private firms compete under the same external environment. Tax neutrality, which requires the equal treatment of public and private firms in taxation, is essential for competitive neutrality. Therefore, it is worth considering the linkage between fiscal incentives (e.g., taxation) and managerial incentives (e.g., state ownership) in an international setting.

In this chapter, we focus on the optimal policy in the private ownership of the public firm under various feasibility sets of taxation. Previous analyses mainly considered production subsidies and import tariffs as policy instruments (e.g., Pal and White 1998; Chao and Yu 2006; Yu and Lee 2011; Han 2012; Lee et al. 2013). For example, Pal and White (1998) argued that the privatization of a public firm improves national welfare when the government can set production subsidies at an optimal level. As pointed out by the OECD (2012), public firms often receive preferential treatment in taxation relative to private firms. To consider such a situation, we investigate the optimal policy where the government can arbitrarily levy a commodity tax. We also consider the optimal policy under the destination principle. Production subsidies can be regarded as an (negative) origin-based tax. Previous studies on tax coordination have clearly shown that welfare effects of policy reforms such as tax harmonization depend on the tax principle (e.g., Keen and Lahiri 1998; Keen et al. 2002).³

Considering optimal ownership for public firms, we allow for the partial privatization of a public firm and for cost asymmetry between a public firm and private firms. Matsumura (1998) argued that partial privatization is optimal in a mixed duopoly consisting of domestic firms. In an international setting, Yu and Lee (2011)

smaller, among emerging countries including Brazil, Russia, India, Indonesia, and China, state presence in the economy remains significant.

 $^{^{2}}$ According to Solano and Sennekamp (2006), provisions for state enterprises and state monopolies that contain specific regulations for such firms were found in 55 of the 86 regional trade agreements they investigated.

³ Mujumdar and Pal (1998) considered the effect of indirect taxation on welfare and government revenue in a mixed oligopoly. They argued that the results substantially differ from that of a pure oligopoly.

showed that full privatization is optimal when a production subsidy is employed as a strategic variable and that partial privatization is optimal under an import tariff regime. In their analysis, production technologies were identical among existing firms. Chang (2005) and Wang et al. (2009) argued that the optimal policy depends on the degree of relative inefficiency of the public firm. However, their analysis focused on an industry consisting of a domestic public firm and a foreign private firm. We consider a mixed market consisting of a domestic private firm, a foreign private firm, and a domestic public firm, following Yu and Lee (2011) and Han (2012).

In the later sections, the following results will be shown. First, an optimal privatization policy heavily depends on both tax principles and cost asymmetries. In general, greater flexibility in taxation reduces the significance of partially privatizing a public firm in industrial policy. Second, national welfare is independent from the degree of privatization as long as the public firm is not wholly nationalized and can be taxed freely. Third, full nationalization is welfare inferior to partial or full privatization (regardless of its degree of privatization) when the government can freely tax the public firm. The last two findings are valid in the model consisting of general demand and cost functions that satisfies appropriate assumptions. Finally, the transition from an import tariff regime to the origin principle not only increases domestic welfare but also the profit of the foreign private firm.

The chapter is organized as follows. In Sect. 6.2 we show the analytical framework and provide preliminary results. In Sect. 6.3 we analyze the effects of privatization on welfare under commodity taxation. In Sect. 6.4 we compare the level of welfare among tax regimes discussed in Sect. 6.3. The main findings of this chapter are summarized in Sect. 6.5.

6.2 The Model and Preliminary Results

The model used here is provided by Yu and Lee (2011), which is a simplified version of Fjell and Pal (1996) and Pal and White (1998). While they have assumed linear demand and quadratic cost functions, we begin the analysis by supposing the general demand and cost functions.

Consider an industry consisting of one domestic private firm denoted by d, one foreign private firm denoted by f, and one domestic public firm denoted by 0, producing homogeneous goods. The output of firm i is denoted by q_i , for i = d, f, 0. Total output is $Q = q_d + q_f + q_0$. Domestic demand arises from a utility function of the consumer, represented by U = u(Q) + X, where X is the consumption of perfect competitive goods served as a numeraire. We assume that u(Q) is strictly concave. The consumer maximizes utility subject to a budget constraint M = pQ + X, where M is income and p denotes a consumer price of Q. Thus, the inverse demand function is described as p(Q) = u'(Q).

$$\pi^{i} = p(Q)q_{i} - C_{i} - t_{i}q_{i}, \quad \text{for} \quad i = d, f, 0,$$
(6.1)

where $C_i = c_i(q)$ is the cost function of firm *i*. For analytical simplicity, we assume that $c_i(q)$ is strictly convex. A commodity tax t_i is imposed on the output produced by firm *i*.

Assuming that tax revenue is returned to the consumer via a lump sum, we can write domestic income as $M = r + \pi^d + \pi^0 + t_d q_d + t_f q_f + t_0 q_0$, where *r* is fixed factor income. Domestic welfare is given by

$$W = u(Q) - c_d(q_d) - c_0(q_0) - [p(Q) - t_f]q_f,$$
(6.2)

where we omit fixed factor income.

In addition to tax rates, the government can decide the degree of privatization for the public firm. Let $\theta \in [0, 1]$ be the shareholding ratio of the public firm or the privatization ratio. That is, $\theta = 1(0)$ implies that the public firm is fully privatized (nationalized). If $\theta \in (0, 1)$, the private sector partly owns the public firm. That is, this represents the degree of privatization.

The objective function of the public firm can be written as the weighted sum of welfare and profit:

$$V = \theta \pi^0 + (1 - \theta)W. \tag{6.3}$$

In what follows, we consider a two-stage game. In the first stage, the government chooses the tax rates and the privatization ratio to maximize domestic welfare. In the second stage, taking the tax rates and privatization ratio as given, each private firm chooses its output to maximize profit, and the public firm chooses its output to maximize its objective function.

Consider the second stage of the game. Each firm maximizes its objective function under a Cournot conjecture. The first-order conditions are given by

$$p + p'q_i - c'_i - t_i = 0$$
, for $i = d, f$, (6.4)

$$p + p'q_0 z - c'_0 - \theta t_0 = 0, \tag{6.5}$$

where $z \equiv 1 - (1 - \theta) (q_0 + q_f) / q_0$.⁴

From (6.4) and (6.5), it should be noted that if $\theta = 0$, the tax levied on the public firm has no effect on the decision of all firms. This means that the government cannot use t_0 as a strategic device in the presence of a wholly nationalized firm.

⁴ In what follows, we do not exclude the possibility that the profit of the public firm becomes negative at the equilibrium. Indeed, in the model consisting of linear demand and quadratic cost functions discussed in Sect. 3, a public firm that emphasizes welfare may fall into deficit.

Lemma 6.1 If the public firm is fully nationalized, the commodity tax imposed on the public firm's output has no effect on welfare.

From (6.4) and (6.5), we can define the optimal response functions under Nash conjectures. The optimal response function of the domestic private firm can be written as $q_d = \phi^d(q_f, q_0; t_d)$, and its slopes are represented as $\partial \phi^d / \partial q_f \equiv \phi_f^d = -\pi_{df}^d / \pi_{dd}^d = -\pi_{d0}^d / \pi_{dd}^d \equiv \phi_0^d$, where $\pi_{dd}^d = 2p' + p''q_d - c''_d < 0$ follows from the second-order condition and $\pi_{df}^d = \pi_{d0}^d = p' + p''q_d$. For the foreign private firm, we can similarly define its optimal response function such that $q_f = \phi^f$ $(q_d, q_0; t_f)$ with slopes of $\phi_d^f = \phi_0^f$. We assume diminishing marginal revenue for an increase in total outputs: $p' + p''q_i < 0$ for i = h, f, known as a Hahn condition (e.g., Hahn 1962; Dixit 1984). Under this assumption, the optimal response functions of private firms have negative slopes. For the public firm, the optimal response function, $q_0 = \phi^0(q_d, q_f; t_0, \theta)$, has a different slope for a change in each firm's output. That is, $\phi_d^0 = -V_{0d}/V_{00}$ and $\phi_f^0 = -V_{0f}/V_{00}$ where $V_{00} = (1 + \theta)p' + zp'' q_0 - c''_0 < 0$ for the second-order condition, $V_{0d} = p' + zp''q_0$, and $V_{0f} = \theta p' + zp''q_0$. As shown in Delbono and Scarpa (1995), ϕ^0 may be upward sloping.

By totally differentiating (6.4) and (6.5), we obtain the following system:

$$\mathbf{D}\widetilde{\mathbf{q}} = \mathbf{I}_{\theta}\widetilde{\mathbf{t}} + \mathbf{b}d\theta, \tag{6.6}$$

where

$$\mathbf{D} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} \boldsymbol{\pi}_{dd}^{d} & \boldsymbol{\pi}_{df}^{d} & \boldsymbol{\pi}_{d0}^{d} \\ \boldsymbol{\pi}_{fd}^{f} & \boldsymbol{\pi}_{ff}^{f} & \boldsymbol{\pi}_{f0}^{f} \\ \boldsymbol{V}_{0d} & \boldsymbol{V}_{0f} & \boldsymbol{V}_{00} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{\widetilde{q}} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} dq_{d} \\ dq_{f} \\ dq_{0} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{I}_{\theta} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \theta \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\mathbf{\widetilde{t}} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} dt_{d} \\ dt_{f} \\ dt_{0} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbf{b} \equiv \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ -p'(q_{f} + q_{0}) + t_{0} \end{bmatrix}.$$

In what follows, we assume that the slopes of the optimal response functions are not too steep so that the stability conditions are satisfied⁵:

⁵ See Appendix A.6.1. Together with the convexity of the cost function and diminishing marginal revenue of the private firms, $\left|\phi_f^d \phi_d^f\right| < 1$ is met. However, we cannot exclude the possibility of $|\Delta_2| > 1$ without any restriction of ϕ_i^0 .

M. Kunizaki et al.

$$|\Delta_1| \equiv \left| \phi_f^d \phi_d^f \right| < 1, \text{ and } |\Delta_2| \equiv \left| \frac{\phi_d^0 \left(\phi_0^d + \phi_f^d \phi_0^f \right) + \phi_f^0 \left(\phi_0^f + \phi_d^f \phi_0^d \right)}{1 - \phi_f^d \phi_d^f} \right| < 1.$$

Under this assumption, **D** is invertible, and its determinant is negative: det $\mathbf{D} = \pi_{dd}^d \pi_{ff}^f V_{00}(1 - \Delta_1)(1 - \Delta_2) < 0$. Thus, the output of each firm can be written as a function of the tax vector, $\mathbf{t} = (t_d, t_f, t_0)$, and the privatization ratio, $\theta: q_i = q_i(\mathbf{t}, \theta)$ for i = d, f, 0. In addition, welfare is also given as a function of \mathbf{t} and θ as $W = W(\mathbf{t}, \theta)$.

Comparative statics yield the following system:

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{q}} = \mathbf{D}^{-1} \big(\mathbf{I}_{\theta} \widetilde{\mathbf{t}} + \mathbf{b} d\theta \big), \tag{6.7}$$

where

$$\mathbf{D}^{-1} = \frac{1}{(1-\Delta_1)(1-\Delta_2)} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1-\phi_0^f \phi_f^0}{\pi_{dd}^d} & \frac{\left(1+\phi_0^f\right)\phi_f^d}{\pi_{ff}^f} & \frac{\left(1+\phi_0^f\right)\phi_0^d}{V_{00}}\\ \frac{\left(1+\phi_0^d\right)\phi_d^f}{\pi_{dd}^d} & \frac{1-\phi_0^d \phi_d^0}{\pi_{ff}^f} & \frac{\left(1+\phi_0^d\right)\phi_0^f}{V_{00}}\\ \frac{\phi_d^0+\phi_d^f \phi_f^0}{\pi_{dd}^d} & \frac{\phi_f^0+\phi_f^d \phi_d^0}{\pi_{ff}^f} & \frac{1-\phi_f^d \phi_d^f}{V_{00}} \end{bmatrix}.$$

We turn to the first stage of the game. First, we consider the optimal privatization ratio without tax. That is, the feasibility set for the policy instruments can be written as $\Gamma_{-t} = \{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) : \mathbf{t} = \mathbf{0}, \ \theta \in [0, 1]\}$. In such a situation, it is plausible that partial privatization is optimal to maximize welfare. Indeed, we have the following result, as shown in Matsumura (1998), for a closed market:

Lemma 6.2 Suppose that all outputs are untaxed and that the output of each private firm is positive at the equilibrium. Partial privatization is optimal if either of the following conditions is met:

- (i) Production technologies are identical among all firms.
- (ii) Production technologies are identical among private firms and the demand function takes a linear form.

Proof See Appendix A.6.2.

We now turn to optimal taxes under a given privatization ratio. Suppose that the government can arbitrarily set all taxes to maximize welfare, which is referred to as *Regime A*. The feasibility set can be written as $\Gamma_A = \{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) : \theta \in [0, 1]\}$. We also define the feasibility set in which full nationalization is excluded as $\Gamma_A^P = \{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) : \theta \in [0, 1]\}$.

: $\theta \in (0, 1]$; this will be discussed further below. Optimal taxes are obtained as the solution of the following first-order condition:

$$\mathbf{w}_t = \mathbf{w}_q \mathbf{D}^{-1} \mathbf{I}_\theta + \mathbf{w}_f = \mathbf{0}, \tag{6.8}$$

where $\mathbf{w}_t \equiv [\partial W/\partial t_d, \partial W/\partial t_f, \partial W/\partial t_0]$, $\mathbf{w}_q \equiv [p - c'_d - p'q_f, -p'q_f + t_f, p - c'_0 - p'q_f]$, and $\mathbf{w}_f \equiv [0, q_f, 0]$. Decomposing \mathbf{D}^{-1} into the column vectors, for example, $\mathbf{D}^{-1} = [\mathbf{d}_1, \mathbf{d}_2, \mathbf{d}_3]$, we have the first-order conditions as $\mathbf{w}_q \mathbf{d}_1 = 0$, $\mathbf{w}_q \mathbf{d}_2 + q_f = 0$, and $\partial \mathbf{w}_q \mathbf{d}_3 = 0$. Solving the first-order conditions, we obtain an implicit form of the optimal tax vector $\mathbf{t}^A = (t^A_d, t^A_f, t^A_0)$ as follows:

$$t_d^A = p' q_d - p'' q_f^2, (6.9)$$

$$t_f^A = -q_f \left(p' - p'' q_f - c_f'' \right), \tag{6.10}$$

$$t_0^A = \frac{1}{\theta} \left(z p' q_0 - p'' q_f^2 \right), \tag{6.11}$$

for $\theta \neq 0.^6$ From (6.9) and (6.10), if |p''| is sufficiently small, then the commodity tax on the domestic goods is negative and that on import goods is positive. In what follows, we assume that the optimal tax vector is uniquely determined: $t_i = t_i(\theta)$, for $\theta \in [0, 1]$ and i = d, f, and $t_0 = t_0(\theta)$ for $\theta \in (0, 1]$.

We now consider the optimal privatization ratio. Using the envelope theorem, the effect of the change in the privatization ratio on welfare can be represented as follows:

$$\frac{dW}{d\theta} = \mathbf{w}_q \mathbf{D}^{-1} \mathbf{b} = \left[-p'(q_f + q_0) + t_0 \right] \times \mathbf{w}_q \mathbf{d}_3.$$
(6.12)

From (6.12) we have the following result:

Proposition 6.1 Suppose that the government can arbitrarily control t_d , t_f , and t_0 . The maximum welfare is independent of the privatization ratio as long as the public firm is at least partially privatized in the sense of $\theta \in (0, 1]$.

Proof From (6.8), if the tax on the public firm's output is optimally set, $\theta \mathbf{w}_q \mathbf{d}_3 = 0$. Thus, $dW/d\theta = 0$ holds as long as $\theta \neq 0$.

Proposition 6.1 states that the privatization ratio is irrelevant to welfare as long as the government can strategically use the tax levied on the public firm. This result

⁶ If $\theta = 0$, optimal taxes are implicitly given as $t_d^A = p'(q_d + q_f) + c_0'' q_f \left(\pi_{df}^f / V_{00}\right)$ and $t_f^A = -\left(p' - c_f''\right) q_f + p'' q_f^2 \left(\pi_{df}^f - V_{00}\right) / V_{00}.$

is valid if t_d and/or t_f are restricted by certain rates including zero. Let $\Gamma_j^P = \{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) : t_j = \overline{t}_j, \ \theta \in (0, 1]\}$ for j = d, f and $\Gamma_0^P = \{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) : t_d = \overline{t}_d, t_f = \overline{t}_f, \ \theta \in (0, 1]\}$ be the feasible sets of the government under restricted taxation. Let $\widetilde{W}_j^P \equiv \max_{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) \in \Gamma_j^P} W(\mathbf{t}, \theta)$ for j = d, f, 0 be the maximum welfare over the feasibility set Γ_j^P . We obtain the following results:

Corollary 6.1 Let $\hat{\Gamma}_{j}^{P}$ be the feasibility set that limits θ in Γ_{j}^{P} to $\hat{\theta}$. For any $\hat{\theta} \in (0, 1], \tilde{W}_{j}^{P} = \hat{W}_{j}^{P}$ holds, where $\hat{W}_{j}^{P} \equiv \max_{(\mathbf{t}, \hat{\theta}) \in \Gamma_{j}^{P}} W(\mathbf{t}, \hat{\theta})$.

Proof Even if taxes other than t_0 are restricted, $\mathbf{w}_q \mathbf{d}_3 = 0$ is the first-order condition for t_0 . Thus, the same argument as Proposition 6.1 can be applied.

The intuitions of Proposition 6.1 and its corollary are simple. Under the feasibility sets of Γ_A and Γ_j^P , the government has two independent policy instruments, namely, tax and ownership, to control the output of the public firm. Thus, for a given privatization ratio, the government can find a tax rate that makes the public firm produce a desirable quantity.⁷ If the public firm is wholly nationalized, the tax on the public firm's output has no effect on welfare: the government loses two policy devices to directly control the public firm in one stroke.

Let $\mathbf{t}^{N} = (t_{d}^{N}, t_{f}^{N})$ be the optimal commodity tax under $\theta = 0$. Let q_{i}^{N} be the output of firm i(=d, f, 0) and Q^{N} be the total output under \mathbf{t}^{N} and $\theta = 0$. The welfare consequence of partial privatization can be summarized by the following result:

Proposition 6.2 Suppose that $q_f > 0$ holds for all possible equilibria. Full nationalization of the public firm is welfare inferior to partial and full privatization.

Proof Suppose that the public firm is fully privatized and that the government imposes commodity taxes on the domestic and foreign private firms at the rate of \mathbf{t}^N . In addition, the government levies a tax on the public firm's output at the rate of $\hat{t}_0 = p'(Q^N) \left[q_0^N + q_f^N \right]$. In this situation, the first-order condition of the privatized firm for profit maximization becomes the same as that of the public firm before privatization. The output of each firm does not change before and after privatization; thus, $W(\mathbf{t}^N, \hat{t}_0, 1) = W(\mathbf{t}^N, 0)$ holds. Because $(\mathbf{t}^N, \hat{t}_0, 1) \in \Gamma_A^P$, we have $\max_{(\mathbf{t},\theta)\in\Gamma_A^P}W(\mathbf{t},\theta) \geq W(\mathbf{t}^N, \hat{t}_0, 1) = W(\mathbf{t}^N, 0)$. Furthermore, it is confirmed that for $\theta = 1$, $\mathbf{w}_t \neq 0$ holds at $\mathbf{t} = (\mathbf{t}^N, \hat{t}_0)$. This implies that the tax vector $(\mathbf{t}^N, \hat{t}_0)$ is not an optimal solution to maximize welfare. Thus, we can conclude that $\max_{(\mathbf{t},\theta)\in\Gamma_A}W(\mathbf{t}, \theta) > W(\mathbf{t}^N, 0)$ holds.

⁷ One might think that in the absence of tax on the public firm, the government can achieve the same welfare as *Regime A* by setting an appropriate privatization ratio. However, because the privatization ratio is restricted as $\theta \in [0, 1]$, we cannot exclude the possibility of a corner solution.

The intuition of Proposition 6.2 is straightforward. From Lemma 6.1, the government cannot directly control the behavior of the fully nationalized public firm: the government has only two effective instruments, namely, t_d and t_f . In addition, because of the Nash conjecture, the decision of the public firm becomes suboptimal.

As with Proposition 6.1, the superiority of the pure oligopolistic market over the market with a fully nationalized firm holds even if the commodity taxes imposed on the firms other than the public firm are restricted. Let $\Gamma_j^N = \{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) : t_j = \overline{t}_j, \theta = 0\}$ for j = d, f and $\Gamma_0^N = \{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) : t_d = \overline{t}_d, t_f = \overline{t}_f, \theta = 0\}$ be the feasibility sets for the government in the presence of a fully nationalized public firm. Let $\widetilde{W}_j^N = \max_{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) \in \Gamma_j^N} W(\mathbf{t}, \theta)$ for j = d, f, 0 be the maximum welfare over the feasibility set Γ_j^N . We obtain the following results:

Corollary 6.2 $\widetilde{W}_{i}^{P} > \widetilde{W}_{i}^{N}$ holds for j = d, f, 0.

Proof Applying an argument similar to that in Proposition 6.2, we can confirm that the equilibrium outputs in Γ_i^N are replicated in Γ_i^P .

Pal and White (1998) have shown that privatization improves domestic welfare when the government introduces optimally set production subsidies. They derived their results using linear demand and quadratic cost functions. Our results suggest that the result in Pal and White (1998) can be extended to general demand and cost functions. If the cost functions are identical between public and private firms, as assumed by Pal and White (1998), then the government imposes uniform commodity taxes on domestic private firms and privatized firms under a pure oligopoly. This is the special case described in Corollary 6.2.

6.3 Optimal Partial Privatization Under Various Tax Principles

Our discussion so far suggests that the privatization of a public firm is desirable in the presence of international trade. However, the result obtained here relies on the assumption that the government can arbitrarily set tax—in the real world, the government may not be able to freely do so for practical reasons. In addition to *Regime A*, we consider an optimal privatization policy under four tax regimes: origin principle, destination principle, import tariff, and the combination of a commodity tax and import tariff.

In this section, we focus on the case where the inverse demand function is linear: p(Q) = a - Q, where a > 0. We also assume that the cost functions of the firms are quadratic: $C_i = F + (1/2)k_iq^2$ for i = d, f, 0. To simplify the analysis, we assume that F = 0 and $k_d = k_f = 1$. Additionally, $k_0 = \rho(>0)$, where ρ represents the technological differences between the public and private firms. The structure of the game is the same as that in the previous section. For the given commodity taxes and privatization ratio, each firm produces its output as follows:

$$q_d(\mathbf{t}, \theta) = \frac{2a(\theta + \rho) - (3 + 2\theta + 3\rho)t_d + (1 + \rho)t_f + 2\theta t_0}{2(3\theta + 4\rho + 3)},$$
(6.13)

$$q_f(\mathbf{t},\theta) = \frac{(\theta+\rho)(2a+t_d) - (3\theta+3\rho+2)t_f + 2\theta t_0}{2(3\theta+4\rho+3)},$$
(6.14)

$$q_0(\mathbf{t},\theta) = \frac{(3-\theta)(2a+t_d) + (3\theta-1)t_f - 8\theta t_0}{2(3\theta+4\rho+3)}.$$
(6.15)

From (6.13), (6.14), and (6.15), we can confirm that $\partial q_i/\partial t_i < 0$, $\partial q_i/\partial t_j > 0$, and $\partial Q/\partial t_i < 0$ for i, j = d, f, 0, and $i \neq j$. Furthermore, $\partial q_d/\partial t_0 = \partial q_f/\partial t_0$ holds so that the tax on the public firm equally affects the outputs of the private firms. If the cost functions are completely symmetric, then $\partial q_d/\partial t_f|_{\theta,\rho=1} = \partial q_0/\partial t_f|_{\theta,\rho=1}$ and $\partial q_f/\partial t_d|_{\theta,\rho=1} = \partial q_0/\partial t_d|_{\theta,\rho=1}$ hold. In addition, for the change in the privatization ratio, $\partial q_d/\partial \theta = \partial q_f/\partial \theta$ holds.

National welfare can be written as follows:

$$W(\mathbf{t},\theta) = aQ - \frac{1}{2}Q^2 - \frac{1}{2}(q_d)^2 - \frac{1}{2}\rho(q_0)^2 - (a - Q - t_f)q_f.$$
 (6.16)

The government sets the tax rate and the privatization ratio according to the feasibility set to maximize welfare.

We now consider the optimal policy under the various regimes. As a benchmark, we begin with the case in which the government can arbitrarily decide all taxes: *Regime A*. The feasibility set of the policy instruments is represented as $\Gamma_A = \{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) : \theta \in [0, 1]\}$. As shown in Proposition 6.2, because the optimal policy is $\theta \neq 0$, we exclude the case of full nationalization.

Taking account of the feasibility set and inserting (6.13), (6.14), and (6.15) into (6.16), we obtain the optimal taxes t_i^A for i = d, f, 0 as summarized in Table 6.1. The optimal tax for the domestic private firm is always negative because the optimal policy is subsidy. In contrast, the optimal tax for the foreign private firm is positive. These results are not surprising under a strategic trade policy.

In contrast, the optimal tax for the public firm depends on the privatization ratio. If $\theta < \rho/(\rho + 4)$ holds, then t_0^A is positive. Furthermore, if the level of state ownership in the public firm is relatively high in the sense of $\theta < \rho/(3\rho + 4)$, then the optimal tax rate for the public firm is higher than that of the foreign private

Table 6.1	Optimal policies under arbitrary taxation	
-----------	---	--

Optimal tax	Optimal privatization ratio
$t^A_d = -a rac{4 ho}{9 ho+4}, t^A_f = a rac{2 ho}{9 ho+4}, t^A_0 = -a rac{4 heta-(1- heta) ho}{ heta(9 ho+4)}$	$\theta \in (0, 1]$

Table 6.2 Optimal policiesunder the origin principle

Optimal tax	Optimal privatization ratio		
$T_O^* = -\frac{10a\rho}{17\rho+8}$	$ heta_O^* = rac{ ho}{8-7 ho}$	for $\rho \in (0, 1)$	
$T_{O}^{*} = -2a \frac{14\rho + 5\rho^{2} + 21}{102\rho + 17\rho^{2} + 81}$	$\theta_O^* = 1$	for $\rho \in [1, 1.2956]$	
$T_{O}^{*} = -2a\rho \frac{5\rho + 6}{27\rho + 17\rho^{2} + 9}$	$ heta_O^*=0$	for $\rho \in [1.2957, \infty)$	

firm. This fact implies that when the government can use tax on a public firm as a policy instrument, the ownership structure plays a role that seemingly ensures a competitive condition between public and foreign private firms.

Inserting optimal taxes into (6.13), (6.14), and (6.15), we obtain the output of each firm as $q_d^A = 4a\rho/(9\rho + 4)$, $q_f^A = a\rho/(9\rho + 4)$, and $q_0^A = 4a/(9\rho + 4)$. This implies that the marginal costs are equalized between the domestic private firm and the public firm. That is, inefficiency arising from cost asymmetry between domestic firms is corrected by taxes.

We now turn to the origin principle, which is referred to as *Regime O*. Under this regime, commodity taxes are imposed on the goods produced by domestic firms. Let T_O be the commodity tax rate according to the origin principle. The feasibility set can be written as $\Gamma_O = \{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) : t_d = t_0 = T_O, t_f = 0, \theta \in [0, 1]\}.$

Table 6.2 represents the optimal national tax T_O^* and the optimal privatization ratio θ_O^* . The optimal tax is negative regardless of the inefficiency of the public firm. This is a standard result in imperfect competition. An optimal privatization policy depends on the degree of efficiency of the public firm as summarized in the following proposition:

Proposition 6.3 Suppose that the government imposes a commodity tax according to the origin principle.

- (i) Partial privatization is optimal if the public firm is efficient in the sense of ρ∈(0,1).
- (ii) Full privatization is optimal if the public firm is not too inefficient in the sense of $\rho \in [1, 1.2956]$.
- (iii) Full nationalization is optimal if the public firm is inefficient in the sense of $\rho \ge 1.2957$.

Proof See Appendix A.6.3.

Yu and Lee (2011) and Han (2012) proved the optimality of full privatization for the case of $\rho = 1$. Proposition 6.3 (ii) and (iii) show a sharp contrast with the untaxed case in which partial privatization is optimal (Lemma 6.2). In the present regime, either full privatization or full nationalization is optimal under the plausible condition that the public firm is less efficient. Under $\rho > 1$, the optimal privatization ratio is a corner solution so that the optimal policy is discontinuously changed from $\theta = 1$ from $\theta = 0$ as increasing in ρ .

The intuition behind Proposition 6.2 can be explained as follows. First, it should be noted that the origin-based tax does not discriminate between domestic private

 Table 6.3 Optimal policies under the destination principle

Optimal tax	Optimal privatization ratio	
$T_D^* = \frac{a\rho}{9\rho+5}$	$ heta_D^* = rac{2 ho}{3 ho+5}$	for $ ho \in (0, \infty)$

firms and public firms as long as $\theta \neq 0$. Suppose that the initial situation is a pure oligopoly. When the public firm is efficient, the output of the domestic private firm is less than that of the public firm. This implies that the marginal cost of the domestic private firm is greater than that of the public firm because $p'(q_d - q_0) = c'_d - c'_0$ holds from the first-order conditions of the firms. Thus, an increase in the public firm's output at the expense of a reduction of the domestic private firm's output improves welfare because of the convexity of the cost functions. Hence, it will be desirable that the government gives the public firm a further incentive to increase its output, which means an increase in the state ownership of the public firm.

In contrast, if the public firm is inefficient in the sense of $\rho > 1$, the output of the public firm should be restrained. For this purpose, the government has two choices. First, the output of the public firm can be decreased by an increase in the private ownership of the public firm. Thus, full privatization is desirable. In this case, origin-based tax can be used to shift the rent of the foreign private firm. Second, because the tax on the private firm's output has no direct effect on the behavior of a fully nationalized public firm, in this case, the origin-based tax gives the domestic private firm an incentive to increase its output while the public firm does not change its behavior. Thus, by fully nationalizing the public firm, the government can only use the (negative) origin-based tax for the domestic private firm.

We now turn to the destination principle, which is referred to as *Regime D*. Under the destination principle, commodity taxes are imposed on goods consumed by domestic residents at a uniform rate. Let T_D be the tax rate under the destination principle. The feasibility set is $\Gamma_D = \{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) : t_d = t_f = t_0 = T_D, \ \theta \in [0, 1]\}$.

Table 6.3 shows the optimal tax T_D^* and privatization ratio θ_D^* under the destination principle. In contrast to the origin principle, the optimal tax is strictly positive. We have the following proposition for the optimal privatization ratio:

Proposition 6.4 Suppose that the government imposes a commodity tax according to the destination principle. Partial privatization is optimal.

Proof Inserting (6.13), (6.14), and (6.15) into (6.16) and taking account of $(\mathbf{t}, \theta) \in \Gamma_D$, we obtain the first-order conditions as $\partial W / \partial T_D = 0$ and $\partial W / \partial \theta = 0$. Solving the first-order conditions, we have the optimal policies represented in Table 6.3. In addition, it is confirmed that $W = W(T_D, \theta)$ is concave around (T_D^*, θ_D^*) .

The intuition behind the result is explained as follows. Both destination-based tax and state ownership do not discriminate between foreign firms and domestic private firms. Although an increase in state ownership negatively affects the

Table 6.4 Optimal policies under the import tariff	Optimal tax	Optimal privatizat	ion ratio
	$\tau_I^* = 14a_{\overline{41\rho+20}}^{\rho}$	$\theta_I^* = \frac{9\rho}{5\rho + 20}$	for $\rho \in (0, 5)$
	$\tau_I^* = 2a \frac{18\rho + 7\rho^2 + 15}{134\rho + 41\rho^2 + 105}$	$ heta_I^* = 1$	for $\rho \in [5, \infty)$

domestic private firm's output, total domestic outputs increase.⁸ Thus, the optimal policy is a combination of a positive commodity tax, which reduces imports, and an appropriate privatization ratio, which increases domestic outputs. In this regime, the public firm produces outputs where its marginal cost is equal to the market price. In contrast, the private firms' marginal costs are below the market price. Overall, the strategic use of tax and privatization is limited under the destination principle.

We now consider the situation where the government imposes an import tariff, which is referred to as *Regime I*. When the government's only strategy is an import tariff, denoted by τ_I , the feasibility set can be written as $\Gamma_I = \{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) : t_f = \tau_I, t_d = t_0 = 0, \theta \in [0, 1]\}.$

The optimal policy is summarized in Table 6.4. The optimal tariff is strictly positive. The optimal ownership is basically partial privatization, as shown by Yu and Lee (2011) and Han (2012) in the case of $\rho = 1$. However, cost asymmetry affects optimal ownership.

Proposition 6.5 Suppose that the government optimally levies the import tariff.

- (i) Partial privatization is optimal if the public firm is not too inefficient in the sense of $\rho < 5$.
- (ii) Full privatization is optimal if $\rho \geq 5$.

Proof Inserting $t_d = t_f = 0$ into (6.16), we can write welfare as $W = W(\tau_I, \theta)$. Solving $\partial W/\partial \tau_I = \partial W/\partial \theta = 0$, we have the optimal tariff and the privatization ratio for $\theta \ge 0$. Furthermore, $W(\tau_I, \theta)$ is concave around the optimal tariff and privatization ratio so that the second-order condition is satisfied. Let $\hat{\tau}(\theta) = \arg \max_{\tau_I} W(\tau_I, \theta)$ be the optimal tariff for the given θ . For $\rho \ge 5$, because $dW[\hat{\tau}(\theta), \theta]/d\theta > 0$ holds for $\theta \in [0, 1]$, full privatization is optimal.

The intuition of Proposition 6.4 is as follows. As indicated in numerous studies on strategic trade policy, the strategic use of import tariffs has rent-shifting effects. However, in the absence of domestic tax, the government has no corrective device to reduce the inefficiency arising from imperfect competition. An increase in the tariff reduces the total output.⁹ Thus, public ownership is required to mitigate

⁸ From (6.13), (6.14), and (6.15), we have $\partial q_d / \partial \theta|_{T_D = T_D^*} = [a(3+\rho) + 3T_D^*(1+\rho)]/A^2 > 0$ and $\partial (q_d + q_0) / \partial \theta|_{T_D = T_D^*} = -[3a(3+\rho) + 3T_D^*(1+\rho)]/A^2 < 0$, where $A \equiv 3\theta + 4\rho + 3$.

⁹ From (6.13), (6.14), and (6.15), we have $\partial Q / \partial t_f \Big|_{\theta=1} = -(\rho+1)/[2(2\rho+3)].$

Optimal tax	Optimal privatization	ratio
$T_{C}^{*}=-rac{4a ho}{9 ho+4}, \ au_{C}^{*}=rac{6a ho}{9 ho+4}$	$\theta_C^* = \frac{\rho}{4-3\rho}$	if $\rho \in (0, 1)$
$T_C^* = -rac{4a(2 ho+ ho^2+5)}{54 ho+9 ho^2+41}, \ au_C^* = rac{2a(10 ho+3 ho^2+11)}{54 ho+9 ho^2+41}$	$ heta_C^* = 1$	<i>if</i> $\rho \in [1, 1.7183]$
$T_C^* = -rac{2a ho(2 ho+3)}{15 ho+9 ho^2+5}, \ au_C^* = rac{2a ho(3 ho+4)}{15 ho+9 ho^2+5}$	$\theta_C^* = 0$	if $\rho \in [1.7184,\infty)$

Table 6.5 Optimal policies under the combination of commodity tax and import tariff

inefficiency due to the imperfect competition. However, an increase in public ownership has an equally negative effect on the outputs of both domestic and foreign private firms, although total outputs are increased.¹⁰ As a result, the efficiency of domestic production is impaired. Thus, except for the case in which the public firm is too inefficient, partial privatization is optimal in the import tariff regime.

Finally, we consider the optimal policy where the government uses a combination of the destination-based tax and the import tariff, which is referred to as *Regime C*. Let T_C and τ_C be the commodity tax and import tariff under this regime, respectively. The feasibility set is $\Gamma_C = \{(\mathbf{t}, \theta) : t_d = t_0 = T_C, t_f = \tau_C + T_C, \theta \in [0, 1]\}.$

The optimal taxes and privatization ratio are represented in Table 6.5. As expected, the optimal combination of fiscal incentives consists of negative commodity tax and positive import tariff. The optimal privatization ratio depends on the efficiency of the public firm, which is summarized by the following proposition:

Proposition 6.6 Suppose that the government levies an import tariff and a domestic commodity tax.

- (i) Partial privatization is optimal if the public firm is efficient in the sense of ρ < 1.
- (ii) Full privatization is optimal if the public firm is not too inefficient in the sense of $\rho \in [1, 1, 7183]$.
- (iii) Full nationalization is optimal if the public firm is significantly less efficient in the sense of $\rho \in [1, 7184, \infty)$.

Proof See Appendix A.6.4.

The intuition behind Proposition 6.5 is basically the same as that of Proposition 6.2. As with the origin principle, this regime also produces different welfare implications for privatization, as opposed to those of the destination principle. Because the government can use import tariffs in addition to a commodity tax, the range of cost differentials to be privatized is relatively wide.

¹⁰ For a given θ , the optimal tariff is $\tau_I(\theta) = \frac{6\rho + 7\rho^2 + \theta(9\rho + 3) + \theta^2(3\rho + 12)}{59\rho + 41\rho^2 + \theta(66\rho + 48) + \theta^2(9\rho + 36) + 21}$. Inserting this expression into (6.13), (6.14), and (6.15), we have $\partial Q/\partial \theta < 0$ and $\partial q_d/\partial \theta > 0$.

6.4 Welfare Comparisons

We compare the welfare levels under the regimes considered so far. Welfare ordering in the various regimes partly follows the size of the feasibility sets. We can easily confirm that $\Gamma_J \subset \Gamma_C \subset \Gamma_A$ for J = O, D, I. Thus, *Regime A* dominates the other regimes regarding welfare. In addition, *Regime C* provides greater welfare than the origin, destination, and import tariff regimes.

In Table 6.6, $\widetilde{W}_J \equiv \max_{(t,\theta) \in T_J} W$ and $\widetilde{\pi}_J^f$, respectively, denote the maximum welfare and profit of the foreign private firm, when the government optimally sets the policy instruments. A direct comparison shows that $\widetilde{W}_A \geq \widetilde{W}_C > \widetilde{W}_O > \widetilde{W}_I$ $> \widetilde{W}_D$ holds for $\rho \in (0, \infty)$. Yu and Lee (2011) and Han (2012) have shown that $\widetilde{W}_C > \widetilde{W}_O > \widetilde{W}_I$ when $\rho = 1$. Our result shows that welfare orderings are robust for cost asymmetries. The fact that $\widetilde{W}_A = \widetilde{W}_C$ holds for $\rho \in (0, 1)$ results from Proposition 6.1. However, $\widetilde{W}_A > \widetilde{W}_C$ for $\rho > 1$ arises from the constraint that $\theta \leq 1$. Thus, as instruments for strategic trade policy, tax incentives are superior to public firm ownership.

In contrast, a direct comparison of $\tilde{\pi}_J^f$ produces the orderings of the foreign private firm's profit, which depend on cost asymmetries.

	Domestic welfare	Foreign profit	
Regime A	$\widetilde{W}_A = \frac{a^2(5\rho+4)}{2(9\rho+4)}$	$\widetilde{\pi}_A^f = \frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{a\rho}{9\rho + 4} \right)^2$	for $\rho \in (0,\infty)$
Regime O	$\widetilde{W}_{O} = \frac{a^{2}(9\rho+8)}{2(17\rho+8)}$	$\widetilde{\pi}_{O}^{f} = \frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{3a\rho}{17\rho + 8} \right)^{2}$	for $\rho \in (0, 1)$
	$\widetilde{W}_{O} = \frac{a^2 (54\rho + 9\rho^2 + 73)}{2(102\rho + 17\rho^2 + 81)}$	$\widetilde{\pi}_{O}^{f} = \frac{3}{2} \left[\frac{3a(6\rho + \rho^{2} + 1)}{102\rho + 17\rho^{2} + 81} \right]^{2}$	for $\rho \in [1, 1.2956]$
	$\widetilde{W}_O = \frac{9a^2(\rho+1)^2}{2(27\rho+17\rho^2+9)}$	$\widetilde{\pi}_{O}^{f} = \frac{3}{2} \left[\frac{3a\rho(\rho+1)}{27\rho+17\rho^{2}+9} \right]^{2}$	for $\rho \in [1.2957, \infty)$
Regime D	$\widetilde{W}_D = \frac{a^2(4\rho+5)}{2(9\rho+5)}$	$\widetilde{\pi}_D^f = rac{3}{2} \left(rac{2a ho}{9 ho+5} ight)^2$	for $\rho \in (0,\infty)$
Regime I	$\widetilde{W}_I = \frac{a^2(21\rho + 20)}{2(41\rho + 20)}$	$\widetilde{\pi}_{I}^{f} = \frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{5a\rho}{41\rho + 20} \right)^{2}$	for $\rho \in (0,5)$
	$\widetilde{W}_I = \frac{a^2 \left(78\rho + 21\rho^2 + 85\right)}{2(134\rho + 41\rho^2 + 105)}$	$\widetilde{\pi}_{I}^{f} = \frac{3}{2} \left[\frac{a(14\rho + 5\rho^{2} + 5)}{134\rho + 41\rho^{2} + 105} \right]^{2}$	for $\rho \in [5,\infty)$
Regime C	$\widetilde{W}_C = \frac{a^2(5\rho+4)}{2(9\rho+4)}$	$\widetilde{\pi}_C^f = \frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{a\rho}{9\rho + 4} \right)^2$	for $\rho \in (0, 1)$
	$\widetilde{W}_C = \frac{a^2 (30\rho + 5\rho^2 + 37)}{2(54\rho + 9\rho^2 + 41)}$	$\widetilde{\pi}_{C}^{f} = \frac{3}{2} \left[\frac{a(6\rho + \rho^{2} + 1)}{54\rho + 9\rho^{2} + 41} \right]^{2}$	for $\rho \in [1, 1.7183]$
	$\widetilde{W}_C = \frac{5a^2(\rho+1)^2}{2(15\rho+9\rho^2+5)}$	$\widetilde{\pi}_C^f = \frac{3}{2} \left[\frac{a\rho(\rho+1)}{15\rho+9\rho^2+5} \right]^2$	for $\rho \in [1.7184, \infty)$

Table 6.6 Welfare comparisons

$$\begin{aligned} \widetilde{\pi}_D^f &> \widetilde{\pi}_O^f > \widetilde{\pi}_I^f > \widetilde{\pi}_C^f = \widetilde{\pi}_A^f, & \text{if } \rho \in (0, 1], \\ \widetilde{\pi}_D^f &> \widetilde{\pi}_O^f > \widetilde{\pi}_I^f > \widetilde{\pi}_C^f > \widetilde{\pi}_A^f, & \text{if } \rho \in (1, 1.7183], \\ \widetilde{\pi}_D^f &> \widetilde{\pi}_O^f > \widetilde{\pi}_I^f > \widetilde{\pi}_A^f > \widetilde{\pi}_C^f, & \text{if } \rho \in [1.7184, \infty). \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.17)$$

These orderings are not the complete reverse of the welfare orderings, which suggests that regime switching may increase welfare in line with the Pareto principle. Noting that $\tilde{\pi}_O^f > \tilde{\pi}_I^f$ for $\forall \rho \in (0, \infty)$ and $\tilde{\pi}_A^f > \tilde{\pi}_C^f$ for $\forall \rho \in (1.7184, \infty)$ hold, we obtain the following result.

Proposition 6.7 Both domestic welfare and a foreign firm's profit are increased by:

- (i) A transition from Regime I to Regime O.
- (ii) A transition from Regime C to Regime A if the public firm is inefficient in the sense of $\rho \ge 1.7184$.

Proof The claims follow from direct comparisons of welfare and profit.

Proposition 6.7(i) shows a possibility that trade liberalization and privatization are compatible. Suppose that the initial situation as in *Regime I* and the public firm is inefficient in the sense of $\rho \in (1, 1.2956]$. In this case, the optimal policy is a positive tariff and partial privatization as shown in Proposition 6.5. Starting from here, eliminating the tariff and fully privatizing the public firm improves both domestic welfare and the foreign firm's profit if the domestic government is allowed to impose an optimal origin-based tax in exchange for eliminating the tariff.

If the public firm is too inefficient in the sense of $\rho \ge 1.2957$, the optimal policy under *Regime O* is the full nationalization of the public firm. However, if the change in regime improves efficiency, then trade liberalization and privatization are still beneficial for both countries. From Table 6.1 we can show that $\widetilde{W}_O|_{\rho=1} > \widetilde{W}_I|_{\rho=\rho_0}$

and $\widetilde{\pi}_{O}^{f}\Big|_{\rho=1} > \widetilde{\pi}_{I}^{f}\Big|_{\rho=\rho_{0}}$ hold for $\rho_{0} > 1$.

Proposition 6.7(ii) states that two different tax rates for the public firm and the domestic private firm may improve both domestic welfare and the foreign firm's profit if the public firm is too inefficient. Under *Regime C*, the disparities in marginal costs between the public and private firms induce a significant welfare loss so that the government has to restrain total outputs. In contrast, production efficiency is achieved under *Regime A* by discriminated taxation for the public firm and the domestic private firm.

6.5 Concluding Remarks

In this chapter we analyzed an optimal privatization policy for a public firm under various tax principles in the presence of international trade. In addition to production subsidies and import tariffs, which were considered in previous literature, we considered a destination-based commodity tax and a tax system that applies different tax rates for each firm. Furthermore, we allowed for asymmetric costs between the public and private firms.

When a government can apply preferential treatment to a public firm, tax incentives (e.g., production subsidy) and managerial incentives (represented by ownership by the public firm) are relatively equivalent, as long as the public firm is at least partially privatized. This result suggests that the government has an incentive to partly privatize public firms. For example, suppose that in the negotiation of an EPA, preferential treatment to a public firm must be reduced somewhat. In such a case, the government can maintain the same welfare level as before the agreement by adjusting the private ownership of the public firm. In this sense, to ensure the effectiveness of free trade agreements and EPAs, the transparency of the policies applied to the public firm will become an important issue.

We also found that the optimal degree of privatization depends on both the tax regime to be applied and the cost asymmetry. In an international oligopolistic market, the government has to solve multiple problems to maximize welfare: mitigate consumers' losses because of imperfect competition, ensure efficient production among firms that have different technology, and shift the profit of foreign competitors. The existing tax systems analyzed herein restrict the possibility that the government will completely solve the above problems. Partial privatization can contribute to mitigate inefficiencies; however, this role is limited because the government only offers managerial incentives within nationalization and full privatization. Thus, the assurance of freedom in taxation is desirable from the perspective of national welfare.

The present analysis implies that in certain situations, trade liberalization and privatization are compatible to improve both domestic and foreign welfare. In particular, eliminating import tariffs and fully privatizing public firms increase both domestic welfare and the profits of foreign competitors, if the government can introduce a production subsidy in exchange for tariff elimination. In the process of trade liberalization, it is often argued that all preferential treatments for domestic industries should be eliminated. However, as long as the market is oligopolistic, Pigouvian intervention is still desirable.

Because the present analysis is based on a very simple framework, there exists the opportunity for further research. This chapter only considers Cournot competition, and as such different types of competition may alter the results. It is plausible that the number of private firms affects the optimal policy. In this chapter, we focused on a public firm operating in a domestic market. As pointed out in Kowalski et al. (2013), the activities of overseas public firms have increased in recent times. Further investigation of this phenomenon can offer richer insights into international mixed oligopolies.

Appendix

A.6.1 Stability Condition

Consider a simple adjustment process according to the Nash conjecture: both domestic and foreign private firms respond to a change in the output of the public firm. Once the private firms have responded, the public firm adjusts its output subject to the optimal response function. First, regarding the change in the public firm's output, the outputs of the private firms are adjusted as follows:

$$\begin{bmatrix} dq_d/dq_0 \\ dq_f/dq_0 \end{bmatrix} = \frac{1}{1 - \phi_f^d \phi_d^f} \begin{bmatrix} \phi_0^d + \phi_f^d \phi_0^f \\ \phi_0^f + \phi_d^f \phi_0^d \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (A6.1)

Thus, stability requires $\left|\phi_{f}^{d}\phi_{d}^{f}\right| < 1$. In such a case, the optimal response functions of the private firms are given by $q_{d} = \omega^{d}(q_{0})$ and $q_{f} = \omega^{f}(q_{0})$. Next, the public firm adjusts its outputs according to the following adjustment process:

$$q_{0(t+1)} = \phi^0 \Big[\omega^d \Big(q_{0(t)} \Big), \omega^f \Big(q_{0(t)} \Big) \Big],$$
 (A6.2)

where a subscript(s) denotes the time period. The approximation of the change in output around the equilibrium (denoted by q_0^*) is represented by

$$\Delta q_{0(t+1)} = \left(\phi_d^0 \omega^{d'} + \phi_f^0 \omega^{f'}\right) \Delta q_{0(t)},\tag{A6.3}$$

where $\Delta q_{0(s)} \equiv q_{0(s)} - q_0^*$. Thus, $|\Delta_2| = \left| \phi_d^0 \omega^{d'} + \phi_f^0 \omega^{f'} \right| < 1$ is required for the stability.

A.6.2 Proof of Lemma 6.2

The effect of the change in the privatization ratio on welfare can be written as

6 Optimal Partial Privatization in an International Mixed Oligopoly Under...

$$\frac{\partial W(0,\theta)}{\partial \theta} = \mathbf{w}_{q} \mathbf{D}^{-1} \mathbf{b}
= \frac{(p')^{2} (q_{f} + q_{0})}{(1 - \Delta_{1})(1 - \Delta_{2}) V_{00}} \Big[(q_{f} + q_{d}) \Big(1 + \phi_{0}^{f} \Big) \phi_{0}^{d} + q_{f} \Big(1 + \phi_{0}^{d} \Big) \phi_{0}^{f}
+ (q_{f} + zq_{0}) \Big(1 - \phi_{f}^{d} \phi_{d}^{f} \Big) \Big],$$
(A6.4)

where \mathbf{w}_q denotes the national marginal benefits of an increase in each firm's output, which is represented as $\mathbf{w}_q|_{t=0} = -p'[q_d + q_f, q_f, q_f + q_0z]$. Identical technologies among private firms imply that in the equilibrium, two private firms have the same level of output, denoted by $\tilde{q}(=q_d=q_f)$. Thus, the optimal response functions also have same slopes denoted as $\tilde{\phi}_q \left(=\phi_0^d = \phi_f^d = \phi_0^f = \phi_d^f\right)$. Solving $\partial W(0,\theta)/\partial \theta = 0$, we have an implicit form of the optimal privatization ratio θ_{-t}^* as follows:

$$\boldsymbol{\theta}_{-t}^{*} = \left(\frac{-\widetilde{\phi}_{q}}{1-\widetilde{\phi}_{q}}\right) \left(\frac{3\widetilde{q}}{q_{0}+\widetilde{q}}\right). \tag{A6.5}$$

Under condition (i), because $\partial q_0/\partial \theta < 0$ and $\partial q_i/\partial \theta > 0$ for i = d, f hold from (6.7), $q_0 \ge \tilde{q}$ holds for $\theta \in [0, 1]$. Thus, if condition (i) is met, $\tilde{\phi}_q/(1 - \tilde{\phi}_q) \in (0, 1/2)$ and $3\tilde{q}/(q_0 + \tilde{q}) \in (0, 3/2]$. Therefore, $\theta_{-t}^* \in (0, 3/4)$ under condition (i). We turn to condition (ii). Linear demand function implies $\tilde{\phi}_q < -1/2$, where strict inequality follows from the convexity of the cost function. In this case, $\tilde{\phi}_q/(1 - \tilde{\phi}_q) \in (0, 1/3)$ and $3\tilde{q}/(q_0 + \tilde{q}) \in (0, 3]$. Thus, $\theta_{-t}^* \in (0, 1)$ holds under condition (ii). From (A6.4), it is confirmed that $\partial W(0, 0)/\partial \theta > 0$ and $\partial W(0, 1)/\partial \theta < 0$ hold if either condition (i) or (ii) is met.

A.6.3 Proof of Proposition 6.3

Taking account of the feasibility set, we obtain the optimal tax for the given θ :

$$T_O(\theta) = -2a(\Lambda_O)^{-1} [3(3\rho+8)\theta^2 - (\rho+3)\theta + (5\rho+6)\rho], \qquad (A6.6)$$

where $\Lambda_O \equiv 9 (9\rho + 8)\theta^2 - 6\rho\theta + (17\rho + 7)\rho + 9 > 0$ for $\theta \in [0, 1]$. Inserting (A6.6) into (6.16), we can write welfare as $W_O = W_O(\theta)$ in which origin-based tax is optimally chosen. The first-order condition for θ is as follows:

M. Kunizaki et al.

$$\frac{dW_O(\theta)}{d\theta} = a^2 (\Lambda_O)^{-2} (7\theta\rho - 8\theta + \rho) (6\theta\rho - 7\rho^2 + 9) = 0.$$
 (A6.7)

Thus, we have two roots: $\theta_O^1 = \rho/(8-7\rho)$ for $\rho \neq 8/7$ and $\theta_O^2 = (7\rho^2 - 9)/(6\rho)$. However, the second-order condition implies that θ_O^2 gives the minimum solution. Hence, $\theta_O^* = \theta_O^1$ for $\rho \in (0, 1]$. In (A6.7), it is confirmed that $dW_O/d\theta > 0$ holds for $\theta \in [0, 1]$ and $\rho \in (1, 3/\sqrt{7})$. That is, $\theta_O^* = 1$ is optimal for $\rho \in (1, 3/\sqrt{7})$. For $\rho \geq 3/\sqrt{7}$, θ_O^2 becomes nonnegative and $\theta_O^1 \notin [0, 1]$. Thus, θ_O^* is either zero or unity. A direct calculation yields $W_O(1) - W_O(0) > 0$ for $\rho \in (1, 1.2956)$ and $W_O(1) - W_O(0) < 0$ for $\rho \in (1.2957, \infty)$. Together with these facts described above, the claims are proved.

A.6.4 Proof of Proposition 6.6

For the given privatization ratio, the optimal taxes can be written as follows:

$$T_C(\theta) = -2a(\Lambda_C)^{-1}[3(\rho+4)\theta^2 - 2(\rho+1)\theta + (2\rho+3)\rho],$$
 (A6.8)

$$\tau_C(\theta) = 2a(\Lambda_C)^{-1}[(9\rho + 12)\theta^2 - (3\rho + 1)\theta + (3\rho + 4)\rho],$$
(A6.9)

where $\Lambda_C \equiv (45\rho + 36)\theta^2 - 6\rho\theta + (9\rho + 15)\rho + 5 > 0$ for $\theta \in [0, 1]$. The secondorder condition is satisfied because $W(T_C, \tau_C, \theta)$ is concave in T_C and τ_C for $\theta \in [0, 1]$. Inserting (A6.8) and (A6.9) into (6.10), we can write the welfare as W_C $= W_C(\theta)$ in which the taxes are optimally chosen. The first-order condition for θ is as follows:

$$\frac{dW_C(\theta)}{d\theta} = a^2 (\Lambda_C)^{-2} [(3\theta\rho - 4\theta + \rho)(6\theta\rho - 3\rho^2 + 5)] = 0.$$
 (A6.10)

Although $\theta_C^1 = \rho/(4-3\rho)$ for $\rho \neq 4/3$ and $\theta_C^2 = (3\rho^2 - 5)/(6\rho)$ are two roots of (A6.10), θ_C^2 gives a minimum value. Hence, $\theta_C^* = \theta_C^1$ for $\rho \in (0, 1]$. In contrast, $dW_C/d\theta > 0$ holds for $\theta \in [0, 1]$ and $\rho \in (1, \sqrt{5/3})$. That is, $\theta_O^* = 1$ is optimal for $\rho \in (1, \sqrt{5/3})$. For $\rho \geq \sqrt{5/3}$, θ_C^2 is nonnegative and $\theta_C^1 \notin [0, 1]$: θ_C^* is either zero or unity. We obtain $W_C(1) - W_C(0) > 0$ for $\rho \in (1, 1.7183]$, and $W_C(1) - W_C(0)$ < 0 for $\rho \in [1.7184, \infty)$.

References

- Brander JA, Spencer BJ (1984) Tariff protection and imperfect competition. In: Kierzkowski H (ed) Monopolistic competition and international trade. Oxford University Press, Oxford
- Chang WW (2005) Optimal trade and privatization policies in an international duopoly with cost asymmetry. J Int Trade Econ Dev 14(1):19–42
- Chao C-C, Yu SH (2006) Partial privatization, foreign competition, and optimum tariff. Rev Int Econ 14(1):87–92
- Delbono F, Scarpa C (1995) Upward-sloping reaction functions under quantity competition in mixed oligopolies. Bull Econ Res 47(4):341–346
- Dixit A (1984) International trade policy for oligopolistic industries. Econ J 94(Suppl):1-16
- Fjell K, Pal D (1996) A mixed oligopoly in the presence of foreign private firms. Can J Econ 29 (3):737–743
- Hahn FH (1962) The stability of the Cournot oligopoly solution. Rev Econ Stud 29(4):329-331
- Han L (2012) Strategic privatization and trade policies in an international mixed oligopoly. Manch Sch 80(5):580–602
- Keen M, Lahiri S (1998) The comparison between destination and origin principles under imperfect competition. J Int Econ 45(2):323–350
- Keen M, Lahiri S, Raimondos-Møller P (2002) Tax principles and tax harmonization under imperfect competition: a cautionary example. Eur Econ Rev 46(8):1559–1568
- Kowalski P, Büge M, Sztajerowska M (2013) State-owned enterprises: trade effects and policy implications. OECD trade policy papers 147. OECD Publishing, Paris. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1787/5k4869ckqk7l-en
- Lee S-H, Xu L, Chen Z (2013) Competitive privatization and tariff policies in an international mixed duopoly. Manch Sch 81(5):763–779
- Matsumura T (1998) Partial privatization in mixed duopoly. J Public Econ 70(3):473-483
- Mujumdar S, Pal D (1998) Effects of indirect taxation in a mixed oligopoly. Econ Lett 58 (2):199–204
- OECD. (2012). Competitive neutrality: maintaining a level playing field between public and private business. http://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/. Accessed 12 Aug 2015
- Pal D, White M (1998) Mixed oligopoly, privatization, and strategic trade policy. South Econ J 65 (2):264–281
- Solano O, Sennekamp A (2006) Competition provisions in regional trade agreements, OECD trade policy working paper 31. OECD Publishing, Paris
- Wang LFS, Wang YC, Zhao L (2009) Privatization and efficiency gain in an international mixed oligopoly with asymmetric costs. Jpn Econ Rev 60(4):539–559
- Yu R, Lee SH (2011) Optimal trade and privatization policies in an international mixed market. Seoul J Econ 24(1):51–71

Chapter 7 Privatization Neutrality Theorem When a Public Firm Maximizes Objectives Other than Social Welfare

Kojun Hamada

Abstract This chapter investigates the privatization neutrality theorem when a public firm has a different objective from social welfare maximization. The privatization neutrality theorem claims that when the government gives the optimal subsidy to both public and private firms, social welfare is exactly the same before and after privatization. We demonstrate that if the discriminatory subsidy scheme is adopted to public and private firms, the privatization neutrality theorem can be recovered in a variety of situations. Especially, we obtain a seemingly paradoxical result as follows: When a public firm incorrectly recognizes that a subsidy to firms by a government directly affects the welfare size, the privatization neutrality necessarily holds. In contrast, when a public firm correctly recognizes that a subsidy affects only income distribution but not social welfare itself, the situation in which the neutrality holds is limited.

7.1 Introduction

The privatization neutrality theorem is a theoretical consequence in mixed oligopolies and has been examined by many scholars interested in determining whether privatization leads to an increase in social welfare. The privatization neutrality theorem insists that when a government provides the optimal subsidy to both public and private firms in a mixed oligopoly, social welfare does not change; that is, it is exactly the same before and after privatization. Most previous studies on this theorem have focused on a uniform subsidy policy to public and private firms because a uniform subsidy makes for a simple analysis. Furthermore, in situations in which all firms enjoy identical technology, we can show privatization neutrality even if only paying attention to uniform subsidy. However, public and private firms have different objectives, and a government or regulatory authority generally implements regulatory policies while fully recognizing the difference in objectives.

Niigata University, Niigata, Japan e-mail: khamada@econ.niigata-u.ac.jp

K. Hamada (🖂)

[©] Springer Japan 2017

M. Yanagihara, M. Kunizaki (eds.), *The Theory of Mixed Oligopoly*, New Frontiers in Regional Science: Asian Perspectives 14, DOI 10.1007/978-4-431-55633-6_7

If we focus on such differences between firms, it is important for researchers to investigate the situation in which regulatory authorities apply a discriminatory subsidy policy to public and private firms to improve social welfare. Moreover, some recent studies insist that when a discriminatory subsidy is adopted, the privatization neutrality theorem can be recovered unless public and private firms are identical, which is in stark contrast with the results shown in the earlier literature. In this chapter, we investigate the privatization neutrality theorem when a public firm has an objective that differs from social welfare maximization. By incorporating the discriminatory subsidy into the model, we clarify whether the privatization neutrality theorem continues to hold when there is a divergence of objectives between the government and a public firm.

White's (1996) seminal study first showed that if uniform subsidies are used before and after privatization, social welfare is unchanged by privatization. Since then, a considerable number of studies have investigated the so-called privatization neutrality theorem in various extended situations. Poyago-Theotoky (2001) showed that even when a public firm behaves as a Stackelberg leader, the privatization neutrality theorem holds. Myles (2002) generalized the neutrality result by extending the linear demand and the quadratic cost specified in Poyago-Theotoky (2001) to include general functions of demand and cost. Tomaru and Saito (2010) investigated endogenous timing and privatization in the resulting Stackelberg duopolies, where the public firm is the leader and private firms are followers. Social welfare was not affected. In addition to the above studies, extensive research has demonstrated that the privatization neutrality theorem continues to hold in different situations. For example, Tomaru (2006) adopted the partial privatization approach. Kato and Tomaru (2007) introduced nonprofit-maximizing private firms. Hashimzade et al. (2007) extended the analysis to product differentiation. All of these studies verified the robustness of the privatization neutrality theorem.¹

However, there are several economic situations in which the privatization neutrality theorem is not satisfied. By tedious calculation, we can confirm that if a public firm has a different cost structure from private firms, this theorem does not hold. Likewise, when a public firm behaves as a Stackelberg leader before and after privatization, a different order of action between public and private firms brings about the difference in social welfare before and after privatization. Fjell and Heywood (2004) considered such a sequential-move situation where a public firm continues to act as a leader irrespective of whether privatization occurs, and they showed that the privatization neutrality theorem collapses.² Several previous studies mentioned that firm asymmetry between public and private firms, which is caused by the difference in cost and/or the different orders of the steps to produce,

¹As a comprehensive survey of privatization neutrality theorem, see Tomaru (2014, Ch. 4).

²In contrast to Fjell and Heywood (2004) who stated that privatization is not welfare neutral, Matsumura and Okumura (2013) found that privatization neutrality holds if an output floor is introduced instead. Although their result suggests that neutrality can be recovered using an output floor regulation and the economic situation in which the privatization neutrality theorem is robust is enlarged, such a regulatory scheme, however, might seem too artificial.

hinders privatization neutrality. Cato and Matsumura (2013) considered a free entry market in which private firms freely enter a market and privatization neutrality is not satisfied. Zikos (2007) and Gil-Moltó et al. (2011) introduced R&D competition and showed that the existence of other choice variables in addition to production level undermines privatization neutrality. The privatization neutrality theorem no longer holds with taxation distortion, which is necessary to fund a subsidy (Matsumura and Tomaru 2013), for the existence of foreign private firms (Matsumura and Tomaru 2012) and the divergence of objectives between the government and a public firm (Kato 2008).

Since White (1996) first examined the optimal subsidy given to both public and private firms in a uniform specific manner, the majority of extant studies have assumed a uniform subsidy to public and private firms. If a public firm has a different cost structure and/or different timing of production and the government that implements the subsidy policy correctly recognizes the difference between firms, it would be quite natural for such an authority to adopt a discriminatory subsidy scheme for each firm to achieve social welfare maximization. By explicitly introducing a discriminatory subsidy policy into the model, Hamada (2016) first demonstrated that if different subsidy rates are applied between public and private firms, even when there is firm asymmetry, the privatization neutrality theorem continues to hold. This result implies that the privatization neutrality theorem can be recovered even in a situation with firm asymmetry, and maximized social welfare can be always achieved by adopting a discriminatory subsidy policy without relying on any artificial regulation such as an output floor. The effectiveness of the discriminatory subsidy to maximize social welfare and achieve the privatization neutrality theorem needs to be verifiable, even in other contexts within a mixed oligopoly.

In the context of firm regulation, conflict of interest exists between regulating authorities and regulated firms. As represented in Laffont and Tirole (1993), existing regulatory economics have investigated how regulatory authorities should implement the optimal policy to regulated firms mainly in a principal-agent framework with asymmetric information. A considerable number of studies assume conflicting interests between the regulator and regulated firms and allow different targeting policies depending on the characteristics of the firms, for example, through a menu of contracts. Although asymmetric information is not dealt with in the present study, we focus on the situation in which the public firm has a different objective from the government pursuing social welfare maximization. We examine whether a discriminatory subsidy between public and private firms can completely overcome the conflict of interest between the government and public firm. As one of the few exceptions, Kato (2008) examined how the divergence of objectives between the government and a public firm collapses the privatization neutrality theorem. However, he only focused on a uniform subsidy and investigated a scenario different from ours in which the government itself pursues a distortive objective other than social welfare with a preference bias toward tax revenue expansion. In that study, it is the public firm that aims to maximize social welfare. By considering a discriminatory subsidy policy in a case where the government maximizes social welfare, we investigate whether and how a more finely tuned subsidy instrument can bring about welfare improvement.

In this chapter, in contrast to the results of the existing literature that assumed a uniform subsidy to both public and private firms and claimed that this theorem does not hold, we demonstrate that if a discriminatory subsidy scheme is adopted for public and private firms, the privatization neutrality theorem can be recovered in many situations in which a public firm pursues various objectives other than social welfare. More specifically, we present the following seemingly paradoxical results. When a public firm incorrectly recognizes that subsidization causes the distortion of income distribution, the privatization neutrality theorem necessarily holds. However, when it correctly recognizes that subsidization does not affect welfare size at all, the situation in which the neutrality holds is limited. Our results suggest that even when differences in recognition exist between the government and a public firm with respect to the effect of a subsidy on social welfare, the government can achieve social welfare maximization in a mixed oligopoly by appropriately implementing a discriminatory subsidy policy. By utilizing the difference in the recognition of the effectiveness of the subsidy, the government can achieve firstbest social welfare by setting an optimal discriminatory subsidy for both a public firm and a private firm.

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows. Section 7.2 describes a mixed duopoly model in which a public firm and a private firm engage in quantity competition in a homogeneous good market. Section 7.3 presents the benchmark result when before privatization, both a government and a public firm aim to maximize social welfare and, after privatizing, the public firm purses its own profit maximization. Section 7.4 demonstrates the main result that when a public firm has a different objective from social welfare maximization before privatizing, the privatization neutrality theorem continues to hold by adopting a discriminatory specific subsidy scheme. Section 7.5 provides some concluding remarks.

7.2 The Model

Consider a duopolistic market of a homogeneous good in which a public firm and a private firm engage in Cournot quantity competition. We denote the index of firms by firm i = 0, 1. The public firm is indexed by firm 0, and before privatizing it aims to maximize social welfare or other objectives than social welfare as explained below. After privatizing, the public firm seeks to maximize its own profit. The private firm is indexed by firm 1 and aims to maximize its own profit. Both the public firm and private firm have identical technology. Furthermore, q_i denotes the output of firm *i*. The inverse demand function is assumed to be linear, that is, p = p(Q) = a - Q; a > 0, where $Q \equiv q_0 + q_1$ is the total output and p is the price.

The cost function of the firm is denoted by $C = c(q_i) = F + (k/2)q_i^2$; $F \ge 0, k > 0$. For brevity and without loss of generality, we assume no fixed cost,

that is, F = 0. The government maximizes social welfare and uses a subsidy as a policy instrument, with s_i denoting the specific subsidy per unit given to firm *i*. Thus, s_0 and s_1 denote the subsidy to the public firm and the private firm, respectively. Although previous studies only focused on uniform specific subsidies, that is, $s_0 = s_1 \equiv s$, we deal with a discriminatory specific subsidy that differs between a public firm and a private firm to clarify the effect of discrimination. The profit of firm *i* is $\pi_i = p(Q)q_i - (k/2)q_i^2 + s_iq_i = (a - Q + s_i)q_i - (k/2)q_i^2$. Consumer surplus and producer surplus are $CS \equiv \int_0^Q p(x)dx - p(Q)Q = (1/2)Q^2$ and $PS \equiv \pi_0 + \pi_1 = p(Q)Q - (k/2)(q_0^2 + q_1^2) + s_0q_0 + s_1q_1$, respectively. Social welfare is defined by the sum of the consumer surplus and producer surplus net total subsidy, that is, $W \equiv CS + PS - s_0q_0 - s_1q_1 = aQ - (1/2)Q^2 - (k/2)(q_0^2 + q_1^2)$.

The timing of the mixed oligopoly consists of a two-stage game as follows. In the first stage, the welfare-maximizing government determines the optimal discriminatory specific subsidy levels to both public and private firms (s_0, s_1) . After the first stage, both firms observe the optimal discriminatory subsidy levels (s_0, s_1) and engage in Cournot quantity competition in the second stage. The equilibrium concept follows the subgame perfect Nash equilibrium (SPNE). We solve the equilibrium by backward induction.

In the subsequent two sections, we investigate whether privatization neutrality holds in each situation. In Sect. 7.3, we examine the benchmark case in which the government and public firm aim to maximize social welfare when a discriminatory subsidy is adopted and confirm that the privatization neutrality theorem holds, as has been shown in previous studies. In Sect. 7.4, we consider the case in which the public firm has objectives other than social welfare maximization before privatizing and demonstrate the main result on privatization neutrality.

7.3 Previous Results for the Privatization Neutrality Theorem

Since White (1996) first clarified the privatization neutrality theorem, most of his successive studies have assumed that the government gives a uniform specific subsidy to both public and private firms. In this benchmark section, allowing the government to implement a discriminatory subsidy for both firms, we confirm that when a public firm maximizes social welfare before privatization, the neutrality theorem holds, and the resulting discriminatory subsidy levels are the same between the public firm and the private firm. To solve the SPNE by backward induction, we first consider Cournot competition between public and private firms in the second stage after the government provides the discriminatory specific subsidies, s_0 and s_1 , to the public firm and private firm, respectively. We then consider the first stage in which the government correctly inducing the outcome of the second-stage subgame thereby solves the optimal discriminatory subsidy levels to maximize social

welfare. We present the equilibrium outcome before and after privatization in Sects. 7.3.1 and 7.3.2, respectively.

7.3.1 Before Privatization

In the second stage before privatization, the first-order condition for a public firm to maximize social welfare is as follows:

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial q_0} = a - Q - kq_0 = 0 \Leftrightarrow q_0 = r_0(q_1) \equiv \frac{a - q_1}{k + 1}.$$
(7.1)

Note that the reaction function $q_0 = r_0(q_1)$ does not depend on its own subsidy level s_0 because s_0 obviously only affects the distribution of social welfare between the economic entities but not the amount of social welfare itself. The first-order condition for a private firm to maximize its own profit is as follows:

$$\frac{\partial \pi_1}{\partial q_1} = (a - Q + s_1) - q_1 - kq_1 = 0 \Leftrightarrow q_1 = r_1(q_0) \equiv \frac{a + s_1 - q_0}{k + 2}.$$
 (7.2)

In contrast to the public firm, the reaction function of the private firm $q_1 = r_1(q_0)$ depends on its own subsidy level s_1 .

By solving the simultaneous equations (7.1) and (7.2), we obtain the outputs for the public and private firms and the total output in the second stage before privatization as follows:

$$(q_0(s_1), q_1(s_1)) = \left(\frac{(k+1)a - s_1}{k^2 + 3k + 1}, \frac{ka + (k+1)s_1}{k^2 + 3k + 1}\right),$$
(7.3)

$$Q(s_1) = q_0(s_1) + q_1(s_1) = \frac{(2k+1)a + ks_1}{k^2 + 3k + 1}.$$
(7.4)

The Cournot–Nash equilibrium variables in the second stage before privatization are summarized in Table $7.1.^3$

Table 7.1 shows that the equilibrium variables (except for the public firm's profit) do not depend on the public firm's subsidy s_0 . The following equations hold: $p^B = kq_0^B$, $p^B + s_1 = (k+1)q_1^B$, $\pi_0^B = s_0q_0^B + (k/2)(q_0^B)^2$, and $\pi_1^B = \frac{k+2}{2}(q_1^B)^2$. Whether q_0^B or q_1^B is larger depends on the relative size of s_1 because $q_0^B \ge q_1^B$ if and only if $a \ge (k+2)s_1$. Likewise, whether π_0^B or π_1^B is larger also depends on the relative size of s_1 . As already explained, social welfare does not depend on s_0 . This

³Throughout this chapter, we denote the equilibrium variables before and after privatization with the superscripts B (before) and A (after).

Public firm's output	q_0^B	$\frac{(k+1)a-s_1}{k^2+3k+1}$
Private firm's output	q_1^B	$\frac{ka + (k+1)s_1}{k^2 + 3k + 1}$
Total output	Q^B	$\frac{(2k+1)a+ks_1}{k^2+3k+1}$
Price	p^{B}	$\frac{k[(k+1)a-s_1]}{k^2+3k+1}$
Public firm's profit	π_0^B	$\frac{\left[\frac{k(k+1)a+2(k^2+3k+1)s_0-ks_1\right][(k+1)a-s_1]}{2(k^2+3k+1)^2}$
Private firm's profit	π_1^B	$\frac{\frac{(k+2)[ka+(k+1)s_1]^2}{2(k^2+3k+1)^2}}{2(k^2+3k+1)^2}$
Social welfare	W^B	$(1/2)(Q^B)^2 + \pi_0^B + \pi_1^B - s_0q_0^B - s_1q_1^B$

 Table 7.1
 Cournot–Nash equilibrium in the second stage before privatization

implies that a government's subsidy policy for a public firm does not function at all to maximize social welfare.

The derivatives of outputs with respect to s_1 are as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \left(q_0^B(s_1)\right)' &= -\frac{1}{k^2 + 3k + 1} < 0, \quad \left(q_1^B(s_1)\right)' = \frac{k + 1}{k^2 + 3k + 1} > 0, \\ \left(\mathcal{Q}_B(s_1)\right)' &= \frac{k}{k^2 + 3k + 1} > 0. \end{aligned}$$

$$(7.5)$$

Thus, the increase in the private firm's subsidy s_1 before privatization brings about an increase in the private firm's output, total output, and profit and an increase in consumer surplus. In contrast, it decreases the public firm's output and price. Whether the increase in s_1 increases the public firm's profit and social welfare depends on the relative size of s_1 itself.

In the first stage, the government sets the subsidy level of the private firm to maximize social welfare. As social welfare does not depend on the subsidy level of the public firm, s_0 is not endogenously determined. By substituting (7.3) and (7.4), social welfare is described as a function of s_1 as follows:

$$W_B(s_1) = \frac{1}{2} (Q(s_1))^2 + \pi_0^B(s_1) + \pi_1^B(s_1) - s_0 q_0^B - s_1 q_1^B.$$
(7.6)

Noting that $(\pi_0^B(s_1))' = (s_0 + kq_0^B)(q_0^B)' < 0$ and $(\pi_1^B(s_1))' = (k+2)q_1^B(q_1^B)' > 0$, we derive the first-order condition for the government as follows:⁴

⁴In this chapter, we present the calculation process because the derivation of the optimal subsidy is quite complicated.
$$\begin{aligned} \left(W^{B}\right)' &= Q^{B} \left(Q^{B}\right)' + \left(\pi_{0}^{B}\right)' + \left(\pi_{1}^{B}\right)' - s_{0} \left(q_{0}^{B}\right)' - q_{1}^{B} - s_{1} \left(q_{1}^{B}\right)' = 0 \\ \Leftrightarrow s_{1} &= \frac{Q^{B} \left(Q^{B}\right)' + \left(s_{0} + kq_{0}^{B}\right) \left(q_{0}^{B}\right)' + \left(k + 2\right)q_{1}^{B} \left(q_{1}^{B}\right)' - s_{0} \left(q_{0}^{B}\right)' - q_{1}^{B}}{\left(q_{1}^{B}\right)'} \\ &= \frac{kQ^{B} - kq_{0}^{B} + \left(k + 1\right)\left(k + 2\right)q_{1}^{B} - \left(k^{2} + 3k + 1\right)q_{1}^{B}}{k + 1} = q_{1}^{B} \\ \Leftrightarrow s_{1}^{B^{*}} &= \frac{a}{k + 2}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(7.7)$$

The optimal subsidy level of the private firm is uniquely determined. In contrast, the subsidy level of the public firm only affects the distribution of social welfare among the economic agents and does not affect the size of the welfare at all. Thus, s_0 is not endogenously determined. By substituting the optimal private firm's subsidy before privatization, that is, s_1^{B*} , into the equilibrium variables in Table 7.1, we obtain the SPNE variables as shown in Table 7.2.

The following relationships regarding the SPNE variables hold: $s_1^{B^*} = q_0^B = q_1^B$, $p^B = kq_0^B, p^B + s_1^{B^*} = (k+1)q_1^B, \pi_0^B = s_0q_0^B + (k/2)(q_0^B)^2$, and $\pi_1^B = \frac{k+2}{2}(q_1^B)^2$. In this setting, both firms produce the same amount, and the optimal subsidy level of the private firm is equal to the firm's output. Although the public firm's profit π_0^B depends on the subsidy level of the public firm, s_0 is not endogenously determined. Above all, it should be noted that marginal cost pricing is realized, that is, $p^B = c'(q_i^B)$. Thus, the maximized social welfare achieves the first-best level.

Before privatization, a public firm chooses its own output that satisfies the marginal cost pricing to maximize social welfare. Furthermore, private firms are induced with an appropriate subsidy by the government to produce an output level that satisfies the marginal cost pricing.

7.3.2 After Privatization

After privatizing, the public firm maximizes its own profit. Thus, in the second stage after privatization, the first-order condition for the public firm is the same as that for the private firm. The first-order condition of the public firm is as follows:

$$\frac{\partial \pi_0}{\partial q_0} = (a - Q + s_0) - q_0 - kq_0 = 0 \Leftrightarrow q_0 = \frac{a + s_0 - q_1}{k + 2}.$$
 (7.8)

In contrast to the case before privatization, note that the reaction function of the public firm after privatization depends on its own subsidy level s_0 . The reaction function of the private firm does not change before and after privatization and it satisfies (7.2). By solving (7.8) and (7.2) with regard to q_0 and q_1 , we obtain the outputs for both the public and private firms and the total output in the second stage after privatization, as follows:

Table 7.2 SPNE before privatization \$\$	Optimal public firm's subsidy	s_0^{B*}	Indeterminate
	Optimal private firm's subsidy	s_1^{B*}	$\frac{a}{k+2}$
	Public firm's output	q_0^B	$\frac{a}{k+2}$
	Private firm's output	q_1^B	$\frac{a}{k+2}$
	Total output	Q^{B}	$\frac{2a}{k+2}$
	Price	p^B	$\frac{ka}{k+2}$
	Public firm's profit	π_0^B	$\frac{[ka+2(k+2)s_0]a}{2(k+2)^2}$
	Private firm's profit	π_1^B	$\frac{a^2}{2(k+2)}$
	Social welfare	W^B	$\frac{a^2}{k+2}$

$$\begin{pmatrix} q_0^A(s_0, s_1), q_1^A(s_0, s_1) \end{pmatrix} = \left(\frac{(k+1)a + (k+2)s_0 - s_1}{(k+1)(k+3)}, \frac{(k+1)a - s_0 + (k+2)s_1}{(k+1)(k+3)} \right),$$
(7.9)

$$Q^A(s_0, s_1) = \frac{2a + s_0 + s_1}{k+3}.$$
(7.10)

The Cournot–Nash equilibrium variables in the second stage after privatization are summarized in Table 7.3.

In Table 7.3, the equilibrium variables depend on both firms' subsidy levels (s_0 , s_1). The following equations hold: $p^A + s_0 = (k+1)q_0^A$, $p^A + s_1 = (k+1)q_1^A$, $\pi_0^A = \frac{k+2}{2}(q_0^A)^2$, and $\pi_1^A = \frac{k+2}{2}(q_1^A)^2$. Whether q_0^A or q_1^A is larger is completely determined by the relative size of s_0 and s_1 . That is, $q_0^A \ge q_1^A$ if and only if $s_0 \ge s_1$. Likewise, the magnitude relation between π_0^A and π_1^A is also determined by the relative size of s_0 and s_1 . The derivatives of outputs with respect to s_0 and s_1 are as follows:

$$\frac{\partial q_0^A}{\partial s_0} = \frac{k+2}{(k+1)(k+3)} > 0, \quad \frac{\partial q_1^A}{\partial s_0} = -\frac{1}{(k+1)(k+3)} < 0, \quad \frac{\partial Q^A}{\partial s_0} = \frac{1}{k+3} > 0,$$

$$(7.11)$$

$$\frac{\partial q_0^A}{\partial s_1} = -\frac{1}{(k+1)(k+3)} < 0, \quad \frac{\partial q_1^A}{\partial s_1} = \frac{k+2}{(k+1)(k+3)} > 0, \quad \frac{\partial Q^A}{\partial s_1} = \frac{1}{k+3} > 0.$$

$$(7.12)$$

Thus, the increase in the public firm's subsidy s_0 after privatization brings about an increase in the public firm's output, total output, and profit, as well as an increase in consumer surplus. It also results in a decrease in the private firm's output, price, and profit. Whether the increase in s_0 increases social welfare depends on the relative size of s_0 . In contrast, the increase in the private firm's subsidy s_1 after

Public firm's output	q_0^A	$\frac{\frac{(k+1)a+(k+2)s_0-s_1}{(k+1)(k+3)}}{(k+1)(k+3)}$
Private firm's output	q_1^A	$\frac{\frac{(k+1)a-s_0+(k+2)s_1}{(k+1)(k+3)}}{(k+1)(k+3)}$
Total output	Q^A	$\frac{2a+s_0+s_1}{k+3}$
Price	p^A	$\frac{(k+1)a-s_0-s_1}{k+3}$
Public firm's profit	π_0^A	$\frac{(k+2)[(k+1)a+(k+2)s_0-s_1]^2}{2(k+1)^2(k+3)^2}$
Private firm's profit	π_1^A	$\frac{\frac{(k+2)[(k+1)a-s_0+(k+2)s_1]^2}{2(k+1)^2(k+3)^2}}{2(k+1)^2(k+3)^2}$
Social welfare	W^A	$(1/2)(Q^A)^2 + \pi_0^A + \pi_1^A - s_0q_0^A - s_1q_1^A$

Table 7.3 Cournot-Nash equilibrium in the second stage after privatization

privatization brings about an increase in its output, total output, and profit, as well as an increase in consumer surplus. Furthermore, it decreases the public firm's output, price, and profit. Whether the increase in s_1 increases social welfare depends on the relative size of s_1 .

In the first stage, the government sets the subsidy levels of both public and private firms to maximize social welfare. By substituting (7.9) and (7.10) into social welfare, social welfare is described as a function of s_0 and s_1 as follows:

$$W^{A}(s_{0}, s_{1}) = \frac{1}{2} \left(Q^{A}(s_{0}, s_{1}) \right)^{2} + \pi_{0}^{A}(s_{0}, s_{1}) + \pi_{1}^{A}(s_{0}, s_{1}) - s_{0}q_{0}^{A}(s_{0}, s_{1}) - s_{1}q_{1}^{A}(s_{0}, s_{1}) .$$
(7.13)

Noting that $\frac{\partial \pi_0^A}{\partial s_0} = (k+2)q_0^A \frac{\partial q_0^A}{\partial s_0} > 0$, $\frac{\partial \pi_1^A}{\partial s_0} = (k+2)q_1^A \frac{\partial q_1^A}{\partial s_0} < 0$, $\frac{\partial \pi_0^A}{\partial s_1} = (k+2)q_0^A \frac{\partial q_0^A}{\partial s_1} < 0$, and $\frac{\partial \pi_1^A}{\partial s_1} = (k+2)q_1^A \frac{\partial q_1^A}{\partial s_1} > 0$, we derive the first-order conditions of the government with regard to s_0 and s_1 as follows:

$$\frac{\partial W^{A}}{\partial s_{0}} = Q^{A} \frac{\partial Q^{A}}{\partial s_{0}} + \frac{\partial \pi_{0}^{A}}{\partial s_{0}} + \frac{\partial \pi_{1}^{A}}{\partial s_{0}} - q_{0}^{A} - s_{0} \frac{\partial q_{0}^{A}}{\partial s_{0}} - s_{1} \frac{\partial q_{1}^{A}}{\partial s_{0}} = 0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow s_{0} = \frac{Q^{A} \frac{\partial Q^{A}}{\partial s_{0}} + (k+2)q_{0}^{A} \frac{\partial q_{0}^{A}}{\partial s_{0}} + (k+2)q_{1}^{A} \frac{\partial q_{1}^{A}}{\partial s_{0}} - q_{0}^{A} - s_{1} \frac{\partial q_{1}^{A}}{\partial s_{0}}}{\frac{\partial q_{0}^{A}}{\partial s_{0}}}$$

$$= \frac{(k+1)Q^{A} + (k+2)^{2}q_{0}^{A} - (k+2)q_{1}^{A} - (k+1)(k+3)q_{0}^{A} + s_{1}}{k+2}$$

$$= \frac{(k+2)q_{0}^{A} - q_{1}^{A} + s_{1}}{k+2} \Leftrightarrow (k+2)s_{0} - s_{1} = (k+2)q_{0}^{A} - q_{1}^{A}.$$
(7.14)

$$\frac{\partial W^{A}}{\partial s_{1}} = Q^{A} \frac{\partial Q^{A}}{\partial s_{1}} + \frac{\partial \pi_{0}^{A}}{\partial s_{1}} + \frac{\partial \pi_{1}^{A}}{\partial s_{0}} - s_{0} \frac{\partial q_{0}^{A}}{\partial s_{1}} - q_{1}^{A} - s_{1} \frac{\partial q_{1}^{A}}{\partial s_{1}} = 0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow s_{1} = \frac{Q^{A} \frac{\partial Q^{A}}{\partial s_{1}} + (k+2)q_{0}^{A} \frac{\partial q_{0}^{A}}{\partial s_{1}} + (k+2)q_{1}^{A} \frac{\partial q_{1}^{A}}{\partial s_{1}} - s_{1} \frac{\partial q_{1}^{A}}{\partial s_{1}} - q_{1}^{A}}{\frac{\partial q_{1}^{A}}{\partial s_{1}}}$$

$$= \frac{(k+1)Q^{A} - (k+2)q_{0}^{A} + (k+2)^{2}q_{1}^{A} + s_{0} - (k+1)(k+3)q_{1}^{A}}{k+2}$$

$$= \frac{-q_{0}^{A} + (k+2)q_{1}^{A} + s_{0}}{k+2} \quad \Leftrightarrow s_{0} - (k+2)s_{1} = q_{0}^{A} - (k+2)q_{1}^{A}.$$
(7.15)

By arranging the final equations of (7.14) and (7.15) with respect to s_0 and s_1 , we obtain the two following equations:

$$s_{0} = q_{0}^{A} = \frac{(k+1)a + (k+2)s_{0} - s_{1}}{(k+1)(k+3)} \Leftrightarrow (k^{2} + 3k + 1)s_{0} + s_{1} = (k+1)a.$$

$$(7.16)$$

$$s_{1} = q_{1}^{A} = \frac{(k+1)a - s_{0} + (k+2)s_{1}}{(k+1)(k+3)} \Leftrightarrow s_{0} + (k^{2} + 3k + 1)s_{1} = (k+1)a.$$

By solving the simultaneous equations (7.16) and (7.17) with respect to s_0 and s_1 , we obtain the welfare-maximizing subsidy levels of both firms (s_0^{A*} , s_1^{A*}) as follows:

$$(s_0^{A^*}, s_1^{A^*}) = \left(\frac{a}{k+2}, \frac{a}{k+2}\right).$$
 (7.18)

Both firms' subsidy levels are identical, that is, $s_0^{A^*} = s_1^{A^*}$. By substituting the optimal subsidy levels after privatization $(s_0^{A^*}, s_1^{A^*})$ in Table 7.3, we obtain the SPNE variables as shown in Table 7.4.

The optimal subsidy levels of both firms after privatization are uniquely determined in contrast to the public firm's subsidy level before privatization. The following relationships regarding the SPNE variables hold: $s_0^{A^*} = s_1^{A^*} = q_0^A = q_1^A$, $p^A + s_0^{A^*} = (k+1)q_0^A$, $p^A + s_1^{A^*} = (k+1)q_1^A$, and $\pi_0^A = \pi_1^A = \frac{k+2}{2}(q_i^A)^2$. It is clear that both firms produce the same amount, and the optimal subsidy levels are also equal between firms because both the public and private firms are identical after privatization. Although before privatization s_0^B is not determined endogenously and as a result π_0^B is also indeterminate, after privatization, the optimal subsidy level of the public firms $s_0^{A^*}$ and also its profit π_0^A are determined.

It should be noted that even after privatization marginal cost pricing is realized, that is, $p^A = c'(q_i^A)$, and the first-best maximized social welfare is achieved in the

(7.17)

Table 7.4 SPNE after privatization	Optimal public firm's subsidy	<i>s</i> ^{<i>A</i>} ^{<i>*</i>}	$\frac{a}{k+2}$
	Optimal private firm's subsidy	$s_1^{A *}$	$\frac{a}{k+2}$
	Public firm's output	q_0^A	$\frac{a}{k+2}$
	Private firm's output	q_1^A	$\frac{a}{k+2}$
	Total output	Q^A	$\frac{2a}{k+2}$
	Price	p^A	$\frac{ka}{k+2}$
	Public firm's profit	π_0^A	$\frac{a^2}{2(k+2)}$
	Private firm's profit	π_1^A	$\frac{a^2}{2(k+2)}$
	Social welfare	W^A	$\frac{a^2}{k+2}$

equilibrium. After privatizing, both the public firm and private firm are induced with a subsidy to produce an output level that satisfies the marginal cost pricing.

From the above result, we confirm that even when adopting a discriminatory subsidy, the government sets a uniform subsidy for each firm and the introduction of the uniform subsidy is justifiable to maximize social welfare.

7.3.3 The Privatization Neutrality Theorem

Comparing the SPNE before and after privatization, we can confirm that the privatization neutrality theorem is satisfied. In the benchmark case where the public firm maximizes social welfare before privatizing, the privatization neutrality theorem is summarized as follows.

Proposition 7.1 Suppose that the government sets the optimal discriminatory specific subsidy for a public firm and a private firm before and after privatization. The optimal subsidy level of the private firm, the public firm's and private firm's outputs, and social welfare are equal before and after privatization. Moreover, the outputs of both the public firm and private firm are identical. That is, $s_1^{B^*} = s_1^{A^*}$, $(q_0^B, q_1^B) = (q_0^A, q_1^A)$, and $W^B = W^A$. The optimal subsidy level of the public firm $s_0^{A^*}$ is uniquely determined only after privatizing.

Proof These results are obviously derived by comparing the SPNE variables in Table 7.2 with those in Table 7.4.

Proposition 7.1 is a benchmark result that has been already shown in previous studies. It claims that when the government appropriately sets optimal subsidy levels to both public and private firms, first-best social welfare can be achieved, and the levels of social welfare before and after privatization are equal. Moreover, coincidentally, the optimal subsidy level before and after privatization is the same. Proposition 7.1 holds for the following reasons. The optimal level of social welfare is achieved when marginal cost pricing is implemented. The government can adjust

each firm's output and implement marginal cost pricing by subsidizing both firms at an appropriate level. Because the public firm maximizes social welfare before privatizing, the output level that satisfies marginal cost pricing is fulfilled on its own without any policy induction.

In the next section, we consider the case in which the public firm maximizes objectives other than social welfare and investigate whether the privatization neutrality theorem continues to hold under a discriminatory subsidy policy.

7.4 When a Public Firm Maximizes Objectives Other than Social Welfare

In this section, we consider the case in which a public firm has an objective other than social welfare maximization. Previous studies have investigated whether privatization is neutral from the viewpoint of social welfare in a mixed oligopoly in which private firms have objectives other than profit maximization. For example, Kato and Tomaru (2007) clarified that even when private firms pursue general purposes other than profit maximization (e.g., total revenue maximization or total cost minimization), the privatization neutrality theorem continues to hold. They insist that for the neutrality theorem to hold, it is essential that the objectives of the public firm is to maximize social welfare irrespective of the objectives of private firms. Therefore, in the present study, we do not investigate what happens when the objective of a private firm is generalized. Instead, we only focus on the situation in which a public firm pursues a general objective other than social welfare, while the private firm seeks to maximize its own profit as usual.⁵

First, we describe the generalized objective of the public firm before and after privatization. As social welfare is denoted by $W = (1/2)Q^2 + \pi_0 + \pi_1 - (s_0q_0 + s_1q_1)$, we represent the generalized objective of the public firm as follows:

$$V \equiv \alpha CS + \beta_0 \pi_0 + \beta_1 \pi_1 - \gamma (s_0 q_0 + s_1 q_1).$$
(7.19)

The objective of the public firm depends on four weighted parameters $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma)$. Furthermore, α , β_0 , β_1 , and γ denote the weights of the objective function on consumer surplus, public firm's profit, private firm's profit, and payment to the subsidy (or tax burden if the subsidy is covered by tax), respectively. The above formulation can cover a variety of purposes of the public firm. For example, when $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (1, 0, 0, 0)$ and (0, 1, 1, 0), the public firm maximizes

⁵A recent study by Kato (2008) focused on the divergence of government and public firm objectives and investigated the optimal subsidy level and the maximized social welfare level when neutrality does not hold. However, that model assumed that the government itself pursues an objective other than social welfare, while the public firm maximizes social welfare under a uniform subsidy scheme. This differs from our setting in which the government maximizes social welfare and the public firm pursues other objectives.

the consumer surplus and producer surplus, respectively. When $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (1, 1, 1, 1)$, the objective is the same as social welfare maximization before privatization as usual. When $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (0, 1, 0, 0)$, it is the same as the public firm's profit maximization after privatization as usual, as shown in Sect. 7.3. Moreover, $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (\alpha, 1, \alpha, \alpha)$ implies that the public firm is partially privatized because its objective is the weighted average between the social welfare and the public firm's profit by the ratio of $(\alpha, 1 - \alpha)$.⁶ Furthermore, when $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (1, 1, 1, 0)$, it implies that the public firm maximizes social welfare without taking a welfare loss (caused by a subsidy payment) into consideration. When $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (0, 0, 0, 1)$, the public firm aims to minimize the subsidy payment (or equivalently, maximize the tax revenue).

In the benchmark analysis in Sect. 7.3, we compared only two cases, $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (1, 1, 1, 1)$ and $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (0, 1, 0, 0)$, and showed that social welfare does not change before and after privatization. Tomaru's (2006) seminal study demonstrated that even if we consider partial privatization as the generalized case, that is, $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (\alpha, 1, \alpha, \alpha)$, social welfare does not change before and after privatization. As other examples, if the public firm cares more (less) about tax revenue, parameter γ becomes larger (smaller) than β_0 .

In the above setting regarding the public firm's objective function, we investigate whether the privatization neutrality theorem holds. To solve the SPNE by backward induction, in Sect. 7.4.1, we first consider Cournot competition between a public firm and a private firm in the second stage. In Sect. 7.4.2, we consider the first stage in which the welfare-maximizing government sets optimal discriminatory subsidy levels.

7.4.1 The Second Stage

In the second stage, before privatization, the public firm maximizes the objective denoted by (7.19) with respect to q_0 . In this chapter, we limit the discussion to the situation where the equilibrium output is the interior solution to simplify the analysis. Noting that as $CS = (1/2)Q^2$, $\pi_0 = (a - Q + s_0)q_0 - (k/2)q_0^2$, and $\pi_1 = (a - Q + s_1)q_1 - (k/2)q_1^2$, these derivatives with respect to q_0 are $\frac{\partial CS}{\partial q_0} = Q$, $\frac{\partial \pi_0}{\partial q_0} = a - Q + s_0 - q_0 - kq_0$, and $\frac{\partial \pi_1}{\partial q_0} = -q_1 < 0$; the first-order condition for the public firm is derived as follows:

⁶Note that as the objective is social welfare (public firm's profit) maximization when $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (1, 1, 1, 1)$ ((0, 1, 0, 0)), we obtain $(\alpha, 1, \alpha, \alpha)$ by taking a weighted average among them at a rate of $(\alpha, 1 - \alpha)$.

7 Privatization Neutrality Theorem When a Public Firm Maximizes Objectives...

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial q_0} = \alpha \frac{\partial CS}{\partial q_0} + \beta_0 \frac{\partial \pi_0}{\partial q_0} + \beta_1 \frac{\partial \pi_1}{\partial q_0} - \gamma s_0 = 0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow \alpha Q + \beta_0 [a - Q + s_0 - (k + 1)q_0] - \beta_1 q_1 - \gamma s_0 = 0$$

$$\Leftrightarrow q_0 = r_0(q_1) \equiv \frac{\beta_0 a - (\gamma - \beta_0) s_0 + (\alpha - \beta_0 - \beta_1)q_1}{\beta_0(k + 2) - \alpha}.$$
(7.20)

If $\alpha \neq \beta_0 + \beta_1$, the reaction function depends on q_1 . Moreover, if $\beta_0 \neq \gamma$, the reaction function of the public firm, (7.20), depends on its own subsidy level s_0 . This implies that if $\beta_0 = \gamma$, the subsidy level s_0 only affects the distribution between the public firm and other economic agents without altering the social welfare level.

In contrast, suppose that the fully privatized public firm maximizes its own profit. As the public firm's profit is $\pi_0 = (a - Q + s_0)q_0 - (k/2)q_0^2$, the first-order condition for the fully privatized public firm is given as follows:

$$\frac{\partial \pi_0}{\partial q_0} = (a - Q + s_0) - q_0 - kq_0 = 0 \Leftrightarrow q_0 = r_0(q_1) \equiv \frac{a + s_0 - q_1}{k + 2}.$$
 (7.21)

The reaction function depends on s_0 . However, this case is a specific case among more generalized ones because $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (0, 1, 0, 0)$. Thus, in the following analysis, we do not distinguish between before and after privatization and derive the equilibrium under generalized parameters, $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma)$.

The private firm maximizes its own profit. The first-order condition for a private firm is as follows:

$$\frac{\partial \pi_1}{\partial q_1} = (a - Q + s_1) - q_1 - kq_1 = 0 \Leftrightarrow q_1 = r_1(q_0) \equiv \frac{a + s_1 - q_0}{k + 2}.$$
 (7.22)

The reaction function of the private firm, (7.22), depends on its own subsidy level s_1 .

By solving the reaction functions (7.20) and (7.22) with respect to q_0 and q_1 , we derive the equilibrium variables in Table 7.5. The following equations hold: $p + s_1 = (k + 1)q_1$, $\pi_0 = [p + s_0 - (k/2)q_0]q_0$, $\pi_1 = \frac{k+2}{2}q_1^2$, and $q_0 = B_0/C_0$. Whether q_0 or q_1 is larger depends on the relative sizes of s_0 and s_1 . Likewise, the magnitude relationship between π_0 and π_1 also depends on (s_0, s_1) .

It should be noted that when $\beta_0 = \gamma$, the equilibrium variables in the second stage (except for the public firm's profit) are independent of the public firm's subsidy level s_0 as shown in Table 7.5. The reason is that $\beta_0 = \gamma$ implies that the government and public firm correctly evaluate the impacts that the subsidy and tax have on social welfare and assigns an appropriate weight to tax and subsidy on social welfare. When $\beta_0 = \gamma$, the public firm properly recognizes that the same amount of tax levied from an economic entity subsidizes the public firm, and the total amount of social welfare does not change at all. Thus, the subsidy level to the public firm s_0 only affects income distribution and not welfare size.

Public firm's output	q_0	$\frac{[\alpha + \beta_0(k+1) - \beta_1]a - (\gamma - \beta_0)(k+2)s_0 + (\alpha - \beta_0 - \beta_1)s_1}{C_0}$
Private firm's output	q_1	$\frac{[\beta_0(k+1)-\alpha]a+(\gamma-\beta_0)s_0+[\beta_0(k+2)-\alpha]s_1}{C_0}$
Total output	Q	$\frac{[2\beta_0(k+1)-\beta_1]a-(\gamma-\beta_0)(k+1)s_0+[\beta_0(k+1)-\beta_1]s_1}{C_0}$
Price	p	$\frac{(k+1)[\beta_0(k+1)-\alpha]a+(\gamma-\beta_0)(k+1)s_0-[\beta_0(k+1)-\beta_1]s_1}{C_0}$
Public firm's profit	π_0	$\frac{A_0B_0}{2C_0^2}$
Private firm's profit	π1	$\frac{(k+2)\{[\beta_0(k+1)-\alpha]a+(\gamma-\beta_0)s_0+[\beta_0(k+2)-\alpha]s_1\}^2}{2C_0^2}$
Social welfare	W	$(1/2)Q^2 + \pi_0 + \pi_1 - s_0q_0 - s_1q_1$

Table 7.5 Cournot-Nash equilibrium in the second stage in the general case

 $A_0 \equiv [\beta_0(k+1)(k+2) + \beta_1 k - \alpha(3k+2)]a$

 $+ \left[\beta_0(k+2)^2 - 2\beta_1 + \gamma(k^2 + 4k + 2) - 2\alpha(k+1) \right] s_0 - [\alpha k + (\beta_0 - \beta_1)(k+2)] s_1$ $B_0 \equiv \left[\alpha + \beta_0(k+1) - \beta_1 \right] a - (\gamma - \beta_0)(k+2) s_0 + (\alpha - \beta_0 - \beta_1) s_1$ $C_0 \equiv \beta_0(k+1)(k+3) - \beta_1 - \alpha(k+1)$

In contrast, when $\beta_0 \neq \gamma$, the public firm does not adequately recognize the weight of the tax and subsidy on social welfare, and the government and the public firm achieve different levels of recognition with respect to the effect of the subsidy on social welfare. Thus, the difference in their objectives distorts decision-making. When $\beta_0 < \gamma$, the public firm underestimates the effect of the subsidy policy because, for example, due to the distortion on taxation, the public firm recognizes that the amount of the tax levied from others is less than the subsidy paid to the public firm and that subsidization causes the inefficiency on income distribution. In contrast, when $\beta_0 > \gamma$, the public firm places greater weight on the public firm's profit than the government and overestimates the effectiveness of the subsidy. When $\beta_0 \neq \gamma$, a conflict of interest on taxation or subsidization between the government and the public firm arises, and the public firm that overestimates or underestimates the effect of the subsidy on social welfare adjusts its output depending on the given subsidy level. In sum, when $\beta_0 = \gamma$, the equilibrium variables (except for the public firm's profit) do not depend on s_0 , and when $\beta_0 \neq \gamma$, all the equilibrium variables including social welfare depend on both firms' subsidy levels (s_0, s_1) .

7.4.2 The First Stage

In the first stage, the government provides a discriminatory specific subsidy to a public firm and a private firm (s_0, s_1) to maximize social welfare. Because whether social welfare is a function of s_0 depends on whether $\beta_0 = \gamma$ holds, we divide the following analysis into two cases, $\beta_0 = \gamma$ and $\beta_0 \neq \gamma$, and examine them in order.

7.4.2.1 When a Public Firm Correctly Recognizes the Effect of the Subsidy $(\beta_0 = \gamma)$

When a public firm correctly recognizes that subsidization does not change the level of social welfare at all, social welfare only depends on s_1 as follows:

$$W(s_1) = \frac{1}{2} (Q(s_1))^2 + \pi_0(s_1) + \pi_1(s_1) - s_0 q_0 - s_1 q_1.$$
(7.23)

Therefore, q_0 , q_1 , Q, and π_1 do not depend on s_0 . It should be noted that because $\pi_0 = [p + s_0 - (k/2)q_0]q_0$, social welfare also does not depend on s_0 . In this case, the optimal subsidy level to a public firm is indeterminate from the viewpoint of social welfare maximization, which is similar to the result before privatizing in Sect. 7.3.1. Here we solve the optimal subsidy to the private firm s_1^* . By tedious calculation, we obtain the derivatives of the equilibrium variables with respect to s_1 as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} q_0'(s_1) &= \frac{\alpha - \beta_0 - \beta_1}{\beta_0(k+1)(k+3) - \beta_1 - \alpha(k+1)}, \\ q_1'(s_1) &= \frac{\beta_0(k+2) - \alpha}{\beta_0(k+1)(k+3) - \beta_1 - \alpha(k+1)}, \\ Q'(s_1) &= \frac{\beta_0(k+1) - \beta_1}{\beta_0(k+1)(k+3) - \beta_1 - \alpha(k+1)}, \\ p_1'(s_1) &= -Q', \\ \pi_0'(s_1) &= (p+s_0 - kq_0)q_0' - q_0Q', \\ \pi_1'(s_1) &= (k+2)q_1q_1'. \end{aligned}$$
(7.24)

The first-order condition for the government with respect to s_1 is as follows:⁷

$$\begin{split} W'(s_{1}) &= QQ' + \pi'_{0} + \pi'_{1} - s_{0}q'_{0} - q_{1} - s_{1}q'_{1} = 0 \\ \Leftrightarrow s_{1} &= \frac{QQ' + (p + s_{0} - kq_{0})q'_{0} - q_{0}Q' + (k + 2)q_{1}q'_{1} - s_{0}q'_{0} - q_{1}}{q'_{1}} \\ &= \frac{[a - (k + 1)q_{0}]q'_{0} + (k + 3)q_{1}q'_{1} - q_{1}}{q'_{1}} \\ &= \frac{(\alpha - \beta_{0} - \beta_{1})a - (\alpha - \beta_{0} - \beta_{1})(k + 1)q_{0} + [\beta_{0}(k + 3) + \beta_{1} - 2\alpha]q_{1}}{\beta_{0}(k + 2) - \alpha} \\ \Leftrightarrow s_{1}^{*} &= \frac{[\beta_{0}(k + 1) - \alpha][\beta_{0}(k + 1) - \beta_{1}] + (\alpha - \beta_{0} - \beta_{1})(\beta_{1} - 2\alpha)k}{[\beta_{0}(k + 2) - \alpha][\beta_{0}k(k + 3) - 2\beta_{1} - \alpha(k - 1)] + (\alpha - \beta_{0} - \beta_{1})^{2}(k + 1)}a. \end{split}$$

$$(7.25)$$

⁷Throughout the analysis, we assume that the second-order condition is satisfied. Depending on the value of the parameters, $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma)$, it arises that the second-order condition is not satisfied, and the optimal subsidy level is a corner solution. We exclude such an uninteresting case from the analysis.

By substituting the optimal private firm's subsidy level obtained in (7.25) into the equilibrium variables in Table 7.5, we obtain the SPNE variables. However, because the equilibrium output is too complicated to describe, we omit the SPNE outcome in this study. In general, welfare size and SPNE outcomes differ depending on the parameters (α , β_0 , β_1 , γ), and the privatization neutrality theorem does not hold.

Therefore, we consider under which conditions the privatization neutrality theorem holds when $\beta_0 = \gamma$. To show the welfare neutrality when the public firm aims for social welfare maximization, suppose that the optimal private firm's subsidy level that we solved in (7.25) is equal to the optimal level we presented in Sect. 7.3, that is, $s_1^* = \frac{a}{k+2}$. From this equality, we obtain the following condition:

$$s_{1}^{*} = \frac{[\beta_{0}(k+1) - \alpha][\beta_{0}(k+1) - \beta_{1}] + (\alpha - \beta_{0} - \beta_{1})(\beta_{1} - 2\alpha)k}{[\beta_{0}(k+2) - \alpha][\beta_{0}k(k+3) - 2\beta_{1} - \alpha(k-1)] + (\alpha - \beta_{0} - \beta_{1})^{2}(k+1)}a = \frac{a}{k+2} \Leftrightarrow (\beta_{0} + \beta_{1} - 2\alpha)[k(k+3)\alpha - \beta_{0}(k^{2} + 2k - 1) - \beta_{1}(k^{2} + 3k + 1)] = 0 \Rightarrow \beta_{0} + \beta_{1} = 2\alpha.$$
(7.26)

Thus, if $\beta_0 + \beta_1 = 2\alpha$, the optimal subsidy level is equal to that when the privatization neutrality theorem holds. When substituting this optimal subsidy level into the SPNE variables in Table 7.5, we can confirm that we derive the same equilibrium outcome as the SPNE outcome before privatization in Table 7.2. We summarize the SPNE outcome in Table 7.6.

Only when $\beta_0 + \beta_1 = 2\alpha$, the maximized social welfare is attained, and the privatization neutrality is satisfied. If $\beta_0 = \beta_1 \equiv \beta$, that is, the public firm puts equal weight to both firms' profits on social welfare, this condition is rewritten as $\alpha = \beta$. In other words, if the public firm regards consumer surplus and producer surplus to be equally important, the privatization neutrality theorem recovers, and the government can achieve maximized social welfare. In particular, two representative examples are $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (1, 0, 0, 0)$ and (1, 1, 1, 1). The former (the latter) implies that the public firm pursues consumer surplus (social welfare) maximization. In the former case, the public firm does not put any weight on producer surplus so that $2\alpha > \beta_0 + \beta_1 = 0$ holds. When the public firm pursues consumer surplus maximization, neutrality does not hold.

In contrast, when $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (1, 1, 1, 1)$, as already shown in Sect. 7.3, the government and public firm have a common objective—social welfare maximization. As consumer surplus and producer surplus are assigned an equal weight, neutrality holds. However, it should be noted that when $\beta_0 = \gamma$, the region of parameters in which privatization neutrality holds is quite limited. If $\beta_0 = \beta_1 \equiv \beta = \gamma$, the condition in which neutrality holds degenerates into $\alpha = \beta$, which indicates that the public firm is a social welfare maximizer and has a common interest with the government. It suggests that when $\beta_0 = \gamma$, neutrality

Table 7.6 SPNE when $\beta_0 + \beta_1 = 2\alpha$ and $\beta_0 = \gamma$			
	Optimal public firm's subsidy	s_0^*	Indeterminate
	Optimal private firm's subsidy	s_1^*	$\frac{a}{k+2}$
	Public firm's output	q_0	$\frac{a}{k+2}$
	Private firm's output	q_1	$\frac{a}{k+2}$
	Total output	Q	$\frac{2a}{k+2}$
	Price	р	$\frac{ka}{k+2}$
	Public firm's profit	π_0	$\frac{[ka+2(k+2)s_0]a}{2(k+2)^2}$
	Private firm's profit	π_1	$\frac{a^2}{2(k+2)}$
	Social welfare	W	$\frac{a^2}{k+2}$

cannot be satisfied in many situations in which the public firm has various objectives.

7.4.2.2 When a Public Firm Incorrectly Recognizes the Effect of Subsidy $(\beta_0 \neq \gamma)$

When a public firm incorrectly recognizes that subsidization changes welfare size, social welfare depends on (s_0, s_1) as follows:

$$W(s_0, s_1) = \frac{1}{2} \left(Q(s_0, s_1) \right)^2 + \pi_0(s_0, s_1) + \pi_1(s_0, s_1) - s_0 q_0(s_0, s_1) - s_1 q_1(s_0, s_1).$$
(7.27)

Here we solve the optimal subsidy levels for both public and private firms (s_0^*, s_1^*) . By tedious calculation, we obtain the partial derivatives of the equilibrium variables with respect to s_0 and s_1 as follows:

$$\frac{\partial q_0}{\partial s_0} = -\frac{(\gamma - \beta_0)(k+2)}{\beta_0(k+1)(k+3) - \beta_1 - \alpha(k+1)},
\frac{\partial q_1}{\partial s_0} = \frac{\gamma - \beta_0}{\beta_0(k+1)(k+3) - \beta_1 - \alpha(k+1)},
\frac{\partial Q}{\partial s_0} = -\frac{(\gamma - \beta_0)(k+1)}{\beta_0(k+1)(k+3) - \beta_1 - \alpha(k+1)},
\frac{\partial p}{\partial s_0} = -\frac{\partial Q}{\partial s_0},$$
(7.28)

$$\frac{\partial \pi_{0}}{\partial s_{0}} = (p + s_{0} - kq_{0}) \frac{\partial q_{0}}{\partial s_{0}} + \left(1 - \frac{\partial Q}{\partial s_{0}}\right) q_{0}, \frac{\partial \pi_{1}}{\partial s_{0}} = (k + 2)q_{1} \frac{\partial q_{1}}{\partial s_{0}},$$

$$\frac{\partial q_{0}}{\partial s_{1}} = \frac{\alpha - \beta_{0} - \beta_{1}}{\beta_{0}(k + 1)(k + 3) - \beta_{1} - \alpha(k + 1)},$$

$$\frac{\partial q_{1}}{\partial s_{1}} = \frac{\beta_{0}(k + 2) - \alpha}{\beta_{0}(k + 1)(k + 3) - \beta_{1} - \alpha(k + 1)},$$

$$\frac{\partial Q}{\partial s_{1}} = \frac{\beta_{0}(k + 1) - \beta_{1}}{\beta_{0}(k + 1)(k + 3) - \beta_{1} - \alpha(k + 1)},$$

$$\frac{\partial p}{\partial s_{1}} = -\frac{\partial Q}{\partial s_{1}},$$

$$\frac{\partial \pi_{0}}{\partial s_{1}} = (p + s_{0} - kq_{0}) \frac{\partial q_{0}}{\partial s_{1}} - q_{0} \frac{\partial Q}{\partial s_{1}},$$

$$\frac{\partial \pi_{1}}{\partial s_{1}} = (k + 2)q_{1} \frac{\partial q_{1}}{\partial s_{1}}.$$
(7.29)

The partial derivatives with respect to s_1 are the same as those in (7.24).

The first-order conditions for the government with respect to s_0 and s_1 are as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial W}{\partial s_{0}} &= Q \frac{\partial Q}{\partial s_{0}} + \frac{\partial \pi_{0}}{\partial s_{0}} + \frac{\partial \pi_{1}}{\partial s_{0}} - q_{0} - s_{0} \frac{\partial q_{0}}{\partial s_{0}} - s_{1} \frac{\partial q_{1}}{\partial s_{0}} = 0 \\ &\Leftrightarrow [a - (k+1)q_{0}] \frac{\partial q_{0}}{\partial s_{0}} = [s_{1} - (k+3)q_{1}] \frac{\partial q_{1}}{\partial s_{0}} \\ &\Leftrightarrow s_{1} - q_{1} = -(k+2)[a - (k+1)q_{0} - q_{1}]. \end{aligned}$$
(7.30)
$$&\Leftrightarrow s_{1} - q_{1} = -(k+2)[a - (k+1)q_{0} - q_{1}]. \\ \frac{\partial W}{\partial s_{1}} &= Q \frac{\partial Q}{\partial s_{1}} + \frac{\partial \pi_{0}}{\partial s_{1}} + \frac{\partial \pi_{1}}{\partial s_{0}} - s_{0} \frac{\partial q_{0}}{\partial s_{1}} - q_{1} - s_{1} \frac{\partial q_{1}}{\partial s_{1}} = 0 \\ \Leftrightarrow s_{1} &= \frac{Q \frac{\partial Q}{\partial s_{1}} + (p + s_{0} - kq_{0}) \frac{\partial q_{0}}{\partial s_{1}} - q_{0} \frac{\partial Q}{\partial s_{1}} + (k+2)q_{1} \frac{\partial q_{1}}{\partial s_{1}} - s_{0} \frac{\partial q_{0}}{\partial s_{1}} - q_{1}}{\frac{\partial q_{1}}{\partial s_{1}}} \\ &= \frac{[a - (k+1)q_{0}] \frac{\partial q_{0}}{\partial s_{1}} + (k+3)q_{1} \frac{\partial q_{1}}{\partial s_{1}} - q_{1}}{\frac{\partial q_{1}}{\partial s_{1}}} \\ &= \frac{(\alpha - \beta_{0} - \beta_{1})[a - (k+1)q_{0}] - [2\alpha - \beta_{0}(k+3) - \beta_{1}]q_{1}}{\beta_{0}(k+2) - \alpha}} \\ \Leftrightarrow \quad [\beta_{0}(k+2) - \alpha](s_{1} - q_{1}) = (\alpha - \beta_{0} - \beta_{1})[a - (k+1)q_{0} - q_{1}]. \end{aligned}$$
(7.31)

By solving the simultaneous equations (7.30) and (7.31) with respect to (s_0, s_1) , we obtain the following optimal subsidy levels:⁸

⁸See Appendix A.7.1 for the derivative process.

Table 7.7 SPNE when $\beta_0 \neq \gamma$	Optimal public firm's subsidy	s_0^*	$\frac{(2\alpha - \beta_0 - \beta_1)a}{(\gamma - \beta_0)(k+2)}$	
	Optimal private firm's subsidy	s_1^*	$\frac{a}{k+2}$	
	Public firm's output	q_0	$\frac{a}{k+2}$	
	Private firm's output	q_1	$\frac{a}{k+2}$	
	Total output	Q	$\frac{2a}{k+2}$	
	Price	р	$\frac{ka}{k+2}$	
	Public firm's profit	π_0	$\frac{[2(2\alpha - \beta_0 - \beta_1) + k(\gamma - \beta_0)]a^2}{2(\gamma - \beta_0)(k + 2)^2}$	
	Private firm's profit	π_1	$\frac{a^2}{2(k+2)}$	
		Social welfare	W	$\frac{a^2}{k+2}$

$$s_0^* = \frac{(2\alpha - \beta_0 - \beta_1)a}{(\gamma - \beta_0)(k+2)}, \ s_1^* = \frac{a}{k+2} = q_0 = q_1.$$
(7.32)

By (7.32), we confirm that both firms' outputs are identical, that is, $q_0 = q_1$, and the private firm's subsidy level is equivalent to the firm's output. This subsidy level is equal to that when the neutrality theorem holds. Moreover, when $\beta_0 + \beta_1 = 2\alpha$, the public firm's subsidy level is zero. In contrast, when $\beta_1 + \gamma = 2\alpha$, s_0^* is equal to s_1^* , and the optimal subsidy level is virtually uniform. For example, when the public firm is partially privatized, that is, when $(\alpha, \beta_0, \beta_1, \gamma) = (\alpha, 1, \alpha, \alpha)$, $\beta_1 + \gamma = 2\alpha$ holds, and the uniform subsidy scheme can achieve welfare neutrality, as shown in Tomaru (2006). By substituting the optimal subsidy levels obtained in (7.32) into the equilibrium variables in Table 7.5, we obtain the SPNE variables as shown in Table 7.7.

By choosing the optimal subsidy levels for both the public and private firms in an appropriate manner, the government can achieve maximized social welfare at any time when $\beta_0 \neq \gamma$. Moreover, the private firm's optimal subsidy level is always the same, and it does not depend on the weighting parameters on the public firm's objective. By making the government adjust the public firm's subsidy at an optimal level that is parameter dependent, the privatization neutrality theorem necessarily holds.

7.4.3 The Generalized Privatization Neutrality Theorem

Based on the results of the previous subsection, as summarized in Tables 7.6 and 7.7, we can summarize the generalized privatization neutrality theorem as the situation when a public firm pursues an objective different to that of the social welfare-maximizing government.

Proposition 7.2 Suppose that a public firm has an objective other than social welfare maximization and the government sets the optimal discriminatory subsidy for both public and private firms:

- (i) When the public firm appropriately evaluates income distribution by subsidization, the privatization neutrality theorem does not hold in general. More precisely, when β₀ = γ, neutrality only holds if β₀ + β₁ = 2α.
- (ii) When the public firm incorrectly recognizes that subsidization affects welfare size, that is, $\beta_0 \neq \gamma$, the privatization neutrality theorem necessarily holds.

Proposition 7.2(i) implies that even if the government optimally sets discriminatory subsidies to public and private firms, the privatization neutrality theorem might not be satisfied. Even when the public firm properly recognizes that the subsidy only affects income redistribution and not the size of social welfare, there exists the case in which the government cannot achieve maximized social welfare. In contrast, Proposition 7.2(ii) implies that when the public firm overestimates or underestimates the income redistribution effect caused by subsidization, the government can necessarily achieve maximized social welfare by implementing a discriminatory subsidy scheme. At first glance, this result seems paradoxical because this proposition claims that if a conflict of interest exists between the regulated public firm and government, the optimal first-best welfare level can be always implemented with a discriminatory subsidy policy but also vice versa. The reason why this proposition comes out is that when the public firm and the government have a common objective, the public firm's subsidy does not work at all and the policy instruments available to the government are limited. In this case, only when the public firm is also a social welfare maximizer can the first-best social welfare be achieved without any subsidy to the public firm, and privatization neutrality holds. In contrast, when a discrepancy exists between the goals of the government and regulated public firm, the government can utilize the difference in their objectives as an incentive scheme for the public firm to choose the appropriate quantity level. When the subsidy to the public firm functions effectively, first-best social welfare is necessarily guaranteed with the appropriate setting of the discriminatory subsidy to both public and private firms.

7.5 Concluding Remarks

This chapter investigated whether privatization neutrality holds when a public firm has an objective other than social welfare maximization and the government sets the optimal discriminatory subsidy for both public and private firms in a mixed oligopoly. We demonstrated that when the government adopts a discriminatory subsidy scheme for both a public firm and a private firm, welfare neutrality can be recovered in many situations. Notably, when a public firm incorrectly recognizes that subsidization causes income redistribution, the government can necessarily achieve maximized social welfare via the difference in recognition. In such a case, privatization neutrality necessarily holds. In contrast, when a public firm correctly recognizes that subsidization only affects income distribution and not social welfare, the economic situation in which neutrality holds is considerably limited. Our results suggest that if a government can effectively implement a discriminatory subsidy scheme for a public firm and a private firm as a regulatory instrument, the government can achieve the optimal result irrespective of the objective of the public firm. Together with the results of previous research in which the objective of the private firms does not matter for welfare neutrality to hold, our result suggests that irrespective of the objectives of both public and private firms in a mixed oligopoly, privatization neutrality can be supported in considerably broader economic circumstances.

Finally, we finish with a brief discussion of extension. First, this study only focused on the situation in which the public firm has a different objective to that of the government seeking social welfare maximization. As a further extension, it is natural that we extend the analysis to the situation in which the government also pursues objectives other than social welfare maximization, as already examined in several previous studies. For example, Kato (2008) investigated what happens when the government is also concerned about tax revenue as well as social welfare, while the public firm aims to maximize social welfare. However, such an extension can further complicate the analysis. In addition, according to our present investigation, if the government also has a different objective from social welfare maximization, the privatization neutrality theorem does not hold in most situations. Second, there will be room to incorporate asymmetric information into the model. Whether the government sets a uniform or discriminatory subsidy scheme might depend on the ability of the government or regulatory authorities to gather information about regulated firms. Since the seminal work of Laffont and Tirole (1993), numerous studies have investigated optimal regulation schemes under asymmetric information. If the appropriate choice among policy instruments, for example, a uniform or discriminatory subsidy scheme, depends on the information structure of the government, this will be a further important issue to explicitly incorporate into the model (e.g., the difference in information structures under asymmetric information). Third, our results show that when the government can effectively use policy instruments in a mixed oligopoly, a first-best result is achievable. From a mathematical viewpoint, the privatization neutrality theorem could be categorized as an envelope theorem. Thus, future research should investigate whether the privatization neutrality theorem under a discriminatory subsidy could prove to be an envelope theorem.

Acknowledgments I would like to thank Yoshihiro Tomaru and the seminar participants at the 41st Nagoya International Economic Study Group (NIESG), held at Chukyo University, for their helpful comments and suggestions. This study was supported in part by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (KAKENHI, grant no. 16K03615 and 16H03612) from Japan Society for the Promotion of Science. The author is solely responsible for any errors.

Appendix

Derivation of the Optimal Subsidy Levels (s_0^*, s_1^*) when $\beta_0 \neq \gamma$

From the two equations, (7.30) and (7.31), $\{(\alpha - \beta_0 - \beta_1) + (k+2)[\beta_0(k+2) - \alpha]\}$ $[a - (k+1)q_0 - q_1] = 0$ holds. Because generally $(\alpha - \beta_0 - \beta_1) + (k+2)[\beta_0(k+2) - \alpha]$ is not equal to zero for any k > 0, $a - (k+1)q_0 - q_1 = 0$ holds. Thus, it is confirmed that $s_1 = q_1$ and $q_0 = \frac{a-q_1}{k+1} = \frac{a-s_1}{k+1}$. When arranging the latter equation, we obtain the following equations:

$$q_{0} = \frac{[\alpha + \beta_{0}(k+1) - \beta_{1}]a - (\gamma - \beta_{0})(k+2)s_{0} + (\alpha - \beta_{0} - \beta_{1})s_{1}}{\beta_{0}(k+1)(k+3) - \beta_{1} - \alpha(k+1)} = \frac{a - s_{1}}{k+1}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow (\gamma - \beta_{0})(k+1)(k+2)s_{0} + [\beta_{1} - \beta_{0}(k+1)](k+2)s_{1}$$

$$= [2(k+1)\alpha - 2\beta_{0}(k+1) - \beta_{1}k]a,$$
(A.7.1)

$$q_{1} = \frac{[\beta_{0}(k+1) - \alpha]a + (\gamma - \beta_{0})s_{0} + [\beta_{0}(k+2) - \alpha]s_{1}}{\beta_{0}(k+1)(k+3) - \beta_{1} - \alpha(k+1)} = s_{1}$$

$$\Leftrightarrow (\gamma - \beta_{0})s_{0} + [\alpha k - \beta_{0}(k^{2} + 3k + 1) + \beta_{1}]s_{1}$$

$$= [\alpha - \beta_{0}(k+1)]a.$$
(A.7.2)

By solving the simultaneous equations, (A.7.1) and (A.7.2), we obtain the optimal subsidy levels as follows:

$$s_0^* = \frac{(2\alpha - \beta_0 - \beta_1)a}{(\gamma - \beta_0)(k+2)}, \ s_1^* = \frac{a}{k+2} = q_0 = q_1.$$
(A.7.3)

References

Cato S, Matsumura T (2013) Long-run effects of tax policies in a mixed market. FinanzArchiv 69 (2):215–240

- Fjell K, Heywood JS (2004) Mixed oligopoly, subsidization and the order of firm's moves: the relevance of privatization. Econ Lett 83(3):411–416
- Gil-Moltó MJ, Poyago-Theotoky J, Zikos V (2011) R&D subsidies, spillovers, and privatization in mixed markets. South Econ J 78(1):233–255
- Hamada K (2016) Privatization neutrality theorem and discriminatory subsidy policy. In von Mouche P, Quartieri F (eds) Contributions on equilibrium theory for Cournot oligopolies and related games: essays in honour of Koji Okuguchi. Springer, New York, pp 127–146 (forthcoming)
- Hashimzade N, Khodavaisi H, Myles GD (2007) An irrelevance result with differentiated goods. Econ Bull 8(2):1–7

Kato H (2008) Privatization and government preference. Econ Bull 12(40):1-7

Kato K, Tomaru Y (2007) Mixed oligopoly, privatization, subsidization, and the order of firms' moves: several types of objectives. Econ Lett 96(2):287–292

- Laffont J-J, Tirole J (1993) A theory of incentives in procurement and regulation. MIT Press, Cambridge, MA
- Matsumura T, Okumura Y (2013) Privatization neutrality theorem revisited. Econ Lett 118 (2):324-326
- Matsumura T, Tomaru Y (2012) Market structure and privatization policy under international competition. Jpn Econ Rev 63(2):244–258
- Matsumura T, Tomaru Y (2013) Mixed duopoly, privatization, and subsidization with excess burden of taxation. Can J Econ 46(2):526–554
- Myles GD (2002) Mixed oligopoly, subsidization and the order of firms' moves: an irrelevance result for the general case. Econ Bull 12(1):1–6
- Poyago-Theotoky J (2001) Mixed oligopoly, subsidization and the order of firms' moves: an irrelevance result. Econ Bull 12(3):1–5
- Tomaru Y (2006) Mixed oligopoly, partial privatization and subsidization. Econ Bull 12(5):1-6
- Tomaru Y (2014) Economic analysis on competition between public and private firms and privatization. Keiso Shobo (in Japanese), Japan, ch. 4, pp 125–157
- Tomaru Y, Saito M (2010) Mixed duopoly, privatization and subsidization in an endogenous timing framework. Manch Sch 78(1):41–59
- White MD (1996) Mixed oligopoly, privatization and subsidization. Econ Lett 53(2):189-195
- Zikos V (2007) A reappraisal of the irrelevance result in mixed duopoly: a note on R&D competition. Econ Bull 12(8):1–6

Chapter 8 Political Economic Analysis of Privatization

Tsuyoshi Shinozaki, Isidoro Mazza, and Minoru Kunizaki

Abstract This chapter analyzes the effect of domestic lobbying on the optimal degree of privatization and social surplus in a closed mixed oligopoly model and an extended two-country model. We find that lobbying activity leads to overprivatization in a closed economy and may improve social welfare in a two-country economy. When each country's benevolent government determines the optimal privatization level, the privatization level always leads to underprivatization. This means an open trade policy leads to underprivatization. However, our results show that overprivatization may also exist in an open economy.

8.1 Introduction

This chapter analyzes the effect of domestic lobbying on the optimal degree of privatization and social surplus in a mixed oligopoly model. Matsumura (1998) found that "neither full privatization (the government does not hold any shares) nor full nationalization (the government holds all of the shares) is optimal under moderate conditions." Thus, the government can achieve the optimal allocation by determining the privatization ratio as in Chap. 1. However, previous studies have not explained why the optimal privatization policy does not proceed if the above circumstance prevails. We argue that lobbying activity is one of the reasons for this problem. To our knowledge, no studies to date analyze a mixed oligopoly with the effect of lobbying activity from a theoretical perspective. From an empirical point of view, as in Ang and Boyer (2007), special interest groups in public firms lobby politicians and political parties and induce desirable policies via campaign contributions.

T. Shinozaki (🖂)

Tohoku Gakuin University, Sendai, Japan e-mail: shinozaki@mail.tohoku-gakuin.ac.jp

I. Mazza University of Catania, Catania, Italy

M. Kunizaki Aichi University, Nagoya, Japan Except for the studies of mixed oligopoly, numerous studies have investigated the effect of lobbying activity. Grossman and Helpman (1994) analyzed the effect of lobbying on trade protection using a small-country model and found that trade protection, or the optimal tariff rate, should be higher in industries characterized by lobbying. Goldberg and Maggi (1999) verified the same by empirical investigation. Moreover, Kagitani (2008) extended the lobbying model to a strategic trade policy.¹

Based on these considerations, we analyze the effect of lobbying activity on privatization policy and social welfare using a closed model and an extended two-country model. We find that lobbying activity leads to overprivatization in a closed economy and may improve social welfare in a two-country economy.

As in Han and Ogawa (2008) and Chap. 5, when each country's government can determine the optimal privatization level, underprivatization always emerges as a strategic policy. This implies that an open trade policy is a factor in underprivatization. Thus, they point out the need to increase the level of privatization as a coordination policy of the two countries. However, our results show that overprivatization is still possible based on the political behavior of the policymakers.

The structure of this chapter is as follows. In the next section, we construct a closed-economy model with or without lobbying activity by private firms. In Sect. 8.3, we extend the closed-economy model to that of a two-country model. Section 8.4 discusses the policy implications and explores future research possibilities.

8.2 Closed Economy

We describe a mixed oligopoly model with lobbying activity by a private firm. This section investigates the effect of lobbying activity on the optimal privatization policy in a closed economy following Han and Ogawa (2008), and Sect. 8.3 extends this model to a two-country model.

8.2.1 Basic Setting in a Closed Economy

Consider a market in a closed economy served by a partially privatized firm (firm 0) jointly owned by the government and the private sector and a pure private firm (firm 1). Both firms produce a homogenous good, with q_0 and q_1 representing the quantity of output of the public firm and the private firm, respectively. The firms face the inverse demand function p = 1 - 2Q, where p and $Q \equiv q_0 + q_1$ denote the price of goods and the aggregate output in this market. Both firms have identical cost

¹ Bernheim and Whinston (1986) and Dixit et al. (1997) developed the lobbying model to extend the theory of common agency.

functions, $c_j = \frac{1}{2}q_j$, j = 0, 1; thus, the revenue function of each firm becomes $\pi_j = \{1 - 2(q_0 + q_1)\}q_j - \frac{1}{2}q_j$, j = 0, 1. Assuming the demand function is linear, consumer surplus, *CS*, becomes $CS = Q^2$. Therefore, social welfare is $W = CS + \pi_0 + \pi_1$.

Following Matsumura (1998), the government owns a share of the partially privatized firm, $1 - \theta \in [0, 1]$. Here θ can be seen as the degree of privatization: $\theta = 1$ means a fully privatized firm, and $\theta = 0$ means a fully nationalized firm. Thus, the partially privatized firm's objective function becomes the sum of social welfare and the producer surplus:

$$V = \theta \,\pi_0 + (1 - \theta)W.$$

Maximizing the above objective function of the public firm and the revenue function of the private firm, we obtain the equilibrium output of the partially privatized firm, q_0^* , the private firm, q_1^* , and the equilibrium price, p^* , as

$$q_0^* = \frac{3}{11 + 10\theta},$$

$$q_1^* = \frac{1 + 2\theta}{11 + 10\theta},$$
(8.1)

and

$$p^* = \frac{3(1+2\theta)}{11+\theta}$$

where the effect of privatization on the equilibrium outputs of both firms and the equilibrium price are $\frac{dq_0^*}{d\theta} = -\frac{30}{(11+10\theta)^2} < 0$, $\frac{dq_1^*}{d\theta} = \frac{12}{(11+10\theta)^2} > 0$, and $\frac{dp^*}{d\theta} = \frac{36}{(11+10\theta)^2} > 0$, respectively.

Using (8.1), the producer surplus (or profits) of both firms and the consumer surplus become

$$\pi_0^* = \frac{9(1+4\theta)}{2(11+10\theta)^2},$$

$$\pi_1^* = \frac{5(1+2\theta)^2}{2(11+10\theta)^2},$$

(8.2)

and

$$CS^* = \frac{4(2+\theta)^2}{(11+10\theta)^2}.$$

The effect of privatization on the producer surplus of both firms and the consumer surplus can be also calculated as

$$\frac{d\pi_0^*}{d\theta} = \frac{36(3-5\theta)}{(11+10\theta)^2},
\frac{d\pi_1^*}{d\theta} = \frac{60(1+2\theta)}{(11+10\theta)^2} > 0,$$
(8.3)

and

$$\frac{dCS^{*}}{d\theta} = -\frac{72(2+\theta)}{(11+10\theta)^{2}} < 0$$

From (8.2), equilibrium social welfare can be obtained as $W^* = \frac{23+2\theta(22+7\theta)}{(11+10\theta)^2}$, and then we can obtain the optimal privatization ratio, which satisfies the maximization condition $\frac{dW^*}{d\theta} = 0$ as $\theta^* = \frac{2}{11}$ under a closed economy.

Lemma 8.1 *Optimal privatization ratio in a closed economy (Han and Ogawa* 2008).

In a closed economy, partial privatization is the optimal policy, and the privatization ratio is $\theta^* = \frac{2}{11}$.

8.2.2 Political Economic Model in a Closed Economy

In this subsection, we analyze the effect of lobbying by a private firm on the optimal privatization ratio. From the above analysis, the private firm has an incentive to influence the degree of privatization because an increase in θ decreases the output of the public firm and increases the revenue of the private firm. We assume that the private firm can provide contributions, *Z*, to the policymakers in return for influencing the privatization ratio, θ . Thus, the private firm offers a differentiable contribution schedule for the privatization ratio, $Z(\theta)$, to the policymakers ($Z'(\theta) > 0$). As a result, the payoff for the private firm is

$$\Pi_1 = \pi_1 - Z(\theta). \tag{8.4}$$

As in Cai and Li (2014), policymakers care about the level of the campaign contribution and the social surplus because the number of votes depends not only on the size of the campaign contribution but also on the public endorsement. Thus, the objective function of the policymaker is the sum of the consumer surplus, the producer surplus of the public firm, the producer surplus of the private firm, and the political contributions:

$$G(\theta) = CS + \pi_0 + \Pi_1 + \gamma Z(\theta) = CS + \pi_0 + \pi_1 + (\gamma - 1)Z(\theta),$$
(8.5)

where γ (> 1) denotes the weight that policymakers put on the political contributions of private firms.

Next, we consider the amount of political contributions from the private firm. Following Grossman and Helpman (1994), we focus on a truthful contribution schedule: $Z(\theta) = \max\{0, \pi_1(\theta) - b\}$. The maximization condition of the private firm has to satisfy

$$\frac{\partial \pi_1}{\partial \theta} = \frac{\partial Z}{\partial \theta},\tag{8.6}$$

and when this condition is satisfied, Z > 0.

We consider a three-stage game. In the first stage, the private firm offers a campaign contribution schedule to the policymaker. In the second stage, the policymaker determines the privatization level. In the third stage, the private firm and the public firm compete in a market. The game is solved by backward induction.

8.2.3 Optimal Privatization Policy and Lobbying Activity in a Closed Economy

In the third stage, both firms choose their outputs to maximize their revenue given in (8.1). In the second stage, the policymaker chooses the optimal privatization policy. In the first stage, the two firms determine the contribution schedule.

The policymaker determines the optimal privatization policy to maximize (8.5) subject to (8.6). Then we obtain

$$(\gamma - 1)\frac{d\pi_1(\theta)}{d\theta} + \frac{dW(\theta)}{d\theta} = \frac{12(10\gamma\theta + 5\gamma - 21\theta - 3)}{(11 + 10\theta)^3}$$

From this equation, the equilibrium privatization ratio, θ^{pc} , becomes

$$\theta^{pc} = \frac{5\gamma - 3}{21 - 10\gamma} > \theta^*. \tag{8.7}$$

Thus, we find that the lobbying activity leads to overprivatization in a closed economy. Differentiating (8.7) by γ , the effect of the policymaker's preference on the privatization ratio is $\frac{\partial \theta^{\mu c}}{\partial \gamma} = \frac{75}{(21-10\gamma)^2} > 0$. This implies that the private firm can induce the policymaker to choose a preferable policy by providing campaign contributions.

Proposition 8.1 *The optimal privatization policy in a political economic equilibrium in a closed economy.*

In a political equilibrium with lobbying activity by a private firm, the privatization level is higher than the optimal level.

8.3 Two-Country Model

In this section, we extend the closed-economy model to a two-country model as in Chap. 5 and Han and Ogawa (2008). Thus, the basic model is the same as Sect. 8.2 except that there are two symmetric countries, d and f.

8.3.1 Basic Setting of a Two-Country Model

In each country, there is a single public firm and a single private firm. Firms in each country produce homogenous goods and compete in a Cournot fashion in a single integrated market. The inverse demand function of the integrated market is given by $p = 1 - 2(q_0^d + q_1^d + q_0^f + q_1^f)$, where p and q_j^i represent the market price and the amount of goods sold by firm j in country i.

As with the closed economy, we assume that both firms in each country have identical cost functions, $c_j^i = \frac{1}{2}q_j^i$, i = d, f, and j = 0, 1. Thus, the revenue function of both firms in each country becomes $\pi_j^i = \left[1 - 2\left(q_0^d + q_1^d + q_0^f + q_1^f\right)\right]q_j^i - \frac{1}{2}q_j^i$ and j = 0, 1. Note that the consumer surplus, CS^i , becomes $CS^i = (Q^i)^2 = 0.25Q^2$ because we assume that the two countries are identical and have $Q^d = Q^f$. Thus, social welfare in country *i* is given by $W^i = CS^i + \pi_0^i + \pi_1^i$.

The objective function of the manager of the public firm in each country becomes the sum of social welfare and the producer surplus of the firms of its country, $V^i = \theta^i \pi_0^i + (1 - \theta^i) W^i$, where θ^i represents the privatization ratio in country *i*. From the revenue maximization of the public and private firms, the outcomes of each firm in Nash equilibrium are

$$q_0^d = \frac{4 + \theta^f - \theta^d}{4(4 + \theta^d + \theta^f)},$$

$$q_0^f = \frac{4 + \theta^d - \theta^f}{4(4 + \theta^d + \theta^f)},$$
(8.8)

and

8 Political Economic Analysis of Privatization

$$q_1^d = q_1^f = rac{2 + heta^d + heta^f}{4(4 + heta^d + heta^f)}.$$

Substituting (8.8) to the inverse demand function, the world price becomes

$$p^{w} = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{4 + \theta^{d} + \theta^{f}}.$$
(8.9)

Using (8.8) and (8.9), we obtain the equilibrium producer surplus (or revenue) of the firms and the consumer surplus in each country by

$$\pi_{0}^{d} = \frac{(4+3\theta^{d}+5\theta^{f})(4+\theta^{f}-\theta^{d})}{32(4+\theta^{d}+\theta^{f})^{2}},$$

$$\pi_{0}^{f} = \frac{(4+3\theta^{f}+5\theta^{d})(4+\theta^{d}-\theta^{f})}{32(4+\theta^{d}+\theta^{f})^{2}},$$

$$\pi_{1}^{d} = \pi_{1}^{f} = \frac{3(2+\theta^{d}+\theta^{f})^{2}}{32(4+\theta^{d}+\theta^{f})^{2}},$$

(8.10)

and

$$CS^{d} = CS^{f} = \frac{\left(6 + \theta^{d} + \theta^{f}\right)^{2}}{16\left(4 + \theta^{d} + \theta^{f}\right)^{2}}.$$

Differentiating (8.8), (8.9), and (8.10) with respect to the privatization ratio, we find that the effects of the privatization level on the output of all firms, the world price, the consumer surplus, and the producer surplus of all firms in both countries are as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial q_{0}^{i}}{\partial \theta^{i}} &= -\frac{4+\theta^{-i}}{(4+\theta^{i}+\theta^{-i})^{2}} < 0, \\ \frac{\partial q_{0}^{-i}}{\partial \theta^{i}} &= \frac{\theta^{-i}}{2(4+\theta^{i}+\theta^{-i})^{2}} > 0, \\ \frac{\partial q_{1}^{i}}{\partial \theta^{i}} &= \frac{\partial q_{1}^{-i}}{\partial \theta^{i}} = \frac{1}{2(4+\theta^{i}+\theta^{-i})^{2}} > 0, \\ \frac{\partial p^{w}}{\partial \theta^{i}} &= \frac{1}{(4+\theta^{i}+\theta^{-i})^{2}} > 0, \\ \frac{\partial CS^{i}}{\partial \theta^{i}} &= \frac{\partial CS^{-i}}{\partial \theta^{i}} = -\frac{6+\theta^{i}+\theta^{-i}}{4(4+\theta^{i}+\theta^{-i})^{3}} < 0, \\ \frac{\partial \pi_{0}^{i}}{\partial \theta^{i}} &= \frac{8-(\theta^{-i})^{2}-14\theta^{i}-\theta^{-i}(2+3\theta^{i})}{8(4+\theta^{i}+\theta^{-i})^{3}}, \\ \frac{\partial \pi_{0}^{-i}}{\partial \theta^{i}} &= \frac{3(\theta^{-i})^{2}-(2-\theta^{i})\theta^{-i}+2(4+\theta^{i})}{8(4+\theta^{i}+\theta^{-i})^{3}} > 0, \end{aligned}$$
(8.11)

and

$$\frac{\partial \pi_1^i}{\partial \theta^i} = \frac{\partial \pi_1^{-i}}{\partial \theta^i} = \frac{3(2+\theta^i+\theta^{-i})}{8(4+\theta^i+\theta^{-i})^3} > 0,$$

where superscript -i means the country's variables except for country *i*. From (8.11), the increase of the degree of domestic privatization decreases the consumer surplus in each country and increases the foreign firms' producer surplus. Therefore, the domestic policymaker has an incentive to decrease the privatization level.²

Using (8.10), social welfare in each country becomes

$$W^{i} = \frac{25 + 13\theta^{i} + \theta^{-i}(13 + 3\theta^{i} + 2\theta^{-i})}{8(4 + \theta^{i} + \theta^{-i})^{2}}.$$
(8.12)

Each benevolent policymaker maximizes (8.12) by choosing θ^i given by θ^{-i} . Thus, we obtain the first-order condition as follows:

$$\frac{dW^{i}}{d\theta^{i}} = \frac{13\theta^{i} + 3\theta^{i}\theta^{-i} + (\theta^{-i})^{2} + \theta^{-i} - 2}{4 + \theta^{i} + \theta^{-i}} = 0.$$

Solving this equation for θ^i , the optimal reaction function for the privatization policy of country *i* becomes $\theta^i = \frac{(1-\theta^{-i})(2+\theta^{-i})}{13+3\theta^{-i}}$. Using the symmetric assumption of the two countries, we obtain the optimal privatization level in Nash equilibrium:

²(8.11) means that an increase in θ^i decreases q_0^i and increases q_0^{-i} and p^w .

$$\theta^d = \theta^f = \frac{1}{4} \left(\sqrt{57} - 7 \right) \tag{8.13}$$

Lemma 8.2 (Proposition 1 in Han and Ogawa (2008)).

The extent of privatization in an international mixed oligopoly with two countries is smaller than that in a mixed oligopoly with a single domestic market.

As mentioned above, privatization increases the producer surplus of the domestic public firm and the foreign private firm and decreases the consumer surplus.³ Thus, the domestic policymaker prevents the flow of the domestic surplus to foreign producers. The coordinated problem provides the following first-order condition:

$$\frac{dW^{w}}{d\theta^{i}} = \frac{dW^{i}}{d\theta^{i}} + \frac{dW^{-i}}{d\theta^{i}} = \frac{(\theta^{-i})^{2} - 5\theta^{i} - (1+\theta^{i})\theta^{-i} + 2}{4+\theta^{i} + \theta^{-i}} = 0.$$

By solving this, the optimal privatization levels in the two countries' economies become

$$\theta^d = \theta^f = \theta^{w^*} = \frac{1}{3}.$$
(8.14)

By comparing (8.13) and (8.14), we obtain Lemma 8.3.

Lemma 8.3 (*Proposition 2 in Han and Ogawa* (2008)).

When lobbying activity is prohibited, underprivatization occurs in an international mixed oligopoly with two countries.

8.3.2 Optimal Privatization Policy in a Two-Country Political Economic Model

In this section, we illustrate the effect of domestic lobbying activity on the privatization policy in a two-country setting.⁴ To compare results, the basic setting is the same as in Sect. 8.3.1.

As in Sect. 8.2, the payoff of the private firm in each country is

$$\Pi_{1}^{i} = \pi_{1}^{i} - Z^{i}(\theta^{i}), \qquad (8.15)$$

 $^{^{3}}$ See (8.11).

⁴ In this chapter, we do not examine international lobbying or cross-border lobbying.

where $Z(\theta^i)$ represents the contribution schedule that the private firms optimally choose. The policymaker chooses the privatization level to maximize the weighted sum of social welfare, $CS^i + \pi_0^i + \Pi_1^i$, and $Z^i(\theta^i)$ as follows:

$$G^{i}(\theta^{i}) = CS^{i}(\theta^{i}) + \pi_{0}^{i}(\theta^{i}) + \Pi_{1}^{i}(\theta^{i}) + \gamma^{i}Z^{i}(\theta^{i}),$$

= $CS^{i}(\theta^{i}) + \pi_{0}^{i}(\theta^{i}) + \pi_{1}^{i}(\theta^{i}) + (\gamma^{i} - 1)Z^{i}(\theta^{i}),$ (8.16)

where $\gamma^i(>1)$ denotes the weight that the policymakers in each country put on the political contributions of domestic private firms. As in Sect. 8.2.3, private firms should select the following contribution schedule: $Z^i(\theta^i) = \max\{0, \pi_1^i(\theta^i) - b^i\}$. Thus, we obtain the maximization condition of the domestic lobbying agent in country *i* as

$$\frac{\partial \pi_1^i}{\partial \theta^i} = \frac{\partial Z^i}{\partial \theta^i},\tag{8.17}$$

when this condition is satisfied, $Z^i > 0$.

8.3.3 Inference of Lobbying Activity into the Privatization Policy in a Two-Country Model

Policymakers in each country maximize the objective function (8.16) by choosing the privatization level subject to (8.17):

$$(\gamma^{i}-1)\frac{d\pi_{1}^{i}(\theta^{i})}{d\theta^{i}} + \frac{dW^{i}}{d\theta^{i}} = \frac{3\gamma^{i}(2+\theta^{i}+\theta^{-i}) - (3\theta^{-i}+16)\theta^{i} - (\theta^{-i}+2)^{2}}{8(4+\theta^{i}+\theta^{-i})^{3}} = 0.$$

By solving this first-order condition for θ^i , the reaction function of country *i* becomes $\theta^{pc,i} = \frac{(\theta^{-i})^2 + 4\theta^{-i} - 3\theta^{-i}\gamma^i - 6\gamma^i + 4}{3\gamma^i - 3\theta^{-i} - 16}$. Under the symmetric assumption, the privatization level in a two-country economy becomes

$$\theta^{pc,i} = \frac{1}{4} \left(\sqrt{3} \sqrt{28 - 12\gamma^{i} + 3(\gamma^{i})^{2}} + 3\gamma^{i} - 10 \right) \gtrless \theta^{w^{*}}.$$
 (8.18)

Thus, we find that this Nash equilibrium privatization level is affected by the weight of the campaign contribution, $\gamma^i > 0$. When the policymaker has a strong interest in campaign contributions compared with the flow of domestic social surplus, the policymaker increases the privatization level to acquire campaign contributions.

Proposition 8.2 *Optimal privatization policy in a political economic equilibrium in a two-country model.*

When a private firm lobbies policymakers and policymakers' interests are stronger (weaker) than 25/18, underprivatization (overprivatization) occurs in an international mixed oligopoly with two countries.

Proof By solving (8.18) to $\gamma^i > 0$, we obtain $\gamma^i = 25/18$.

This proposition implies that the strategic effect shown in Lemma 8.3 is canceled out by the domestic lobbying effect, which is shown in Proposition 8.1. When the politicians' interests are 25/18, the privatization level also corresponds to the optimal privatization level, θ^{w^*} .

Corollary 8.1 *The Nash equilibrium privatization level in a two-country model corresponds to the socially optimal level when politicians' interests are 25/18.*

8.4 Discussion and Remaining Issues

This chapter analyzed the effect of lobbying activity by private firms on the optimal privatization level. As a result, we obtained two main results. First, in a closed economy, lobbying activity leads to overprivatization. Second, in a two-country economy, if and only if policymakers have a strong (weak) interest in campaign contributions, lobbying activity leads to overprivatization (underprivatization).

8.4.1 Implications of Lobbying Activity in a Closed Economy

In a closed economy, policymakers can control the output of the public firm by choosing the privatization level; here they choose lower partial privatization. However, private firms do not seek such lower partial privatization because it results in a greater output by public firms. As a result, this conflict between private and public leads to political pressure. Thus, private firms can increase their own revenue by providing campaign contributions. However, the size of the revenue depends on the interests of the policymaker. A higher level of privatization and higher revenue can be achieved when the policymaker has a high interest in campaign contributions.

The privatization level induced by lobbying activity leads to overprivatization rather than a socially optimal level. Thus, a high interest in campaign contributions by the policymaker reduces social welfare rather than increases the revenue of private firms.

8.4.2 Implications of Lobbying Activity in an Open Economy

In an open economy, two opposite effects are evident: the strategic effect (in a pure market), which was explained in Sect. 8.2, and the political effect, explained in Sect. 8.3. The former is caused by the strategic policy in each country. As in Han and Ogawa (2008) and Chap. 5, an open trade policy creates an outflow of domestic surplus. A benevolent policymaker chooses a low level of privatization to prevent such an outflow. The latter effect is caused by the lobbying activity of private firms. When a policymaker receives a campaign contribution, the private firm can increase its revenue by increasing the level of privatization.

Thus, we find that the optimal privatization policy is determined by two contrasting effects: the strategic effect reduces the privatization level, and the political effect increases the privatization level. Based on these considerations, when these two effects are canceled out, the privatization level corresponds to the socially optimal privatization level. This means that although only benevolent policymakers provide a low level of privatization, if a policymaker has an interest in obtaining campaign contributions, social surplus may increase in a two-country economy.

8.4.3 Other Types of Lobbying

Finally, we consider the possibility of extending this model to incorporate various types of lobbying effects.

First, we consider the case of lobbying competition between public and private firm. This differs from monopsonistic lobbying as in this chapter because the equilibrium output of the mixed oligopoly is characterized by asymmetric outputs. This situation induces different levels of equilibrium campaign contributions.

Second, we consider the effect of a change in the number of private firms. When private firms can increase their profits by providing campaign contributions, they always lobby policymakers. However, in general, lobbying itself is not conducted by one firm but by a number of firms. From this perspective, as in Mitra (1999) and Kagitani (2008), we can consider how a lobby is endogenously formed using a model with the organizational costs of lobby because the properties of lobbying are characterized by public goods that cause the free-rider problem.

Third, we consider the possibility of lobbying by foreign firms to domestic policymakers as in Huang et al. (2015). In this case, lobbying competition occurs between domestic and foreign firms, and the policymaker's objective function becomes $W^h = W^{h, \text{only}} + \varphi Z^f$, where the domestic social surplus, campaign contribution, and the preference parameter of the foreign campaign contribution are $W^{h, \text{only}}$, Z^f , and φ , respectively. Such foreign contributions will induce a higher level of privatization to increase the profits of foreign firms.

References

- Ang J, Boyer C (2007) Finance and politics: the wealth effects of special interest group influence during the nationalisation and privatisation of Conrail. Camb J Econ 31(2):193–215
- Bernheim BD, Whinston MD (1986) Menu auctions, resource allocation and economic influence. Q J Econ 101(1):1–31
- Cai D, Li J (2014) Protection versus free trade: lobbying competition between domestic and foreign firms. South Econ J 81(2):489–505
- Dixit A, Grossman G, Helpman E (1997) Common agency and coordination: general theory and application to tax policy. J Polit Econ 105(4):752–769
- Goldberg PK, Maggi G (1999) Protection for sale: an empirical investigation. Am Econ Rev 89(5):1135–1155
- Grossman G, Helpman E (1994) Protection for sale. Am Econ Rev 84(4):833-850
- Han L, Ogawa H (2008) Economic integration and strategic privatization in an international mixed oligopoly. FinanzArchiv 64(3):352–363
- Huang X, Jiang M, Li J (2015) A comparison of optimal tariffs and welfare under no lobbying, domestic lobbying and domestic-foreign lobbying. World Econ 38(1):136–150
- Kagitani K (2008) The number of firms and the politics of strategic trade policy. Scott J Polit Econ 55(1):107–122
- Matsumura T (1998) Partial privatization in mixed duopoly. J Pub Econ 70(3):473-483
- Mitra D (1999) Endogenous lobby formation and endogenous protection: a long-run model of trade policy determination. Am Econ Rev 89(5):1116–1134

Chapter 9 Government Preference and Merger

Hideya Kato

Abstract This chapter analyzes how the government's preference affects merger activity between a public firm and a private firm. We show that whether the merger occurs depends on the share ownership ratio of the merged firm and the government's preference for tax revenue. If the government puts a large weight on tax revenue, public and private firms will not merge.

9.1 Introduction

Seminal studies on mergers in mixed oligopolies include those of Bárcena-Ruiz and Garzón (2003) and Méndez-Naya (2008). These two studies deal with a merger between a public and private firm, using the partial privatization model constructed by Matsumura (1998). Bárcena-Ruiz and Garzón (2003) assumed that when a private and public firm merge, they establish a jointly owned multiproduct firm. The decision to merge depends on the degree to which goods are substitutes and on the percentage of the shares that the government owns in the multiproduct firm. In contrast, Méndez-Naya (2008) compared two oligopoly cases: one concerned a mixed oligopoly with a public firm and *n* identical private firms and the other case concerned n - 1 private firms and the merger of a private firms and the percentage of the shares of the effects of the number of private firms and the percentage of the shares of the merged firm on mergers.¹

White (1996) and Fjell and Heywood (2004) incorporated government policy into the mixed oligopoly model. They assumed that the government and public firms are interested in social welfare and showed that the government should subsidize production in a mixed oligopoly. In contrast, Kato (2008) focused on the fact that the objective of the government may differ from that of the public firm and assumed that the government cares not only about social welfare but also about

¹In addition to these papers, there are also studies on merger activities in a mixed oligopoly model, including Nakamura and Inoue (2007), Kamijo and Nakamura (2009), and Andree (2013).

H. Kato (🖂)

Ryukoku University, Kyoto, Japan e-mail: hideyakato@econ.ryukoku.ac.jp

[©] Springer Japan 2017

M. Yanagihara, M. Kunizaki (eds.), *The Theory of Mixed Oligopoly*, New Frontiers in Regional Science: Asian Perspectives 14, DOI 10.1007/978-4-431-55633-6_9

tax revenue. Under this assumption, it is shown that the government's optimal policy is to tax production.

In this chapter, we incorporate government preference into a mixed duopoly model where merger activity is considered. We follow the assumption of Kato (2008) and show that a merger depends not only on the percentage of the shares of the merged firm but also on the government preference for tax revenue. In particular, we show that if the government is concerned with tax revenue rather than social welfare, public and private firms will not merge.

This chapter is organized as follows. Section 9.2 describes the model. In Sect. 9.3, we solve equilibrium outcomes in a mixed duopoly and a merged monopoly. Section 9.4 compares these equilibrium outcomes and Sect. 9.5 concludes.

9.2 The Model

Consider an industry consisting of a public firm (firm 0) and a private firm (firm 1). Let q_0 be the output of the public firm, q_1 be the output of the private firm, and $Q(=q_0+q_1)$ be the total output. We assume that the public and private firms produce a homogeneous good. Its price is given by the inverse demand function p = 1 - Q. Under this demand function, consumer surplus is given by $CS = Q^2/2$. A specific tax is imposed on both firms.

As is usually assumed (e.g., De Fraja and Delbono 1989), both firms have identical technologies, which are represented by the following quadratic cost function:

$$c(q_i) = F + kq_i^2/2, \quad i = 0, 1,$$
(9.1)

where *F* is a fixed cost. For simplicity, we assume that F = 0 and k = 1. Then, the profit function of firm *i* is given by

$$\pi_i = (1 - Q)q_i - q_i^2/2 - tq_i, \quad i = 0, 1,$$
(9.2)

where *t* is the specific tax rate. The private firm chooses output level q_1 to maximize its own profit π_1 given by (9.2). In contrast, the public firm chooses output level q_0 to maximize the sum of the consumer and producer surplus, which is eliminated by tax revenue as follows:

$$U = \frac{Q^2}{2} + (1 - Q)Q - \frac{q_0^2 + q_1^2}{2} - T,$$
(9.3)

where T = tQ. In reality, a government and a public firm play different roles in the governmental organization. In general, the main purpose of the public firm is not

expected to be tax collection. Thus, we assume the public firm is not concerned about the tax revenue but rather the sum of the consumer and producer surplus.

In this chapter, following Kato (2008), we assume that the government has a preference. That is, it has its own objective function, which is different from that of the public firm, and is given by

$$W = U + (1 + \alpha)T,$$
 (9.4)

where α is the parameter representing the weight of the government preference for tax revenue. Because we are interested in the case where the government puts a larger weight on *T* than on *U*, we set $\alpha \ge 0$. If $\alpha = 0$, the government puts the same weight on *U* and *T*. In this case, the government is a benevolent one that maximizes social welfare. In contrast, the greater α becomes, the more the government cares about *T*. In particular, if α approaches infinity, the government can be seen as a Leviathan government that cares only about *T*.

We assume that when the public and the private firms merge, the government owns $\theta (\in [0, 1])$ percent of the shares of the merged firm (hereinafter, "share ownership ratio of the merged firm").² Following Bárcena-Ruiz and Garzón (2003), we consider that the merged firm maximizes the weighted average of the government's payoff and profit. Therefore, the merged firm chooses output levels of q_0 and q_1 to maximize the following objective function:

$$V = \theta U + (1 - \theta)(\pi_0 + \pi_1).$$
(9.5)

It should be noted that (9.5) can be rewritten as $V = \theta CS + (\pi_0 + \pi_1)$. That is, parameter θ denotes the degree that the government is concerned about consumer surplus. If the share ownership ratio is $\theta = 1$, the objective function of the merged firm is the sum of the consumer and producer surplus: the merged firm has the same objective function as the public firm. If $\theta = 0$, the merged firm is a pure private firm that maximizes the sum of the profits of both firms. If $\theta \in (0, 1)$, the merged firm is jointly owned by the public and private firms.

The equilibrium outcomes are derived from a framework of a simple three-stage game. In the first stage, the government and the private firm decide whether to merge. In the second stage, the government imposes a tax on the firms. In the third stage, the firms determine their output. If both firms merge, the merged firm makes a production decision in a monopoly market. However, if they do not merge, both firms simultaneously set their output in a mixed duopoly market. To obtain the subgame perfect Cournot–Nash equilibrium, we solve the model by backward induction.

²The share ownership ratio of the merged firm in this chapter corresponds to the shareholding ratio referred to in other chapters.

9.3 Equilibrium Outcomes

We consider the following two cases in turn: a mixed duopoly in which the public and private firm do not merge and a merged monopoly in which both firms merge and then the government and the private firm owns θ percent and $1 - \theta$ percent of the shares of the merged firm, respectively. In what follows, we denote the mixed duopoly case and the merged monopoly case by the superscripts *MD* and *ME*, respectively.

9.3.1 Mixed Duopoly

In this subsection, we consider the case of a mixed duopoly where the public and the private firm do not merge. First, we solve the output levels of both firms. The private firm chooses the level q_1 , and maximizes its own profit, given by (9.2). The public firm chooses output level q_0 , maximizing the sum of the consumer and producer surplus, given by (9.3). Then, solving these maximization problems under Nash competition, we obtain the following output levels of the public and private firms:

$$q_0 = \frac{2(1-t)}{5},\tag{9.6}$$

$$q_1 = \frac{(1-t)}{5}.$$
 (9.7)

It is clear that the output of the public firm is greater than that of the private one. Thus, in equilibrium, the public firm has higher marginal and total costs than the private one because the cost functions of both firms are quadratic and identical. The outputs of both firms decrease with the specific tax rate, *t*. From (9.6) and (9.7), the consumer and producer surpluses can be obtained as $CS = 9(1-t)^2/50$ and $PS = 7(1-t)^2/50$, respectively. Both of these surpluses also decrease with *t*. Because of this feature, the sum of both surpluses, *U*, strictly decreases with *t*.

We now turn to the second stage of the game in the case of a mixed duopoly. The government sets t to maximize (9.4), taking the outputs of both firms, (9.6) and (9.7), into consideration. From (9.3), (9.4), (9.6), and (9.7), the government's payoff can be rewritten as follows:

$$W = \frac{(1-t)[8+(7+15\alpha)t]}{25}.$$
(9.8)

When the government chooses t to maximize (9.8), the optimal specific tax rate in the mixed duopoly can be obtained as follows:

9 Government Preference and Merger

$$t^{MD} = \frac{-1 + 15\alpha}{2(7 + 15\alpha)}.$$
(9.9)

It is clear that the optimal specific tax rate increases with α . This is because the greater α is, the more the government values tax revenue. Furthermore, if $\alpha > 1/15$, the optimal specific tax rate becomes positive; if $0 \le \alpha < 1/15$, it becomes negative and the government subsidizes both firms; and if $\alpha = 1/15$, the optimal specific tax rate becomes zero.

Finally, we obtain the equilibrium values. Substituting (9.9) into (9.6) and (9.7), the outputs of the public and private firms and the total output in the equilibrium can be derived as follows:

$$q_0^{MD} = \frac{3(1+\alpha)}{7+15\alpha},\tag{9.10}$$

$$q_1^{MD} = \frac{3(1+\alpha)}{2(7+15\alpha)},\tag{9.11}$$

$$Q^{MD} = \frac{9(1+\alpha)}{2(7+15\alpha)}.$$
(9.12)

We can see that the outputs of both firms and the total output all decrease with α . This is because as we have seen in (9.9), an increase in α increases *t*.

Under the equilibrium, the consumer surplus, the profits of both firms, and the government's payoff can be given by

$$CS^{MD} = \frac{81(1+\alpha)^2}{8(7+15\alpha)^2},$$
(9.13)

$$\pi_1^{MD} = \frac{27(1+\alpha)^2}{8(7+15\alpha)^2},\tag{9.14}$$

$$\pi_0^{MD} = \frac{9(1+\alpha)^2}{2(7+15\alpha)^2},\tag{9.15}$$

$$W^{MD} = \frac{9(1+\alpha)^2}{4(7+15\alpha)}.$$
(9.16)

It should be noted that, from (9.13), (9.14), and (9.15), the consumer surplus and the profits of both firms decrease with α . In contrast, from (9.16), if the weight parameter of the government preference for tax revenue is large (small) enough, $\alpha > 1/15$ ($\alpha < 1/15$), the government's payoff increases (decreases) with α .

These features can be explained by focusing on the output levels of both firms. As mentioned above, an increase in α decreases total output via an increase in t. This effect causes an increase in price that consumers pay and a decrease in price that firms receive and therefore decreases both the consumer and producer surplus.
Furthermore, it increases the tax revenue because of the increase in *t*. As a result, the sum of the consumer and producer surplus (which means a payoff for the public firm) decreases with α , while the payoff for the government increases with α because of the positive effect on tax revenue.

9.3.2 Merger

In this subsection, we consider the case in which both firms merge: the merged firm becomes a monopoly firm. The merged firm chooses the levels q_0 and q_1 to maximize (9.5). Solving this problem, we obtain the output as follows:

$$q_0^{ME} = q_1^{ME} = \frac{1-t}{5-2\theta}.$$
(9.17)

It should be noted that the outputs of the merged firm decrease with the specific tax rate, t, and increase with the share ownership ratio, θ . It is straightforward to consider the former effect. That is, the merged firm decreases output with the specific tax rate increase. In contrast, the latter effect can be explained as follows. As the share ownership ratio increases, the merged firm is more concerned about the consumer surplus relative to the producer surplus. Therefore, the merged firm increases with a decrease in market price.

Then, the government sets the specific tax rate to maximize (9.4), taking the output of the merged firm into consideration. From (9.3), (9.4), and (9.17), the government's payoff can be written as follows:

$$W = \frac{(1-t)[7+(3+10\alpha)t-4\theta(1+t\alpha)]}{(5-2\theta)^2}.$$
(9.18)

When the government chooses t to maximize the government's payoff, (9.18), the optimal specific tax rate is given by

$$t^{ME} = \frac{-2 + 2\theta(1 - \alpha) + 5\alpha}{3 + 2(5 - 2\theta)\alpha}.$$
(9.19)

If the weight of the government preference for tax revenue, α. is $\alpha < 2(1-\theta)/(5-2\theta),$ the government subsidizes both firms; if $\alpha > 2(1-\theta)/(5-2\theta)$, the government imposes a tax on both. In addition, the optimal specific tax rate increases with α and θ . When α increases, the government increases the specific tax rate because it takes a greater interest in the tax revenue. Conversely, when θ increases, the merged firm must increase its total output to increase the consumer surplus. Therefore, when θ is large, the government can impose a higher rate of tax on the merged firm.

9 Government Preference and Merger

Using (9.19), we obtain the following equilibrium outcome under the merged scenario:

$$q_0^{ME} = q_1^{ME} = \frac{(1+\alpha)}{3+(10-4\theta)\alpha},$$
(9.20)

$$Q^{ME} = \frac{2(1+\alpha)}{3+(10-4\theta)\alpha},$$
(9.21)

$$CS^{ME} = \frac{2(1+\alpha)^2}{\left[3 + (10 - 4\theta)\alpha\right]^2},$$
(9.22)

$$\pi^{ME} = \frac{(5-4\theta)(1+\alpha)^2}{\left[3+(10-4\theta)\alpha\right]^2},$$
(9.23)

$$W^{ME} = \frac{(1+\alpha)^2}{3+(10-4\theta)\alpha}.$$
(9.24)

Thus, all the equilibrium outcomes depend on parameters α and θ .

Let us look closely at the features of the equilibrium outcomes. We first examine the effects of α on the equilibrium outcome. Total output, consumer surplus, and the profit of the merged firm all decrease with α . These results are explained as follows. Because an increase in α increases the specific tax rate, the merged firm decreases output and profit. This decrease in output causes a decrease in the consumer surplus via an increase in price. In contrast, if α is large (small) enough, $\alpha > 2(1 - \theta)/(5 - 2\theta)$ ($\alpha < 2(1 - \theta)/(5 - 2\theta)$), the government's payoff increases (decreases) with α . This result is the same feature as in the case of a mixed duopoly.

Next, we examine the effects of θ on equilibrium outcomes. An increase in θ causes two effects: a direct positive effect on total output by increasing the weight to consumer surplus and an indirect negative effect on total output through an increase in the specific tax rate, as in (9.19). Because the former direct effect denominates the latter indirect effect, an increase in θ increases total output. This results in an increase in the consumer surplus and a decrease in the profit of the merged firm.³

9.4 Comparison

Finally, we compare the equilibrium outcomes in a mixed duopoly and a merged monopoly.

³Strictly speaking, an increase in θ brings about a negative effect on the profit of the merged firm through an increase in the tax rate.

The private firm has an incentive to merge if its own profit obtained in a merged monopoly, $(1 - \theta)(\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME})$, is greater than that in a mixed duopoly, π_1^{MD} . Let θ_P denotes the value of parameter θ such that $(1 - \theta)(\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME})$ and π_1^{MD} are equal (see Appendix). Then, the value of θ_P is given by

$$\theta_P = \frac{441 + 1809\alpha + 1755\alpha^2 - (7 + 15\alpha)\sqrt{535 + 1992\alpha + 1845\alpha^2}}{392 + 1680\alpha + 1692\alpha^2}.$$
 (9.25)

From (9.25), we have the following proposition:

Proposition 9.1 If θ is small enough $(0 \le \theta < \theta_P)$, the private firm has an incentive to merge: $(1 - \theta)(\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME}) > \pi_1^{MD}$. If θ is large enough $(\theta_P < \theta \le 1)$, the private firm does not have an incentive to merge: $(1 - \theta)(\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME}) < \pi_1^{MD}$.

Proof It is clear that if $\theta = 1$, then $\pi_1^{MD} - (1 - \theta) (\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME}) = 27(1 + \alpha)^2 / [8(7 + 15\alpha)^2] > 0$ holds $(1 - \theta) (\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME}) < \pi_1^{MD}$, and if $\theta = 0$, then $\pi_1^{MD} - (1 - \theta) (\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME}) = -(1 + \alpha)^2 (1717 + 6780\alpha + 6300\alpha^2) / [8(3 + 10\alpha)^2 (7 + 15\alpha)^2] < 0$ holds $(1 - \theta) (\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME}) > \pi_1^{MD}$. Because $\partial [(1 - \theta) (\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME})] / \partial \theta < 0$ and $\partial \pi_1^{MD} / \partial \theta = 0$, there exists θ_P such that $(1 - \theta) (\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME}) = \pi_1^{MD}$ and when $0 \le \theta < \theta_P$, $(1 - \theta) (\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME}) > \pi_1^{MD}$ and when $\theta_P < \theta \le 1$, $(1 - \theta) (\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME}) < \pi_1^{MD}$.

We summarize these features in Fig. 9.1. The curve in Fig. 9.1 represents $(1-\theta)(\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME}) = \pi_1^{MD}$. When $\alpha = 0$, $\theta_P = (441 - 7\sqrt{535})/392 \approx 0.712$, and for $\alpha \ge 0$, this curve is moderately downward sloping. If α approaches infinity, θ_P approaches $5(39 - \sqrt{205})/188 \approx 0.656$. In the region below the curve, the private firm wishes to merge because $(1-\theta)(\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME}) > \pi_1^{MD}$ holds. In contrast, the private firm does not wish to merge in the region above the curve.



The government wishes to merge if the government's payoff in the merged monopoly, W^{ME} , is greater than that in the mixed duopoly, W^{MD} . Let θ_G denote the value of parameter θ such that $W^{ME} = W^{MD}$. From (9.16) and (9.24), the value of θ_G is given by

$$\theta_G = \frac{5}{6} - \frac{1}{36\alpha}.$$
 (9.26)

It can be verified that θ_G is a concave function of the parameter α : $\partial \theta_G / \partial \alpha = 1 / (36\alpha^2) > 0$ and $\partial^2 \theta_G / \partial \alpha^2 = -1/(18\alpha^3) < 0$. If α approaches zero, θ_G approaches $-\infty$. If α approaches infinity, θ_G approaches $5/6 \approx 0.833$. If $\alpha = 1/30 \approx 0.033$, $\theta_G = 0$. These features are illustrated in Fig. 9.2. As discussed above, in the region above the curve, the government seeks to merge because $W^{ME} > W^{MD}$ holds. In contrast, the government does not seek to merge in the region below the curve.

We summarize the above findings as the following proposition.

Proposition 9.2 If θ is small enough $(0 \le \theta < \theta_G)$, the government does not have an incentive to merge: $W^{ME} < W^{MD}$. If θ is large enough $(\theta_G < \theta \le 1)$, the government has an incentive to merge: $W^{ME} > W^{MD}$.

By superimposing the curves in Figs. 9.1 and 9.2, we obtain Fig. 9.3. The two curves intersect at $(\alpha, \theta) = ((7 + \sqrt{105})/84, 5/6 - 7/(21 + 3\sqrt{105})) \approx (0.205, 0.698)$. From Fig. 9.3, we obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 9.3 The government wants to merge, and the private firm does not if $\theta > \max\{\theta_P, \theta_G\}$ (Region I). For $\alpha > (7 + \sqrt{105})/84$, neither the private firm nor the government wants to merge when $\theta_P < \theta < \theta_G$ (Region II). Both the private firm and the government want to merge when $\alpha < (7 + \sqrt{105})/84$ and $\theta_G < \theta < \theta_P$ (Region III). The government does not want to merge, and the private firm does if $\theta < \min\{\theta_P, \theta_G\}$ (Region IV).





Thus, if the government is a Leviathan government $(\alpha > (7 + \sqrt{105})/84)$, both firms do not merge. In contrast, if the government is benevolent, $\alpha = 0$, the condition for merger requires that the share rate in the merged firm is not large enough, $\theta < \theta_P$. However, if the government attaches some value to tax revenue, $1/30 < \alpha < (7 + \sqrt{105})/84$, the condition for merger requires that the government have an intermediate-level share rate in the merged firm, $\theta_G < \theta < \theta_P$.

9.5 Conclusion

In this chapter, we considered the government's preference in a merger model in a mixed duopoly. In this setting, we demonstrated that a merger between a public firm and a private firm depends on the government's preference and the ownership ratio. Furthermore, the merger depends not only on the percentage of the share ownership ratio of the merged firm but also on the government's preference for tax revenue. We also verified that a merger between a public and a private firm will not occur if the government is concerned about tax revenue rather than social welfare. In addition, if the government owns a high number of shares in the merged firm, the merger will not occur.

Appendix

The difference between π_1^{MD} and $(1-\theta)(\pi_0^{ME}+\pi_1^{ME})$ is given by

$$\pi_1^{MD} - (1-\theta) \big(\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME} \big) = -\frac{(1+\alpha)^2 \big(A - 72B\theta + 16C\theta^2 \big)}{8(7+15\alpha)^2 [3+(10-4\theta)\alpha]^2},$$

where $A \equiv 1717 + 6780\alpha + 6300\alpha^2$, $B \equiv (49 + 201\alpha + 195\alpha^2)$, and $C \equiv (98 + 420\alpha + 423\alpha^2)$. When π_1^{MD} and $(1 - \theta)(\pi_0^{ME} + \pi_1^{ME})$ are equal, $A - 72B\theta + 16C\theta^2 = 0$, which is a quadratic equation with respect to θ , must be satisfied. Denoting solutions of this equation with θ_P , the two solutions are given by

$$\begin{split} \theta_P^- &= \frac{441 + 1809\alpha + 1755\alpha^2 - (7 + 15\alpha)\sqrt{535 + 1992\alpha + 1845\alpha^2}}{392 + 1680\alpha + 1692\alpha^2}, \\ \theta_P^+ &= \frac{441 + 1809\alpha + 1755\alpha^2 + (7 + 15\alpha)\sqrt{535 + 1992\alpha + 1845\alpha^2}}{392 + 1680\alpha + 1692\alpha^2}. \end{split}$$

For $\alpha \ge 0$, it holds that although the former solution takes on a range of values between 0 and 1, the latter solution does not. Therefore, the former solution is an adequate solution.

References

- Andree K (2013) A note on merger in mixed duopoly: Bertrand versus Cournot. J Econ 108(3):291-298
- Bárcena-Ruiz JC, Garzón MB (2003) Mixed duopoly, merger and multiproduct firms. J Econ 80(1):27-42

De Fraja G, Delbono F (1989) Alternative strategies of a public enterprise in oligopoly. Oxford Econ Pap 41(1):302–311

Fjell K, Heywood JS (2004) Mixed oligopoly, subsidization and the order of firm's moves: the relevance of privatization. Econ Lett 83(3):411–416

Kamijo Y, Nakamura Y (2009) Stable market structures from merger activities in mixed oligopoly with asymmetric costs. J Econ 98(1):1–24

Kato H (2008) Privatization and government preference. Econ Bull 12(40):1-7

Matsumura T (1998) Partial privatization in mixed duopoly. J Public Econ 70(3):473-483

Méndez-Naya J (2008) Merger profitability in mixed oligopoly. J Econ 94(2):167-176

Nakamura Y, Inoue T (2007) Mixed oligopoly and productivity-improving mergers. Econ Bull 12(20):1–9

White M (1996) Mixed oligopoly, privatization and subsidization. Econ Lett 53(2):189-195

Part III Further Applications

Chapter 10 Regional Differences and Privatization

Hideya Kato and Mitsuyoshi Yanagihara

Abstract This chapter analyzes a mixed oligopoly model with two asymmetric regions with different populations, number of private firms, and shareholding ratios of private firms. We consider three cases: local ownership where the public firms are owned by the local government, state ownership where they are owned by the national government, and private ownership where they are owned by the private sector. We show that social welfare in the case of state ownership is greater than that in local ownership. Even in the case of local ownership, the government can replicate the equilibrium outcomes in the state ownership case by dividing the regions into optimal population sizes. We also show that if the number of private firms is large enough, although the public firms should be privatized from a national perspective, social welfare in its region may decrease because of privatization.

10.1 Introduction

Although most studies on mixed oligopoly have mainly focused on domestic economy (De Fraja and Delbono 1989; Matsumura 1998), some have investigated international mixed oligopolies. Fjell and Pal (1996) and Pal and White (1998) considered foreign private firms in a single domestic market. Those studies considered scenarios involving a public firm and private firms and the strategic interaction between the two.

Bárcena-Ruiz and Garzón (2005a, b) and Han and Ogawa (2008) extended the domestic market to an international market in which there is free trade and economic integration. Those studies examined the strategic interaction between the governments (public firms) of two symmetric countries.¹

¹ While Bárcena-Ruiz and Garzón (2005a, b) only considered full privatization, Han and Ogawa (2008) investigated partial privatization.

H. Kato (🖂) Ryukoku University, Kyoto, Japan e-mail: hideyakato@econ.ryukoku.ac.jp

M. Yanagihara Nagoya University, Nagoya, Japan

In this chapter, we consider a mixed oligopoly model with two asymmetric regions with different population sizes, number of private firms, and shareholding ratios of private firms. Under such circumstances, this chapter considers the following three cases: local ownership, state ownership, and private ownership. First, the local ownership case is that of public firms that noncooperatively choose output to maximize social welfare in their own regions. Second, the state ownership case is that where public firms cooperatively choose outputs to maximize the sum of social welfare in both regions. This case represents a total ownership case in which public firms cooperatively choose outputs to maximize the sum of both surpluses. Third, the private ownership case is one where all firms are private firms that choose outputs to maximize their own profit. This case represents a pure private oligopoly, implying the situation after the privatization of public firms.

The main results of this chapter are as follows. First, social welfare in the state ownership case is greater than that in the local ownership case. Second, if the number of private firms is large enough, public firms should be privatized from a national perspective. However, social welfare in a region might decrease because of privatization. Last, in the local ownership case, the government can replicate the equilibrium outcomes in the state ownership case by dividing the regions into optimal population sizes.

This chapter is organized as follows. Section 10.2 describes the model. In Sect. 10.3, we obtain the equilibrium outcomes for the three cases. Section 10.4 compares these equilibrium outcomes, and Sect. 10.5 considers an optimal market size in the regions. Section 10.6 concludes.

10.2 The Model

Consider two regions m (m = A, B) in a country. There is one public firm (firm 0) in each region, n_A private firms in region A and n_B private firms in region B. Thus, there are two public firms and $N (\equiv n_A + n_B)$ private firms in the country.² All firms produce a homogeneous good that is freely traded across the two regions. We assume that there is no trade cost and no price discrimination between individuals within the different regions.

There are *L* identical populations in the country, and *a* and *L* – *a* populations are distributed in regions *A* and *B*, respectively. The individual demand function is given by x = 1 - p, where *x* and *p* denote demand and price, respectively. Without loss of generality, we assume that the population of the country, *L*, is normalized to one. Therefore, the inverse demand functions in regions *A* and *B* can be given by $p_A = 1 - x_A/a$ and $p_B = 1 - x_B/(1 - a)$, where p_A and p_B are the price of the good in regions *A* and *B* and x_A and x_B are the demand for the good in regions *A* and *B*, respectively. This inverse demand function requires $a \in (0, 1)$. Because we consider

²Here, regions are represented by a subscript.

an integrated economy, the price for the good in both regions becomes equal to that in the country: $p_A = p_B = p$. The inverse demand function in the country (for both regions) is given by $p = 1 - x_A - x_B$. In equilibrium, $x_A + x_B = Q_A + Q_B$ should hold, where Q_A and Q_B denote total output in regions A and B, respectively.

All firms produce a homogeneous good using identical technologies, represented by the following cost function:

$$c(q_{Ai}) = F + kq_{Ai}^2/2, \quad i = 0, \dots, n_A,$$

 $c(q_{Bj}) = F + kq_{Bj}^2/2, \quad j = 0, \dots, n_B,$

where *F* denotes the fixed cost. In what follows, we assume F = 0 and k = 1 with no loss of generality. Therefore, the profit of each firm is given by

$$\pi_{Ai} = (1 - Q)q_{Ai} - q_{Ai}^2/2, \quad i = 0, \cdots, n_A,$$
(10.1)

$$\pi_{Bj} = (1 - Q)q_{Bj} - q_{Bj}^2/2, \quad j = 0, \cdots, n_B, \tag{10.2}$$

where $Q \equiv Q_A + Q_B$. We assume that the profits of all private firms are partially distributed to the individuals in the country: the shareholding ratios of the private firms, which individuals own in regions *A* and *B*, are ε and $1 - \varepsilon$, respectively.³

Next, we obtain the levels of the consumer surplus, producer surplus, and social welfare. It should be noted that the larger the population size is, the greater the surpluses and welfare become. Therefore, we must evaluate them in per capita terms to avoid overestimations. In the following analyses, we evaluate the levels or the amounts in per capita terms. The consumer surplus of regions *A* and *B* and total consumer surplus in the country (both as per capita values) are as follows:

$$CS_A = CS_B = CS = Q^2/2.$$
 (10.3)

The consumer surpluses per capita of region A, region B, and the country become identical under free trade.

Social welfare is defined as the sum of the consumer surplus and the producer surplus. We assume that the private firms are partially owned by the residents in both regions, while the public firms located in region A(B) are perfectly owned by residents in region A(B). From (10.1), (10.2), and (10.3), social welfare per capita in regions A and B and in the country are given by

³ Parameter ε can be regarded as an average shareholding ratio in all private firms owned by individuals in region *A* because all the private firms are identical and obtain the same profit.

$$W_A = \frac{Q^2}{2} + \frac{\pi_{A0}}{a} + \frac{\varepsilon}{a} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n_A} \pi_{Ai} + \sum_{j=1}^{n_B} \pi_{Bj} \right),$$
(10.4)

$$W_B = \frac{Q^2}{2} + \frac{\pi_{B0}}{(1-a)} + \frac{(1-\varepsilon)}{(1-a)} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n_A} \pi_{Ai} + \sum_{j=1}^{n_B} \pi_{Bj} \right),$$
(10.5)

$$W = aW_A + (1-a)W_B = \frac{Q^2}{2} + \sum_{i=0}^{n_A} \pi_{Ai} + \sum_{j=0}^{n_B} \pi_{Bj},$$
 (10.6)

respectively. In this model, it should be noted that the following three parameters—population, number of firms, and shareholding ratio—are asymmetric in each region.

10.3 Equilibrium Outcomes

In this section, we consider the three cases described in the introduction: local ownership (Case L), state ownership (Case S), and private ownership (Case P). These cases are represented by the superscripts L, S, and P, respectively.

10.3.1 Local Ownership

The public firm 0 located in region m chooses an output level to maximize social welfare in region m. The private firm in region m chooses an output level to maximize its own profit. Cournot competition between these firms leads to the following outputs levels:

$$q_{Ai}^{L} = q_{Bj}^{L} = \frac{1}{6+N}, \quad i = 1, \cdots, n_{A}, \quad j = 1, \cdots, n_{B},$$
 (10.7)

$$q_{A0}^L = \frac{2+\phi}{2(6+N)},\tag{10.8}$$

$$q_{B0}^L = \frac{6-\phi}{2(6+N)},\tag{10.9}$$

where $\phi \equiv a(4+N) - \epsilon N$. For interior solutions, we assume $-2 < \phi < 6$. All private firms choose the same level of output because there is no trade cost and all firms have the same technologies. The outputs of the private firms and the public firms decrease with the number of private firms, $N(=n_A + n_B)$, regardless of the firms' locations.

10 Regional Differences and Privatization

While an increase in *a* increases q_{A0}^L and decreases q_{B0}^L , an increase in *e* decreases q_{A0}^L and increases q_{B0}^L . These results are interpreted as follows. The public firm in region *A* (region B) increases (decreases) output so that it responds to increased (decreased) demand that is caused by an increase (decrease) in the population. In contrast, an increase in *e* results in a decrease (an increase) in the output of public firm *A* (public firm *B*) to increase (decrease) the profits of the private firms received by individuals in region *A* (region *B*).

The total output of the firms in regions *A* and *B* and the total output in the country can be given by:

$$Q_A^L = \frac{2(1+n_A) + \phi}{2(6+N)},$$
(10.10)

$$Q_B^L = \frac{2(3+n_B) - \phi}{2(6+N)},\tag{10.11}$$

$$Q^L = \frac{4+N}{6+N}.$$
 (10.12)

The total output of each region increases with the number of firms in its own region: $\partial Q_A^L/\partial n_A > 0$ and $\partial Q_B^L/\partial n_B > 0$. In contrast, the total output of each region decreases with the number of firms in the other region: $\partial Q_A^L/\partial n_B < 0$ and $\partial Q_B^L/\partial n_A < 0$. As a result, the total output of the country increases with the number of firms: $\partial Q_B^L/\partial n_A = \partial Q^L/\partial n_B = 2/(6+N)^2 > 0$. This occurs because the effect of the number of firms in its own region on the total output in that region dominates the effect on the total output in the other region.

Substituting (10.10), (10.11), and (10.12) into the inverse demand, the equilibrium price in the country (regions A and B) becomes

$$p^L = \frac{2}{6+N}.$$
 (10.13)

From (10.13), we can obtain the following demand in both regions A and B:

$$x_A^L = \frac{a(4+N)}{6+N},$$
 (10.14)

$$x_B^L = \frac{(1-a)(4+N)}{6+N}.$$
(10.15)

Using (10.10), (10.11), (10.14), and (10.15), import (or export) levels in regions *A* and *B* are

$$x_A^L - Q_A^L = \frac{-2(1+n_A) + \chi}{2(6+N)},$$
 (10.16)

$$x_B^L - Q_B^L = \frac{2(1+n_A) - \chi}{2(6+N)},$$
 (10.17)

where $\chi \equiv a(4+N) + \epsilon N$. If *a* and ϵ are large (small) enough, $a(4+N) + \epsilon N > (<)2(1+n_A)$, region *A* (region *B*) has an excess demand and imports goods from region *B* (region *A*). The import levels of each region decrease with the number of firms in its own region and increase with the number of firms in the other region: $\partial (x_A^L - Q_A^L) / \partial n_A < 0$, $\partial (x_B^L - Q_B^L) / \partial n_B < 0$, $\partial (x_B^L - Q_B^L) / \partial n_A > 0$, and $\partial (x_A^L - Q_A^L) / \partial n_B > 0$. This occurs because the total output in each region increases with the number of private firms in its own region, as seen above, while the total demand in the region remains unchanged.

Finally, we obtain the following equilibrium outcomes:

$$CS_A^L = CS_B^L = CS^L = \frac{(4+N)^2}{2(6+N)^2},$$
 (10.18)

$$PS_A^L = \frac{-(2-\phi)^2 + 16 + 12\varepsilon N}{8a(6+N)^2},$$
(10.19)

$$PS_B^L = \frac{-(2-\phi)^2 + 16 + 12(1-\varepsilon)N}{8(1-a)(6+N)^2},$$
(10.20)

$$PS^{L} = \frac{-(2-\phi)^{2} + 16 + 6N}{4(6+N)^{2}},$$
(10.21)

$$W_A^L = \frac{(4+N)^2}{2(6+N)^2} + \frac{-(2-\phi)^2 + 16 + 12\varepsilon N}{8a(6+N)^2},$$
 (10.22)

$$W_B^L = \frac{(4+N)^2}{2(6+N)^2} + \frac{-(2-\phi)^2 + 16 + 12(1-\varepsilon)N}{8(1-a)(6+N)^2},$$
 (10.23)

$$W^{L} = \frac{(4+N)^{2}}{2(6+N)^{2}} + \frac{-(2-\phi)^{2} + 16 + 6N}{4(6+N)^{2}}.$$
 (10.24)

10.3.2 State Ownership

In this section, we consider a state ownership case in which the public firms of regions *A* and *B* implement a coordinated activity. While the private firms choose a level of output to maximize their own profits, both public firms coordinate to choose

 q_{A0} and q_{B0} to maximize the sum of social welfares in regions A and B, represented by W. Thus, we obtain the following outputs:

$$q_{Ai}^{S} = q_{Bj}^{S} = \frac{1}{6+N}, \quad i = 1, \cdots, n_{A}, \quad j = 1, \cdots, n_{B},$$
 (10.25)

$$q_{A0}^S = q_{B0}^S = \frac{2}{6+N}.$$
 (10.26)

Furthermore, (10.25) implies that all private firms choose the same level of output because they are identical. Both public firms choose the same level of output unlike Case *L* as shown in Sect. 10.3.1. Because the cost function is quadratic, marginal costs increase in the output. Therefore, both public firms can produce efficiently by sharing outputs: each firm should produce half of the total output in a coordinated manner. In addition, it should be noted that the outputs of the private and public firms do not depend on *a* and *e* and decrease with the total number of private firms, *N*, regardless of the location of the firms.

The total outputs in regions A and B and the total output in the country are given by

$$Q_A^S = \frac{2 + n_A}{6 + N},\tag{10.27}$$

$$Q_B^S = \frac{2+n_B}{6+N},$$
 (10.28)

$$Q^{S} = \frac{4+N}{6+N}.$$
 (10.29)

The total output of each region increases with the number of firms in its own region: $\partial Q_A^S / \partial n_A > 0$ and $\partial Q_B^S / \partial n_B > 0$. In contrast, the total outputs of each region decrease with the number of firms in the other region: $\partial Q_A^S / \partial n_B < 0$ and $\partial Q_B^S / \partial n_A < 0$. In sum, the total output of the country increases with the number of firms: $\partial Q_B^S / \partial n_A = \partial Q^S / \partial n_B = 2/(6 + N)^2 > 0$. These features are the same in the case of a non-coordinated equilibrium, Case *L*.

As in Case *L*, demand in regions *A* and *B* is given by (10.14) and (10.15) because the demand side remains unchanged in Case *S*. From(10.14), (10.15), (10.27), and (10.28), the import levels in regions *A* and *B* are as follows:

$$x_A^S - Q_A^S = \frac{a(4+N) - 2 - n_A}{6+N},$$
(10.30)

$$x_B^S - Q_B^S = \frac{2 + n_A - a(4 + N)}{6 + N}.$$
(10.31)

We then obtain the outcomes under the coordinated equilibrium:

$$CS_A^S = CS_B^S = CS^S = \frac{(4+N)^2}{2(6+N)^2},$$
 (10.32)

$$PS_A^S = \frac{4 + 3\varepsilon N}{2a(6+N)^2},$$
(10.33)

$$PS_B^S = \frac{4 + 3(1 - \varepsilon)N}{2(1 - a)(6 + N)^2},$$
(10.34)

$$PS^{S} = \frac{8+3N}{2(6+N)^{2}},$$
(10.35)

$$W_A^S = \frac{(4+N)^2}{2(6+N)^2} + \frac{4+3\varepsilon N}{2a(6+N)^2},$$
(10.36)

$$W_B^S = \frac{(4+N)^2}{2(6+N)^2} + \frac{4+3(1-\varepsilon)N}{2(1-a)(6+N)^2},$$
(10.37)

$$W^{S} = \frac{(4+N)^{2}}{2(6+N)^{2}} + \frac{8+3N}{2(6+N)^{2}}.$$
 (10.38)

10.3.3 Private Ownership

In this subsection, we consider the private ownership case in which all firms are private, representing the situation after privatization. Here, without loss of generality, we assume that only one privatized firm in each region is owned by individuals living in the region where it is located.

In Case P, all firms choose a level of output to maximize its own profit. By solving this problem, we obtain the following levels of output:

$$q_{A0}^{P} = q_{B0}^{P} = q_{Ai}^{P} = q_{Bj}^{P} = \frac{1}{4+N}, \quad i = 1, \dots, n_{A}, \quad j = 1, \dots, n_{B}.$$
 (10.39)

All firms produce the same level of output under this privatized oligopoly. It is clear that the output decreases with the number of firms, N. The total outputs in regions A and B and the total output in the country can be given by

$$Q_A^P = \frac{1 + n_A}{4 + N},\tag{10.40}$$

$$Q_B^P = \frac{1+n_B}{4+N},$$
 (10.41)

10 Regional Differences and Privatization

$$Q^P = \frac{2+N}{4+N}.$$
 (10.42)

Because the demand of each region in Case P is the same as that in Case L and Case S, import levels in regions A and B are

$$x_A^P - Q_A^P = \frac{-1 - n_A + a(2 + N)}{4 + N},$$
(10.43)

$$x_B^P - Q_B^P = \frac{1 + n_A - a(2 + N)}{4 + N}.$$
(10.44)

Finally, we obtain the outcomes in Case *P*:

$$CS_A^P = CS_B^P = CS^P = \frac{(2+N)^2}{2(4+N)^2},$$
 (10.45)

$$PS_{A}^{P} = \frac{3(1 + \epsilon N)}{2a(4 + N)^{2}},$$
(10.46)

$$PS_B^P = \frac{3[1 + (1 - \varepsilon)N]}{2(1 - a)(4 + N)^2},$$
(10.47)

$$PS^{P} = \frac{3(2+N)}{2(4+N)^{2}},$$
(10.48)

$$W_A^P = \frac{a(2+N)^2 + 3(1+\varepsilon N)}{2a(4+N)^2},$$
(10.49)

$$W_B^P = \frac{(1-a)(2+N)^2 + 3[1+(1-\varepsilon)N]}{2(1-a)(4+N)^2},$$
(10.50)

$$W^{P} = \frac{(2+N)(5+N)}{2(4+N)^{2}}.$$
(10.51)

10.4 Comparisons

In this section, we compare the outcomes of the three cases obtained in Sect. 10.3.

10.4.1 Comparison of Equilibrium Outcomes in Case L and Case S

First, let us compare outputs under the mixed oligopoly in Case *L* and Case *S*. The differences in total outputs can be calculated as follows:

$$Q_A^L - Q_A^S = \frac{\phi - 2}{2a(6+N)},$$
(10.52)

$$Q_B^L - Q_B^S = \frac{2 - \phi}{2(1 - a)(6 + N)},$$
(10.53)

$$Q^L = Q^S = \frac{4+N}{6+N}.$$
 (10.54)

If *a* is large enough ($\phi > 2$), $Q_A^L > Q_A^S$ and $Q_B^L < Q_B^S$. This result can be interpreted as follows. From (10.7) and (10.25), the outputs of the private firms under Case *L* and Case *S* are the same: $q_{Ai}^S = q_{Bj}^S = q_{Ai}^L = q_{Bj}^L$. Although the outputs of each public firm are different under both cases, the total outputs of the public firms are the same: $q_{A0}^L + q_{B0}^L = q_{A0}^S + q_{B0}^S = 4/(6+N)$. As a result, the total outputs in the regions are different under both systems, and the total outputs in the country are identical.

Given the above comparison of output under Case L (the uncoordinated case) and Case S (the coordinated case), we can compare the consumer surplus and the producer surplus. There is no difference in consumer surplus:

$$CS_A^L = CS_A^S = CS_B^L = CS_B^S = CS^L = CS^S = \frac{(4+N)^2}{2(6+N)^2}.$$
 (10.55)

This is because the total outputs in both cases are identical and the market is integrated.

The difference in producer surplus is given by

$$PS_{A}^{L} - PS_{A}^{S} = \frac{-(2-\phi)^{2}}{8a(6+N)^{2}} < 0,$$
(10.56)

$$PS_B^L - PS_B^S = \frac{-(2-\phi)^2}{8(1-a)(6+N)^2} < 0,$$
(10.57)

$$PS^{L} - PS^{S} = \frac{-(2-\phi)^{2}}{4(6+N)^{2}} < 0.$$
(10.58)

These results are interpreted as follows. As mentioned above, the private firms choose the same level of output in both cases. In addition, in both cases, the total outputs are the same, which, in turn, are priced the same. As a result, the sum of the

profits of the private firms is the same in both cases. That is, the difference in the producer surpluses in both cases depends not on the profits of the private firms but on those of the public firms: $\sum_{i=1}^{n_A} \pi_{Ai}^L = \sum_{i=1}^{n_A} \pi_{Ai}^S$, $\sum_{j=1}^{n_B} \pi_{Bj}^L = \sum_{j=1}^{n_B} \pi_{Bj}^S$, and $\pi_{A0}^L - \pi_{A0}^S = \pi_{B0}^L - \pi_{B0}^S = -(2-\phi)^2 / \left[8(6+N)^2 \right] < 0$. In this model, production efficiency requires that total output be divided as equally as possible among firms under identical quadratic production functions. Thus, both public firms can produce efficiently by producing half the outputs each in a coordinated manner: $\left(q_{A0}^N + q_{B0}^N\right)/2 = q_{A0}^S = q_{B0}^S = 2/(6+N)^4$

From the difference in the consumer and producer surpluses under both cases, we see that the difference in social welfare depends on the producer surpluses. That is, the differences in social welfare in regions A and B and in the country are given by

$$W_A^L - W_A^S = \frac{-(2-\phi)^2}{8a(6+N)^2} < 0,$$
 (10.59)

$$W_B^L - W_B^S = \frac{-(2-\phi)^2}{8(1-a)(6+N)^2} < 0,$$
(10.60)

$$W^{L} - W^{S} = \frac{-(2-\phi)^{2}}{4(6+N)^{2}} < 0.$$
 (10.61)

Social welfare in regions *A* and *B* and in the country is greater in Case *S*. Therefore, Case *S* results in greater social welfare than Case *L*.

The above results can be summarized as the following proposition:

Proposition 10.1 Social welfare in the state ownership case is greater than that in the local ownership case. This result can be applied at a regional level as well as a country level.

10.4.2 Comparison of Equilibrium Outcomes in Case S and Case P

In the previous section, we showed that social welfare in Case S is larger than that in Case L: the equilibrium outcome achieved in Case S Pareto dominates that in Case L. Therefore, in this section, we compare the equilibrium outcomes in Case S and Case P.

⁴ From (10.8), (10.9), and (10.26), we obtain $q_{A0}^L - q_{A0}^S = (\phi - 2)/[2(6 + N)]$ and $q_{B0}^L - q_{B0}^S = (2 - \phi)/[2(6 + N)]$. By substituting these into the cost function, we obtain (10.56), (10.57), and (10.58). This proves that the above explanation is correct.

By comparing the output levels in Case *P* and in Case *S*, we see that $q_{Ai}^S = q_{Bj}^S < q_{A0}^P = q_{B0}^P = q_{Ai}^P = q_{Bj}^P < q_{A0}^S = q_{B0}^S$. In Case *S*, the public firm produces more than the private firms because the public firm cares about the producer surplus *and* the consumer surplus. The public firm produces more and the private firms produce less in Case *S*.

Based on the above results, we calculate the difference in total outputs in region A and region B in Case S and Case P given by

$$Q_A^S - Q_A^P = \frac{2 - n_A + n_B}{(4 + N)(6 + N)},$$
(10.62)

$$Q_B^S - Q_B^P = \frac{2 + n_A - n_B}{(4 + N)(6 + N)},$$
(10.63)

$$Q^{S} - Q^{P} = \frac{4}{(4+N)(6+N)} > 0.$$
 (10.64)

These differences depend on the number of private firms in each region, n_A and n_B . If $n_A > 2 + n_B (n_A < 2 + n_B)$, the total output in region A is greater (smaller) in Case P. If $n_B > 2 + n_A (n_B < 2 + n_A)$, the total output in region B is greater (smaller) in Case P. Thus, if the number of private firms in one region is relatively large compared with that in the other region, the total output in the region is greater in Case P. As a result, the total output in the country is greater in Case S.

The difference in consumer surplus is given by

$$CS_{A}^{S} - CS_{A}^{P} = CS_{B}^{S} - CS_{B}^{P} = CS^{S} - CS^{P} = \frac{4\left[(4+N)^{2} - 2\right]}{(4+N)^{2}(6+N)^{2}} > 0.$$
(10.65)

Because the total output in the country is greater than in Case *S*, the consumer surplus in regions *A* and *B* and in the country is also greater in Case *S*.

The profit of the private firms in Case *S* is smaller than that in Case *P*: $\pi_{Ai}^S = \pi_{Bj}^S < \pi_{Ai}^P = \pi_{Bj}^P$. The difference is given by $\pi_{Ai}^S - \pi_{Ai}^P = \pi_{Bj}^S - \pi_{Bj}^P = -6(5+N)/\left[(4+N)^2(6+N)^2\right] < 0$. In contrast, the difference in the profits of the public firm in both cases is given by

$$\pi_{A0}^{S} - \pi_{A0}^{P} = \pi_{B0}^{S} - \pi_{B0}^{P} = \frac{(N-2)^{2} - 48}{2(4+N)^{2}(6+N)^{2}}.$$
 (10.66)

These differences depend on the number of private firms in a country, *N*. If the number of private firms in the country is $N > 2(1 + 2\sqrt{3}) \approx 8.928$, the profit of the firm is greater in Case *S*, $\pi_{A0}^S > \pi_{A0}^P$, and $\pi_{B0}^S > \pi_{B0}^P$, and vice versa. Therefore, the differences in the producer surplus per capita in regions *A* and *B* and in the country are given by

$$PS_{A}^{S} - PS_{A}^{P} = \frac{(N-2)^{2} - 48 - 12\epsilon N(5+N)}{2a(4+N)^{2}(6+N)^{2}},$$
(10.67)

$$PS_B^S - PS_B^P = \frac{(N-2)^2 - 48 - 12(1-\varepsilon)N(5+N)}{2(1-a)(4+N)^2(6+N)^2},$$
(10.68)

$$PS^{S} - PS^{P} = -\frac{5N^{2} + 34N + 44}{(4+N)^{2}(6+N)^{2}} < 0.$$
(10.69)

The producer surplus per capita in the country is larger in Case *P*. However, we cannot see whether $PS_A^S - PS_A^P$ and $PS_B^S - PS_B^P$ decrease or increase in *N* because they depend on ε .

Last, we compare social welfare levels and obtain the following:

$$W_A^S - W_A^P = \frac{8a[(4+N)^2 - 2] - 12\varepsilon N(5+N) + N^2 - 4N - 44}{2a(4+N)^2(6+N)^2}, \qquad (10.70)$$

$$W_B^S - W_B^P = \frac{8(1-a)[(4+N)^2 - 2] - 12(1-\varepsilon)N(5+N) + N^2 - 4N - 44}{2(1-a)(4+N)^2(6+N)^2}, \quad (10.71)$$

$$W^{S} - W^{P} = \frac{13 - (1+N)^{2}}{(4+N)^{2}(6+N)^{2}}.$$
(10.72)

If the population size of region *A*, *a*, is large, social welfare in region *A* (region *B*) under Case *S* is greater (smaller) than that in Case *P*. If $N > -1 + \sqrt{13} \approx 2.606$, implying that the market is close to competitive, social welfare in the country is larger in Case *P*. This result is similar to that of De Fraja and Delbono (1989).

If the regions are symmetric, $W^S - W^P = W^S_A - W^P_A = W^S_B - W^P_B$: the sign of $W^S - W^P$ is the same as those of $W^S_A - W^P_A$ and $W^S_B - W^P_B$. However, if the regions are asymmetric, this does not necessarily hold. For example, when we set a = 0.6, $\varepsilon = 0.8$, $n_A = 4$, and $n_B = 4$, we obtain $W^S - W^P \approx -0.0024$, $W^S_A - W^P_A \approx -0.0097$, and $W^S_B - W^P_B \approx 0.0085$.⁵ This example shows that privatization is preferable for region A and the country as a whole, although not for region B. Even if privatization is Pareto superior (inferior) at a country level, it is not always Pareto superior(inferior) at a region level. This implies that when decisions on privatization are made, both local and national governments should be involved.

The above results can be summarized as the following proposition:

⁵ It should be noted that $W^S - W^P$ is not equal to the sum of $W^S_A - W^P_A$ and $W^S_B - W^P_B$ because social welfare is measured in per capita terms: $W^S - W^P = a(W^S_A - W^P_A) + (1-a)(W^S_B - W^P_B)$.

Proposition 10.2 If the number of private firms is large, public firms should be privatized at a country level. However, whether public firms are privatized may differ at regional and country levels.

10.5 Optimal Market Size

Although the social welfare in a Case *L* scenario is not the largest, if the regions are symmetric, $a = \varepsilon = 1/2$ and $n_A = n_B$, social welfare in Case *L* and Case *S* in a mixed oligopoly becomes the same. In this section, we examine the optimal market size, or population size, in each region, when both regions are asymmetric.

Maximizing the country's social welfare (10.24), with respect to a, we obtain the following optimal size:

$$a^* = \frac{2 + \varepsilon N}{4 + N}.\tag{10.73}$$

The optimal market size of the region depends on ε and *N*. It can be acknowledged that while an increase in ε (the shareholding ratio in region *A*) increases the optimal size, an increase in *N* (the total number of private firms) decreases (increases) the optimal size if $\varepsilon < 1/2$ ($\varepsilon > 1/2$).

When the market size in the region is set at a^* , public firms in both regions produce the same level of output, $q_{A0}^N = q_{B0}^N = 2/(6+N)$. Given the optimal market size, the equilibrium outcomes in Case *L* become the same as those in Case *S*.

Proposition 10.3 Even if the public firms are owned by the national government, to achieve the equilibrium outcomes under the state ownership case, the government must divide the region at a rate of $a^* = (2 + \epsilon N)/(4 + N)$.

This proposition implies that the national government can internalize the social costs of overproduction and underproduction by setting an optimal market size. An optimal market size achieves product efficiency for public firms in Case *L*. Thus, by setting an optimal market size, the government can replicate the equilibrium outcomes in Case *S*. However, it should be noted that the government cannot choose the market size such that the signs of $W_A^S - W_A^P$ and $W_B^S - W_B^P$ have the same sign as $W^S - W^P$.

10.6 Conclusion

In this chapter, we examined privatization in a mixed oligopoly with two regions in a country. We considered three cases: local ownership, state ownership, and private ownership. We first showed that in a mixed oligopoly, social welfare under a coordinated equilibrium is greater than that under an uncoordinated equilibrium. This implies that public firms should coordinate to produce efficiently without any change in consumer surplus. Second, if the number of private firms is large, country-level social welfare is greater in a privatized oligopoly than in a mixed oligopoly. Country-level privatization policies are not necessarily appropriate from a regional perspective, or in other words, they should be conducted by the national government. Third, the government can replicate a coordinated equilibrium under an uncoordinated equilibrium by setting the optimal market size. Finally, we see that the optimal market size depends on the number of private firms.

References

- Bárcena-Ruiz JC, Garzón MB (2005a) International trade and strategic privatization. Rev Dev Econ 9(4):502–513
- Bárcena-Ruiz JC, Garzón MB (2005b) Economic integration and privatisation under diseconomies of scale. Eur J Polit Econ 21(1):247–267
- De Fraja G, Delbono F (1989) Alternative strategies of a public enterprise in oligopoly. Oxford Economic Papers 41(1):302–311
- Fjell K, Pal D (1996) A mixed oligopoly in the presence of foreign private firms. Can J Econ 29 (3):737–743
- Han L, Ogawa H (2008) Economic integration and strategic privatization in an international mixed oligopoly. FinanzArchiv/Public Financ Anal 64(3):352–363
- Matsumura T (1998) Partial privatization in mixed duopoly. J Public Econ 70(3):473-483
- Pal D, White MD (1998) Mixed oligopoly, privatization, and strategic trade policy. South Econ J 65(2):264–281

Chapter 11 Competition and Quality in a Mixed Duopolistic Long-Term Care Market

Kota Sugahara and Minoru Kunizaki

Abstract We investigate a duopolistic long-term care market with uncertainty using a Hotelling-type spatial competition model where care providers decide the quality of the care to attract patients. We deal with three types of competition structures: (i) a duopoly with private nonprofit (NP) providers, (ii) a mixed duopoly with an NP and a private for-profit (FP) provider, and (iii) a duopoly with FP providers. We show that the equilibrium levels of quality in the mixed duopolistic market are higher than those in the NP duopoly and lower than those in the FP duopoly. Furthermore, in the mixed duopolistic market, while information improvement for the revision of the reimbursement system increases the quality levels of both providers, the effect of the information improvement in helping patients choose their care provider on the quality depends on the variance of the perceived quality.

11.1 Introduction

With many aging populations worldwide, the need for long-term care (LTC) has been growing, particularly in developed countries. However, because LTC remains a relatively small sector of the economy, the further development of both a workforce and workplaces is required.¹ Furthermore, the maintenance and improvement of the quality of LTC services have also become an important policy issue because its "quality measurement lags behind developments in health care" (OECD/European Commission 2013). In response to this situation, the OECD recommends the urgent introduction of a quality assessment system in those countries that are falling behind in efforts to develop and collect indicators on the

¹See Colombo et al. (2011), for further detail.

K. Sugahara (⊠) Kyoto Sangyo University, Kyoto, Japan e-mail: sugahara@cc.kyoto-su.ac.jp

M. Kunizaki Faculty of Economics, Aichi University, Nagoya, Japan

quality of care services.² In this chapter then, we are interested in the characteristics of competition and the effect of a quality assessment system in an LTC service market by applying theoretical considerations to a healthcare market.

In the field of economics, a significant number of studies investigate quality in the healthcare market. According to Gaynor (2006), who surveyed a large quantity of theoretical and empirical analyses in this area, an analysis of quality competition in a regulated price healthcare market showed that quality is increased via the number of hospitals and the level of the regulated price. Furthermore, Gravelle and Sivey (2010) found that the effect of improved information on the quality of profit-seeking hospitals depends on the cost difference between hospitals.

In a series of analyses on quality competition in a healthcare market, the models presented by Montefiori (2005) and Sanjo (2009) are helpful in considering the characteristics of competition and the effect of a quality assessment system in an LTC service market. Montefiori (2005) built a simple model where private for-profit hospitals compete for patients by means of the quality level in a healthcare market with uncertainty and then characterizes equilibrium outcomes. Sanjo (2009) extended Montefiori's model to a mixed duopoly by considering a publicly owned hospital that seeks to maximize social welfare. That study found that the quality level of the partially privatized hospital becomes higher than that of the private hospital.

In the context of analysis of a mixed oligopoly model, it is commonly assumed that competition exists between a publicly owned provider seeking social welfare and a profit-seeking private provider (e.g., a firm or hospital).³ However, we find from Table 11.1 that in some countries the share of the publicly owned LTC provider is clearly smaller than the share of the public hospital.⁴ In contrast, the share of private nonprofit (NP) providers is notable, particularly in France and Germany.

Therefore, we assume the existence of an NP instead of a publicly owned provider in the model and distinguish the objective of the NP's behavior from that of the publicly owned providers. Because the objective of the private provider might not be the maximization of social welfare, we assume that the NP's objective is budget maximization; thus, its profit is zero.

We study the equilibrium levels of quality in three types of competition structures: (i) a duopoly with NP providers, (ii) a mixed duopoly with an NP and private for-profit (FP) provider, and (iii) a duopoly with FP providers. We obtain two main results as follows. First, the equilibrium levels of quality in the mixed duopolistic

²See OECD/European Commission (2013).

³Ishibashi and Kaneko (2008) investigated competition and quality in a mixed oligopolistic market using a more general setting than Sanjo (2009), but did not consider uncertainty.

⁴Statistics regarding hospitals in EU countries and the United States are sourced from Nolte et al. (2014). Those concerning Japan are from the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (MHLW) (2013a). Statistics on LTC facilities in EU countries come from Rodrigues et al. (2012), and those on the United States are sourced from Harris-Kojetin et al. (2013). Statistics on Japanese LTC facilities are from MHLW (2013b).

Country	Public (%)	Private nonprofit (%)	Private for profit (%)
Hospitals			
France	35	29	39
Germany	30	36	35
United States	21	58	21
Japan	18	68	14
LTC facilities			
France	23	55	22
Germany	5	55	40
United States	5	55	40
Japan	1	43	56

Table 11.1 Distribution of hospitals and LTC facilities by ownership type

market are higher than those in the NP duopoly and lower than those in the FP duopoly. Second, in the mixed duopolistic market, while information improvement for the revision of the reimbursement system increases the quality levels of both providers, the effect of the information improvement in helping patients choose their care provider on quality depends on the variance of the perceived quality.

This chapter is organized as follows. In Sect. 11.2, we describe the model for our analysis. In Sect. 11.3, we characterize the equilibrium levels of quality in the different structures of competition and compare the quality levels. In Sect. 11.4 we investigate the effect of introducing a quality assessment system on the quality levels. We conclude our analysis in Sect. 11.5 with a summary of our findings.

11.2 The Model

Our model follows those presented in Montefiori (2005) and Sanjo (2009), who investigated a healthcare market while also considering uncertainty. We extend them by looking to Gravelle and Sivey (2010) and Levaggi and Montefiori (2013) to investigate an LTC market.

11.2.1 Setting and Patients

There are two LTC providers (0 and 1) competing for patients who need to be supported by LTC services by means of the quality level in Hotelling-type spatial competition, wherein patients choose which LTC facility they are treated in by comparing the expected utilities. Facility 0, where provider 0 treats patients with the quality level x_0 , is exogenously located at the endpoint 0 of the linear city with the unit length. Facility 1, where provider 1 provides care services to patients with the quality level x_1 , is exogenously located at endpoint 1 of the city. We assume that $x_i \in (0, \infty]$, i = 0, 1.

A mass of patients, normalized to one and uniformly distributed, lie on the line. The patients' residences are exogenously fixed. Patients choose a provider by comparing the utility of the various alternatives that depend on quality level and travel costs. We assume that patients can use care services without any pecuniary burden. In contrast, a patient residing at *y* must pay travel costs μy to be treated at facility 0 or $\mu(1 - y)$ for facility 1, where μ denotes a unit travel cost.⁵

In addition to travel costs, we consider uncertainty as a cost for the patients, following Montefiori (2005) and Sanjo (2009). They used a mean-variance method to deal with uncertainty in their models. Thus, in the present study, let \tilde{x}_i denote the perceived quality, which is normally distributed around the mean \bar{x}_i ; that is, $\tilde{x}_i \sim N$

 $(\bar{x}_i, \sigma_{x_i}^2)$, where $\sigma_{x_i}^2$ is the variance of the perceived quality. Patients who can only observe the perceived quality and not the true quality choose the provider whose care services may present the higher expected utility. They do so by comparing the perceived quality of LTC services provided by providers 0 and 1. For these patients, while the mean value \bar{x}_i is a positive factor of their utility, uncertainty is disliked. We approximate the expected utility of the patient who resides at *y* as follows:⁶

$$U_{y} = \begin{cases} \alpha \overline{x}_{0} - (1 - \beta)\varepsilon \sigma_{x_{0}}^{2} - \mu y, \text{ if receiving from provider } 0\\ \alpha \overline{x}_{1} - (1 - \beta)\varepsilon \sigma_{x_{1}}^{2} - \mu (1 - y), \text{ if receiving from provider } 1, \end{cases}$$
(11.1)

where $\alpha(>0)$ denotes the parameter of the partial utility from the expected quality, which is described as a mean value. Furthermore, $\varepsilon(>0)$ is the parameter of the approximation of the expected utility, and $\beta \in [0, 1]$ denotes the information parameter on uncertainty. If the introduction of a quality assessment system provides abundant information to patients to help them choose a provider, β will approach 1, and then the variance of the perceived quality will not be a concern for patients.

Similar to a Hotelling model in which the distance from the LTC facility represents the amount of demand under the assumption of the uniform distribution of patients, the demand for the quality of each care service is derived by the following steps.⁷ First, suppose a patient is indifferent to providers 0 and 1, the relationship between her/his utility in receiving an LTC service from each provider is written as:

$$\alpha \overline{x}_0 - (1-\beta)\varepsilon \sigma_{x_0}^2 - \mu y = \alpha \overline{x}_1 - (1-\beta)\varepsilon \sigma_{x_1}^2 - \mu(1-y).$$
(11.2)

Then, solving Eq. (11.2) for y yields

⁵That is, while μ is a physical travel cost for a patient who lives in a rural area where there are few LTC facilities, it may denote the searching costs (to find a desirable provider) of patients in urban areas where there are numerous facilities.

⁶See the Appendix.

⁷We implicitly assume that the quantity of service use per patient is unity.

$$y = \frac{1}{2\mu} \left[\alpha \left(\overline{x}_i - \overline{x}_j \right) + (1 - \beta) \varepsilon \left(\sigma_{x_j}^2 - \sigma_{x_i}^2 \right) \right] + \frac{1}{2}, \ i \neq j.$$
(11.3)

Multiplying the distance *y* by the population density of the patients that equals 1, we derive the following demand function for each provider:

$$D^{0} = \frac{1}{2\mu} [\alpha(\overline{x}_{0} - \overline{x}_{1}) + (1 - \beta)\varphi] + \frac{1}{2} , \qquad (11.4)$$

$$D^{1} = \frac{1}{2\mu} [\alpha(\bar{x}_{1} - \bar{x}_{0}) - (1 - \beta)\varphi] + \frac{1}{2}, \qquad (11.5)$$

where $\varphi = \varepsilon \left(\sigma_{x_1}^2 - \sigma_{x_0}^2 \right)$. Equations (11.4) and (11.5) show that the demand for the care services in each facility is a probability function that depends on the disparities between the mean values $(\overline{x}_1 - \overline{x}_0)$ and between the variances $(\sigma_{x_1}^2 - \sigma_{x_0}^2)$ of the perceived quality.

For the moment, we assume $\varphi > 0$ because in the LTC market in Japan, private NP providers were the first to provide LTC services, with private FP firms entering the market later with the introduction of public LTC insurance. In that situation, patients might have better information about the quality of the care delivered by NP providers than that of the latecomer FP providers. In the next section, we assume provider 0 to be the NP provider and provider 1 to be the FP firm in the case of a mixed duopoly. Therefore, we assume that \tilde{x}_1 is more uncertain than \tilde{x}_0 , that is, $\varphi > 0$.

11.2.2 Long-Term Care Providers

The provider's cost is assumed to be a function of the quality level. Although we employ one variable, the quality level, we imagine it as the consolidated index of a multidimensional vector of the quality as in Chalkley and Malcomson (1998) and Levaggi and Montefiori (2013). Levaggi and Montefiori (2013) divided the quality of care provided by a hospital into two categories: medical and nonmedical. The former improves the quality of the clinical care, and the latter, termed hotel quality, includes the number of beds per room, visiting hours, private telephones, and nurses per ward. It was found that the presence of nonmedical factors improved the patients' stays in hospital.

Therefore, we imagine that one part of x_i is related to LTC services, which is already taken into account by the reimbursement system, and that one part of x_i includes the accommodation, the comfort level of the facility, and the caregiver's kindness toward the patient. We call this aspect of x_i hospitality quality. Hence, we represent a provider's cost function as the following equation (the two parts relate to the abovementioned quality levels):

$$C_i = cx_i D^i + \frac{x_i^2}{2},$$
 (11.6)

where c is a constant unit cost associated with the quality of the care services. In addition to the cost related to the demand, we assume that the hospitality quality is a public good for the patients in the LTC facility and that the cost related to the hospitality quality is a quadratic function (Brekke et al. 2006; Gravelle and Sivey 2010). We have done so because to increase the friendliness of the caregivers in the facility, the manager needs not only to train the caregivers but also to improve their workplace environment. Therefore, increasing hospitality quality might be more expensive than just training caregivers.

11.2.3 Reimbursement

We employ the following reimbursement system for our analysis⁸:

$$R_i = P_i D^i + \gamma \frac{x_i^2}{2}.$$
 (11.7)

In contrast to the setting in Montefiori (2005) and Sanjo (2009), which assumed P_i as constant, we define P_i as a simple linear function, x_i ; $P_i(x_i) = px_i$, where p, assumed as p > c, is the unit payment related to the quality level. We assume this because, according to studies that compare alternative reimbursement systems, constant P_i means that the reimbursement is a prospective payment system. That is, in the term related to the demand, $(P_i - cx_i)D^i$, revenue does not depend on the quality level, while the cost is associated with the quality. Ellis and McGuire (1986) pointed out that this simple prospective payment system results in underprovision and recommends a mixed reimbursement system of prospective and cost-based payments to avoid this problem.⁹ Therefore, we assume that the revenue related to the demand is associated with the quality.

Furthermore, we consider the second term in Eq. (11.7): $\gamma \in [0, 1]$ is an information parameter, which indicates the ability of the purchaser who manages the reimbursement system to observe the cost of the hospitality quality. The introduction of a quality assessment system is considered to contribute to the revision of the reimbursement system, ensuring a greater correspondence with the total costs of LTC services by providing the purchaser with abundant information.

⁸Because we assume that the reimbursement system is fully financed by general tax without copayments or insurance premiums for simplicity, our analysis is based on a partial equilibrium model.

⁹Strictly speaking, they discuss this from the aspect of quantity not quality. However, their comments can be applied to the problem of quality choice (Levaggi 2005).

We simply describe the effect of the introduction of the assessment system as an increase in γ .

11.3 Equilibrium

In this section, we characterize the quality level in the three types of duopolistic markets: (i) both providers are private NP providers (an NN duopoly); (ii) provider 0 is an NP provider and provider 1 is a private FP firm (a mixed duopoly with superscript NF); and (iii) both providers are FP providers (an FF duopoly).

11.3.1 Objectives and Reaction Function

The profit of provider *i* is given by $\pi_i = R_i - C_i$. Thus, the profit of each provider is represented as follows:

$$\pi_0 = (p-c)x_0 \left(\frac{\alpha(\overline{x}_0 - \overline{x}_1) + (1-\beta)\varphi}{2\mu} + \frac{1}{2} \right) + (\gamma - 1)\frac{x_0^2}{2},$$
(11.8)

$$\pi_1 = (p-c)x_1 \left(\frac{\alpha(\bar{x}_1 - \bar{x}_0) - (1-\beta)\varphi}{2\mu} + \frac{1}{2}\right) + (\gamma - 1)\frac{x_1^2}{2}.$$
 (11.9)

As discussed in Sect. 11.1, the NP provider's objective is that of budget maximization because we imagine an LTC market in which there are few publicly owned providers seeking to maximize social welfare. The NP provider is assumed to choose x_i to achieve $\pi_i = R_i - C_i = 0$. In contrast, the FP provider is assumed to choose the quality level to maximize its profit. Following Montefiori (2005) and Sanjo (2009), we assume that the mean value of the perceived quality is equal to the true quality to obtain a reasonable solution.

From the rule of budget maximization, the quality of the care delivered by each NP provider is written as the following reaction function to the quality of the rival's care:

$$x_0^N = \Lambda(\alpha x_1 + \Phi), \tag{11.10}$$

$$x_1^N = \Lambda(\alpha x_0 + \Psi), \tag{11.11}$$

where $\Lambda = \frac{p-c}{(\gamma-1)\mu+(p-c)\alpha}$, $\Phi = -\mu - (1-\beta)\varphi$, and $\Psi = -\mu + (1-\beta)\varphi$. To obtain reasonable equilibrium solutions in the next subsection, we also assume that $\Phi < 0$ and $\Psi < 0$ for any β and φ and that $0 \le \gamma < 1 - \frac{(p-c)\alpha}{2\mu}$. The former assumption of a negative value on the intercept of the reaction function means that the travel cost is

sufficiently large. The latter assumption on the range of γ means that the purchaser will not be able to perfectly observe the cost related to the hospitality quality, even if a quality assessment system is introduced. In addition, this assumption derives the condition $2 < \alpha \Lambda$, which assures a strategic complement structure in any duopoly.

Then, the quality of the care delivered by each FP provider is written as the following reaction function from the first-order condition for profit maximization:

$$x_0^F = \frac{1}{2}\Lambda(\alpha x_1 + \Phi),$$
 (11.12)

$$x_1^F = \frac{1}{2}\Lambda(\alpha x_0 + \Psi).$$
 (11.13)

We recognize from Eqs. (11.10, 11.11, 11.12, and 11.13) that the NP provider is more aggressive than the FP provider. The reason why the provider's reaction depends on the difference of objective can be explained as follows. The NP provider tries to choose the highest quality available between alternatives to balance the total revenues and costs, taking the rival's quality level as given. In contrast, the FP provider chooses a quality level to balance the marginal revenue and marginal cost, also taking the rival's quality as given. When a rival's quality level increases, the damage to NP provider's balance of its account, denoted by $-\frac{\alpha(p-c)x_i}{2}dx_j$, $i \neq j$, is larger than that of the FP provider, denoted by $-\frac{\alpha(p-c)}{2}dx_j$. Therefore, the NP provider reacts against the marginal increase in the rival's quality more sensitively than the FP provider to recover the balance of its account. Thus, the reaction function of the NP is more elastic than that of the FP provider.

11.3.2 Equilibrium Levels of Quality in the Three Cases

From Eqs. (11.10) and (11.11), we derive the quality level of each provider in the case of an NN duopoly as follows:

$$x_0^{NN} = -\frac{\Lambda(\Phi + \Psi \alpha \Lambda)}{(\alpha \Lambda - 1)(\alpha \Lambda + 1)},$$
(11.14)

$$x_1^{NN} = -\frac{\Lambda(\Psi + \Phi \alpha \Lambda)}{(\alpha \Lambda - 1)(\alpha \Lambda + 1)}.$$
(11.15)

Next, Eqs. (11.10) and (11.13) derive each quality level in the case of a mixed duopoly:

$$x_0^{NF} = -\frac{\Lambda(2\Phi + \Psi\alpha\Lambda)}{(\alpha\Lambda - \sqrt{2})(\alpha\Lambda + \sqrt{2})},$$
(11.16)

11 Competition and Quality in a Mixed Duopolistic Long-Term Care Market

$$x_1^{NF} = -\frac{\Lambda(\Psi + \Phi \alpha \Lambda)}{\left(\alpha \Lambda - \sqrt{2}\right)\left(\alpha \Lambda + \sqrt{2}\right)}.$$
(11.17)

Finally, Eqs. (11.12) and (11.13) derive each quality level in the case of FF duopoly as follows:

$$x_0^{FF} = -\frac{\Lambda(2\Phi + \Psi \alpha \Lambda)}{(\alpha \Lambda - 2)(\alpha \Lambda + 2)},$$
(11.18)

$$x_1^{FF} = -\frac{\Lambda(2\Psi + \Phi \alpha \Lambda)}{(\alpha \Lambda - 2)(\alpha \Lambda + 2)}.$$
(11.19)

Here we compare the levels of the quality between the different types of duopolies. Comparing Eqs. (11.14), (11.16), and (11.18), we derive $x_0^{NN} < x_0^{NF} < x_0^{FF}$. Then, comparing Eqs. (11.15), (11.17), and (11.19), we derive $x_1^{NN} < x_1^{NF} < x_1^{FF}$.

Based on the above explanation of the reaction function of the provider to different objectives and because the reaction function of the NP provider is more elastic than that of the FP provider, the equilibrium level of the quality is lowest in the case of an NN duopoly. In contrast, the existence of an FP provider in the market calms the competition somewhat. Thus, we obtain Proposition 11.1.

Proposition 11.1 In the long-term care market where duopolistic providers compete for patients by choosing the quality level of care, the equilibrium levels of quality in the case of a mixed duopoly are higher than those in a duopoly with private nonprofit providers and are lower than those in a duopoly with private for-profit providers.

Proposition 11.1 seeks to determine whether the quality levels in the case of an NP duopoly and FP duopoly are higher, or lower, than those of a monopoly. We first obtain the quality levels of the private for-profit monopoly as those are easily derived from the first-order conditions to maximize a combined profit, $\pi_0 + \pi_1$. They are represented as

$$x_0^{FMON} = -\frac{\Lambda(\Phi + \Psi \alpha \Lambda)}{2(\alpha \Lambda - 2)(\alpha \Lambda + 2)},$$
(11.20)

$$x_1^{FMON} = -\frac{\Lambda(\Psi + \Phi \alpha \Lambda)}{2(\alpha \Lambda - 2)(\alpha \Lambda + 2)}.$$
(11.21)

Comparing Eqs. (11.18) and (11.19) with (11.20) and (11.21), we obtain $x_0^{FMON} < x_0^{FF}$ and $x_1^{FMON} < x_1^{FF}$. Because the for-profit monopoly does not have to compete for patients, its administrators intend to minimize costs. Hence, the quality level in a monopoly is lower than that in a duopolistic market.

Because it is relatively complicated to derive the level of quality in a private nonprofit monopoly, we ignore the disparity of the variance for a simple comparison, that is, $\varphi = 0$ is assumed. Under this assumption, Eqs. (11.14) and (11.15) are rewritten as

$$x_0^{NN} = x_1^{NN} = -\frac{p-c}{\gamma-1}.$$
(11.22)

However, because the nonprofit monopoly also has no rival and faces all the demand denoted by unity, its profit is written as

$$\Pi = (p-c)(x_0+x_1) + \frac{1}{2}(\gamma-1)(x_0^2+x_1^2).$$
(11.23)

Taking $x_0 = x_1 = x^{NMON}$ into account, the quality level that satisfies the rule of budget maximization on Eq. (11.23) is derived as the following equation:

$$x^{NMON} = -\frac{2(p-c)}{\gamma - 1}.$$
(11.24)

Comparing Eqs. (11.22) and (11.24), we recognize a downward pressure of competition on the quality level of the NP provider's care.¹⁰ Therefore, we obtain Corollary 11.1.

Corollary 11.1 Although the introduction of competition into a private for-profit market brings higher levels of quality, competition between nonprofit providers reduces the quality level below that of a monopoly.

Next, we compare the quality levels between different providers in a certain competition. From Eqs. (11.14) and (11.15), the difference in the quality in the case of an NN duopoly is written as

$$x_0^{NN} - x_1^{NN} = -\frac{2\Lambda}{\alpha\Lambda + 1} (1 - \beta)\varphi.$$
 (11.25)

Equations (11.18) and (11.19) derive the difference in the quality in an FF duopoly:

$$x_0^{FF} - x_1^{FF} = -\frac{2\Lambda}{\alpha\Lambda + 2} (1 - \beta)\varphi.$$
 (11.26)

From Eqs. (11.25) and (11.26), we recognize that in a duopoly with the same type of providers, it is the difference in the variance of the perceived quality between providers that determines which provider has the highest level of quality.

¹⁰Incidentally, x^{NMON} represents the highest level of the alternatives we considered. However, because we ignore the patient's social burden to finance the reimbursement system, we cannot conclude that a nonprofit monopoly is the most desirable market structure for LTC from a social welfare perspective.

In contrast, from Eqs. (11.16) and (11.17), the difference in the quality level in a mixed duopoly is written as

$$x_0^{NF} - x_1^{NF} = \frac{\Lambda}{\left(\alpha\Lambda - \sqrt{2}\right)\left(\alpha\Lambda + \sqrt{2}\right)} \left[\mu - (1 - \beta)\varphi(2\alpha\Lambda - 3)\right].$$
(11.27)

Because we assume that $2 < \alpha \Lambda$, the difference depends on the sign of the term in square brackets, that is, $\mu - (1 - \beta)\varphi(2\alpha\Lambda - 3) \le 0 \Rightarrow x_0^{NF} \le x_1^{NF}$. From these findings, we obtain Proposition 11.2.

Proposition 11.2 The difference in the quality level is characterized as follows: (i) in a duopoly with the same type of providers, $\varphi \ge 0 \Rightarrow x_0 \le x_1$, and (ii) a mixed duopoly, $\mu - (1 - \beta)\varphi(2\alpha A - 3) \le 0 \Rightarrow x_0 \le x_1$, and $x_0 > x_1$ if $\varphi = 0$.

Because $\varphi = \varepsilon \left(\sigma_{x_1}^2 - \sigma_{x_0}^2\right)$, Proposition 11.2(i) means that the provider with higher uncertainty, who is initially disliked by patients, tries to choose higher quality than its rival to overcome this disadvantage in a duopoly with the same type of providers. In contrast, in a mixed duopoly, the quality level of the care delivered by the FP firm (provider 1) is lower than that of the NP provider (provider 0), even if the uncertainty of 1's quality is equal to or somewhat higher than the uncertainty of 0's quality. The reason why the result of the mixed duopoly is different from the other types of duopolies is the difference in the behaviors of the providers. That is, the NP provider offers a more sensitive reaction. Proposition 11.2(ii) means that the impact of provider 0's behavior (as an aggressive NP provider) on the equilibrium is greater than that of provider 1 who tries to overcome the disadvantage caused by the higher level of uncertainty.

11.4 The Effect of Improving Information

We consider the effect of the introduction of a quality assessment system on the quality level. Because our main interest is the effect on a mixed duopolistic LTC market, we focus on an NF duopoly. The equilibrium levels of the quality in this market are as follows:

$$x_0^{NF} = -\frac{\Lambda(2\Phi + \alpha\Psi)}{\left(\alpha\Lambda - \sqrt{2}\right)\left(\alpha\Lambda + \sqrt{2}\right)}, \ x_1^{NF} = -\frac{\Lambda(\Psi + \alpha\Phi)}{\left(\alpha\Lambda - \sqrt{2}\right)\left(\alpha\Lambda + \sqrt{2}\right)}$$

First, we consider that the introduction of a quality assessment system assists patients to choose a care provider via improving information about the variance of the perceived quality. The effect of a marginal increase in β is represented by the following equations:

$$\frac{\partial x_0}{\partial \beta} = \frac{\Lambda(\alpha \Lambda - 2)\varphi}{(\alpha \Lambda - \sqrt{2})(\alpha \Lambda + \sqrt{2})},\tag{11.28}$$

$$\frac{\partial x_1}{\partial \beta} = \frac{-\Lambda(\alpha \Lambda - 1)\varphi}{\left(\alpha \Lambda - \sqrt{2}\right)\left(\alpha \Lambda + \sqrt{2}\right)}.$$
(11.29)

Thus, we obtain $\frac{\partial x_0}{\partial \beta} \gtrless 0$ and $\frac{\partial x_1}{\partial \beta} \lessgtr 0$ under $\varphi \gtrless 0$.

As discussed in Sect. 11.3, because uncertainty is a disadvantage for providers, a provider with a high level of uncertainty is motivated to choose a higher level of quality to attract patients who initially dislike her/him. However, the introduction of a quality assessment system for patients, paradoxically, removes this incentive to overcome the disadvantage by reducing uncertainty. Therefore, if $\mu - (1 - \beta)\varphi$ $(2\alpha\Lambda - 3) > 0$ and $\varphi > 0$ are satisfied and thus $x_0 > x_1$, the introduction of a quality assessment system for patients increases the disparity between quality levels in a mixed duopolistic market.

We now consider that the introduction of a quality assessment system incentivizes the purchaser to revise the reimbursement system to correspond to costs related to both the care service quality and the hospitality quality. The effect of a marginal increase in γ is represented by the following equations:

$$\frac{\partial x_0}{\partial \gamma} = \frac{2[(2\Psi + \Phi \alpha \Lambda)\alpha \Lambda + 2\Phi]}{\left(\alpha^2 \Lambda^2 - 2\right)^2} \left(\frac{-\mu \Lambda^2}{p - c}\right) > 0, \qquad (11.30)$$

$$\frac{\partial x_1}{\partial \gamma} = \frac{\left(4\Phi + \Psi \alpha \Lambda\right) \alpha \Lambda + 2\Psi}{\left(\alpha^2 \Lambda^2 - 2\right)^2} \left(\frac{-\mu \Lambda^2}{p - c}\right) > 0.$$
(11.31)

The signs of Eqs. (11.30) and (11.31) follow these assumptions: $2 < \alpha \Lambda$, $\Phi < 0$, and $\Psi < 0$. Because we derive $\frac{\partial x_0}{\partial \gamma} < \frac{\partial x_1}{\partial \gamma}$ when $\varphi = 0$, the introduction of a quality assessment system for the purchaser's revisions reduces the disparity between quality levels in a mixed duopolistic market when there is no difference in the variance of the perceived quality.

Summarizing the above discussions, we obtain Proposition 11.3.

Proposition 11.3 In a mixed duopolistic market where the relationship $x_0 > x_1$ exists, the introduction of a quality assessment system for patients might increase the disparity between quality levels. In contrast, the introduction of a quality assessment system for the purchaser possibly reduces the disparity with increases in both quality levels, x_0 and x_1 .

In an LTC market with a duopolistic competition structure and uncertainty, there is the concern that the introduction of a quality assessment system for patients removes the incentive for a provider with higher uncertainty to seek a higher level of quality. However, the introduction of a quality assessment system for the purchaser to revise the reimbursement system increases the quality levels of the care services by both providers. Therefore, from the simple viewpoint of the quality level, it is more desirable that a quality assessment system is only utilized for purchasers to revise their reimbursement system.

11.5 Concluding Remarks

Ensuring and improving the quality of LTC services is an important policy issue in most countries with an aging population. Thus, the OCED has recommended introducing a quality assessment system. In this chapter, we investigated the impact of introducing such a system on the quality of LTC services in a market with uncertainty. Using Hotelling-type spatial competition, where care providers decide the quality of the care to attract patients, we investigated a duopolistic LTC market. In contrast to existing literature on mixed oligopoly models, we assumed the existence of private NP providers instead of publicly owned providers to ensure the model was appropriate for the LTC market in a wide number of countries.

We examined three types of competition structures: (i) a duopoly with private NP providers, (ii) a mixed duopoly with an NP and a private FP provider, and (iii) a duopoly with FP providers. We obtained two main results. First, the equilibrium levels of quality in the mixed duopolistic market are higher than those in the NP duopoly and lower than those in the FP duopoly. Second, in the mixed duopolistic market, while information improvement for the revision of the reimbursement system increases the quality levels of both providers, the effect of an information improvement in choosing a care provider based on quality depends on the variance of the perceived quality.

These findings lead to the following implications. First, the entry of private FP providers into the LTC market is required to improve the quality level of LTC services. Second, a quality assessment system should be introduced to revise the reimbursement system to ensure correspondence to costs related not only to care service quality but also to hospitality quality.

Despite our contributions to this topic, some unresolved issues remain. The first is the finance of the reimbursement system. In the real world, an increase in the expenditure of public or private LTC insurance is a serious problem. To consider this issue, our model should include the burden of an insurance premium or tax financing reimbursement. The second point is the assumption regarding the objective of the NP provider. Levaggi and Montefiori (2013) considered alternative objectives for a public hospital, such as market share, equality treatment, and reputation. Therefore, it is possible to assume alternative objectives (other than budget maximization) for the NP provider and to investigate the equilibrium level of quality in different situations. These issues can be addressed in future research.

Acknowledgments This study is supported by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (KAKENHI, grant No.25380378) from Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

Appendix

Following Montefiori (2005), we denote the utility of a representative patient as a general function form of the perceived quality and the distance and define it quasi-concave, that is,

$$u = u(\tilde{x}_i, y), u' > 0, u'' < 0.$$
 (A11.1)

We then represent the condition for the patient to choose provider *i*, by using the expected utility form:

$$E[u(\widetilde{x}_i, y)] \ge E[u(\widetilde{x}_j, y)], \ i \neq j.$$
(A11.2)

When we assume that the perceived quality \tilde{x}_i is very close to the expected quality $\bar{x}_i = E[\tilde{x}_i]$ for every state of the world, we can use the following Taylor's approximation as follows:

$$u(\widetilde{x}_i, y) \approx u(\overline{x}_i, y) + (\widetilde{x}_i - \overline{x}_i)u'_{\widetilde{x}_i}(\overline{x}_i) + (\widetilde{x}_i - \overline{x}_i)^2 \frac{u''_{\widetilde{x}_i}(\overline{x}_i)}{2}.$$
 (A11.3)

Finally, using expectations and denoting $E\left[\left(\tilde{x}_i - \bar{x}_i\right)^2\right]$ by $\sigma_{x_i}^2$, we obtain

$$E[u(\widetilde{x}_i, y)] \approx u(\overline{x}_i, y) + \sigma_{x_i}^2 \frac{u''_{\widetilde{x}_i}(\overline{x}_i)}{2}.$$
 (A11.4)

Denoting $\frac{u''_{\tilde{x}_i}(\bar{x}_i)}{2}$ by $-\varepsilon$ and adding the term travel cost, we can represent the utility of the patient as Eq. (11.1).

References

- Brekke ND, Nuscheler R, Straume OR (2006) Quality and location choices under price regulation. J Econ Manage Strat 15:207–227
- Chalkley M, Malcomson JM (1998) Contracting for health services with unmonitored quality. Econ J 108:1093–1110
- Colombo F, Llena-Nozal A, Mercier J, Tjadens F (2011) Help wanted? Providing and paying for long-term care, OECD health policy studies. OECD Publishing, Paris
- Ellis RP, McGuire TG (1986) Provider behavior under prospective reimbursement. J Health Econ 5:129–151
- Gaynor M (2006) What do we know about competition and quality in health care markets? NBER working paper 12301
- Gravelle H, Sivey P (2010) Imperfect information in a quality-competitive hospital market. J Health Econ 29:524–535
- Harris-Kojetin L, Segupta M, Park-Lee E, Valverde R (2013) Long-term care services in the United States: 2013 overview. National Centre for Health Statistics, Hyattsville
- Ishibashi K, Kaneko T (2008) Partial privatization in mixed duopoly with price and quality competition. J Econ 95:213–231
- Levaggi R (2005) Hospital health care: pricing and quality control in a spatial model with asymmetry of information. Int J Health Care Finance Econ 5:327–349
- Levaggi R, Montefiori M (2013) Patient selection in a mixed oligopoly market for health care: the role of the soft budget constraint. Int Rev Econ 60:49–70
- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (2013a) The survey of health care facilities (Iryo shisetsu chosa) (in Japanese)
- Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare (2013b) The survey of facilities and establishments of long-term care services (Kaigo service shisetsu/jigyosho chosa) (in Japanese)
- Montefiori M (2005) Spatial competition for quality in the market for hospital care. Eur J Health Econ 6:131–135
- Nolte E, Pitchforth E, Miani C, McHugh S (2014) The changing hospital landscape: an exploration of international experiences. RAND Corporation Research Report
- OECD/European Commission (2013) A good life in old age? Monitoring and improving quality in long-term care, OECD health policy studies. OECD Publishing, Paris
- Rodrigues R, Huber M, Lamura G (eds) (2012) Facts and figures on healthy ageing and long-term care. European Centre for Social Welfare Policy and Research. Available via European Centre for Social Welfare Policy and Research. http://www.euro.centre.org/data/LTC_Final.pdf. Accessed 16 Aug 2015
- Sanjo Y (2009) Quality choice in a health care market: a mixed duopoly approach. Eur J Health Econ 10:207–215

Chapter 12 Privatization with a CSR Private Firm

Akihito Itano

Abstract The purpose of this chapter is to analyze how the existence of a corporate social responsibility (CSR) private firm influences the privatization of a public firm in a mixed duopoly model. Furthermore, we compare these results with those generated from the competition between a public firm and a pure private firm, which have been the subject of many discussions. We show that replacing a pure private firm with a CSR private firm increases the consumer surplus, but lowers the privatization ratio of the public firm. This result occurs because the public firm cannot distinguish the output stemming from profit maximization from that related to the CSR considerations of the private firm under a typical Cournot competitive environment.

12.1 Introduction

Since De Fraja and Delbono (1989) first dealt with the privatization of public firms, many economists have addressed this subject. A number of recent studies have examined a new theme in existing economic theory, that is, competition between private firms (instead of public firms) that engage in corporate social responsibility (CSR) and pure private firms. The concept of CSR states that while private firms seek profits, they are also responsible for any effects their activities may have on society. Therefore, in the operation of their business and when generating profits, they must consider all stakeholders including consumers, shareholders, and communities. Thus, CSR private firms decide their output to maximize consumer surplus as well as their profit. A number of previous studies have examined CSR private firms (Goering 2008; Lambertini and Tampieri 2010; Kopel and Brand 2012). Following on from these studies, this chapter investigates how the existence of a CSR private firm influences the privatization of a public firm. We then compare these results with those from competition between a public firm and a pure private firm, which have been widely studied. More specifically, is it possible to substitute a CSR private firm for a pubic firm?

A. Itano (🖂)

Sompo Japan Nipponkoa Asset Management Co., Ltd, Tokyo, Japan e-mail: aitano@sjnk-am.co.jp

[©] Springer Japan 2017

M. Yanagihara, M. Kunizaki (eds.), *The Theory of Mixed Oligopoly*, New Frontiers in Regional Science: Asian Perspectives 14, DOI 10.1007/978-4-431-55633-6_12

As CSR-related issues are generally discussed in the field of business management, the main analytic methodology has been the empirical investigation of correlations between corporate social performance and corporate financial performance: can the CSR activity of the firms enhance their financial performance as measured by such business indicators as ROE or ROA? In the early 2000s, the theory of "strategic" CSR was first proposed by Baron (2001) and McWilliams and Siegel (2001) and differentiated from "basic" CSR. In contrast to a firm's basic CSR activity (e.g., corporate philanthropy), private firms implemented profitmaximizing CSR activities by considering a wide range of costs and benefits when investing in socially responsible projects. For instance, the development and launch of hybrid cars or electronic cars by major automobile manufacturers are just one example of strategic CSR. We also introduce this proposition into our discussion and analyze the influence on the privatization of public firms. That is, we claim that it is strategic CSR firms themselves that decide the degree of CSR activity to maximize their profits. This is contrast to basic CSR firms, which take it as given, as if following "invisible" social requests.

From our discussion below, we conclude that replacing a pure private firm with a CSR private firm increases the consumer surplus, but decreases the privatization ratio of the public firm. This decrease in the privatization ratio seems contrary to intuition. Because the philosophy of a CSR private firm is similar to that of a public firm, when there is a CSR private firm in the economy, the government is likely to proceed with the privatization of the public firm. This contradictory result occurs because the public firm cannot distinguish the output led from profit maximization from that related to the CSR considerations of the private firm under typical Cournot competition.

This chapter is organized as follows. In the next section, we present a basic model. In Sect. 12.3, we construct Cournot competition between a public firm and a basic CSR private firm and investigate how an optimal privatization policy can change in response to the extent of the CSR considerations of the private firm. In Sect. 12.4, we focus on a strategic CSR private firm instead of a basic CSR private firm. Finally, in Sect. 12.5, we offer some concluding comments and suggestions for future research.

12.2 The Model

We consider a mixed duopoly economy constituted by a public firm and a CSR private firm. The public firm is indexed by firm i = 0, and the CSR private firm is indexed by firm i = 1. Furthermore, q_i denotes firm i's output. Each firm produces a homogeneous good, and the inverse demand function is given by p = p(Q) = a - Q. Total demand Q can be expressed as the sum of each firm's outputs in equilibrium as follows:

12 Privatization with a CSR Private Firm

$$Q = q_0 + q_1. (12.1)$$

We assume that each firm's cost function is identical and represents $c_i = \frac{k}{2}q_i^2$. For analytical simplicity, we set k = 1. Therefore, a firm's profit can be written as $\pi_i = p(Q)q_i - \frac{1}{2}q_1^2$.

In the above setting, social welfare can be expressed as

$$W = aQ - \frac{1}{2}Q^2 - \frac{1}{2}q_0^2 - \frac{1}{2}q_1^2.$$
 (12.2)

The public firm's objective function is given by the weighted average of its profit and social welfare, following Matsumura (1998). Thus,

$$V_0 = \theta \pi_0 + (1 - \theta) W,$$
(12.3)

where θ ($0 \le \theta \le 1$) represents the privatization ratio of the public firm.

In contrast, the CSR private firm not only seeks its profit but is also concerned with the consumer surplus to some degree. The specific objective function is similar to the public firm's one and is assumed to be the weighted average of its profit and social welfare excluding the other firm's profit:

$$V_{1} = (1 - \phi)\pi_{1} + \phi (\pi_{1} + CS)$$

= $\pi_{1} + \phi CS$
= $(a - Q)q_{1} - \frac{1}{2}q_{1}^{2} + \phi \left[\left(aQ - \frac{1}{2}Q^{2} \right) - (a - Q)Q \right],$ (12.4)

where ϕ ($0 \le \phi \le 1$) represents the degree of CSR considerations.

12.3 Basic CSR Private Firm and the Privatization of a Public Firm

In this section, we derive the optimal privatization ratio of a public firm with a basic CSR private firm, named here as firm 1B. The structure of the game in this section is constituted by two stages. In the first stage, the government decides the privatization ratio to maximize social welfare. In the second stage, based on the government-determined privatization ratio, the two firms choose their output in Cournot competition.

As usual, we solve this game by backward induction. In the second stage, each firm decides its own output, taking the other firm's output as given. From the public firm's first-order condition, $\frac{\partial V_0}{\partial q_0} = 0$, we obtain its reaction function as follows:

A. Itano

$$q_0 = \frac{a - q_{1B}}{2 + \theta}.$$
 (12.5)

In the same way, we obtain the basic CSR private firm's reaction function from the first-order condition, $\frac{\partial V_{IB}}{\partial a_{IB}} = 0$:

$$q_{1B} = \frac{a - (1 - \phi)q_0}{3 - \phi} . \tag{12.6}$$

As we can see in Fig. 12.1, because the slopes of both reaction functions are negative, we find that there is a strategic substitutional relationship between the public firm and the CSR private firm. We also find by illustrating the above two reaction functions that the output of the public firm decreases and that of the basic CSR private firm increases. This occurs because the CSR private firm puts more weight on the consumer surplus, which is indicated by the upward shift of the reaction function of the CSR private firm in Fig. 12.1.

When the public firm and the basic CSR firm implement Cournot competition on their outputs, each firm's output and the total output can be obtained as follows:

$$q_0^*(\theta,\phi) = \frac{(2-\phi)a}{2+(3-\phi)(1+\theta)},$$
(12.7)

$$q_{1B}^{*}(\theta,\phi) = \frac{(1+\theta+\phi)a}{2+(3-\phi)(1+\theta)},$$
(12.8)

$$Q^{*}(\theta,\phi) = \frac{(3+\theta)a}{2+(3-\phi)(1+\theta)}.$$
(12.9)

Now we look the government's decision regarding the optimal privatization policy to maximize social welfare in the first stage of the game. Social welfare in this instance can be expressed as

$$W^{*}(\theta,\phi) = aQ - \frac{1}{2}Q^{2} - \frac{1}{2}q_{0}^{2} - \frac{1}{2}q_{1B}^{2}$$

=
$$\frac{\left(8 + 10\theta - 2\phi - 5\theta\phi + 2\theta^{2} - \theta^{2}\phi - \phi^{2}\right)a^{2}}{\left[2 + (3 - \phi)(1 + \theta)\right]^{2}}.$$
 (12.10)

By differentiating (12.10) by θ and setting it to zero, we obtain the optimal privatization ratio as the function of ϕ as follows:

$$\theta^*(\phi) = -\frac{(2\phi - 1)(\phi - 1)}{3\phi - 5}.$$
(12.11)



We can confirm that the solution θ^* of (12.11) satisfies the second-order condition by substituting it into the second derivative of equation (12.10) with regard to θ .

We can illustrate the relationship between θ and ϕ facing the public firm. The case of $\phi = 0$ means an economy wherein a public firm and a pure private firm compete. Figure 12.2 shows that as the basic CSR private firm's concern for the consumer surplus increases, the optimal privatization ratio of a public firm decreases. In addition, because θ becomes negative when $1/2 \le \phi \le 1$, the government chooses full nationalization as a corner solution for the optimal policy.

By substituting Eq. (12.11) into Eqs. (12.7), (12.8), and (12.9), we obtain each firm's output and the total output as the function of ϕ :

$$q_0^{*}(\phi) = \frac{(5 - 3\phi)a}{2(\phi^2 - 4\phi + 7)},$$
(12.12)

$$q_{1B}^{*}(\phi) = \frac{(3+\phi)a}{2(\phi^2 - 4\phi + 7)},$$
(12.13)

$$Q^*(\phi) = \frac{(4-\phi)a}{\phi^2 - 4\phi + 7}.$$
(12.14)

The effect of the CSR private firm's CSR considerations on each firm's output and total demand is determined within $0 \le \phi \le 1$ as follows:

$$\frac{dq_0^*}{d\phi} = \frac{2(3\phi^2 - 10\phi - 1)a}{4(\phi^2 - 4\phi + 7)^2} < 0,$$
(12.15)



$$\frac{dq_{1B}}{d\phi} = \frac{-2(\phi + 6\phi - 19)a}{4(\phi^2 - 4\phi + 7)^2} > 0, \qquad (12.16)$$

$$\frac{dQ^*}{d\phi} = \frac{(\phi^2 - 8\phi + 9)a}{(\phi^2 - 4\phi + 7)^2} > 0.$$
(12.17)

Finally, each firm's profit can be obtained as

$$\pi_0^{*}(\phi) = \frac{(5-3\phi)(4\phi^2 - 9\phi + 7)a^2}{8(\phi^2 - 4\phi + 7)^2},$$
(12.18)

$$\pi_{1B}^{*}(\phi) = \frac{(9-4\phi)(1-\phi)(3+\phi)a}{8(\phi^2-4\phi+7)^2}.$$
(12.19)

To numerically demonstrate the effect of the CSR private firm's CSR considerations on each firm's profit, we make a calibration by setting a = 10. The results are shown in Table 12.1.

From the above calibration analyses, when the degree of CSR considerations increases, we get the given results. First, while the output of a public firm decreases, that of a basic CSR private firm increases. In sum, total demand increases, which leads the consumer surplus, $Q^2/2$, to increase. Second, the profit of a public firm decreases, but the profit of a CSR private firm at first increases slightly and then decreases. Third, total welfare is maximized at $\phi = 1/2$. This is because the negative effect on each firm's profit exceeds the positive effect on the consumer surplus.

By this calibration, we clarify how a greater consideration of CSR results in the government implementing a weaker policy for the privatization (higher nationalization) of public firms. Furthermore, a greater concern for consumer surplus results in a decrease in output by a public firm, and this leads to a decrease in the consumer surplus. In this case, the government should choose a higher nationalization policy from a social welfare viewpoint.

ϕ	θ^*	q_0^*	q_{1B}^{*}	Q*	CS*	π_0^*	π_{1B}^*	W^*
0.00	0.200	3.571	2.143	5.714	16.327	8.929	6.888	32.143
0.04	0.181	3.566	2.222	5.788	16.751	8.662	6.890	32.302
0.50	0.000	3.333	3.333	6.667	22.222	5.556	5.556	33.333
0.70	0.000	3.023	3.953	6.977	24.337	4.570	4.137	33.045
1.00	0.000	2.500	5.000	7.500	28.125	3.125	0.000	31.250

Table 12.1 Effect of CSR considerations

12.4 Strategic CSR Private Firm and the Privatization of a Public Firm

We now consider an economy in which a strategic CSR private firm, instead of a basic CSR private firm, competes with a public firm. As noted in Sect. 12.1, a strategic CSR firm itself can choose the degree of CSR activity, whereas a basic CSR firm takes it as given. Regarding the stages of the game, the second stage is the same as in the case of the basic CSR private firm, but the first stage of this game is different in that the strategic CSR private firm decides its level of concern for consumer surplus at the same time that the government decides the optimal privatization policy. Based on each firm's output and the total output under Cournot competition, the profit of a strategic CSR firm, labeled here as firm 1S, is obtained as

$$\pi_{1S}^{*}(\theta,\phi) = p(Q^{*}(\theta,\phi))q_{1S}^{*}(\theta,\phi) - \frac{1}{2}(q_{1S}^{*}(\theta,\phi))^{2}$$

= $\frac{(3+6\theta-2\theta\phi+3\theta^{2}-2\theta^{2}\phi-3\phi^{2}-2\theta\phi^{2})a^{2}}{2[2+(3-\phi)(1+\theta)]^{2}}.$ (12.20)

By differentiating (12.20) by ϕ and setting it to zero, we obtain the strategic CSR private firm's optimal degree of concern for consumer surplus as follows:

$$\phi^*(\theta) = \frac{1+\theta}{\theta^2 + 5\theta + 5}.$$
(12.21)

We can confirm that the solution ϕ^* of (12.21) satisfies the second-order condition by substituting it into the second derivative of Eq. (12.20) with regard to ϕ .

Figure 12.3 illustrates the above relationship between ϕ and θ , as faced by the strategic CSR private firm. The degree of concern for consumer surplus ranges from 2/11 to 1/5 within $0 \le \theta \le 1$. There is also a negative relationship between ϕ and θ .

Finally, we see the equilibrium privatization ratio of the public firm and the equilibrium degree of the CSR considerations of the strategic CSR private firm. As it is difficult to obtain the equilibrium values, we give a numerical example in Fig. 12.4 by plotting the values of n. In other words, we plot Figs. 12.2 and 12.3 in



the same figure, taking ϕ as the horizontal axis and θ as the vertical axis. As the figure shows, there is a unique interior solution.

Additionally, together with the calibration result in Sect. 12.3, we find that this economy in equilibrium can attain larger social welfare as well as total output and consumer surplus because the equilibrium degree of the CSR considerations of the strategic CSR private firm is within $\phi < 1/2$. However, the government chooses a weaker privatization policy for the public firm compared with a pure private firm, which is not concerned about CSR, that is, $\theta^* < 1/5$.

Conclusion 12.5

We found that replacing a pure private firm with a CSR private firm increases the consumer surplus, but decreases the privatization ratio of the public firm. This decrease of the privatization ratio seems to be contrary to intuition. Because the

surplus

philosophy in a CSR private firm is similar to that in a public firm, when there is a CSR private firm in the economy, the government is likely to proceed with the privatization of the public firm because the CSR private firm can fulfill the role of the public firm. This contradictory result occurs because the public firm cannot distinguish output stemming from profit maximization from that related to the CSR considerations of the private firm under typical Cournot competition.

This current study could be extended by considering a scenario where the government captures CSR activity. For example, Mansakis et al. (2013) discussed CSR-certified institutions, acknowledging that CSR activities should be accepted by stakeholders to ensure that strategic CSR firms engage in such activities. In addition, it might be possible to reconsider the game structure in the case of a strategic CSR firm. For example, although we obtained the above results under a situation where a public firm and a strategic CSR private firm simultaneously decide their degree of consideration for social welfare (consumer surplus), it is also natural to assume that the government decides its privatization policy by knowing in advance the level of concern that a strategic CSR private firm has for the consumer surplus.

References

- Baron DP (2001) Private politics, corporate social responsibility, and integrated strategy. J Econ Manag Strategy 10(1):7–45
- De Fraja G, Delbono F (1989) Alternative strategies of a public enterprise in oligopoly. Oxford Econ Pap 41(1):302–311
- Goering GE (2008) Socially concerned firms and the provision of durable goods. Econ Model 25 (3):575–583
- Kopel M, Brand B (2012) Socially responsible firms and endogenous choice of strategic incentives. Econ Model 29(3):982–989
- Lambertini L, Tampieri A (2010) Corporate social responsibility in a mixed oligopoly. Quademi DSE working paper 723

Mansakis C, Mitrokkostas E, Petrakis E (2013) Certification of corporate social responsibility activities in oligopolistic markets. Can J Econ 46(1):282–309

Matsumura T (1998) Partial privatization in mixed oligopoly. J Pub Econ 70:473-483

McWilliams A, Siegel D (2001) Corporate social responsibility: a theory of the firm perspective. Acad Manage Rev 26(1):117–127

Chapter 13 Market Expansion by Advertising and a Mixed Oligopoly

Minoru Kunizaki and Mitsuyoshi Yanagihara

Abstract We introduce a market-expanding measure, advertising, into the model of a mixed oligopoly and show how advertising affects the levels of production for both public and private firms. We also investigate the advertising level of these firms under a mixed oligopoly and after the privatization of the public firm. Through this analysis, we clarify the critical role of the public firm in expanding market demand. The public firm increases its level of advertising because it acknowledges the expanding effect on the behavior of private firms.

13.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we introduce into the oligopolistic model the activity of firms to expand the market or demand size. The focus of this chapter is on advertising and we attempt to portray its realistic role. We investigate how advertising affects the economy in both a mixed oligopoly and a pure private oligopoly.

Theories on mixed oligopolies have been developed in various directions, as the topics treated in this book show. One direction is the incorporation of advertising. In Japan, advertising activity by public firms, as well as private firms, has been prevalent. For instance, until the 1980s, the Japanese National Railways (JNR) aired television commercials and posted billboard advertisements in many stations to encourage consumers to travel by rail. JNR also created advertisements for more historic cities such as Kyoto and Nara to evoke feelings of nostalgia. Furthermore, private railway companies created similar advertisements. Today, three companies that operate rail routes between Osaka and Kyoto (i.e., Hankyu, Keihan, and JR, the former JNR) have engaged in advertising campaigns to promote their trains.

This chapter has three main focuses. It is understood that the advertisements of one railway company can induce people to use the services of another company because people's objective is simply to travel from A to B. That is, the

M. Kunizaki

M. Yanagihara (⊠) Nagoya University, Nagoya, Japan e-mail: yanagi@soec.nagoya-u.ac.jp

Faculty of Economics, Aichi University, Nagoya, Japan

advertisements of one company can expand its own demand as well as the market itself. Furthermore, if a public firm exists in the market, then it necessarily behaves differently from private firms. From the viewpoint of private firms, they can benefit from the advertisements of other firms, especially those of the public firm. Thus, private firms and the public firm might concentrate on (i.e., specialize in) either their output level of products and services or advertising. This is the first focus of this analysis.

Our second focus is on the effect of the number of (private) firms on outcomes, specifically output levels and the level of advertising. When the number of firms increases in the general framework of an oligopoly (including a mixed oligopoly), because the market approaches perfect competition, the output level of each firm decreases. In our framework, however, when firms (especially the public firm) engage in advertising, it is not clear whether this outcome holds or not. In addition, how does advertising change when the number of firms increases?

The third focus is on the change in the output levels and advertising expenditure when the public firm is privatized and the economy moves from a mixed oligopoly to a pure private oligopoly. In general, the output level of each private firm increases. We need to clarify these changes in a scenario where firms engage in advertising.

There are few studies that consider advertising to expand market demand in a mixed oligopoly (or duopoly).¹ The exceptions are Matsumura and Sunada (2013) and Han and Ogawa (2012). Matsumura and Sunada (2013) considered advertising competition in a mixed oligopoly, but their main focus was on second-best outcomes. Furthermore, they investigated misleading advertising as developed by Glaeser and Ujhelyi (2010), which does not affect the consumer surplus but does affect the production costs of firms.² Han and Ogawa (2012) examined demand-boosting advertising and investigated the level of privatization in accordance with the reaction of consumers to advertising in a mixed duopoly. They clarified that because consumers have a significant reaction to advertising, the level of privatization should be lower. Their result implies that the effect of advertising should be considered, whether or not the public firm is privatized.

This chapter follows the framework presented by Han and Ogawa (2012); however, there are three clear differences in motivation. The first is that they treat advertising expenditure in the same way as the production of the commodity. The cost functions for advertising and those for production take a quadratic form and are independent. In our model, although the production cost is linear in the amount of commodity itself, the advertising cost increases. In addition, these costs are

¹ In addition to competition in the supply of production, we consider advertising, which expands demand. In contrast, there exists another strand of research in which R&D investment (affecting the cost or productivity) is taken into account. For example, see Delbono and Denicoló (1993), Nishimori and Ogawa (2002), Haruna and Goel (2015), and Zhang and Zhong (2015).

² Matsumura and Sunada (2013) also considered the situation where the public firm and private firms play a two-stage game: after determining the level of advertising, firms choose the level of supply. In our framework, they simultaneously determine these levels.

dependent, which illustrates how advertising works in a mixed oligopolistic market. The second difference stems from the fact that our interest lies mainly with the effect of the (full) privatization of a public firm. In contrast, Han and Ogawa (2012) focus on the partial privatization of a public firm. In other words, we aim to investigate the role of the public firm in maximizing social welfare via advertising, and Han and Ogawa (2012) consider how the degree of privatization should be set from the viewpoint of social welfare maximization. Third, we consider *n* private firms, which makes it possible to analyze the difference in the number of firms or the size of the market. This is in contrast to Han and Ogawa (2012) who only considered one private firm.

In this study, we obtained the following novel results. First, in a mixed oligopoly, the number of (private) firms determines whether the output level of the public firm is larger than that of the private firms. That is, when the number of private firms is comparatively large, the output level of the private firms is larger than that of the public firm, and vice versa. In contrast, the level of advertising of the public firm is always larger than that of the private firms. This result reflects the crucial role of the public firm to expand the market via advertising. Second, when the number of private firms increases, the output level of the private firms, as well as the level of advertising, also increases. However, after the privatization of the public firm, the opposite occurs. Whether the output level of the public firm in a mixed oligopoly increases depends on the cost and demand factors. Third, although the advertising level of private firms increases after privatization. This result also indicates that privatization weakens the key role of the public firm to expand market demand.

The reminder of this chapter is as follows. Section 13.2 presents the mixed oligopoly model. Section 13.3 considers the case where a public firm is privatized and compares outcomes in a mixed oligopoly and a pure private oligopoly, and Sect. 13.4 concludes the chapter.

13.2 Mixed Oligopoly Model

There are n + 1 firms, which produce a homogenous commodity using the same inputs and production technologies. When they supply the market, they can use the mean to increase demand (or equivalently, expand the market) via their advertising expenditure. This issue will be discussed in greater detail below. In this chapter, we first consider the case where firm 0 is assumed to be a public firm, with an objective to maximize social welfare, and the other *n* firms are assumed to be private firms, seeking to maximize their own profit.

13.2.1 Setting

As evident in the standard settings of previous studies, the inverse demand function that the firms face is assumed to be linear, and its slope is -1. In addition, we assume that advertising expenditure expands the market size. That is, when *each* firm increases its advertising expenditure by one unit, the intercept of the vertical axis and the (*market*) inverse demand curve shift upward by $0 < \beta < 1$ unit. Then the inverse demand function is given by

$$p = 1 - \sum_{i=0}^{n+1} q_i + \beta \sum_{i=0}^n a_i, \quad i = 0, 1, 2, \dots n,$$
(13.1)

where p, q_i , and a_i represent the price of the commodity, the output level of the commodity, and the advertising by firm i, respectively.

When firms produce goods, they should pay for the costs of its input and advertising expenditure. The total cost function of the firms is assumed to be

$$c_i = (c + \gamma a_i)q_i + \frac{\varepsilon(a_i)^2}{2}, \ i = 0, 1, 2, \dots n,$$
 (13.2)

where *c* is a constant of the marginal cost of production. In addition, the marginal cost of production also linearly depends on advertising with a coefficient of γ . Therefore, the greater the number of firms that produce goods in the market, the higher the level of advertising. Then, the total cost represents any increase in advertising. It should be noted that in contrast to Han and Ogawa (2012), the cost of production and the advertising expenditure are asymmetrically incorporated into the cost function.^{3,4} In addition, for analytical convenience in the qualitative analysis in the latter part of this chapter, we set ε as 1.

Regarding the parameters relating to the above cost function, we make the following assumption.

³ The role of advertising is considered in much the same way in both Han and Ogawa (2012) and the present study. When goods are supplied to the market, advertising (i.e., its expenditure) is required to expand the market (demand). Furthermore, this expansion effect benefits the firm *and* other firms. On this point, this type of advertising can be acknowledged as a public good. In addition, it can also be recognized as the "supply" of goods.

⁴ The marginal costs of production differ in Han and Ogawa (2012) and the present study. Han and Ogawa (2012) assumed that the marginal cost of production, as well as the marginal expenditure for advertising, is linear in the amount of production (i.e., the cost function takes a quadratic form). In contrast, in the present study, we consider the marginal cost of production as the combination of the constant term and the level of advertising.

Assumption 13.1 Production

$$0 < \gamma < \beta < 1$$
 and $0 < c < 1$.

This assumption means that the expansion effect of advertising expenditure is larger than the cost of advertising. In other words, the net benefit of advertising is positive. Regarding the advertising cost, as usual, the marginal cost is smaller than the marginal revenue even when advertising expenditure is 0.

Finally, the profit of the firms can be expressed as

$$\pi_{i} \equiv pq_{i} - C_{i}$$

$$= \left(1 - \sum_{i=0}^{n} q_{i} + \beta \sum_{i=0}^{n} a_{i}\right)q_{i} - (c + \gamma a_{i})q_{i} - \frac{(a_{i})^{2}}{2}, i = 0, 1, 2, \dots n.$$
(13.3)

Private firms maximize the above profit (13.3) by choosing the output levels and advertising expenditure, given the levels determined by the other firms. The public firm maximizes social welfare (consisting not only of its own profit but also the profits of the other private firms) and the consumer surplus. Therefore, social welfare can be written as follows:

$$W \equiv \sum_{i=0}^{n} \pi_i + \frac{\left(1 + \beta \Sigma_{i=0}^{n} a_i - p\right)^2}{2}.$$
 (13.4)

Furthermore, the private and public firms are in Cournot-Nash competition.

13.2.2 Mixed Oligopoly

As mentioned above, the private firms maximize their own profit (13.3), and the public firm seeks to maximize social welfare (13.4), given the activities of the other firms. Under a mixed oligopoly, the set of the first-order conditions can be given as follows:

$$c + q^{r}(1+n) + q^{u} + a^{r}(\gamma - n\beta) - 1 - a^{u}\beta = 0,$$
(13.5)

$$a^r + q^r(\beta - \gamma) = 0,$$
 (13.6)

$$1 - c - nq^{r} - q^{u} + a^{u}(\beta - \gamma) + a^{r}n\beta = 0, \qquad (13.7)$$

$$-a^{u} + nq^{r}\beta + q^{u}(\beta - \gamma) = 0, \qquad (13.8)$$

where the superscripts r and u represent the variables of the private and public firms, respectively. Note we obtain the above conditions on the assumption that the (private) firms are identical.

It is helpful to explain the properties of the Cournot–Nash equilibrium in the model by investigating the firms' reaction functions. In the above first-order conditions, (13.5) and (13.6) give the reaction functions for the output levels of the private firms:

$$c + q^{\mu} - a^{\mu}\beta - 1 - [n\beta^{2} + \gamma^{2} - (1+n)(1+\beta\gamma)]q^{r} = 0,$$
(13.9)

and (13.7) and (13.8) give the reaction functions for the output levels of the public firm:

$$1 + q^{u} \Big[(\beta - \gamma)^{2} - 1 \Big] + n \Big[a^{r} \beta + q^{r} \big(\beta^{2} - \beta \gamma - 1 \big) \Big] - c = 0.$$
(13.10)

With q^r as the horizontal axis and q^u as the vertical axis, the slopes of (13.9) and (13.10) are $n\beta^2 + \gamma^2 - (1+n)(1+\beta\gamma) < 0$ and $\frac{n[1-\beta(\beta-\gamma)]}{(\beta-\gamma)^2-1} < 0$, and both are negative. Furthermore, the former minus the latter gives $\frac{1+(\beta-\gamma)\{n\beta^3-(1+n)\beta+[2+n-(1+2n)\beta^2]\gamma+(2+n)\beta\gamma^2-\gamma^3\}}{(\beta-\gamma)^2-1}$, whose denominator is negative but the numerator is indeterminate. To guarantee the stability of the Cournot–Nash equilibrium in strategic substitutes with respect to the outputs, we assume that this is negative (or that the numerator is positive).

Similarly, the reaction functions of the private and public firms for advertising level can be obtained as follows:

$$(c + q^{u} - a^{u}\beta - 1)(\beta - \gamma) + a^{r}(1 + n - n\beta^{2} + \beta\gamma + n\beta\gamma - \gamma^{2}) = 0,$$
 (13.11)

$$[(\beta - \gamma)^2 - 1]a^u + n\beta(\beta - \gamma)a^r + \gamma(c + nq^r - 1) + \beta(1 - c) = 0.$$
(13.12)

Following the same procedure, when taking a^r as the horizontal axis and a^u as the vertical axis, the slopes of (13.11) and (13.12) are $\frac{1+n-n\beta^2+\beta\gamma+n\beta\gamma-\gamma^2}{\beta(\beta-\gamma)} > 0$ and $\frac{n\beta(\beta-\gamma)}{(\beta-\gamma)^2-1} > 0$, and both are positive. The former minus the latter is $\frac{1+(\beta-\gamma)[\beta+(\beta^2-2)\gamma-2\beta\gamma^2+\gamma^3]+n(\beta-\gamma)\{-\gamma+\beta[2+(\beta-\gamma)\gamma]\}-n}{-\beta(\beta-\gamma)[1-(\beta-\gamma)^2]}$, and the denominator is negative, but the numerator is indeterminate. We also assume here that this is positive (or that the numerator is negative). This assumption then guarantees the stability of the Cournot–Nash equilibrium in strategic complements with respect to advertising.

In sum, we propose the following assumption.

Assumption 13.2 Stability conditions

(i) Strategic substitute for the output of the good:

$$1 + (\beta - \gamma) \{ n\beta^3 - (1+n)\beta + [2+n - (1+2n)\beta^2]\gamma + (2+n)\beta\gamma^2 - \gamma^3 \} > 0.$$

(ii) Strategic complement for advertising expenditure:

$$1 + (\beta - \gamma)[\beta - (2 - \beta^2)\gamma - 2\beta\gamma^2 + \gamma^3] + n(\beta - \gamma)\{-\gamma + \beta[2 + (\beta - \gamma)\gamma]\} - n < 0.$$

Assumptions 13.1 and 13.2 give the following lemma.

Lemma 13.1 Under Assumptions 13.1 and 13.2, in a mixed oligopoly:

- (i) The Cournot–Nash equilibrium is stable.
- (ii) q^r and q^u are strategic substitutes.
- (iii) *a^rand a^uare strategic complements*.

By solving the set of equations for the first-order conditions of (13.5), (13.6), (13.7) and (13.8), the output level of the good and the private firm's level of advertising can be obtained as

$$q^{r} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)\gamma}{\phi},$$
(13.13)

$$a^{r} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)^{2}\gamma}{\phi},$$
 (13.14)

where

 $\phi \equiv 1 - \beta^2 + \beta [3 - (1+n)\beta^2]\gamma - [2 + n - (3+2n)\beta^2]\gamma^2 - (3+n)\beta\gamma^3 + \gamma^4.$ Similarly, those of the public firm can be obtained as

$$q^{u} = \frac{(1-c)[1+(\beta-\gamma)\gamma - n\beta\gamma]}{\phi},$$
(13.15)

$$a^{\mu} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)[1+(\beta-\gamma)\gamma]}{\phi}.$$
 (13.16)

It should be noted that from Assumption 13.1, $\phi > 0$ must hold in (13.16). In addition, because the output level of the public firm, (13.15), should be positive, $1 + (\beta - \gamma)\gamma - n\beta\gamma > 0$ must hold. Therefore, we put forward the following assumption.

Assumption 13.3 Output level and advertising are positive if (i) $\phi > 0$ and (ii) $1 + (\beta - \gamma)\gamma - n\beta\gamma > 0$.

It should be noted that Assumption 13.3(ii) determines the upper bound of the number of private firms, $\overline{n} \equiv \frac{1+(\beta-\gamma)\gamma}{\beta\gamma} > n$. From (13.13), (13.14), 13.15) and (13.16), we can see the relationships between the advertising and the output level of each firm, the advertising of the private and public firms, and the output levels of these firms. These relationships are shown in Lemma 13.2.

Lemma 13.2 In a mixed oligopoly:

(i) $a^r = (\beta - \gamma)q^r$, and $a^u = \frac{1 + (\beta - \gamma)\gamma - n\beta\gamma}{(\beta - \gamma)[1 + (\beta - \gamma)\gamma]}q^u$. (ii) $q^r = \frac{(\beta - \gamma)\gamma}{1 + (\beta - \gamma)\gamma - n\beta\gamma}q^u$, and $a^r = \frac{(\beta - \gamma)\gamma}{1 + (\beta - \gamma)\gamma}a^u$.

From Lemma 13.2, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 13.1 In a mixed oligopoly:

- (i) If ¹/_{βγ} < n < n̄ (i.e., n is relatively large), then q^r > q^u,
 and if 1 < n < ¹/_{βγ} (i.e., n is relatively small), then q^r < q^u.
- (ii) $a^r < a^u$ holds.

Proposition 13.1(ii) can be easily interpreted. As the public firm recognizes its overall effect on the market (expansion), it spends more on advertising than private firms. This means that advertising, especially by the public firm, increases the commodity output of not only the public firm but also the other private firms. Based on this finding, Proposition 1(i) provides two important implications. First, whether advertising increases the output level of the public firm depends on the number of private firms, n. When n is large, private firms produce more than the public firm because the public firm spends more on advertising for a larger market. In contrast, when n is small, as the public firm's advertising expenditure is relatively low, private firms should advertise more. This is at the expense of output, and therefore the supply of the public firm is higher than that of each private firm. This result is in contrast to that given by De Fraja and Delbono (1989). They stated that the output of the public firm is always larger than that of the private firm because the public firm has an incentive to increase the consumer surplus by setting the marginal cost equal to the marginal benefit of the consumer. In our model, in addition to controlling the output level, the public firm (as well as private firms) should care about their advertising expenditure. It is not necessary to allocate resources to produce more goods than the private firms.

Next, we investigate how the number of private firms (or equivalently, the size of the market) affects the above outcomes. The effects on the above output levels and advertising expenditure can be calculated as follows:

$$\frac{\partial q^r}{\partial n} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)\gamma^2 \left[\beta(\beta-\gamma)^2+\gamma\right]}{\phi^2} > 0, \qquad (13.17)$$

$$\frac{\partial a^r}{\partial n} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)^2 \gamma^2 \left[\beta(\beta-\gamma)^2+\gamma\right]}{\phi^2} > 0, \qquad (13.18)$$

$$\frac{\partial q^{\mu}}{\partial n} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)\gamma[2\beta(\beta-\gamma)-1][1+(\beta-\gamma)\gamma]}{\phi^2},$$
(13.19)

$$\frac{\partial a^{\mu}}{\partial n} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)\gamma \left[\beta(\beta-\gamma)^2+\gamma\right][1+(\beta-\gamma)\gamma]}{\phi^2} > 0.$$
(13.20)

From these results, we can obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 13.2 In a mixed oligopoly, as the number of private firms increases: (i) Both the output level and the advertising level of the private firms increase.

(ii) The advertising level of the public firm increases.

(iii) The output level of the public firm increases (decreases) if $2\beta(\beta - \gamma) - 1 > (<)0$.

Similar to Proposition 13.1, Proposition 13.2 means that advertising expands the market so that the output level of one private firm increases. This is in contrast to that usually seen in a general mixed oligopoly model (e.g., De Fraja and Delbono 1989). In our model, when the number of private firms increases, the public firm, as well as the private firms, increases their level of advertising, as shown in Proposition 13.2(ii). This expands the market demand, and therefore, the output level of both the private and public firms increase, as long as $2\beta(\beta - \gamma) - 1 > 0$.

Proposition 13.2(iii) implies whether the output level of a public firm increases is indeterminate. Furthermore, if the net benefit of advertising, $\beta - \gamma$, is large, then the output level of the public firm increases, and vice versa. This can be interpreted as follows. When $\beta - \gamma$ is large, the public firm tends to expand the market by increasing its advertising taking social welfare (including the profit of the public firms) into consideration. This leads the public firm to increase its output level even if the number of private firms is large.

Taking the sum of the levels of output and the advertising expenditure of each firm, we can obtain the total amount of output and advertising as follows:

$$Q^{r} \equiv nq^{r} = \frac{n(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)\gamma}{\phi},$$
(13.21)

$$A^{r} \equiv na^{r} = \frac{(1-c)n(\beta-\gamma)^{2}\gamma}{\phi}, \qquad (13.22)$$

$$Q \equiv q^{u} + nq^{r} = \frac{(1-c)[1+\beta\gamma - (1+n)\gamma^{2}]}{\phi},$$
 (13.23)

$$A \equiv a^{u} + na^{r} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)[1+(1+n)(\beta-\gamma)\gamma]}{\phi},$$
 (13.24)

where Q^r and A^r are the total amount of output and advertising expenditure of the private firms and Q and A are those of all firms. Following the same procedure for each firm, an increase in the number of private firms affects the total output levels and advertising as follows:

$$\frac{\partial Q^r}{\partial n} = \frac{(1-c)(1-\beta+\gamma)(\beta-\gamma)(1+\beta-\gamma)\gamma[1+(\beta-\gamma)\gamma]}{\phi^2} > 0, \quad (13.25)$$

$$\frac{\partial A^r}{\partial n} = \frac{(1-c)(1-\beta+\gamma)(\beta-\gamma)^2(1+\beta-\gamma)\gamma[1+(\beta-\gamma)\gamma]}{\phi^2} > 0, \quad (13.26)$$

$$\frac{\partial Q}{\partial n} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)^2 \gamma \left(\beta+\gamma+\beta^2 \gamma-\gamma^3\right)}{\phi^2} > 0, \qquad (13.27)$$

$$\frac{\partial A}{\partial n} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)\gamma[1+(\beta-\gamma)\gamma]\Big[\beta+(\beta-\gamma)^2\gamma\Big]}{\phi^2} > 0.$$
(13.28)

We can directly obtain the results of (13.25), (13.26), and (13.28) from (13.17), (13.18), and (13.20). That is, the total output of the private firms and the advertising level of the private firms and all firms increase when the number of private firms increases. In addition, (13.27) means that, as we have seen in (13.19), although the output level of the public firm decreases as the number of private firms increases, the total output increases.

Corollary 13.1 In a mixed oligopoly, as the number of private firms increases, the total output level and the level advertising of the private firms and those of all firms increase.

Finally, we focus on the profits and social welfare. The profits of private and public firms can be obtained as follows:

$$\pi^{r} = \frac{(1-c)^{2} \left[2 - (\beta - \gamma)^{2}\right] (\beta - \gamma)^{2} \gamma^{2}}{2\phi^{2}} > 0, \qquad (13.29)$$

$$\pi^{\mu} = -\frac{(1-c)^2(\beta-\gamma)^2[1+(\beta-\gamma)\gamma]^2}{2\phi^2} < 0.$$
(13.30)

From (13.29), it is natural that the private firms return positive profits; however, from (13.30), the profit of the public firm is negative, even if there is no fixed cost in our model. As 0 < c < 1, Assumption 13.1 implies that the marginal cost of production itself can be below the market price; however, the marginal cost also depends on advertising. Therefore, as long as the public firm has a role in expanding the market via advertising, its profit becomes negative.

Proposition 13.3 In a mixed oligopoly with advertising, the profit of private firms is positive, but that of a public firm is negative.

Then, when the number of private firms increases, the effects on the profits of both the private and public firms can be obtained as follows:

$$\frac{\partial \pi^r}{\partial n} = \frac{-(1-c)^2 \left[2 - (\beta - \gamma)^2\right] (\beta - \gamma)^2 \gamma^3 \left[\beta (\beta - \gamma)^2 + \gamma\right]}{\phi^3} < 0, \qquad (13.31)$$

$$\frac{\partial \pi^{u}}{\partial n} = \frac{-(1-c)^{2}(\beta-\gamma)^{2}\gamma \left[\beta(\beta-\gamma)^{2}+\gamma\right] \left[1+(\beta-\gamma)\gamma\right]^{2}}{\phi^{3}} < 0.$$
(13.32)

These results can be summarized as the following proposition.

Proposition 13.4 In a mixed oligopoly with advertising, the profits of both private and public firms decrease as the number of private firms increases.

From Proposition 13.2, each private firm increases its output level when the number of private firms increases, and, as Corollary 13.1 implies, the market size also becomes larger because the level of advertising increases. However, this expansion brings about an increase in the cost of advertising (as a quadratic cost function), and the cost of production also increases because of the increase in advertising. Therefore, the profit decreases.

Finally, the level of social welfare and the effect of the increase in the number of private firms on social welfare can be obtained as follows:

W

$$= (2\phi^{2})^{-1}(1-c)^{2} \{1-\beta^{2}-2\beta(\beta^{2}-2)\gamma - [3+2n-(7+2n)\beta^{2}+(1+n)\beta^{4}]\gamma^{2} + 2[2(1+n)\beta^{2}-4-3n]\beta\gamma^{3}+(1+n)(3+n-6\beta^{2})\gamma^{4}+4(1+n)\beta\gamma^{5}-(1+n)\gamma^{6}\},$$
(13.33)

$$\frac{\partial W}{\partial n} = -(2\phi^3)^{-1}(1-c)^2(\beta-\gamma)^2\gamma\{2\beta(\beta^2-1)+(\beta^2-2)(1+3\beta^2)\gamma +\beta[\beta^4-2-7\beta^2+n(2-2\beta^2+\beta^4)]\gamma^2+[5+(1+7n)\beta^2-(3+4n)\beta^4]\gamma^3 +\beta[7-4n+2(1+3n)\beta^2]\gamma^4-[4+n+2(2n-1)\beta^2]\gamma^5+(n-3)\beta\gamma^6+\gamma^7\}.$$
 (13.34)

As the expression of the level of social welfare is complex, the effect of the increase in the number of private firms is indecisive. In other words, it is possible that social welfare decreases as the number of private firms increases.

13.3 Privatization

13.3.1 Pure Private Oligopoly

In this section, we investigate the privatization of the public firm. In this case, all the firms maximize their own profit and the market becomes purely oligopolistic. Then, the output level and the advertising level of each firm can be obtained as follows:

$$\hat{q}_i = \frac{1-c}{\psi}, \ i = 0, 1, \cdots, n,$$
 (13.35)

$$\hat{a}_i = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)}{\psi}, \ i = 0, 1, \cdots, n,$$
 (13.36)

where $\psi \equiv 2 - (\beta - \gamma)^2 + n[1 - \beta(\beta - \gamma)] > 0$ and the variables with hats represent those in a pure private oligopoly. The total output level and advertising level can be easily obtained by multiplying (13.35) and (13.36) by *n*, that is, $\hat{Q} = n\hat{q}_i$ and $\hat{A} = n\hat{a}_i$.

Then, the effect of an increase in the number of firms on the above variables can be calculated as follows:

$$\frac{\partial \hat{q}_i}{\partial n} = -\frac{(1-c)[1-\beta(\beta-\gamma)]}{\psi^2} < 0, \tag{13.37}$$

$$\frac{\partial \hat{a}_i}{\partial n} = -\frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)[1-\beta(\beta-\gamma)]}{\psi^2} < 0.$$
(13.38)

From these results, we obtain the following proposition.

Proposition 13.5 In a pure private oligopoly, as the number of firms increases, both the output level and the advertising level of the private firms decrease.

Previous studies have shown that the output of each firm decreases as the number of firms increases. This occurs because the market conditions are approaching perfect competition. In our setting, it is not clear whether such a tendency can be seen because the firms buy advertising to expand the market. Even so, both the output level and advertising level of each firm decrease. This implies that in a pure private oligopoly, the decline in oligopolistic power resulting in anincrease in the number of firms dominates the effect of market expansion by an increase in advertising. This can be also attributed to the cost structure of the firm that exhibits this quadratic form.

The level of profit and the effect of the increase in the number of firms on profit can be obtained as follows:

13 Market Expansion by Advertising and a Mixed Oligopoly

$$\hat{\pi}_{i} = \frac{(1-c)^{2} \left[2 - (\beta - \gamma)^{2} \right]}{2w^{2}}, \qquad (13.39)$$

$$\frac{\partial \hat{\pi}_i}{\partial n} = -\frac{\left(1-c\right)^2 \left[2-\left(\beta-\gamma\right)^2\right] \left[1-\beta(\beta-\gamma)\right]}{\psi^3} < 0.$$
(13.40)

From (13.40), as the number of firms increases, the profit of each firm decreases, which is generally true in a pure private oligopoly model without advertising.

Finally, the level of social welfare and the effect of the increase in the number of firms on social welfare can be calculated as follows:

$$\hat{W} = \frac{(1-c)^2 (1+n) \left[3+n-(\beta-\gamma)^2\right]}{2\psi^2},$$
(13.41)

$$\frac{\partial \hat{W}}{\partial n} = \frac{(1-c)^2}{2\psi^3} \langle 2 + (\beta - \gamma) \left\{ \beta [2 - \beta^2 + n(3 - \beta^2)] + (4 + n + \beta^2 + 2n\beta^2)\gamma - (n-1)\beta\gamma^2 - \gamma^3 \right\} \rangle > 0.$$
(13.42)

Summarizing these results, we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 13.2 In a pure private oligopoly, as the number of firms increases:

- (i) The profit decreases.
- (ii) Social welfare increases.

These results have already been seen in typical oligopoly models. As we pointed out in Proposition 13.4, the profit of both private and public firms decreases. However, the production level increases in our mixed oligopoly with advertising when the number of firms increases. Furthermore, in a pure private oligopoly, social welfare increases; however, in our mixed oligopoly, it does not. This fact implies that advertising clearly expands demand and increases the consumer surplus, but represents a greater cost for firms when the number of firms increases. Therefore, advertising brings benefits to consumers but might also harm the profits of firms.

13.3.2 Comparison

Finally, we compare the outcomes in a mixed oligopoly with those in a pure private oligopoly. First, we present the difference between the levels of output for the two cases as

$$q^{r} - \hat{q}_{i} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta^{2} - \beta\gamma + n\beta\gamma - 1)}{\psi\phi} < 0, \qquad (13.43)$$

$$q^{u} - \hat{q}_{i} = \frac{(1-c)}{\psi\phi} (1 + n - n\beta^{2} + \beta\gamma - n^{2}\beta\gamma + n\beta^{3}\gamma + n^{2}\beta^{3}\gamma - \gamma^{2} - 2n\beta^{2}\gamma^{2} - n^{2}\beta^{2}\gamma^{2} + n\beta\gamma^{3}), \qquad (13.44)$$

$$Q - \hat{Q} = \frac{(1-c)}{\psi\phi} (1 + \beta\gamma - n\beta\gamma + n\beta^{3}\gamma + n^{2}\beta^{3}\gamma - \gamma^{2} - 2n\beta^{2}\gamma^{2} - n^{2}\beta^{2}\gamma^{2} + n\beta\gamma^{3}). \qquad (13.45)$$

From (13.43), we can see that the output of the private firm is larger for a pure private oligopoly than for a mixed oligopoly. This result has been acknowledged in previous studies. However, (13.44) means that it is not possible to determine whether the output levels of the public firm are larger than that of the privatized (public) firm, which is positive in previous studies. As we have seen in Proposition 13.1, this depends on the cost and demand factors and can be attributed to advertising. This result also means that it is not possible to determine whether (13.45) is positive or negative.

Next, we compare advertising for the two cases:

$$a^{r} - \hat{a}_{i} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)\left(-1+\beta^{2}-\beta\gamma+n\beta\gamma\right)}{\psi\phi} < 0, \qquad (13.46)$$

$$a^{u} - \hat{a}_{i} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)\left(-1 - n + n\beta^{2} - \beta\gamma - 2n\beta\gamma + \gamma^{2}\right)}{\psi\phi} > 0, \qquad (13.47)$$

$$A - \hat{A} = \frac{(1-c)(\beta-\gamma)(1+\beta\gamma+n\beta\gamma+n^2\beta\gamma-\gamma^2)}{\psi\phi} > 0.$$
(13.48)

In contrast to the above comparison for output levels, the signs from (13.46), (13.47) and (13.48) are all determinate. It is interesting to note that the advertising level of private firms increases after privatization. This occurs because private firms should increase advertising after the privatization of a public firm, which had previously advertised aggressively to maximize social welfare (13.46). Therefore, after privatization, none of the firms consider social welfare (or consumer surplus), and the total level of advertising decreases.⁵

To summarize, we obtain the following proposition.

⁵ We were not able to obtain clear results for a comparison of profit levels and social welfare levels.

Proposition 13.6 *When a public firm is privatized:*

- (i) The output level of private firms increases, but the change in that of privatized (public) firms is ambiguous. Therefore, the change in the total output level is ambiguous.
- (ii) The advertising level of private firms increases and that of public firms decreases. The total advertising expenditure decreases as the decrease in the role of the public firm to expand the market size dominates the increase in the advertising of private firms.

13.4 Concluding Remarks

This chapter considered advertising as a means of expanding the market or demand size in two oligopolistic models: a mixed oligopoly and a pure private oligopoly. We also investigated how the output level and advertising change when the number of private firms increases in a mixed oligopoly and pure private oligopoly and how these change when a public firm is privatized. In contrast with the results of previous studies on mixed oligopolies, we showed that in a mixed oligopoly, when the number of private firms is relatively large (small), the output level of the private firms is larger (smaller) than that of the public firm. Regarding the advertising level of the public firm, it is always larger than that of private firms. Furthermore, when the number of private firms increases, the output level of the public firm, as well as their advertising level, increases in a mixed oligopoly. Finally, although the advertising level of private firms increases, the total advertising level decreases after privatization. These results are unique in our study because advertising, especially that of the public firm, contributes to expand the market.

Although our results provide new insights, our analysis does have some limitations. First, we did not fully analyze the effects of privatization on profit and social welfare. Further investigation should determine how these levels are affected by a change in the number of firms and by the privatization of public firms. This will clarify whether the public firm should be privatized in accordance with the strength of the market expansion under advertising or the market structure (e.g., the number of firms). Regarding this issue, it would be helpful to provide a numerical example. Second, a graphical explanation, as given in Chap. 2 of this book, might be useful. This would help readers to intuitively understand how advertising alters market demand and the behavior of firms.

Throughout this study, we have acknowledged the crucial role played by public firms in using advertising to expand the market. In this way, the public firm is a social welfare maximizer. It can induce private firms to supply more products to increase the consumer surplus. It can be argued that this is one of the key roles of the public firm.

References

- De Fraja G, Delbono F (1989) Alternative strategies of a public enterprise in oligopoly. Oxford Econ Pap 41(1):302–311
- Delbono F, Denicoló V (1993) Regulating innovative activity. Int J Ind Organ 11(1):35-48
- Glaeser EL, Ujhelyi G (2010) Regulating misinformation. J Public Econ 94(3):247-257
- Han L, Ogawa H (2012) Market-demand boosting and privatization in a mixed duopoly. Bull Econ Res 64(1):125–134
- Haruna S, Goel RK (2015) R&D strategy in international mixed duopoly with research spillovers. Aust Econ Pap 54(2):88–103
- Matsumura T, Sunada T (2013) Advertising competition in a mixed oligopoly. Econ Lett 119 (2):183–185
- Nishimori A, Ogawa H (2002) Public monopoly, mixed oligopoly and productive efficiency. Aust Econ Pap 41(2):185–190
- Zhang Y, Zhong W (2015) Are public firms always less innovative than private firms? Jpn Econ Rev 66(3):393–407

Index

А

Adjustment process, 13–26, 90 Advertisements, 191–205 Advertising, 194

С

Capital accumulation, 11, 45–56 Corporate social responsibility (CSR), 181–187, 189

D

Divergence of objectives, 96, 97 Dynamic game, 46

Е

Economic integration, 149 Entry tax, 4, 9–11, 62, 63, 69

F

Free-entry equilibrium, 4, 8, 10, 58, 61-64

G

Government preference, 135–145 Graphical explanation, 13–26, 205

H

Harmonization, 58, 65

I

International mixed oligopoly, 11, 12, 57–70, 74–86, 88–90

L

Lobbying, 121, 122, 124–126, 129–132 Long-term care (LTC), 165–178

М

Market expansion, 191–205
Merger, 135–145
Mixed duopoly, 14, 15, 18, 25, 46, 74, 98, 136–138, 141, 143, 144, 166, 169, 171–173, 175, 177, 182, 192
Mixed oligopoly, 3–26, 28–31, 33, 35–42, 46, 51, 54, 55, 57, 58, 61, 64, 69, 74–86, 88–90, 95, 97–99, 107, 116, 117, 121, 122, 129, 131, 132, 135, 149, 150, 158, 162, 163, 166, 177, 191–205

Р

Partial privatization, 3, 4, 7, 8, 10, 45–52, 58, 60–61, 74–86, 88–90, 96, 108, 124, 131, 135, 193 Privatization, 3, 4, 6–14, 24, 26, 28–31, 33, 35–42, 45–47, 49, 51–55, 64–65, 74–86, 88–90, 95–109, 112, 115–117, 121–132, 149–162, 181–187, 189, 192, 193, 202, 204, 205 Privatization neutrality theorem, 8, 95–118

© Springer Japan 2017 M. Yanagihara, M. Kunizaki (eds.), *The Theory of Mixed Oligopoly*, New Frontiers in Regional Science: Asian Perspectives 14, DOI 10.1007/978-4-431-55633-6 Public firm, 3–12, 14–41, 46–49, 51–55, 57–66, 68, 69, 73, 74, 84, 89, 95–118, 121–126, 129, 131, 135–138, 140, 144, 149–155, 158–160, 162, 163, 181–189, 192, 193, 195–200, 202, 204, 205

Q

Quality competition, 166

R

Regional mixed oligopoly, 150 Role of public firms, 74

S

Social welfare, 13–17, 24, 39–40, 46, 47, 49, 51–55, 57–60, 62, 63, 65–69, 95–118,

122–124, 126, 128, 130, 131, 135–137, 144, 150–152, 159, 161–163, 166, 171, 174, 183, 184, 186, 188, 189, 193, 195, 199–201, 203–205 maximization, 14, 17, 60, 96–99, 107, 108, 111, 112, 116, 117 Stackelberg competition, 27–29, 31, 32, 35–38, 40, 41 Strategic trade policy, 57, 58, 64–65, 69, 74, 82, 85, 87, 122

Т

Tax principles, 74–86, 88–90 Truthful equilibrium, 125

U

Uncertainty, 166-168, 175-177